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Council AGENDA

Wednesday 9 October 2019
Commencing 7 pm 
Council Chamber, Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg
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This is the Agenda for the Council meeting.
For assistance with any of the agenda items,
please telephone 9240 1111.
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INFORMATION ABOUT COUNCIL MEETINGS
Council encourages its citizens to participate in the local government of Moreland. Accordingly, these notes have been developed to help citizens better understand Council meetings. All meetings are conducted in accordance with Council’s Meeting Procedure Local Law 2018.

WELCOME The Mayor, who chairs the meeting, formally opens the meeting, delivers an acknowledgement of country and welcomes all present. This Council meeting will be recorded and webstreamed live to Council’s website and Facebook page. This recording will also be available as Video on Demand. Although every care is taken to maintain privacy, gallery attendees are advised they may be recorded.
APOLOGIES Where a Councillor is not present, their absence is noted in the minutes of the meeting.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND/OR CONFLICT OF INTERESTS Under the Local Government Act 1989, a Councillor has a duty to disclose any direct or indirect pecuniary (financial) interest, s/he may have in any matter to be considered by Council that evening.

CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES The minutes of the previous meeting are placed before Council to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the record.

MINUTES/REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES Council considers reports from Special Committees that Councillors represent Council on.
PETITIONS Council receives petitions from citizens on various issues. Any petitions received since the previous Council meeting are tabled at the meeting and the matter referred to the appropriate Director for consideration.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME This is an opportunity (30 minutes), for citizens of Moreland to raise questions with Councillors.

COUNCIL REPORTS Officers prepare detailed reports, which are considered by Councillors and a Council position is adopted on the matters considered. The Mayor can invite firstly Councillors, secondly Officers, and then citizens in attendance to identify Council reports which should be given priority by the meeting and considered in the early part of the meeting.
NOTICES OF MOTION A motion which has been submitted to the Chief Executive Officer no later than 12 pm (noon) 10 days prior to the meeting which is intended to be included in the agenda. The motion should outline the policy, financial and resourcing implications.
NOTICE OF RESCISSION A Councillor may propose a motion to rescind a resolution of the Council, provided the previous resolution has not been acted on, and a notice is delivered to the authorised officer setting out the resolution to be rescinded and the meeting and date when the resolution was carried. For a decision of the Council to be rescinded, the motion for rescission must be carried by a majority of the votes cast. If a motion for rescission is lost, a similar motion may not be put before the Council for at least one month from the date it was last lost, unless the Council resolves that the notice of motion be re-listed at a future meeting. If a motion for rescission is not moved at the meeting for which it is listed, it lapses. A motion for rescission listed on a meeting agenda may be moved by any Councillor present but may not be amended.

FORESHADOWED ITEMS This is an opportunity for Councillors to raise items proposed to be submitted as Notices of Motion at future meetings.
URGENT BUSINESS The Chief Executive Officer or Councillors, with the approval of the meeting, may submit items of Urgent Business (being a matter not listed on the agenda) but requiring a prompt decision by Council.

CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS Whilst all Council and Committee meetings of Council are open to its citizens, Council has the power under the Local Government Act 1989 to close its meeting to the general public in certain circumstances which are noted where appropriate on the Council Agenda. Where this occurs, members of the public leave the Council Chamber or Meeting room while the matter is being discussed.

CLOSE OF MEETING The Mayor will formally close the meeting and thank all present.

NEXT MEETING DATE The next Council meeting will be the Ceremonial Council meeting to be held on Monday 28 October 2019 commencing at 7 pm, in the Town Hall, Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg. The next ordinary meeting of Council will be held on 13 November 2019 in the Council Chamber, Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg.
The next Council meeting designated to consider Planning and Related Matters will be held on 23 October 2019 commencing at 6.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg.
1.
WELCOME

2.
APOLOGIES 
Leave of absence has been granted to Cr Dorney - 15 September 2019 to 24 October 2019 

3.
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND/OR CONFLICT OF INTERESTS
4.
MINUTE CONFIRMATION 
The minutes of the Council meeting held on 23 September 2019 and the Special Council meeting held on 3 October 2019 be confirmed.
5.
Minutes / Reports of Special Committee
Nil.
6.
Petitions
PET13/19
Ban single use plastic bottles (D19/389340)
6 
7.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

8.
Council Reports
DCF78/19
Amendments C192 and C193 - Brunswick Activity Centre Industrial Land Rezoning - Decision Gateway 1: Authorisation and Exhibition - Council Action Plan Item (D19/377551)
7
DCF79/19
Permanent Road Closures - Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East (D19/265939)
224
DCI17/19
Reserve Masterplan Construction Progress Transparency - Response to Notice of Motion NOM7/19 (D19/337401)
230
DCD24/19
Food System Strategy 2017-2020 Progress Report (D19/277720)
234
DCI18/19
Moreland Urban Forest Strategy 2017-2027 - Update Report (D19/357303)
242
DCD25/19
Human Rights Policy - Annual Report 2018-2019 (D19/342565)
270
DCD26/19
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 - Year 2 Annual Review (D19/373535)
286
DBT21/19
Governance Report - October 2019 - Cyclical Report (D19/375395)
325
EMF32/19
Financial management report for the period ended 31 August 2019 - cyclical report (D19/376294)
561
EMF33/19
Draft Rating System Review Submission (D19/382008)
573
DCF80/19
New Private Swimming Pool and Spa Safety Barrier Registration and Certification Requirements (D19/366660)
584
EMF34/19
Proposed Telecommunication Lease with Telstra - Francis Street, Oak Park (D19/369431)
609 
9.
Notices of Motion
NOM53/19
Building site waste (D19/381576) - Cr Abboud
618
NOM54/19
GHD Consultancy Group and Adani Mining (D19/381626) - Cr Abboud
620
NOM55/19
Provide the Coburg town Hall for a Community Meeting - 10 October 2019 (D19/382868) - Cr Yildiz
622
NOM56/19
Ron Dorre (D19/383234) - Cr Kavanagh
623
NOM57/19
Memorandum of Understanding on major projects (D19/383277) - Cr Bolton
624
NOM58/19
Inclusive Employment Program (D19/383301) – Cr BOLTON
625
NOM59/19
Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy Parking Restrictions and Amendment C183 (D19/384008) – CR TAPINOS
626
NOM60/19
Dog Excrement in Public Places (D19/384013) – CR TAPINOS
629 
10.
Notice of Rescission
Nil.
11.
Foreshadowed Items
Nil. 
12.
URGENT BUSINESS REPORTS 

13.
Confidential Business
EMF35/19
Proposed Acquisition - Coburg (D19/374533)
Pursuant to sections 77(2)(c) and 89(2)(h) this report has been designated as confidential by the Chief Executive Officer because it relates to any other matters which the Council or special committee considers would prejudice the Council or any person.
DBT22/19
PERSONNEL MATTER (D19/385647)
Pursuant to sections 77(2)(c) and 89(2)(a) this report has been designated as confidential by the Chief Executive Officer because it relates to personnel matters. 
PET13/19
Ban single use plastic bottles (D19/389340) 
A petition (D19/389315) has been received containing 10 signatures requesting Council to ban the use of single plastic bottles.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Receives and notes the petition, requesting Council ban the use of single plastic bottles.

2.
Refers the petition to the Director City Futures for consideration and response.

3.
Notifies the lead petitioner of any outcomes in relation to the petition.




Attachment/s

There are no attachments for this report. 

DCF78/19
Amendments C192 and C193 - Brunswick Activity Centre Industrial Land Rezoning - Decision Gateway 1: Authorisation and Exhibition - Council Action Plan Item (D19/377551)

Director City Futures
City Strategy and Design 
Executive Summary

This report was deferred from the 11 September 2019 Council meeting. 
This report has been prepared in response to part 6 of Council’s decision at the May 2019 Council meeting (DCF30/19) and outlines the proposed approach for new amendments in relation to sites included in Category 2 Moreland Industrial Land Strategy (MILS) Areas. The decision required officers to seek interest from landowners in Category 2 MILS Areas to rezone their land and enter into an agreement registered on land title to provide for affordable housing and employment uses.

Amendment C192 and C193 seek to proactively rezone industrial land in the Brunswick Structure Plan Area to implement the Brunswick Structure Plan and MILS. The Amendments will implement the objectives of the Moreland Planning Scheme Strategic Framework at Clause 21.03-2 Land for Industry and Economic Regeneration for Employment Areas (Category 2).

While the strategic justification for both Amendments are the same, one seeks to optimise from the rezoning of land through an agreement registered on title to guarantee affordable housing and employment uses, and the other seeks to apply an alternative planning tool to seek employment outcomes. The differences in approach reflect the transition that arose between Council’s adoption of MILS and the introduction of a new Commercial 3 Zone which was not contemplated at the time of the Strategy. Council has recognised the reliance placed on MILS by landowners following its adoption and the application of the Commercial 1 Zone at that time, while now embracing the opportunity to use a new zone which will be more successful in delivering MILS Category 2 objectives.

Amendment C192 proposes to amend the planning scheme by rezoning land at 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick and 197-199 Albion Street, Brunswick to Commercial 1 Zone. The rezoning of these properties to a Commercial 1 Zone is conditional upon the registration of a section 173 Agreement on title that requires a minimum of 30% of the gross floor area of any new building to be for employment and economic uses and a minimum of 20% of dwellings within the same building to be provided for Affordable Housing as defined by the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

The proposed rezoning of these properties to a Commercial 1 Zone has been previously exhibited as part of Amendment C164 and has been considered and supported by an independent planning panel (August 2018). As such, it is recommended that a request for the Minister for Planning to prepare, adopt and approve Amendment C192 pursuant to section 20(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 is appropriate.

Amendment C193 proposes to rezone land (55 properties) within the Brunswick Structure Plan Area identified as Employment Areas (Category 2) to the Commercial 3 Zone with a maximum 50% residential floor area requirement. As this Amendment proposes a new planning tool, a standard amendment process that includes public exhibition and consideration by an independent planning panel is recommended.

These 2 Amendments will complete strategic work that commenced with a previous Amendment (C164) and will complete the implementation of the MILS for Category 2 Employment areas within the Brunswick Structure Plan area.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Endorses the C164 Background Report at Attachment 1 to this report which outlines the rationale and evidence that underpins the proposed planning scheme changes for Amendment C192.

2.
Requests that the Minister for Planning prepares, adopts and approves Moreland Planning Scheme Amendment C192 pursuant to section 20(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, as shown at Attachment 2 to this report, following the registration of the Section 173 Agreement on title for the properties at 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick and 197-199 Albion Street, Brunswick that requires a minimum of 30% of the gross floor area of any new building to be for employment and economic uses and a minimum of 20% of dwellings within the same building to be provided for Affordable Housing as defined by the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

3.
Endorses the Moreland Industrial Land Strategy Employment Areas Zoning Review prepared by Echelon Planning, and the MILS Employment Areas Feasibility Development Models prepared by Conceptus Property at Attachments 3 and t 4 to this report which outline the rationale and evidence that underpins the proposed planning scheme changes for Amendment C193.

4.
Using its powers as a planning authority under sections 8A and 8B of the Planning and Environment 1987, seeks authorisation from the Minister for Planning to prepare Moreland Planning Scheme Amendment C193 as shown at Attachment 5 to this report.

5.
Following receipt of the Minister’s authorisation, exhibits the Amendment in accordance with Section 19 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

6.
Authorises the Director City Futures to make changes to Amendment C193 based on conditions imposed in any authorisation granted by the Minister for Planning and to make any grammatical changes and correct any errors in the relevant documents.




REPORT

1.
Policy Context

Council Action Plan

The Council Plan 2017-2021, contains strategic initiatives to: 


Enhance liveability, affordability and sustainability by guiding growth, and excellence in urban design and development; and


Support the local economy and trading environments to enhance economic activity and promote local jobs.

Council Action Plan (CAP) item 24 includes the implementation of MILS for the Brunswick Activity Centre as a deliverable item under the plan (Council Plan reference P1d)). Progressing this project will assist in completing this CAP item. 

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy (2015-2030)

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) provides a clear land use framework for all industrial land across Moreland. The framework seeks to maintain an appropriate supply of industrial and other commercial zoned land, suited to employment sectors that have positive long-term growth outlooks in Moreland.

Responding to these employment trends is critical to Moreland’s broad sustainability objectives and its vision to create sustainable neighbourhoods with an emphasis on the social, cultural, environmental and economic well-being of the population. As Moreland’s population continues to grow, maintaining and growing access to new forms of local employment is of increasing importance in achieving goals of reduced travel to work and liveability.

State and Local Policy seeks to encourage housing growth, with good access to transport, shops and services. It also seeks to contribute to economic regeneration through the transition of specific precincts of industrial zoned land to accommodate more diverse employment opportunities and to contribute to housing supply.

The MILS retains Moreland’s 3 large concentrations of industrial zoned land in Brunswick, Coburg North and Newlands, and a number of smaller concentrations of industrial land are also recommended for retention.

The MILS allows for the transition of other industrial precincts to prioritise alternative employment uses and, in some instances, to allow for a transition to multi-use or residential outcomes. The MILS also provides a level of certainty regarding the long-term expectations for precincts. This will discourage land banking and speculation and allow land owners and occupiers to invest in their businesses.

The MILS categorises all industrial land into one of the following 3 categories:

Category 1 - Core Industry and Employment areas 


Maintain for industry and other employment uses including office and restricted retail and prohibit new residential uses.

Category 2 - Employment areas 


Support the transition from industrial uses to a broader range of employment uses and prioritise employment over residential uses. 

Category 3 - Transition - Residential areas 


Support transition to facilitate quality residential development to contribute to Moreland’s housing supply.

Economic Development Strategy (2016-2021)

Council’s economic development strategy seeks to facilitate the development of a local economy that is growing and productive, and which is socially inclusive and environmentally sustainable. They key objectives are to:


Work to create new opportunities for sustainable investment and jobs, building on our strengths and encouraging innovation.


Work in partnership with business and the community to support enterprise, to develop the skills of the local workforce, and promote Moreland as a place to work, live, play and invest.


Work with our partners to improve economic development outcomes in the wider region, ensuring that Moreland residents have access to a wide range of employment opportunities.

A key goal and implementation action of this strategy is to ensure land is available for industrial and other employment activities by implementing the MILS.

Commercial 3 Zone (C3Z)

Amendment VC149 introduced the C3Z into the Victoria Planning Provisions on 4 October 2018. When Council adopted the MILS 2015-2030 and prepared the previous Amendment C164, the C3Z was not available to Council as a tool to implement the MILS. 

Guidance for the application of the C3Z - Applying the Commercial 3 Zone – Planning Practice Note 85, Department of Environment Land Water and Planning, September 2018 - states that the C3Z can be applied to help facilitate business growth and innovation in select parts of Victoria. It is a mixed-use employment zone which is intended to facilitate the establishment and growth of creative industries, small manufacturers and start-up businesses. The zone promotes the creation of dense, economically diverse, affordable, accessible and amenity-rich precincts which are attractive to new and emerging businesses. 

The C3Z is a true ‘mixed use’ zone, which priorities employment uses over residential uses by mandating a fixed maximum amount of residential floorspace allowed within a development.

The C3Z guarantees that development will contain a minimum employment floor space, consistent with the MILS, providing greater certainty for landowners, proponents and Council, and improved employment opportunities for the community.

2.
Background

Amendment 164

Amendment C164 originally included all MILS Category 2 and Category 3 properties within the Brunswick Structure Plan Area and proposed to rezone properties in Category 2 to the Commercial 1 Zone and Category 3 properties to the Mixed-Use Zone. 

Council considered the report and recommendations of the Planning Panel for Amendment C164 at the November 2018 Council meeting (DED70/18). The Panel was generally supportive, noting that the Amendment was well founded and strategically justified. The Panel concluded that Council should adopt the Amendment subject to a number of suggested changes. Council considered this report and the newly released C3Z and resolved to split the amendment to achieve the following:


Adopt the Amendment as it related to the MILS Category 3 – Transitional Areas including extending the Design and Development Overlays, Parking Overlays and Environmental Overlays to all MILS sites in the Brunswick Activity Centre so that it could be submitted to the Minster for Planning for approval (Part 1); and


Further investigate the application of the C3Z for the Category 2 Employment Areas.

Part 1 of the Amendment was submitted to the Minister for Planning for approval. The Minister is yet to approve this Amendment. Council Officers then engaged consultants to complete an independent planning and economic assessment to determine the appropriateness of applying the C3Z to properties in the MILS Category 2 - Employment Areas. These assessments are included in Attachments 3 and 4. The assessments concluded that the C3Z is a stronger planning tool for achieving Council’s employment policy objectives for the Category 2 - Employment Areas than the originally proposed Commercial 1 Zone. The C3Z will achieve both Activity Centre policy, and employment policy by creating economically diverse mixed-use precincts which are attractive to new and emerging businesses.

As a result of the consultant report findings, Council considered a further report at the May 2019 Council meeting (DCF30/19). Council resolved to:

1.
Split Amendment C164 Part 2 further to create a part 3. Part 3 affects land as described in Attachment 3 to this report (DCF30/19) shown in purple as ‘Proposed Commercial 3 Zone’, excluding those properties listed in Point 2 in Nicholson and Albion Street.

2.
Adopt Amendment C164, Part 2, to: 

a)
Rezone land at 219, 221 Nicholson Street, Brunswick East from Industrial 3 Zone to Commercial 1 Zone and apply the DDO20, PO and EAO as exhibited, and

b)
Rezone land at 215, 217, 219 Albion Street, Brunswick from Industrial 1 Zone to Commercial 1 Zone and apply the DDO18, PO and EAO.

3.
Submit Amendment C164, Part 2 as it applies to the land in Nicholson St and Albion St outlined in Point 2 to the Minister for Planning for approval in accordance with Section 31 of the Planning and Environment Act following the registration of a Section 173 agreement on title for the properties at 215, 217, 219 Albion Street, Brunswick that requires a minimum of 30% of the gross floor area of any new building to be for employment and economic uses and a minimum of 20% of dwellings within the same building to be provided for Affordable Housing as defined by the “Planning and Environment Act 1987.”

4.
Abandon Amendment C164, Part 3 as it applies to land described in Attachment 3 to this report [DCF30/19] shown in purple as ‘Proposed Commercial 3 Zone’, excluding those properties listed in Point 2 in Nicholson and Albion St identified at point 1 of this resolution.

5.
Write to all affected land owners and occupiers included in Amendment C164 – Parts 2 and 3 to advise them of these decisions. The letter must also seek interest from landowners to offer to enter into a Section 173 agreement with Council as set out in point 3 of this resolution [DCF30/19], and for the land to be included in a Commercial 1 Zone.

6.
Receive a further report outlining the proposed approach for a new amendment in relation to sites included in Amendment C164, Part 3 following consideration of the offers received as a result of the letter outlined in point 5 of this resolution.

7.
Notifies submitters to Amendment C164 of Council’s decision in relation to the Amendment.

In response to the decision, Council Officers directly notified all landowners within MILS Category 2 Areas within the Brunswick Structure Plan Area to seek their interest to enter into an agreement. At one on one meetings Council officers discussed the agreement and zone options with several landowners over a 2-month period. Two landowners have agreed to the terms set by Council. As a result, this report seeks to initiate a Planning Scheme Amendment (C192) to facilitate the rezoning of these properties to a Commercial 1 Zone. 
3.
Issues

This report was deferred from the 11 September 2019 Council meeting. 
Amendment C192 and the application of the Commercial 1 Zone

Amendment C192 departs from the consultant report findings which recommended the application of the C3Z to areas in the Category 2 Employment Areas with the exception of the properties in MILS Area 38. However, the properties proposed to be included within C192 will use an alternative mechanism to guarantee the provision of employment outcomes on this land. 

Landowners whose properties are proposed to be rezoned to the Commercial 1 Zone will be subject to a Section 173 Agreement which includes the mandatory provision of at least 30% of the gross floor area of any new building to be for employment and economic uses. Although this is less than the amount which will be secured through the Commercial 3 Zone, the Agreement will also secure a guaranteed minimum of 20% of dwellings within the same building to be provided for affordable housing. 

Achieving affordable housing is a key objective for Moreland and unless the supply of affordable housing in Moreland increases, then the options for many households are limited. These households may be forced to live with a level of housing stress that could damage their wellbeing or could be pushed out of Moreland to somewhere that is cheaper, but is not so well connected to jobs, transport, education and services. 

It is recognised that the amount of employment floor space is reduced compared to the application of the Commercial 3 Zone. However, the guaranteed inclusion of affordable housing outcomes is considered an appropriate trade off in this instance and these properties will still deliver on key employment outcomes which are consistent with the objectives for Category 2 Employments areas.

Amendment 193 and the application of the Commercial 3 Zone

For former industrial sites adjacent to Activity Centres where the strategic priority is to achieve increased employment outcomes, it is recognised that current market forces will continue to witness speculation and proposals seeking increased residential floorspace. This is at the expense of employment floor space, with the increased residential floor space sought to be justified by Activity Centre Policy which seeks to accommodate increased population growth. Council Officers recommend the rezoning of the 55 properties in MILS Category 2 Employment Areas to the C3Z to provide Council with greater control over the retention and delivery of new employment floorspace.

The previous Amendment C164 originally sought to achieve a commercial and residential mix through the application of the C1Z with an accompanying Design and Development Overlay (DDO) and supported by current local planning policy. The DDO sought to encourage built form outcomes which would encourage and facilitate employment uses. 
The C1Z however allows residential uses as of right, where there is a frontage of less than 2 metres at ground level. As residential uses are allowed without the need for a permit, Council Officers must rely on negotiation with applicants to achieve the amount of employment floor space sought for Category 2 - Employment Areas. This is a resource intensive process that is subject to the additional cost and uncertainty of reviews before the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal. This impacts on Council’s ability to guarantee the quantum and mix of employment uses on these sites, consistent with the outcomes sought for Category 2 – Employment Areas and Council’s Activity Centre policy. 

For the above reasons, Council Officers recommend an Amendment to pursue improved planning outcomes through the increased certainty of employment floor space as provided by the new C3Z.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

Previous consultation on Amendment C164

The previous Amendment C164 involved extensive consultation throughout the Amendment process between 16 November 2017 to 22 January 2018. This included direct notification to affected properties, drop in sessions facilitated by staff from the Strategic Planning Unit, consideration through several Council reports at public Council meetings, individual meetings with landowners and a public Panel hearing process. 

Councillors have been consulted and updated throughout the C164 Amendment process, including prior to each of the three decision gateways for the Amendment in August 2017, April 2018, November 2018 and on 23 April 2019.

Amendment C192

It is proposed to request the Minister for Planning to use his powers under Section 20(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 to prepare, adopt and approve Amendment C192. This would mean that there would be no further consultation with landowners or the community. Amendment C192 applies to 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick and 197-199 Albion Street, Brunswick and seeks the same policy outcomes as the previous Amendment C164. There are no additional proposed changes to the additional controls for parking, contamination and built form controls, including height. The difference is the registration of a section 173 Agreement on the land title. 
It is not expected that the amendment would raise any additional issues that haven’t been considered and addressed through the previous process. It is further noted that the Panel which considered Amendment C164 supported the amendment and the application of the C1Z and relevant overlays to these properties.

Council Officers have discussed this process with officers at Department Environment Land Water and Planning, however should the Minister refuse the request then the option would still be available for Council to pursue a standard amendment process which includes public exhibition.

Amendment C193

A new amendment process for the application of the C3Z will ensure that all affected owners and occupiers of the remaining 55 properties will have the opportunity to provide submissions on the proposed application of the C3Z. An independent Panel appointed by the Minister for Planning will also be convened to consider the merits of the C3Z and any submissions. 

It is proposed to directly notify affected owners and occupiers of the Category 2 – Employment Areas identified in Amendment C193 as part of the new amendment exhibition process.
5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council Officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

The funds required to administer this amendment can be accommodated within the 2019/2020 financial year operating budget and current resources of the Strategic Planning Unit of the City Strategy and Design Branch. 

7.
Implementation

In relation to Amendment C192, a request to prepare, adopt and approve the Amendment pursuant to section 20(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 will be lodged with the Minister for Planning. The Section 173 Agreement for the properties at 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick and at 197-199 Albion Street, Brunswick will be registered on title prior to this request.

In relation to Amendment C193, authorisation to prepare Amendment C193 will be sought from the Minister for Planning. Following receipt of authorisation, exhibition of the amendment will be undertaken. 

The following timeline is broken down into key ‘decision gateways’ for Council. The timeline is approximate and subject to Ministerial approval timelines and Planning Panels Victoria reporting.


Decision Gateway 1: Authorisation and exhibition (current report);


Decision Gateway 2: Submission review and panel request (February 2020); and


Decision Gateway 3: Panel Report review and approval request (October 2020).
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Table 7: Environmental Audit Overlay Application Rationale

Figure 5: Amendment C164 — Proposed Environmental Audit Overlay application for land to be
rezoned

SECTION 6:  PARKING OVERLAY

Transport policy context ..

Parking Overlay application in Moreland

Amendment C164 and the Parking Overlay

Summary of proposed Parking Overlay application

Table 8: Parking Overlay Application Rationale

Figure 6: Amendment C164 — Proposed Parking Overlay application
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Figure 7: Amendment C164 MILS Area Numbers
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SECTION 1: OVERVIEW

Purpose of Amendment
Proposed Amendment C164 will implement the land use directions of the Moreland Industrial Land
Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) for the Brunswick Activity Centre (BAC).

Amendment C164 will facilitate new employment and housing opportunities for rezoning
underutilised industrial land that is well serviced by existing infrastructure and public transport. The
rezoning of this land will encourage new development and employment opportunities which will add
to the vibrancy and mix of uses within the activity centre and assist Council in achieving its vision for
the BAC.

The Brunswick Activity Centre Structure Plan Reference Document 2016 (BACSP), which was adopted
by Council in October 2016, provides Council’s vision for the BAC and includes specific strategies to
achieve the vision including a strategy to undertake rezonings where required to give effect to the
MILS.

Structure of background report

This background report details the methodology used to select the proposed zones and controls
which form the basis for the proposed changes to the Moreland Planning Scheme to implement the
MILS.

This Background Report provides the strategic justification for the proposed Amendment C164. It
details the rationale for:

® Zone selection

e Height and built form controls including schedules to the Design and Development Overlay
e Potentially contaminated land and the need for an Environmental Audit Overlay

e Application of the Parking Overlay.

Section 8 of the report provides an individual summary of every property affected by Amendment
C164 that details all changes proposed by the amendment.

Page 4 of 86




[image: image6.png]Moreland Industrial Land Strategy, Brunswick Activity Centre Implementation, Draft Background Report D17/236451

SECTION 2: STRATEGIC JUSTIFICATION FOR AMENDMENT C164

Moreland’s activity centres

Moreland is committed to creating sustainable neighbourhoods where people can walk to shops and
services, employment, schools, public transport, parks and community services. The Moreland
Activity Centre Framework 2014, which forms the basis for Moreland’s strategic directions in its
Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS), identifies a series of different sized activity centres across the
municipality. The three largest activity centres — Brunswick, Coburg and Glenroy, are identified to
accommodate the most significant change of all the activity centres. In order to manage land use and
plan for sustainable growth, Council has developed several key pieces of strategic work specific to
each activity centre.

Plan Melbourne 2017-2050, the Victorian State Government’s overarching strategic policy for the
growth of Melbourne, identifies Brunswick as a major activity centre where there is opportunity for
medium and higher density development close to jobs and services.

Brunswick Activity Centre and the Brunswick Structure Plan

The vision for the Brunswick Activity Centre is one of continued economic and social diversity and
improved sustainability. Planning for growth and development will focus on three corridors: the
Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor, Lygon Street and Nicholson Street. Core Industry and Employment
Areas will be protected, Employment Areas will transition from traditional industrial uses to a broader
range of employment uses, and declining industrial areas will transform into residential areas. (BACSP

pg. 16)

Amendment C134, approved 11 August 2016, implemented the objectives and guidelines of
Brunswick Structure Plan (BSP) and the Addendum, which detailed Council’s long-term vision for the
development of a prosperous and sustainable activity centre. Amendment C134 also implemented
the recommendations of the Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor Strategic Framework Plan, which further
updated the recommendations of the BSP and Addendum within the Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor.

The panel appointed to consider Amendment C134 recommended Council prepare a policy neutral
consolidated reference document to replace the various documents that outline the vision for the
BAC detailed in the above paragraph. In October 2016 Council adopted the Brunswick Activity Centre
Structure Plan Reference Document (BACSP).

This BACSP document supersedes the following documents as reference documents to the Moreland
Planning Scheme:

e The Brunswick Structure Plan (2010)
e The Brunswick Structure Plan Addendum (2012)
e Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor Strategic Framework Plan (2014) (Strategic Framework Plan).

The BACSP also incorporates relevant objectives and strategies from the:

e Brunswick Integrated Transport Strategy (BITS) (2013)
e The recommendations of the Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) as it
pertains to land within the activity centre.

One of the key strategies of the BACSP under the theme of Land Use Pattern and Activity is to:
e Implement rezoning’s where required to give effect to the MILS.
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Proposed Amendment C164 will implement the outstanding land use directions of the MILS for the
BAC in accordance with the BACSP.

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) was adopted by Council in July 2016 and
implemented into the Moreland Planning Scheme through Amendment C158, gazetted on 6 April
2017. The MILS is the second industrial land strategy for the City of Moreland and it replaced the
Moreland Industrial Land Use Strategy 2004 (MILUS), which recommended a comprehensive review
after 10-15 years. This review was conducted in 2014/2015 and resulted in the development of the
MILS.

The MILS provides a coordinated and evidence based approach to managing growth and
strengthening our local economy. It complements Council’s objectives for creating a sustainable
urban environment where people have access to jobs and business services near to where they live
and it ensures we are planning for local employment opportunities now and for future generations.

The MILS, and associated background work which underpinned it, provides a comprehensive analysis
of the changing nature of employment in Moreland and implications for industrially zoned land.

The spatial directions of the MILS are represented on the Industrial Land Framework Plan (see Figure
1 over the page) which categorises all industrial land within Moreland into one of the following three
categories:

Category 1 - Core industry and employment areas which seek to maintain land for industry and other
employment uses including office and restricted retail and prohibit new residential uses, or

Category 2 - Employment areas which seek to support transition from traditional industrial uses to a
broader range of employment uses, and prioritise employment uses over residential uses in
Employment Areas, or

Category 3 - Transition - residential areas which seek to support change in these areas to facilitate
quality residential development and contribute to housing supply.

The MILS details a clear approach to rezoning land in accordance with the framework and flags the
opportunity for Council to take a proactive approach in order to achieve specific strategic visions
such as for the BAC. The below excerpt from the MILS sets out when it is considered appropriate for
land in the MILS to be proactively rezoned.

When will land be rezoned?

It is not intended that all land identified within the Industrial Framework Plan with potential for an
alternative zone would be rezoned all at once.

Some rezoning of land may be initiated by Council where it is necessary to proactively implement a
specific strategic vision (e.g. within Activity or Neighbourhood Centres). (Emphasis added)

Other rezonings will occur incrementally, usually at the request of a proponent (landowner or
otherwise). Such amendment requests will be assessed against the relevant MILS category, any other
relevant strategic directions for the site or precinct expressed in the MSS, and the site or precinct
context.

Extract from the MILS Section 6. Planning Scheme Recommendations
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Proposed Amendment C164 seeks to proactively implement the land use directions of the MILS for
land within the BAC to achieve Council’s vision for the BAC as outlined the in the Brunswick Activity
Centre Structure Plan Reference Document. A detailed map which shows the MILS Areas within the
BAC affected by proposed Amendment C164 is provided over the page at Figure 2.

Figure 1: Moreland Industrial Land Strategy Framework Plan.

Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS)
Framework Plan

MILS Category
1- Core Industry and Employment Areas

[ 2- Employment Areas
[ 3- Transition-Residential Areas
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SECTION 3: ZONE SELECTION AND LAND USE

Rezoning of Land identified in the MILS

To achieve the land use directions outlined in the MILS and the Brunswick Activity Centre Structure
Plan for the BAC, rezoning of land currently within Industrial 1 and 3 Zone and Commercial 2 Zone is
required. The MILS provides specific direction on the appropriate zones to apply within three
strategic land use categories (Category 1, 2 and 3).

The tables on the following pages provide an assessment of land within each of the MILS categories.
The tables identify the most appropriate zone for land within category 1, 2 and 3 based on their
inclusion within the BAC.

The tables are not intended to provide the detail on the proposed zone for each address included
within the Amendment. Rather, they provide a holistic assessment of the most appropriate zone to
be applied to land within category 1, 2, and 3 within the BAC.

Figure 3 on page 22 shows a complete summary map of the proposed zoning changes and indicates
which zone each property is proposed to be included within. Section 8 of this Report provides the
full detail of each individual property included within Amendment C164 and the zone and overlay/s
proposed to be applied.

Rationale for zone selection

Table 1, 2 and 3 below set out the rationale for the zone selection for all land to be rezoned. Each
table provides in the left hand column the information in the MISL regarding the potential zones for
each category. The right hand column provides the rationale for the zone selected to be applied to
this category through amendment C164.

Table 1: Category 1 MILS Areas — No rezoning proposed
MILS Implementation Direction Appropriate zone for these areas

e BAC

Implementation (Category 1 — Core Industrial Areas) | Category 1 Core Industrial Areas within the BAC will

continue to prohibit residential uses and will retain a

mix of Industrial 1 and Industrial 3 zoned land.

®  Retain the Industrial 1 and Industrial 3
Zones (IN1Z and IN3Z) to the majority of
land in Core Industry and Employment Amendment C164 does not propose to rezone
Areas to support industry and Category 1 Core Industrial Areas away from the

complementary businesses and prohibit existing IN1Z and IN3Z.

residential uses.

e Apply the Commercial 2 Zone (C2Z) in Core
Industry and Employment Areas to facilitate
restricted retail uses and prohibit
residential uses.

e Continue to apply the existing local
planning policy for Caretaker’s Houses
(clause 22.05) to ensure that caretaker’s
houses are not used as a way to create
separate dwellings within industrial areas.
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Table 2: Category 2 MILS Areas — Rezoning proposed

MILS Implementation ction

Implementation (Category 2 — Employment Areas)

e Apply the Industrial 3 and Commercial 2
Zones (IN3Z and C2Z) to prioritise
employment.

*  Where residential uses are to be permitted,
consider the following options:

o Apply the Commercial 1 Zone

(C1Z) and prioritise employment

uses as set out in above

strategies, or

Apply the Special Use Zone or

Comprehensive Development Zone

and use the schedule to the zone

to tailor use provisions to establish

permit triggers for residential and

other uses, as necessary, or

o Apply a mix of zones over larger

sites, with zones and revised MILS
categories applied to ensure
employment uses are prioritised.
(i.e Remove the Employment Area
Category as required and replace
with the Core Industry and
Employment Area (Category 1) to
designate employment areas and
the Transition Residential Area
(Category 3) to designate
residential areas within the site.)

e Apply an appropriate planning tool such as
an Incorporated Plan Overlay (IPO) or
Development Plan Overlay (DPO) in
conjunction with any rezoning, to confirm
the location of employment uses.

o

areas within the BAC

Appropriate zone for th

All of the land affected by proposed Amendment
C164 is within the BAC boundary, defined in the
Brunswick Structure Plan Reference Document.
Activity centres are identified in the MSS and Plan
Melbourne to accommodate significant change, and
there is a clear policy position to achieve increased
housing densities and provide a broad mix of retail
uses (including convenience and comparison
shopping), commercial and cultural activity, and a
diverse mix of employment options.

For this reason the Commercial 1 Zone is the most
appropriate zone choice for Category 2 -
Employment Areas. The Industrial 3 Zone and
Commercial 2 Zone prohibit residential uses and are
not appropriate. The retention of industrial land in
the Category 1 Core Industrial Areas will continue to
prohibit residential uses and exclusively provide
employment opportunities.

Amendment C164 proposes to rezone Category 2
Employment Areas to the Commercial 1 Zone.

The rezoning of Category 2 Employment Areas as
proposed by Amendment C164 will fully implement
the MILS directions for Category 2 Areas within the
BAC.

Table 3: Category 3 MILS Areas — Rezoning proposed
MILS Implementation Direction

Appropriate zone for these areas within the BAC

Implementation (Category 3 — Transition-residential
Areas)

* Apply the Mixed Use Zone (MUZ), Residential
Growth Zone (RGZ), or General Residential Zone
(GRZ). Zone selection will be informed by the size
and location of the site and the ability to manage off

The MUZ is the most appropriate zone choice for
Category 3 - Transition-residential Areas within the
BAC. Amendment C164 proposes to rezone category
3 properties to the MUZ.

Council’s strategic framework at clauses 21.03-1,
21.03-2 and 21.03-3 sets out a number of key
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site impacts and integrate with the scale of the
surrounding neighbourhood at site or precinct
boundaries. Given the objective for Transition
Residential Areas to make a contribution to overall
housing supply, the Neighbourhood Residential Zone
(NRZ) should only be used in specific circumstances,
such as very small and isolated sites.

strategies in regards to housing. These strategies
identify which zones should be used to encourage
higher density housing and, where development
should pay greater respect to neighbourhood
character. These strategies include specific guidance
for category 3 Transition-residential Areas:

Encourage increased density housing to be located
on former industrial sites designated as Transition
Residential Areas (Category 3) in the Moreland
Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 that have been
rezoned to the Mixed Use Zone (MUZ) or Residential
Growth Zone (RGZ).

The MUZ is included within the suite of residential
zones in the Victorian planning Provisions (VPPS)
and includes the following purpose relating to the
provision of housing at higher densities:

To provide for housing at higher densities

Land use

The MUZ is preferred over the RGZ, Neighbourhood
Residential Zone (NRZ) and General Residential Zone
(GRZ) as it allows greater flexibility in land uses
including allowing some industrial uses. This is
important as the MILS seeks to support existing
industrial business. The RGZ only supports a limited
number of non-residential uses in appropriate
locations.

Built form

Category 3 Transition-Residential Areas include a
large number of properties with existing non-
residential uses and non-residential built form. The
MUZ will allow greater flexibility with regard to
future uses and encourage higher density housing
which is consistent with the objectives of the MILS
and the role of Moreland’s activity centres.

The Neighbourhood Residential Zone (NRZ) and
General Residential Zone (GRZ) are used to
encourage minimal and incremental housing
growth. In the context of the MILS the NRZ and GRZ
would be considered on a limited basis for MILS
Areas. They would only be used in locations which
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are not part of or close to an activity centre and
surrounded by low scale residential development.

Amendment C164 proposes to rezone Category 3
Transition-residential Areas to the Mixed Use Zone.

The rezoning of Category 3 Transition-residential
Areas as proposed by Amendment C164 will fully
implement the MILS directions for Category 3 Areas
within the BAC.

Detailed discussion on the application of zones

There are approximately 288 properties across the BAC included in Amendment C164. Some of these
properties have already been rezoned away from an industrial zone through previous amendments.
These rezonings however were not in accordance with the current MILS policy, and don’t accord with

the above rationale in tables 1, 2 and 3.

The below table outlines the how zones will be applied across the BAC based on the rationale in

tables 1, 2 and 3 and the existing zone.

Table 4: Zone Application
Existing

ne and MILS category scena
CATEGORY 1 MILS AREA

e Currently Zoned either Industrial 3 Zone
(IN32Z) or Industrial 1 Zone (IN1Z) or
Commercial 2 Zone (C22)

Amendment C164

Proposed approach f

Land in a Category 1 Area is not proposed to be
rezoned to ensure that industrial and employment
uses are protected and residential uses are
prohibited as per the directions in table 1.

Recommendation:

No rezoning is proposed to land within Category 1.

CATEGORY 2 MILS AREA

e Currently Zoned either Industrial 3 ZONE
(IN32) or Commercial 2 Zone (C2Z)

In accordance with the recommendations of Table 2,
this land should be rezoned to the Commercial 1
Zone.

Recommendation:

Rezone land to Commercial 1 Zone.

CATEGORY 2 MILS AREA

e Currently Zoned Commercial 1 Zone (C1Z)

Land in MILS Area’s 59, 60, 61, 62 and 63 was
rezoned to the Commercial 1 Zone by Amendment
C134, prior to the adoption of the MILS in July 2016.
The proposed approach to MILS Category 2 Areas, as
outlined in Table 2, is to rezone them to C1Z. As
these properties are already within the C1Z it is
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considered that no further zone change is required
to implement the land use directions.

Recommendation:

No change. Existing zone aligns with MILS category.

CATEGORY 3 MILS AREA

o Currently Zoned Industrial 3 Zone (IN32),
Commercial 2 Zone (C22)

In accordance with the recommendations of Table 3,
this land should be rezoned to the Mixed use Zone.

Recommendation:

Rezone land to Mixed Use Zone.

CATEGORY 3 MILS AREA

e Currently Zoned Commercial 1 Zone (€12)

Land in MILS Area’s 71 and 72 was rezoned to the
Commercial 1 Zone by Amendment C134, prior to
the adoption of the MILS in July 2016. The proposed
approach to Category 2 Areas as outlined in Table 3
is to rezone them the Mixed use Zone.

Recommendation:

Rezone land to Mixed Use Zone.

Land is split between two MILS categories - Category
2 And Category 3

Some land straddles two MILS category boundaries,
generally due to irregular property boundaries and
where single properties have multiple street
frontages. The C1Z is the most appropriate zone for
Category 2 Areas and also it can accommodate the
outcomes sought within a Category 3 Area.
Therefore applying a C1Z to land which is in both
categories is appropriate.

Recommendation:

Rezone land to Commercial 1 Zone.

Land is split between two MILS categories - Category
1 And Category 2

Some land straddles two MILS category boundaries,
generally due to irregular property boundaries and
where single properties have multiple street
frontages. Category 1 Areas should prohibit
residential uses therefore a C1Z or MUZ would not
be appropriate for this land. The employment
outcomes sought by Category 2 can be achieved
within a zone that prohibits residential uses.

Recommendation:

Apply a tailored zone response (see specific
example below in Table 4).
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Land in two zones or effected by two MILS categories

It is proposed to rezone all affected properties in accordance with the recommendations outlined
above. However there are a small number of occasions (seven) where land included within
Amendment C164 is either:

e Land which exists in two MILS categories, or
e Land which exists in two different zones.

These properties require a tailored response. The particular properties effected by this are outlined
in Table 5 over the page and detail is provided in relation to how they are proposed to be treated by
Amendment C164. Figure 3 Amendment C164 — Proposed Rezoning, on the page 22, shows a
complete summary of the rezoning proposed across the BAC.
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Property

1-5 Weston Street,
Brunswick

MILS Area 68

Issue and recommendation

1-5 Weston has frontages to both Weston Street and to Edward Street. There
are different MILS categories which apply to each section. The northern part of
the land which fronts Edward Street is in a Category 2 Employment Area and
the southern part of the land fronting Weston Street is in a Category 1 Core
Industry and Employment Area.

As Category 1 Core Industrial and Employment Areas prohibit residential uses,
rezoning the property to the Commercial 1 Zone is not appropriate because it
allows residential uses as of right. It proposed to rezone the northern part of
the site which fronts Edward Street to the C1Z.

Recommendation:

Apply the C1Z to the northern part of 1-5 Weston Street.

172 4] |g

SYDNEY Rp

162-170

156 158
5/160

144A
144 1448

140-142

136-138
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Category 2 — Employment Areas
Subject Land

Part of property to be rezoned
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Property

13-15 Edward Street,
Brunswick

MILS Area 68, 69

Issue and recommendation

13-15 Dodds Street has frontages to both Dodds and Edward Streets. There are
different MILS categories which apply to each section. The Dodds Street
frontage is in Category 3 and the Edward Street frontage is in Category 2. The
C1Z is the appropriate zone to apply because it allows for residential uses to
Dodds Street and employment uses at the Edward Street frontage.

Recommendation:

Apply the C1Z to 13-15 Dodds Street.

1210 22 18 en 6 31 20 461
1614

186-188

18257 11A
1 01783

162-170

- Category 2 — Employment Areas

- Category 3 — Transition-residential Areas
E Subject Land
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Property

154-158 Victoria Street,
Brunswick

MILS Area 44, 45

Issue and recommendation

154-158 Victoria Street extends from Victoria Street through to Ann Street and
Trafford Street and has frontages to all three streets. The Ann and Trafford
Street frontages are within MILS Area 45 which is Category 3. The C1Z is the
appropriate zone to apply because it allows for residential uses in the Anne and
Trafford Street part s of the property and employment uses in the part of the
property with a frontage to Victoria Street.

Recommendation:

Apply the C1Z to 154-158 Victoria Street.

5/174-176 s
2/174-176 217319
8/174-176
3174-178 | i
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- Category 2 — Employment Areas
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Property Issue and recommend: n

160-164 Victoria Street is a single land holding split into a number of properties
used for industrial/commercial uses. The western half of the land is in the NRZ1
and the eastern half is in the IN3Z. The entire property is within MILS Area 45
MILS frea 44 and is designated as a Category 2 Employment Area. The NRZ1 does not allow
for commercial/employment uses. This is considered a zoning anomaly and it is

proposed to rezone the entire property to the C1Z.

160 Victoria Street,
Brunswick

Recommendation:

Apply the C1Z to 160-164 Victoria Street.

e T !
T E ol ]l

| 51174176 |
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Property

20 Leinster Grove (240-
250 Lygon Street),
Brunswick

MILS Area 73

D17/236451

n

Issue and recommend:

20 Leinster Grove is part of a larger property known as 240-250 Lygon Street.
The part of the site which fronts Lygon Street is in the C1Z and has an approved
planning permit for a multi storey residential building which has recently
started construction. The rear part of the site is in the C2Z and is in a Category
3 Area. It is proposed to rezone3 the rear part of the site to the MUZ. As the
rear part is in category 3 and will be developed separately to the front part of

the site this is considered appropriate.

Recommendation:

Apply the MUZ to the rear part of 240-250 Lygon Street (known as 20 Leinster

Grove).
251
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Property

17-19 Hope Street,
Brunswick

MILS Area 63, 72

Issue and recommend:

n

17-19 Hope Street is made of six land parcels which have primary access from
Hope Street. The land is currently zoned C1Z. It is proposed to retain this land
within the C1Z to avoid land locking parcels with different zoning. The Category
3 designation will still apply to the rear lots of 17-19 Hope Street. The C1Z allows
for residential uses and is appropriate.

Recommendation:

No changes are proposed to 17-19 Hope Street (retain within the €1Z).

JA7-19,

3/17:19)

- Category 2 — Employment Areas

- Category 3 - Transition-residential Areas

E Subject Land
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Property Issue and recommend: n
523 Sydney Road, 523 Sydney Road extends through to Ovens Street at the rear. It is proposed to
Brunswick be retained within the C1Z to avoid placing land in two zones. The rear part of
the property which fronts Ovens Street is in a Category 3 MILS Area. The C1Z
MILS Area 72 ‘ N i :
allows for residential uses and is appropriate.

Recommendation:

No changes proposed to 523 Sydney Road (Retain within the C1Z).
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SECTION 4: BUILT FORM AND THE DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY

Within the BAC, it is appropriate for built form guidance to be provided through a Design and
Development Overlay (DDO). An existing DDO applies to each of the three corridors within the
Brunswick Activity Centre (BAC), Sydney Road (DDO18), Lygon Street (DDO19) and Nicholson Street
(DDO20). The DDO's identify areas which are affected by specific requirements relating to the design
and built form of new development within the Activity Centre. The DDO’s implement the built form
vision for the BAC as outlined in the BACSP. The DDO’s include specific guidance relating to built
form, public realm and amenity, including guidance where development abuts land adjoining the
activity centre.

It is proposed to extend DDO schedules 18, 19 and 20 to include all the properties rezoned by
Amendment C164. Some land proposed to be rezoned by Amendment C164 was included within the
DDO through Amendment C134, although the land remains within an Industrial or Commercial 2
Zone. In these areas, there is no need to alter the existing DDO.

Including land within the DDO’s will provide guidance on the following matters:

e Height and urban design outcomes
e Land use conflicts and residential interface treatment
e Specific built form guidance for Category 2 Employment Areas

Figure 4, on the following page, shows the proposed DDO application across the BAC.
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Figure 4: Amendment C164 — Proposed Design and Development Overlay Application
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Detailed discussion on the application of the DDO
There are approximately 288 properties across the BAC included in Amendment C164. And some of
these properties are already included within DDO18, 19 and 20 through previous amendments.

The below table outlines how the DDO will be applied across the land proposed to be rezoned by

Amendment C164.

Table 6: Design and Development Overlay Application

Existing built form scenario

e DDO 18, 19 or 20 ALREADY APPLIES
e INCLUDES A PREFERRED HEIGHT

Property is within an existing DDO schedule (18, 19
or 20) applied through Amendment C134, and has an
existing preferred height shown.

Proposed approach for Amendment C164

A number of properties proposed to be rezoned by
Amendment C164 are already included within DDO’s
18, 19 or 20.

These properties are within an industrial zone and
were proposed to be rezoned Amendment C134,
however this was not supported by the panel
appointed to consider the amendment. This was
because of the review of the MILUS, which was
being undertaken at a similar time and the
outcomes of this review and any revision to the
directions for industrial land being unclear. The
Panel did however support the inclusion of this land
within the proposed DDO's to guide future built
form.

These properties have already undergone significant
and rigorous height and built form analysis, which
has been tested with the community through an
independent Planning Panel process as part of
Amendment C134 to the Brunswick Activity Centre.
For this reason it not proposed to review the
preferred DDO height guidance for these properties.

Recommendation:

No changes proposed.

Page 25 of 86




[image: image27.png]Moreland Industrial Land Strategy, Brunswick Activity Centre Implementation, Draft Background Report

D17/236451

e DDO 18, 19 or 20 ALREADY APPLIES
*  DOES NOT INCLUDE A PREFERRED HEIGHT

Property is within an existing DDO schedule (18, 19
or 20) applied through Amendment C134 and has no
preferred height shown.

A small number (2) of properties are already
included within one of the three DDO schedules but
have no preferred height specified. This occurred
through Amendment C134. It appears that this may
be an anomaly which can be corrected through this
process.

Analysis to determine a preferred height. Wil be
undertaken for these sites.

Recommendation:

Amend the DDO schedule in accordance with this
recommendation based on the findings of the
Urban Design analysis.

e DDO 18, 19 OR 20 DO NOT CURRENTLY
APPLY TO THE LAND

Property is outside of existing DDO 18, 19, 20.

Analysis to determine preferred height and built
form outcomes required to inform the content of the
DDO to be applied. See section ‘Urban Design
analysis to inform the DDO content’ for a detailed
explanation of this analysis.

Recommendation:

Apply the DDO and amend the DDO schedule to
implement height and built form outcomes

e ALLCATEGORY 2 EMPLOYMENT AREAS TO
WHICH DDO18, 19 or 20 APPLIES

e ALLCATEGORY 2 EMPLOYMENT AREAS TO
WHICH DDO18, 19 or 20 WILL BE APPLIED

All Category 2 Employment Areas in the BAC,
including existing properties which are within the
Commercial 1 Zone.

It is proposed to include additional built form
guidance for all Category 2 Employment Areas that
have been rezoned to allow for residential uses
(either through amendment C134 or proposed
amendment C164) to assist in creating high quality
commercial and residential development and to
achieve specific outcomes sought by MILS for this
land.

Clause 21.03 of the MSS includes the following
strategies for Category 2 — Employment Areas:

5.3 Ensure employment uses are prioritised over
residential uses in Employment Areas. Where multi-
use development including a residential component
is proposed, the amount of employment floorspace
should be at least equivalent to the amount of all
proposed ground and first floor building floorspace
(inclusive of car parking, other services and
circulation space).

5.4 Encourage flexible floor plate layouts and
increased floor to ceiling heights at ground and first
floor to facilitate a variety of employment uses over
time.

Recommendation:
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‘Amend DDO schedules 18, 19 and 20 to include
specific guidance for Category 2 - Employment
areas including objectives and built form
requirements. (refer to discussion below)

Changes to the DDOs for Category 2 Employment Areas — Further Discussion
The MSS includes the following strategies at Clause 21.03-2:

Facilitate the transition of Employment Areas to accommodate a broader range of employment
generating uses, including a mix of industry and office based uses and other compatible employment
uses.

Ensure employment uses are prioritised over residential uses in Employment Areas. Where multi-use
development including a residential component is proposed, the amount of employment floorspace
should be at least equivalent to the amount of all proposed ground and first floor building floorspace
(inclusive of car parking, other services and circulation space).

Encourage flexible floor plate layouts and increased floor to ceiling heights at ground and first floor
to facilitate a variety of employment uses over time.

Extract from Clause 21.03-2

Ensuring that employment outcomes are achieved within Category 2 Employment Areas is an
expected component of development in rezoned land and therefore the inclusion of built form
requirements in DDO’s 18, 19 and 20, which ascribe this, are considered a necessary element of the
amendment.

Commercial and employment uses have different built form requirements to residential uses and
therefore specific built form guidance is proposed to be included into the three DDO’s. This will
ensure that built form outcomes, like low ceiling heights and inflexible floor plates won’t prevent or
discourage commercial and employment uses from locating within new development. This will also
provide a clear nexus between both the policy statements of the MSS and explicit design outcomes
sought with Category 2 Areas of the BAC.

Proposed changes to the DDO18, 19 and 20
It is proposed to include the following additional objectives (or similar) into DDO schedules 18, 19 and
20:

e To encourage development to provide residential accommodation only where it is located
above ground floor and first floor employment spaces

e To encourage commercial design built forms at ground and first floor of development.

e To encourage commercial activation at the ground level of development.

It is proposed to include the following built form requirements (or similar) into DDO schedules 18, 19
and 20:

e Development within Category 2 — Employment Areas should achieve commercial built form
outcomes, including increased floor to ceiling heights and flexible floor plates, at ground and
first floor to facilitate opportunities for employment uses.
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e Ground floor commercial spaces should provide for commercial activation, through
entrances, transparent glazing and architectural features which encourage interaction and
visual interest.

Rationale of changes

The policy intent of the proposed changes is already contained within Councils MSS and was inserted
as part of Amendment C158. Therefore, although this will create stronger policy guidance for the
development of properties within a Category 2 Employment Area, Amendment C164 is not
introducing a ‘new’ policy direction in this regard.

This additional guidance is considered necessary and an appropriate way to ensure that built form
outcomes further the MILS policy objectives and to ensure a variety of employment uses are possible
in Category 2 Employment areas. This approach has been used previously in DDO22 to the Moreland
Planning Scheme which applied to a former MILUS precinct which has recently been redeveloped. The
Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) in its decision (Caydon CP Developments Pty Ltd v
Moreland CC [2014] VCAT 357 (28 March 2014)), regarding a development within this area, supported
Councils position that reducing the amount of commercial floor space, in this example deleting the
entire first floor component and replacing it with dwellings, was not consistent with the land use and
built form outcomes sought both in its MSS, through the MILUS, and DDO22, which makes specific
reference to commercial built form outcomes at ground and first floor.

Senior Member Baird in her decision stated that:

...while DDO22 does not apply to land use but, with other parts of the Scheme, it confirms the policy
direction about the form of development of which commercial use is an expected component.

Paragraph 25 of Caydon CP Developments Pty Ltd v Moreland CC [2014] VCAT 357

Although a DDO cannot dictate land use, there are specific built form outcomes which will encourage

and ensure that commercial and employment uses can locate within new development. This includes

higher floor to ceiling heights and flexible floor plates. The VCAT decision highlights the importance of
the nexus between built both form outcomes sought and use outcomes, particularly in a discretionary
planning system.

Flexibility for different employment uses

Providing flexibility within new development for commercial and employment generating uses is also
considered a key component of the MILS requires implementation through the DDO. In the VACT
decision of Russo v Moreland CC [2010] VCAT 1027 (18 June 2010), which considered the
development of a former MILUS Multi-use Employment Area site in a Business 2 Zone (now
Commercial 1 Zone), Member Naylor noted that:

...Council is keen to see the provision of the first floor as office space but is flexible as to how many
tenancies it contains (e.g. it could be one large space or contain multiple tenancies). It seems to me
the Council’s flexibility is a good thing and the opportunity exists for there to be, potentially, multiple
tenancies and possibly even two storey office spaces created as opposed to merely ground and first
floors. For example, an internal staircase could provide the opportunity for a retail-style shop front
with an office component behind and above.

Paragraph 9 of Russo v Moreland CC [2010] VCAT 1027
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The proposed changes to the DDO’s will provide for flexibility in size and types of spaces where
employment activities may occur on the land, which should encourage the provision of employment
generating uses within Category 2 Employment Areas.

The introduction of specific built form controls into the DDO’s will assist in implementing these
strategies and ensure a consistent approach to Category 2 Employment Area land across the BAC.

Urban design analysis to inform the DDO content
Council’s Urban Design Unit has conducted a site by site analysis of:

e Allland to be rezoned by Amendment C164 that is not already within a DDO.
e Allland to be rezoned by Amendment C164 that is within existing DDO18, 19, or 20 where
no height is specified in the DDO.

All land within the existing DDO 18, 19, 20 which is currently zoned to allow for residential use and
has a preferred height specified, has not been assessed. Urban design analysis is already existing to
support the existing heights included within the DDO. No changes to this are required or proposed.

Sit by site analysis has been used to determine a preferred height for each property reviewed, based
on the existing built form policy context. Street wall and frontage guidance has also been analysed.
The urban design analysis undertaken in accordance with the following methodology:

1. Review of the following documents:
e Existing DDO’s 18, 19 and 20 (Moreland Planning Scheme)
e Brunswick Activity Centre Structure Plan Reference Document (October 2016)
e Sydney Road Upfield Corridor Strategic Framework Plan (DLA)
e Draft Brunswick Structure Plan (2010)
e Brunswick Structure Plan Addendum (2012)
e Statutory Implementation Options for Industrial Precincts in Brunswick MAC (SGS)
e Brunswick Precinct Industrial Rezoning Model (Planisphere).
2. Context assessment for sites with no preferred height including:
e Desktop visual review of all precincts (Google Street View) and Council GIS software
(moreMaps)
e Review of surrounding preferred heights and individual street character
e Review of any other relevant overlay controls including heritage overlays
e Subject site analysis including site depth and width consideration
e Preferred future character consideration including MILS category.

Based on the findings of steps 1 and 2 a recommendation for preferred height, and any additional
changes or comments (where required) was made.

The Proposed Built form guidance maps which follow, indicated which properties have been
analysed (shown with hatching) and the outcomes proposed. The maps also includes the existing
surrounding built form controls (height/frontage/street wall) taken from BACSP. The analysis
presented in the following maps will inform relevant DDO mapping, and be reflected in an updated
version of the BACSP when the amendment is approved.
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The table underneath each map details the exact nature of the controls proposed to be included in

the DDO, as per the example below:

Proposed Other
Height in DDO Controls

Proposed in

Detailed Analysis

MILS  MILS | Property  Existing | Proposed Built Existing
Area Cat Built Form Control Height in
No Form DDO
Control
# Cat2 | Address | None Recommendation | Existing
or | detail or height
Cat3 Existing shown in
bDO metres and
storeys

DDO/BACSP
Recommended | Street wall
height shownin | or Frontage
metres and type
storeys

Urban Design
assessment of the
changes
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Map 1: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in DDO18 - MILS Area 29, 30
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Built Form Legend

Preferred Maximum Heights
(DDO 18- Sydney Rd)
[ 17m (equals to 5 storey)

I 19m (equals to 6 storey)
13.5m (equals to 4 storey)

Street Frontage Types

——  Frontage type A - Retail

~~ Frontage type B - Commercial
——  Frontage type C - Residential
= Frontage to Public Realm
Streetwall Controls

(DDO 18- Sydney Rd)

e Streetwall Height = Street Width

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS MILS | Property = Existing = Proposed Existing Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area | Cat Built Built  Heightin  Heightin Controls
No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control Control DDO/BACSP
2 |2 191,193 | None Apply None 17m Add Street Albion street is a Principle
195,197- DDO18 (5storeys) | wallheight of | Pedestrian Network (PPN) street
199,201, 1:1(125m) | therefore solar access to
203, 205, footpaths needs to be maintained
207,209, (DLA report). Add street wall
211,213, height control to ensure that
215,217, development creates an
219 appropriate sense of street
Albion enclosure (the DDO specifies
Street street wall height=street width

with Albion Street approximate
width of 12.5m). This will ensure
that Albion Street and the
properties south of this narrow
street have adequate solar
access. The proposed height for
the site is the same as per the
previous BSP Addendum which is
considered still appropriate

2% |2 6ihan | None Apply None 7m None The proposed height for the site
Lane DDO18 (5 storeys) is the same as per the previous
BSP Addendum which is
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considered stil appropriate. The
site has no street frontage.

30 |3 220 None Apply None 135m Add Frontage | It is recommended that the
Albion DDO18 (4storeys) | TypeC maximum building height is
street Residential | lowered to 13.5m or 4 storey

from the BSP Addendum's 15m
building height (5 storey
residential height). The site is an
isolated site on western side of
Upfield railway where any major
height will not create a consistent
streetscape. The surrounding land
is in the NRZ and has a two storey
maximum height. These
properties are also affected by a
heritage overlay. The site is
currently used as a commercial
building and can remain to be use
as a business as long as the
current DDO's residential
frontage (Frontage Type C
Residential) is retained to create a
ground floor transition to the
residential dwellings. The site is a
wide site (19 m) which can
provide the required DDO's side
setback to residential zone
outside the activity centre.
Additional street wall controlis
not necessary as the maximum
height 13.5m is close to the
recommended 12.5m for the
street wall.

Map 2: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in DDO18 - MILS Area 68, 69, 70

Area Analysed - Proposed Buit Form Guidance
to be included in DDO

Existing DDO already provides guidance

Frontage type A - Retail
Frontage type B - Commercial
Frontage type C - Residential
Frontage to Public Realm

Built Form Legend
Preferred Maximum Heights
(DO 18 - Sydney Rd)

[ 10.5m fequais o 3 storey)
[0 15m (equals o 5 storey)
W 19m (equats to 6 storey)
B 20m (equols to 6 storey)
I 250m (equols to 8 storey)
Street Frontage Types

WESTON ST
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Property ing | Proposed Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Built Built Heightin | Heightin Controls
Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control Control DDO/BACSP
68 |2 12-14, None Apply None 20m Apply street | Extend the maximum building
13-15, DDO18 (6storeys) | wall control: | height of the current control
18-20, street wall North of the site for Dods
22,1/22, streetwidth | Street (20m - 6st). This height
24-26, is appropriate considering the
28-36, width of the street, the
3133, categorisation of MILS type 2,
35,39, and a general higher height
41,43- applied in the surrounding
45,47, area. The adjacent neighbours
55,57, on the south are to be retained
59-61 within an industrial zone which
Edward is therefore not a sensitive
Street interface. Properties along
Weston St's to the south have
higher height of 25m (8 storey).
Astreet wall height equal to
street width is applied to
Edward Street to create
appropriate street enclosure
scale for the new 20m height
This will mitigate impact of
excessive overshadowing on
the southern side footpaths.
6 |3 1315 None Apply None 20m None Extend the maximum building
Edward DDO18 (6 storeys) height of the current control
Street East of the site for Dods Street
(20m - 6st). Thessite is
currently a Council carpark
which can accommodate
similar height to the neighbour.
70 |3 6365 None Apply None 20m None Extend the maximum building
Edward DDO18 (6storeys) height of the proposed 20m -
Street 65t for MILS precinct 68.
and 17 Although Charles Street north
Charles has a strong residential
Street character, this section of the
street has a strong commercial
character therefore extending
higher built form is considered
appropriate. This section of the
streetis also wider which
mitigates negative impacts to
properties across the street.
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Map 3: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in DDO19 - MILS Area 41, 43, 73

Legend
b "% MILS Area

(7 "rea Anatysed - roposed Bt Form Guidance
tobe included in DDO

Existing DDO already provides guidance

Sulings of IndhidualHeritage Sgifiance

Preferred Maximum Heights
(DDO19 & 20 Lygon St & Nicholson St)

Flem: Built Form Legend
Bae

11m (equats to 3 storey)

14m (equals to 4 storey)

17m (equals to 5 storey)
20m (equals to 6 storey)

23m (equals to 7 storey)

| || street Frontage Types
Frontage type A - Retail
~ Frontage type B - Commercial

——  Frontage type C - Residential
= Frontage to Public Realm

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS | MILS | Property = Existing Proposed  Existing | Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area | Cat Built Built | Heightin  Heightin Controls
No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in

Control  Control DDO/BACSP
88,90 17m Itis proposed to extend existing
Albert DDO19 (5storeys) building height control of DDO 19
Street which affects the adjacent
properties to the site. Extending
the heights will create a
consistent streetscape and built
form for this precinct. The site has
no sensitive abuttals and is
separated from lower scale
residential by French Avenue. The
proposed height for the site is the
same as per the previous BSP

Addendum.

B |2 98,100 | DDOIS | No None 7m None The overall control is appropriate
Albert change | (Error) | (5 storeys) for the site. Itis proposed to
Street (Retain apply the same height as the

DDO19) surrounding properties to create

a consistent streetscape and built
form for this precinct. It appears
to be an error that no height was
specified for these properties
despite already being included
within DDO19. The proposed
height for the site is the same as
per the previous BSP Addendum.

73 |3 20 DDO19 | No 23m Nochange | AddTypeC | Add Frontage Type C Residential
Leintser change | (7 (Retain residential for the boundary along Methven
Grove storeys) | 23m) frontage Park to create active frontages to
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(Rear of (Retain the park. BPIRM recommends
240-250 DDO19) Methven Park Interface (page 71).
Lygon Individual entry doors to ground
Street) floor dwellings should be

provided for the properties
adjacent to public land (DDO 19
Building layout and detailed
design), this can be done by
creating ‘paper road or a
pedestrian path within the site to
avoid conflicting private access
from the park.

Map 4: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in the DDO19 - MILS Area 44, 45

MILS Area

[77] Area Analysed - roposed Buik Form Guidance
to be included in DDO

Existing DDO already provides guidance

ICTORIA ST *

NN Buiings of indidust Hertage signfcance

Built Form Legend
Preferred Maximum Heights

(DDO19 & 20 - Lygon St & Nicholson St)
11m (equals to 3 storey)
N 14m (equals to 4 storey)
T 17m fequats to 5 storey)
W 20m (equais to 6 storey)
B 23m (equats to 7 storey)

TRAFFORD ST

¥GON SP

Street Frontage Types
——  Frontage type A - Retail
~ Frontage type B - Ccmmercial
——  Frontage type C - Residential
—— Frontage to Public Realm

ALBERT ST

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS = MILS | Property  Existing | Proposed = Existing = Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area | Cat Built Built Heightin = Heightin Controls

No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control Control DDO/BACSP
150-152 No 14m The overall control is appropriate
Victoria change (4 storeys) for the site. It is proposed to
Street (Retain apply the same height as the
DDO19) surrounding properties to create
a consistent streetscape and built
form for this precinct The
proposed height for the site is the
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same as per the previous BSP
Addendum.

)

2 154-158
Victoria
Street

None

Apply
DDO19

None

14m
(4 storeys)

None

The overall control s appropriate
for the site. Extend the existing
building height control of DDO 19
tothessite. Itis proposed to apply
the same height as the
surrounding properties to create
a consistent streetscape and built
form for this precinct The site is a
long site with rear within MILS 45
on Ann Street and Trafford Street.

aa

2 160-162
Victoria
Street

None

Apply
DDO19

None

Tam
(4 storeys)

None

The overall DDO control is
appropriate for the site. Extend
the existing building height
control of DDO19 to the site. It is
proposed to apply the same
height as the surrounding
properties to create a consistent
streetscape and built form for this
precinct. The proposed height for
the site is the same as per the
previous BSP Addendum.

)

2 164
Victoria
Street

None

Apply
DDO19

None

T4m
(4 storeys)

None

Extend the existing building
height control of DDO19 to the
site. It is proposed to apply the
same height as the surrounding
properties to create a consistent
streetscape and built form for this
precinct. The neighbouring
residential is a new 2-storey
townhouse, gabled roof, which
will not be impacted negatively by
the proposed 4 storey for the site.

a5

3 (Rear of)
154-158
Victoria
Street

None

Apply
DDO19

None

T4m
(4 storeys)

None

The overall control is appropriate
for the site. Extend the existing
building height control of DDO19
to the site. It is proposed to apply
the same height as the
surrounding properties to create
a consistent streetscape and built
form for this precinct. The site is a
long site with rear within MILS 45
on Ann Street and Trafford Street.
The four storey height will create
an appropriate transition with the
expected scale of surrounding
land.
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Map 5: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in the DDO19 - MILS Area 51, 52

LYQ

Legend
b " MILS Area

Area Analysed - Proposed Built Form Guidan
to be included in DDO

Existing DDO already provides guidance

(N0 uiings of Individust HertageSinificance

Built Form Legend
Preferred Maximum Heights
(DDO19 & 20 - Lygon St & Nicholson St)

EYGON ST

11m (equals to 3 storey)
T 14m equals to 4 storey)
[ 17m (equals to 5 storey)

Street Frontage Types
——  Frontage type A- Retail
~~ Frontage type B - Commercial
———  Frontage type C - Residential
~—— Frontage to Public Realm

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS  Property | Existing | Proposed  Existing | Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area  Cat Built Built Heightin | Heightin Controls
No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control  Control DDO/BACSP
85-89, 95- 17m The overall control is

101, 103, DDO19 (5 storeys) appropriate for the site. Extend
105 the existing building height
Brunswick control of DDO19 to the site.
Road Although the BSP Addendum

suggested 4 storeys for these
properties, Brunswick Rd is a
very wide street, and therefore
a higher building height is
appropriate. A five storey
preferred height will create a
consistent character which
wrap around onto Lygon Street.
Itis noted that the precinct is
physically separated from the
surrounding residential land via

alaneway.
52 |3 T128arkly | None Apply None Tim None Although occupied by a non-
Street DDO19 (3 storeys) contributory warehouse the

site is a narrow and located in
the middle of Victorian era
heritage precinct. Future
development should respect
the low-density residential
character of Barkly St. The
proposed height for the site is
the same as per the previous

Page 37 of 86




[image: image39.png]Moreland Industrial Land Strategy, Brunswick Activity Centre Implementation, Draft Background Report

D17/236451

B5P Addendum which is
considered still appropriate
(11m). the site is within a
heritage overlay.

52 |3 114,116, | None Apply None 1im None These sites are narrow, intact
118,120, DDO19 (3 storeys) Victorian terraces. Future
122,124, development should respect
126 Barkly the low-density residential
Street character of Barkly St. The
proposed height for the site is
the same as per the previous
BSP Addendum which is
considered still appropriate
(11m). The site is within the
heritage overlay.
52 |3 128Barkly | None Apply None 1im None The proposed height for the
Street DDO19 (3 storeys) site is the same as per the

previous BSP Addendum (11m)
which is considered still
appropriate. The current use is
commercial. Future
development should respect
the low-density residential
character of Barkly St. The site
is within the heritage overlay
therefore the residential
character with landscape
setbackis recommended to be
retained.

Map 6: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in the DDO19 - MILS Area 53, 54, 55

*WESTON. ST

* LYGONST «

BARKIV ST

Legend

s s area

7] Area Analvsed -Proposed Built Form Guidance
£ o be included in DDO

©° Existing DDO already provides guidance
NN\ suildings of Individual Heritage Significance

Built Form Legend

Preferred Maximum Heights

(DDO19 & 20- Lygon 5t & Nicholson )
11m (equais to 3 storey)

100 19m equals to 4 storey)

N 17m (equals to 5 storey)

Street Frontage Types

——  Frontage type A - Retail
~ Frontage type B - Commercial
~———  Frontage type C - Residential
= Frontage to Public Realm

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:
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MILS  MILS | Property | Existing | Proposed  Existing | Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area  Cat Built Built  Heightin | Heightin Controls

No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in

Control | Control DDO/BACSP

53 |3 2125t None Apply None 1im ‘The proposed height for the
Phillip DDO19 (3 storeys) site is the same as per the
Street previous BSP Addendum which
is considered still appropriate.
Itis recommended that
Frontage C is removed to allow
flexibility of other type of street
interfaces. The existing 2
storey brick building used as a
multi-office/warehouse is
considered a good contribution
to the street and can be easily
retained with the proposed 3
storey height. The sites across
the road have a commercial
frontage designation, which will
create a consistent
low/medium-rise commercial
precinct which is appropriate
for the narrow St Phillip street,
and could accommodate small
boutique offices or studios
The surrounding land is low
scale 1-2 storey residential in

character.
54 3 146 Weston | None Apply None 14m None The proposed height for the
Street DDO19 (4 storeys) site is the same as per the

previous BSP Addendum which
is considered still appropriate.
Itis recommended that
Frontage C is removed to allow
flexibility of other type of street
interfaces, responding either to
the West (commercial frontage)
if amalgamation occur or
residential frontage to the East.
There is no strong justification
for a residential frontage for
this isolated frontage control.

55 |2 120,122, | None Apply None 14m None The proposed height for the
124,126, DDO19 (4 storeys) site is the same as per the
132134, previous BSP Addendum (14m)
136-138, which is considered still
142144 appropriate. These properties
Weston have existing commercial built
Street form and a preferred height of

4 storeys will provide an
appropriate transition in height
from the lower scale
development to the south and
the higher built form of the
former Tip Top site to the
north.
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Map 7: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in the DDO19 - MILS Area 56, 57
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——  Frontage to Public Realm

BRUNSWICKIRD

Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS MILS Property ing Proposed Existing Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area | Cat Built Built  Heightin | Heightin Controls
No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control Control DDO/BACSP
56 |2 130 Barkly | None Apply None 14m None 85P Addendum recommends
Street DDO19 (4 storeys) 4st for the site, this height is

considered appropriate for the
site. The site is wide and abuts
land with a preferred height of
5 storeys to the east. Given that
Barkly Street s residential in
character a lower preferred
height of 4 storeys wil provide
a transition to the lower scale
residential character to the

west.
S6 |2 107 None Apply None 17m None Although the BSP Addendum
Brunswick DDO19 (5 storeys) suggested 4 storeys for these
Road properties, Brunswick Rd is

very wide street, and therefore
a higher building height is
appropriate. A five storey
preferred height will create a
consistent character which
wrap around onto Lygon Street.

S6 |2 109 None Apply None 17m None Although the BSP Addendum
Brunswick DDO19 (5 storeys) suggested 4 storeys for these
Road properties, Brunswick Rd is a
(front) very wide street, and therefore

a higher building height is
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appropriate. A five storey
preferred height will create a
consistent character which
wrap around onto Lygon Street.

56 |2 109 None Apply None 14m None ‘Although the front of this
Brunswick DDO19 (4 storeys) property is recommended for 5
Road (rear) storeys, this is not appropriate
for the rear of the site which
fronts Barkly street. Given that
Barkly Street s residential in
character a lower preferred
height of 4 storeys will provide
atransition to the lower scale
residential character to the
west.
57 |3 134,136, | None Apply None 1Im None The proposed height for these
138,140 DDO19 (3 storeys) sites s the same as per the
Barkly previous BSP Addendum (11m)
Street which is considered still

appropriate. These properties
interface with low scale
residential development across
Barkly Street and existing three
storey townhouses. 11m
provides an appropriate
transition from the taller forms
of the activity centre to the east
and the lower scale residential
built form to the west.

Map 8: Proposed Built Form Guidance to be included in the DDO20 - MILS Area 38, 39
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Summary and analysis and proposed DDO/BACSP content:

MILS  MILS  Property | Existing | Proposed  Existing | Proposed Other Detailed Analysis
Area | Cat Built Built Heightin | Heightin Controls
No Form Form DDO DDO Proposed in
Control | Control DDO/BACSP
38 |2 221 DDO20 | No 14m No None This site has existing
Nicholson change | (4storeys) | change commercial built form and is
Street (Retain (Retain operated by the radio station
DD020) 14m) Triple R. The Existing four

storey preferred height will
assist in creating a consistent
streetscape and built from

character for this intersection.

39 |2 219 DDO20 | No T4m No Remove Itis recommended that
Nicholson change | (4storeys) | change | Frontage Frontage C is removed to allow
Street (Retain (Retain | Type C flexibility of other type of street
DD020) 14m) Residential interfaces. There's a potential

for ground floor commercial
use as per current use or a new
residential frontage for
apartment typology. The site is
a transitional site which can be
either more similar to the
northern neighbour
(commercial frontage) or
southern neighbour (residential

frontage).
39 |3 1214 None Apply None Tim Add Frontage | Add Frontage Type C
Victoria DD020 [ Type C Residential for the boundary
Street storeys) | Residential along Kirkdale Park to create

active frontage to the park.
Individual entry doors to
ground floor dwellings should
be provided for the properties
adjacent to public land (DDO20
Building layout and detailed
design), this can be done by
creating 'paper road" or a
pedestrian path within the site
to avoid conflicting private
access from the park. The
‘Frontage to Public Realm’
interface applied to this edge
has not been dlarified and may
not have multiple direct entry
requirements. The proposed
height for the site is the same
as per the previous BSP
Addendum (11m) which is
considered still appropriate.

39 |3 18,20,22, | None Apply None 1im Add Frontage | The proposed height for the
24,26, 28, DD020 3 TypeC site is the same as per the
30,32:36, storeys) | Residential previous BSP Addendum which
38,40, 42, is considered still appropriate.
44,46 Athree storey height will
Victoria provide an appropriate
Street transition to the lower scale

residential development to the
north, some of which is
included within a heritage
overlay. The rear of these sites
abuts a non sensitive interface
across a laneway to industrial
buildings which front Kirkdale
street.
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SECTION 5: ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT OVERLAY

Ministerial Direction No. 1 — Potentially Contaminated Land (Direction No. 1) requires planning
authorities when preparing planning scheme amendments, to satisfy themselves that the
environmental conditions of land proposed to be used for a sensitive use (defined as residential,
child-care centre, pre-school centre or primary school), agriculture or public open space are, or will
be, suitable for that use. This includes any land known to have been used for industry, mining or the
storage of chemicals, gas, wastes or liquid fuel.

The Environmental Audit Overlay (EAO) is a mechanism provided in the VPPs and planning schemes
to ensure the requirement for an environmental audit under Direction No.1 is met before the
commencement of the sensitive use or any buildings and works associated with that use. The
application of the overlay, in appropriate circumstances, ensures the requirement will be met in the
future but does not prevent the assessment and approval of a planning scheme amendment.

Approach to the application of the Environmental Audit Overlay

In preparing Amendment C164 Moreland City Council engaged Golder Associates to conduct a
detailed investigation into 16 industrial areas (approximately 137 properties) in order to determine
which of those areas would be recommended to be included in an Environmental Audit Overlay as
part of any rezoning which would allow for sensitive uses.

When conducting this investigation Golder Associates collected data from multiple sources,
including historic planning schemes, current and historical aerial photographs, utilising Sands &
McDougall business directories, internet records, council records, “Brunswick Major Activity Centre —
Environmental Audit Overlay Assessment, 15 December 2011”, and checking EPA priority sites,
audits and groundwater quality restricted use zones.

Using this information Golder Associates have made an assessment of contamination risk across the
Brunswick Activity Centre, including reviewing some sites which have been considered by previous
investigations.

Previous Environmental Audit Overlay assessment

In 2011 as part of background work for Amendment C134, which implemented the Brunswick
Structure Plan into the Moreland Planning Scheme, an assessment of potentially contaminated land
was conducted by Sinclair Knight Merz (SKM); this investigation culminated in the Brunswick Major
Activity Centre — Environmental Audit Overlay Assessment, 15 December 2011 report. This report
made recommendations regarding whether the EAO should be applied to land which was rezoned to
allow for sensitive uses. Part of these investigations included assessment of land which ultimately
wasn’t rezoned through the C134 process. Where sites were identified through this process as
needing an EAO it is recommended that this is sufficient justification to apply the EAO. Additionally
there were some sites which were recommended to not be included in the EAO. Given the passage
of time and an absence of understanding as what may have occurred on the sites since the 2011
report was conducted, these sites have been reassessed by Golder.

Methodology for EAO application

As part of the brief provided to Golder, a Council and DELWP (formerly DSE/DPCD) adopted
methodology was provided. The methodology is broadly informed by Ministerial Direction No. 1 —
Potentially Contaminated Land (Direction No. 1) and the General Practice Note for Potentially
Contaminated Land June 2005. The methodology can briefly be outlined as follows:
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= Step 1 - Visual Inspection

= Step 2 — Research Historic land use

= Step 3 - Based on Step 2, confirm those properties that have had a continuous
residential or otherwise non-pollution land uses since first developed

= Step 4 — Consider the potential for sub-soil/groundwater contaminants from
adjoining properties.

Refer to Brunswick MILS Rezonings Assessment of Potential for Contamination (GOLDER Pty. Ltd. 28
March 2017) for further detail.

Summary of proposed EAO application

Figure 5 on page 46, shows a complete summary map of the proposed EAO application for the BAC.
This map includes whether a property is proposed to be included with an EAO and which assessment
(Golder or SKM) recommended its inclusion or exclusion. The map also indicates properties which
are already affected by the EAO.

Table 7 outlines the recommendations of the Golder and SKM assessments and the number of
properties effected by the recommendations. This information is shown spatially on the map over
the page. Detailed mapping is included as part of the proposed changes to the EAO in the formal
amendment material. (Note that assessment has only been provided for the properties which are
proposed to be rezoned through Amendment C164; properties which were rezoned through
Amendment C134 to a zone which allows sensitive uses, have already been assessed appropriately).

Individual assessment of the properties considered by Golder can be found in Brunswick MILS
Rezonings Assessment of Potential for Contamination (GOLDER Pty. Ltd. 28 March 2017).

Table 7: Environmental Audit Overlay Application Rationale

Property scenario and assessment det: Proposed approach to Al dment C164

e Existing EAO There are 85 properties which already have an EAO

e Proposed to be rezoned to allow applied to them, and are proposed to be rezoned to allow
sensitive uses. for sensitive uses to occur. The properties were proposed

to be rezoned through Amendment C134 to allow sensitive
uses however the properties were ultimately not rezoned.
It appears that the EAO may have been applied previously
in error, due to mapping not being updated, or pre-
emptively.

No changes proposed.

*  Proposed to be rezoned to allow for | There are 22 properties which were previously
sensitive uses. recommended by the 2011 SKM assessment to be
o Previously recommended for included in an EAO however this was not implemented as

inclusion within an EAO however the | the properties were not rezoned to allow sensitive uses.

land has not been rezoned to allow
sensitive uses, thus an EAO has not

been applied. Apply the EAO to these properties.

(SKM, 2011)

*  Property has been rezoned to a zone | There are 44 properties which have already been rezoned
which allows sensitive uses. to allow for sensitive uses. Application of the EAO was
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No EAO applied as not required.

(SKM, 2011)

considered at this time and the sites were not identified as
having potential for contamination. No EAO was applied.

No changes proposed.

Property proposed to be rezoned to
a zone which allows for sensitive
uses.

Property has been recommended to
be included in an EAO.

(Golder, 2017)

There are 98 properties which have been identified as
having the potential for contamination and are
recommended for inclusion within an EAO.

Apply the EAO to the properties.

Property is proposed to rezoned to a
zone which allows for sensitive uses.
Property has low risk for potential
contamination and is not
recommended to be included in an
EAO.

(Golder, 2017)

There are 39 properties which have been assessed as
having a low risk for potential contamination and are not
recommended for inclusion within an EAO.

Do not apply EAO, no changes proposed.
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Figure 5: Amendment C164 — Proposed Environmental Audit Overlay application for land to be
rezoned
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SECTION 6: PARKING OVERLAY

Amendment C164 proposes to apply the Parking Overlay (PO1) to all land to be rezoned to MUZ or
ciz.

Transport policy context

Moreland City Council is committed to supporting sustainable communities. Council has produced an
extensive body of work over a number of years relating to transport and car parking, including the
Brunswick Integrated Transport Strategy (BITS) and the Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy
(MITS). While the MITS provides overall guidance for the management of transport issues across the
municipality the BITS provides specific recommendations with relation to traffic and car parking
strategies in the Brunswick Activity Centre (BAC).

One of the key objectives of the MITS and BITS is to drive a mode shift toward more environmentally
sustainable travel behaviour. Brunswick has an abundance of public transport options which includes
three tramlines, one through each of the main corridors, the Upfield train line and numerous cross
city bus routes. There are also established bicycle routes for both commuter and recreational users
including the Merri Creek Trail, Moonee Ponds Creek Trail and Upfield Shared Bike Path. One of the
methods for directing people towards sustainable travel choices is to limit the ability for increased
car ownership and to provide the ability for housing without or with minimal car parking provision to
be developed.

Parking Overlay application in Moreland

In 2012 The Minister for Planning made changes to the Victorian Planning Provisions (VPP) as they
relate to the car parking; Amendment VC90 introduced a new Parking Overlay and provided new
rates for calculating parking provision and introduced new guidelines for decision making. Included
in the changes was the introduction of a ‘Column B’ rate, which if ‘switched on’ though the
application of the Parking Overlay, provide for a reduced parking provision pursuant to Clause 52.06.
The Column B rates are intended to apply to specific areas including activity centres, commercial and
mixed use zones, which have lower parking demand or policy justification for a reduced rate. As part
of the roll out of the new provisions the state planning department, the then Department of
Planning and Community Development (now DELWP), provided an accelerated process for applying
the Parking Overlay (PO) which was consistent with the intended use of the PO and Practice Note 57.
Moreland City Council participated in this process.

Council resolved to request that the Minister for Planning to apply a Parking Overlay (Schedule 1) to
introduce the ‘Column B’ car parking rates at Clause 52.06 of the Moreland Planning Scheme to all
land located within Business 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 zones (Now the Commercial 1 and Commercial 2 Zones),
the Mixed Use Zone and the Activity Centre Zone within the City of Moreland (See DED6/13).

In 2015, as part of the approval of Amendment C123, the Department of Environment, Land, Water
& Planning (DELWP) introduced the PO1 to all Commercial 1 (C1Z), Activity Centre (ACZ), Residential
Growth (RGZ1) and Mixed Use (MUZ) zoned land across the municipality. Accordingly

Amendment C164 and the Parking Overlay

Amendment C164 proposes to apply the PO to all land which is rezoned to MUZ and C1Z. This
approach is consistent with the existing application of the PO across the municipality and the policy
directions in the MITS and BITS for land within the BAC. A map showing a spatial summary of the
proposed application of the PO1 is included at Figure 6 on page 49.
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Summary of proposed Parking Overlay application

Figure 6 on the following page, shows a complete summary map of the proposed Parking Overlay
application for the BAC. The map indicates:

e whether the PO1 is proposed to be applied as part of Amendment C164 (Apply PO1);
e whether there is an existing PO1 affecting the land (Existing PO1); or
e whether the PO1 is proposed to be applied through Amendment C167 (C167 PO1).

The BACSP will be implemented into Clause 21.04 Reference Documents of the Moreland Planning
Scheme through proposed Amendment C167. Amendment C167 makes consequential changes to the
DDO 18, 19 and 20 and the Parking Overlay that apply within the Brunswick Activity Centre, to ensure

these overlays make reference to the updated Reference Document (the BACSP).

Table 8: Parking Overlay Application Rationale
Property scenario

Property is proposed to be rezoned to the
Commercial 1 Zone by Amendment C164.

Proposed approach for Amendment C164

There are 60 properties which are proposed to be
rezoned to the Commercial 1 Zone by Amendment
C164.

Apply the POL1 to the property.

Property is proposed to be rezoned to the Mixed
Use Zone by amendment C164.

There are 58 properties which are proposed to be
rezoned to the Mixed Use Zone by Amendment
C164.

Apply the POL1 to the property.

The property is in an existing Commercial 1 Zone
and not proposed to be rezoned by Amendment
C164.

Parking Overlay not applied through amendment
C23in error

There are 80 properties which are currently zoned
C1Z and categorised as a Category 2 Employment
Area.

Amendment C167 proposes to apply the PO1 to
these properties to correct an error in the PO1

application.

No change is proposed.

Property is already affected by the Parking Overlay
Schedule 1.

There are 90 properties which are already affected
by PO1. These properties were included in the PO1
as part of Amendment C123.

No change is proposed.
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Figure 6: Amendment C164 — Proposed Parking Overlay application
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SECTION 7: CONCLUSION

The MILS provides a sound strategic base for decision making regarding the future of industrial land
within Moreland. The MILS provides clear land use directions for Category 1 Core Industrial,
Category 2 Employment and Category 3 Transition-residential land within the municipality and
proposed Amendment C164 will implement these land use directions into the Moreland Planning
Scheme for the Brunswick Activity Centre (BAC) through the retention of Category 1 Core industrial
Areas and the rezoning of Category 2 Employment and Category 3 Transition-residential Areas.

Amendment C164 will implement recently adopted Council policy in a proactive manner, which will
assist in creating and maintaining a strong and prosperous economy, sustainable neighbourhoods,
and helping Moreland to achieve the vision and its broad sustainability objectives for the BAC.

Page 50 of 86




[image: image52.png]Moreland Industrial Land Strategy, Brunswick Activity Centre Implementation, Draft Background Report D17/236451

SECTION 8: INDIVIDUAL PROPERTY SUMMARY OF PROPOSED CHANGES

The following section provides complete details of each property included in Amendment C164 and
the effect of the amendment, including proposed heights. The properties are organised by MILS
Areas spatially and include a map to help orientate the reader and to locate particular properties.
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Figure 7: Amendment C164 MILS Area Numbers
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MORELAND PLANNING SCHEME
AMENDMENT C192
EXPLANATORY REPORT

Who is the planning authority?

This amendment has been prepared by the Moreland City Council is the planning authority for this
amendment.

The Amendment has been made at the request of Moreland City Council.

Land affected by the Amendment

The Amendment applies to land at 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick and 197-199 Albion Street,
Brunswick identified in the Moreland Industrial Land Strategy (MILS) 2015-2030 as Category 2 —
Employment MILS Areas.

What the amendment does

The Amendment proposes to:

e Rezone land at 98-102 Albert Street, Brunswick from Commercial 2 Zone to Commercial 1 Zone.
* Rezone land at 197-199 Albion Street, Brunswick from Industrial 1 Zone to Commercial 1 Zone.
Strategic assessment of the Amendment

Why is the Amendment required?

The Moreland Industrial Land Strateqy 2015-2030

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) was introduced into the Moreland Planning
Scheme through Amendment C158 on 6 April 2017. The MILS provides a coordinated and evidence
based approach to managing growth and strengthening our local economy. It complements Council’s
objectives for creating a sustainable urban environment where people have access to jobs and business
services near to where they live, and it enables planning for local employment opportunities now and
for future generations.

The amendment affects industrial land within the BAC within the following MILS category:

Category 2 - Employment areas which seek to support transition from traditional industrial uses to a
broader range of employment uses, and prioritise employment uses over residential uses in
Employment Areas.

Brunswick Activity Centre

The vision for the Brunswick Activity Centre is one of continued economic and social diversity and
improved sustainability. Planning for growth and development will focus on three corridors: the Sydney
Road/Upfield Corridor, Lygon Street and Nicholson Street. Core Industry and Employment Areas will be
protected, Employment Areas will transition from traditional industrial uses to a broader range of
employment uses, and declining industrial areas will transform into residential areas. (Brunswick Activity
Centre Structure Plan Reference Document Theme 1 Land Use Pattern and Activity pg. 16)

In October 2016 Council adopted the Brunswick Activity Centre Structure Plan Reference Document
(BACSP). The BACSP supersedes the following documents as reference documents to the Moreland
Planning Scheme:

= The Brunswick Structure Plan (2010)
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= Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor Strategic Framework Plan (2014)

One of the key strategies of the BACSP under the theme of Land Use Pattern and Activity is to Implement
rezoning’s where required to give effect to the MILS (pg. 16). Amendment C192 will facilitate new
employment and housing opportunities by rezoning underutilised industrial land that is well serviced by
existing infrastructure and public transport. The rezoning of this land will encourage new development
and employment opportunities which will add to the vibrancy and mix of uses within the activity centre
and assist Council in achieving its vision for the BAC.

Zone selection

The subject sites are located within Category 2 - Employment Areas and are proposed to be rezoned
to the Commercial 1 Zone. The Commercial 1 Zone is supported by a section 173 Agreement that
mandates 30% of the gross floor area of any new building to be for employment and economic uses
and a minimum of 20% of dwellings within the same building to be provided for Affordable Housing as
defined by the Planning and Environment Act 1987. The Commercial 1 Zone with the agreement in
place will achieve the residential land use outcomes sought by MILS for Category 2 Areas while still
providing flexibility for some existing industrial uses to occur in the context of the BAC.

How does the Amendment implement the objectives of planning in Victoria?

The amendment seeks to implement the following objectives set out at Section 4 of the Planning and
Environment Act 1987:

= 1(a) - to provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land;

= 1(c) - to secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for
all Victorians and visitors to Victoria;

= 1(g) - to balance the present and future interests of all Victorians.

The BAC is identified in Plan Melbourne 2017-2050 as a place likely to experience significant change
over time as the population of Melbourne increases. The amendment will assist in the facilitation of
redevelopment of land within the BAC with the proposed zones, implementing the objectives and
guidelines of the BACSP and give effect to the policies and objectives set out for activity centres in
Plan Melbourne 2017-2050.

How does the Amendment address any environmental, social and economic effects?

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the need for the BAC to fulfil its role and function as a centre
with a genuine mixture of housing, office and retail while maintaining the amenity of surrounding
residential areas and meeting community expectation.

The development opportunities provided for by the rezoning will facilitate a range of employment
generating activities that help to retain or create new local employment. Furthermore, the proposed
zone will encourage the establishment of residential uses that take advantage of the broad range of
community infrastructure, services and facilities within the BAC.

Does the Amendment address relevant bushfire risk?

The land is not included within a bushfire prone area and will not result in any increase to the risk to life,
property, community infrastructure and the natural environment from bushfire.

Does the Amendment comply with the requirements of any Minister’s Direction applicable to
the amendment?

The amendment is consistent with the Ministerial Direction on the Form and Content of Planning
Schemes pursuant to Section 7(5) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

Ministerial Direction No 9 — Metropolitan Strateqy
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Direction No 9 requires that planning scheme amendments must have regard to Plan Melbourne. This
amendment is considered to be consistent with the directions and policies of the Strategy. The
amendment is considered to facilities the following within Plan Melbourne:

e Delivering Jobs and Investment — Create a city structure that drives productivity, supports
investment through certainty and creates more jobs.
Key Directions — define a new city structure, plan for the expanded central city, plan for jobs closer
to where people live, enable transit oriented development and urban renewal.

* Housing Choice and Affordability — Provide a diversity of housing in defined locations that cater for
different households and are close to jobs and services.
Key Directions — plan for expected housing needs, reduce costs of living by increasing housing
supply near services, and facilitate the supply of social and affordable housing.

* Liveable Communities and Neighbourhoods — Create healthy and active neighbourhoods and
maintain Melbourne’s identify as one of the world’s most liveable cities.
Key Directions — Create a city of 20 minute neighbourhoods, protect suburbs from inappropriate
development, and make our city greener.

The amendment is consistent with Ministerial Direction No. 11 — Strategic Assessments of
Amendments. A Strategic assessment of the proposed amendment has been undertaken in
accordance with this Ministerial Direction in this explanatory report.

Ministerial Direction No. 19 — Preparation and content of Amendments that may significantly impact the
Environment, Amenity and Human Health requires planning authorities to seek the views of the
Environment Protection Authority (EPA) in the preparation of planning scheme that could result in use
or development of land that may result in significant impacts on the environment, amenity and human
health due to pollution and waste. The outcomes from the proposed Amendment will not have any
significant impact on the environment, amenity and human health.

How does the Amendment support or implement the Planning Policy Framework and any
adopted State policy?

Clause 11 — Settlement

The amendment provides opportunities for redevelopment and intensification in an established urban
area with excellent access to public transport and services.

Clause 16 - Housing

The amendment facilitates an increase in housing supply in an established urban area, proximate to a
range of services. It also adds to the housing diversity and choice across the Brunswick Activity
Centre.

Clause 17 — Economic Development

The amendment will facilitate new employment opportunities and reinvestment into existing urban
areas. It will increase the resident workforce within Brunswick, which will support existing and new
employment opportunities, and commercial activity within the Brunswick Activity Centre.

Clause 18 — Transport

The amendment facilitates more efficient use of existing transport infrastructure by consolidating
urban development in close proximity to tram, bus and train routes. The amendment also seeks to
improve the interface of key pedestrian and cycling routes across the Brunswick Activity Centre.
Clause 19 - Infrastructure

The amendment facilitates higher density residential development and employment opportunities
within the Brunswick Activity Centre with access to existing infrastructure, services, recreational areas
and community facilities.

How does the Amendment support or implement the Local Planning Policy Framework, and
specifically the Municipal Strategic Statement?

The Moreland Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) seeks to encourage housing growth, with good
access to transport, retail and services. It also seeks to contribute to economic regeneration through
the transition of specific precincts of industrial zoned land to accommodate more diverse employment
opportunities and housing supply.
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This strategic consideration does not apply as a Municipal Planning Strategy at Clause 02 of the
Moreland Planning Scheme has not yet been included.

Does the Amendment make proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions?

The amendment makes proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions (VPP) through the selection of
an appropriate zone tools to achieve guidance for future land use and development outcomes for the
BAC.

How does the Amendment address the views of any relevant agency?

The review of Moreland’s previous industrial land strategy and the development of the MILS involved
extensive public consultation including public exhibition during Amendment C158 to implement the MILS
into the Planning Scheme. As part of this process, and the development of the MILS, the views of the
Victorian Planning Authority (formerly the Metropolitan Planning Authority) and the Department of Land
Water Environment and Planning were sought.

Public consultation and a supportive planning panel was held as part of the amendment process for
Amendment C164.

Does the Amendment address relevant requirements of the Transport Integration Act 20107

The intent of the amendment broadly aligns with the objectives and decision principles outlined in
Section 3 of the Act. The amendment aims to encourage land uses and developments that minimise
dependence on car use and facilitate sustainable transport options within the Activity Centre.

The proposed amendment has the potential to facilitate significant residential and commercial
development within the Sydney Road and Lygon Street Local Areas with excellent access to the existing
train, tram and road network. This will provide convenient access to the transport network, and
contribute to social and economic inclusion, and economic prosperity.

The amendment contributes to the transport system with the integration of redeveloped vacant land in
established build-up areas to existing transport networks that can provide access to social and economic
opportunities.

Resource and administrative costs

« What impact will the new planning provisions have on the resource and administrative
costs of the responsible authority?

The rezoning of the land and associated section 173 agreement will result in minor administrative
costs for the responsible authority in arranging legal services.

The benefits from the section 173 agreement specific to the commitment to 30% employment and
economic uses and 20% affordable housing will be a positive benefit to the responsible authority and
Moreland community and will exceed the above-mentioned administrative costs.
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1.0 Executive Summary

Conceptus Property have been commissioned by Moreland Council to assess the commercial viability of
mixed use development models that could have a Commercial 3 Zone applied to selected identified sites.

The sites that are subject to the feasibility modelling are located within the Moreland Industrial Land Use
Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) and are more specifically classified within the Category 2 Employment Area land
use category.

Sites within the Category 2 Employment Areas are expected to be retained for industry and employment
uses, and from traditional industrial uses to broader employment generating uses.

The three (3) site types that have been selected within the municipality of Moreland have been categorised
as follows based on their location characteristics:

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site
This site classification is envisaged to cover sites within the Brunswick Structure Plan Area and
more specifically, sites that are on the fringes of the Brunswick MAC.

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site
This site classification is envisaged to cover industrial sites that are outside the Brunswick MAC but
located within the suburb of Brunswick.

Site Type 3 - Outer Industrial Site
This site classification is envisaged to cover industrial sites that are within outer areas of the
Moreland muncipality such as Pascoe Vale, Coburg and Coburg North.

The feasibility modelling has been based on a mixed use development, with varying proportions of
residential floor area (either 35% or 50%) as a percentage of total building area, as noted within the
Development Scenarios Summary below.

The purpose of the feasibility modelling is to establish whether the development scenario (within each site
type) is commercially viable, taking into account the current and foreseeable market demand for these
uses, if the Commercial 3 zoning was applied.

For the purpose of this report when considering the ‘foreseeable market demand’ a forecast period of up to
5 years from the time of publishing this report is considered.
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1.1 Feasibility Testing Results
Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site with 50% residential
Recommendation: Viable

A mixed use development comprising 50% residential floor area (as a proportion of the total building floor
area) was the only development scenario modelled that derived a positive development margin (c.10%
profit on cost).

This site was located on the fringe of the Brunswick Activity Centre and within an area of reasonably high
levels of amenity.

On this basis, one could conclude that this form of mixed use development, in a comparable location, could
be considered a commercially viable medium term development proposition.

Itis considered that foreseeable growth in demand for commercial uses (and rent levels) would enable a
developer to achieve a satisfactory commercial return (15% - 20% profit margin) within a 5 year time
horizon.

By way of reference, a developer would expect a development margin (profit) of approximately 15-20% for
a development to be commercially viable.

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site with 35% residential
Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site with 35% or 50% residential
Site Type 3 - Outer Industrial Site with 35% or 50% residential
Recommendation: Not viable

All other development scenarios modelled have showed that a mixed-use development form is not feasible
within any other site types listed above.

This would indicate that the inner industrial and outer industrial site types, if the Commercial 3 zoning were
to be applied, would be unlikely to generate development interest (in a mixed-use form) based on a lack of
commercial viability.

12 BASECASE Model Results

A feasibility model was developed based on mixed use development that represents the current planning
scheme controls for both Site Type 1 and Site Type 2. This is referred to as the BASECASE model. The
methodology by which the BASECASE was developed is detailed further in Section 3.0 of this report.

The purpose of the BASECASE model was to develop a ‘relative’ feasibility viewpoint in comparison to the
application of the Commercial 3 zoning over the subject site.

The BASECASE modelling shows that for Site Type 1 the application of the Commercial 3 zoning could be
considered as slightly value accretive (or at least equivalent) when compared to the current planning
scheme controls.
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The BASECASE modelling shows that for Site Type 2 the application of the Commercial 3 zoning could also
be considered as slightly value accretive (or at least equivalent) when compared to the current planning
scheme controls.

Both relative comparisons noted above assume that the Commercial 3 zoning was applied with a 50%
residential component.

13

For each development scenario, sensitivity testing was undertaken to model the level of commercial rent
required to achieve an acceptable development margin of approximately 20% profit on cost.

This showed that the Site Type 1 fringe activity centre site, with a 50% residential component, would require
a18-30% increase in current market rent to provide a 15 - 20% development return.

An increase of this magnitude would be considered feasible and has assisted in forming the conclusion that
a fringe activity centre site type can be considered viable within a 5-year time period.

All other sites types (with either a 35% or 50% residential component) would require substantially greater
levels of rental increase that are not deemed to be achievable within a medium-term time horizon.

1.4 Underlying Factors

The principal factor driving the large development loss within most of the feasibility models, is the lack of
current (and foreseeable) market demand for commercial premises in these locations.

The proposed C3 Zone is structured such that the commercial (or employment generating use) is the
predominant use. As such, if there is no substantial market (either current or foreseeable) that underpins
demand for such premises, the development economics will continue to produce a development loss.

Furthermore, the relative proportions of residential development (35% up to max. 50%) that are allowable
within the C3 Zone are not significant enough to result in a material value uplift to the development
economics in most cases.
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1.5 Development Scenar

The following tables summarise the key metrics from the development feasibility modelling undertaken

across each site type.

Executive Summary (cont.)

io Summary

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

Metric

Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space

Development Profit / (Loss)

($0.8 mill)

Development Margin

(3%)

Metric

Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space

Development Profit / (Loss)

$2.9mill

Development Margin

9%

Metric

Mixed Use Building - BASECASE Model

Development Profit / (Loss)

$1.7 mill

Development Margin

5%

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site
Metric Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space
Development Profit / (Loss) ($2.7mill)
Development Margin (15%)
Metric Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space
Development Profit / (Loss) $0
Development Margin 0%
Metric Mixed Use Building - BASECASE Mode/l
Development Profit / (Loss) ($0.7 mill)
Development Margin (3%)

Site Type 3 - Outer Industrial Site

Metric

Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space

Development Profit / (Loss)

($4.18 mill)

Development Margin

(27%)

Metric

Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space

Development Profit / (Loss)

($1.9 mill)

Development Margin

(10%)
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Each of the three (3) site types that are subject of feasibility modelling within this report are located within
MILS and are classified as Category 2 Employment Area land.

Selection of the appropriate sample sites was completed in conjunction with Echelon Planning and in line
with the report that Echelon Planning have been commissioned to complete.

The purpose of the Conceptus report is to assist the review being undertaken by Echelon Planning, as it
relates to assessing the commercial viability of applying the Commercial 3 Zone. Itis intended that the
output of this report will inform the Echelon Planning report findings.

21 Site Type Locations

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

The fringe activity centre site selected is located within the Brunswick Activity centre, is adjacent to the
Lygon St corridor and is zoned Commercial 2.

The current built form is indicative of the nature of buildings within the locality, being a mix of residential
premises and industrial warehouse type building.

The site is rectangular in shape and is well suited to a mixed use form of development with good access to
local amenities and public transport along the Lygon St corridor.

Current Zoning: Commercial 2

Site Address: 98-102 Albert Street Brunswick East

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site

The inner industrial site selected is outside the Brunswick Activity centre approximately 500 m west of
Sydney Road and 100 m north the Grantham St Local activity centre.

The current built form is a petrol station with surrounding properties comprising a mix of industrial type
warehouses and adjoining single tenant office buildings.

The site is rectangular in shape and is well suited to a mixed use form with good access to the main
collector road and reasonable access to public transport (tram line) along Dawson St. The site has good
access to public open space being adjacent to Gilpin Park.

Current Zoning: Industrial 1

Site Address: 142 Dawson Street, Brunswick West
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Site Type 3 - Outer Industrial Site

The site selected is at the northern end of the Moreland municipality being located in the suburb of Pascoe
Vale.

The current built form is a Hotel (Pub) with surrounding properties comprising a mix of industrial type
warehouses and residential.

The site is irregular in shape with two road frontages and is in close proximity to the local activity centre,
comprising a small quantity (low order) retail offering. The site is well located to public transport being
100m from the Pascoe Vale train station and has good access to key collector roads.

Current Zoning: Industrial 3

Site Address: 12 Railway Parade Pascoe Vale

22 Purpose of the Feasibility Modelling

The purpose of the feasibility modelling is to establish whether each development scenario (within each site
type) is commercially viable taking into account market assumptions regarding both revenue and
development cost inputs.

In line with the guidance provided in Planning Practice Note 85, the feasibility modelling has taken into
account the current and foreseeable market demand for the uses allowed within the Commercial 3 zoning,
as applied (in the respective proportions) noted within each development scenario described in Section 4 of
this report.
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3.0 Methodology

The following methodology was adopted in completing the feasibility models contained within this report.

Establishing Market Data Set

Data has been sourced from a combination of publicly available transaction data, active real estate agents
and local developers that have experience and knowledge in various forms of development comprising
each of the development scenarios described in Section 4.0 of this report.

Comparable data sets have been compiled for key feasibility model inputs that comprise the following:

« Sales rates (both land and competed developments)
e Residential sales rates (completed developments)
* Rental rates for various uses (offices, industrial warehouses)

A market range has been established for the relevant feasibility input and this has been nominated within
the summary table under ‘Feasibility Parameters’ in Section 4.0 of this report

Feasibility Modelling
Feasibility models have been modelled using Estate Master proprietary software program.

Some assumptions have been used to build each of the feasibility models. The assumptions have been
noted in Section 4.0 of this report.

BASECASE Model

The BASECASE model was established to determine the relative difference in development viability when
comparing the ‘current state’ planning scheme controls and the ‘potential state’ application of the
Commercial 3 zoning.

The parameters used to establish the area of employment floor space for the BASECASE model was Clause
21.03 (Objective 5 - Employment Area Category 2) in the Moreland Planning Scheme.

The overall building height envelope used within the BASECASE model was the same as the other
development models however the variable adopted in the BASECASE was the application an employment
floor space area of at least equivalent to all proposed ground and first floor building floor space.

Target Developer Margins
Each of the feasibility models have been modelled with a target developer margin of approximately 20%.

This reflects the risk and return acceptable for employing investment funds by a conventional property
developer to developments of this nature.

Atarget margin range of between 15 - 20% could be considered acceptable for developers in considering
whether a development is viable.
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Building Envelope and Developable Areas

In conjunction with Echelon Planning, the appropriate building height, setback and light well requirements
were established for each of the of the site locations selected in this report.

This assessment was completed in accordance with Clause 22.07 of the Moreland Planning Scheme and the
draft Brunswick Activity Centre Design Development Overlays.

The desktop assessment did not take into account site specific or contextual design factors that might
impact the developable floor area in any given development scheme.

Upon determining a suitable building envelope, standard allowances for common areas, services corridors
and other items were factored in to determine the developable areas for both commercial and residential
components.

Likewise, some standard spatial assumptions were determined to ascertain approximate areas required for
car parking both in undercroft and basement form.

The key building envelope parameters have been summarised in the relevant tables within Section 4,0 of
this report.

Utilised Building Envelope

In some instances, the building envelope (or building height) established was not utilised in full. This has
been noted in the Development Summary section of the table in Section 4.0.

This was driven by the assessment of potential market demand (and area requirement) for commercial
uses being limited, due to the location characteristics of the particular site.

Quantity Surveyor Input

Benchmark cost data utilised on similar viability testing models has been utilised to inform the various
development cost inputs within the feasibility model.

Property Value Appreciation arising from potential Planning Scheme Changes

The application of the Commercial 3 Zone anticipates that an allowable broadening of uses could apply
across landholdings that do not currently exist.

The potential impact on property values because of planning scheme changes is largely dependent on the
breadth of the planning scheme changes and other allowable uses.

Although the existing data set for property values in these Brunswick study areas is based on current
planning scheme controls, the feasibility models (in some instances) have made allowances for a rise in
property value as a result of planning scheme changes that broaden the allowable uses.
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ility Modelling Summary

The following tables summarise the key outputs and inputs from each of the feasibility models for each of
the Site Types.

Refer to Appendix A for copy of Estate Master Feasibility program summary outputs.

The Target Developers Margin for the purpose of this feasibility exercise is approximately 20 %.

Key Feasibility Assumptions

The following assumptions have been made with regards to other feasibility inputs within each of the
models.

Construction Contingency of between 5-10 % was adopted depending on development scenario
Approx. 50% equity contribution was modelled for the purpose of interest calculations

Interest rate of 6% was adopted

GST has been excluded from all cost and revenue assumptions

No cost and revenue assumptions have been included beyond February 2019

uAwN =

4.1 Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

Site Details and Feasibility Parameters

Address 98-102 Albert Street Brunswick East
Site Area 1567m2

Current Zoning cz

Proposed Uses Office Use and Residential

Forecast Land Value $2800 p/m2

Forecast Net Rent - Office $235 p/sgm
Capitalisation Rate - Offices | 5.75%

Sales Rates - Residential $8200 p/sqm (exc GST)
Apartments
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A. Site Type 1- Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) .($0.83 mill)
Development Margin . (3%)
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST <.$27 mill

Development Summary

Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - c. 4 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 26 cars

Part Basement parking c. 50 cars

Note

The foreseeable market for commercial space in this location for a
development of this size is considered to be no greater than 3000m2.
This has resulted in a utilised building envelope that is less than the
proposed height envelope.

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 300m2 (Office/ Workshop)

Level 1 - 1400m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 1300m2 (Offices)

Level 3-900 m2 (Residential) Approx. 26 apartments
Level 4 -715 m2 (Residential)

Sensitivity Analysis

Commercial Rent Sensitivity

Net Rent Required to achieve a 20% development ‘target’ margin.

e $350 p/m2 (50% increase above current)

An increase of this magnitude over a 5 year period is not considered achievable.

Location Sensitivity

The feasibility model was also tested based on the assumption that the subject site was located
adjacent to the Sydney Road corridor to determine whether a location with higher amenity and
improved location characteristics would result in varying feasibility results.

Varying feasibility variables comprised:

« Higher Net Rent ($265 p/sqm) reflective of central location closer to higher amenity
« Higher corresponding land values ($3800 p/sqm)

Based on these revised variables there was no material change to the development position (loss)

as noted below.

Metric

Location Sensitivity Scenario

Development Profit / (Loss) ($1.0 mill)

Development Margin

(3%)
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B.  Site Type 1- Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space

Metric
Development Profit / (Loss) $2.9mill
Development Margin 9%
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $31 mill
Development Summary Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - 5 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 23 cars
Part Basement parking c. 68 cars
Net Lettable Area Ground Floor - 320m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1400m2 (Offices)
Level 2 - 1100m2 (Offices)
Level 2 -300 m2 (Residential)
Level 3-966 m2 (Residential)
Level 4-764 m2 (Residential)
Level 5-764 m2 (Residential)
Approx. 45 apartments total
Sensitivity Analysis

Commercial Rent Sensitivity
Net Rent Required to achieve a c. 20% development ‘target’ margin
e $305 p/m2 (30% increase above current)
An increase in rent of this magnitude over a 5 year time period is considered possible.
Location Sensi Y

The feasibility model was also tested based on the assumption that the subject site was located
adjacent to the Sydney Road corridor to determine whether a location with higher amenity and
improved location characteristics would result in varying feasibility results.

Varying feasibility variables comprised:

*  Higher Net Rent ($265 p/sqm) reflective of central location closer to higher amenity
« Higher corresponding land values ($3800 p/sqm)

Based on these revised variables there was no material change to development position (profit).

Metric Location Sensitivity Scenario - 50% Residential
Development Profit / (Loss) $3.5 mill
Development Margin 10%

However, a location in close proximity to the Sydney Road corridor is more likely to achieve a 15-20%
development margin within a within a shorter time horizon due to the potential for greater demand and

higher rent increases.
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[image: image167.png]4.0 Feasibility Modelling Summary (cont.)

C. Site Type 1- BASECASE Model Comparison

Metric Mixed Use Building - BASECASE Model
Development Profit / (Loss) $1.7mill

Development Margin 5%

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $30mill

Development Summary Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys

Utilised building envelope - 5 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 24 cars
Part Basement parking c. 64 cars

Net Lettable Area Ground Floor - 280m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1400m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 1200m2 (Offices)

Level 3 - 900m2 (Residential)

Level 4 - 765m2 (Residential)

Level 5 - 765m2 (Residential)

Approx. 40 apartments total

Summary

Based on the feasibility analysis undertaken, a Commercial 3 zoning applied to a mixed use development
with a 50% proportion of residential area, is likely to be viable within the short to medium term (Syears).

This view based on the results of the ‘current market’ feasibility modelling that derives a 9-10% profit
margin for a development of this form. It can be assumed that there is likely to be foreseeable growth in
demand for well located inner suburban commercial (office) premises that are in areas that have high social
and infrastructure amenity.

Consequently, a mixed use development of only 35% residential area is unlikely to be viable within a
reasonable time horizon that would align with a developers expectations.

When making a relative comparison to the BASECASE model, the application of the Commercial 3 zoning
with a 50% residential component shows a relative improvement in profit margin from 3% (BASECASE) to
9% (C3Z with 50% residential).

Taking into account the purpose of establishing the BASECASE, it could be considered that the application
of the Commercial 3 Zone is value accretive (or at least of equivalent value) when compared to the current
planning scheme controls.
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ility Modelling Summary (cont.)

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site

Site Details and Feasibility Parameters

Apartments

Address 142 Dawson Street Brunswick West
Site Area 1286m2

Current Zoning IN1Z

Uses Office Use and Residential

Land Value $2500 p/sgm

Net Rent - Office $200 p/sgm

Capitalisation Rate - Offices | 5.75%

Sales Rates - Residential $8000 p/sqm (exc GST)

A. Site Type 2 - Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) ($2.7mill)
Development Margin (-15%)
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $18.6mill

Development Summary

Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - c. 3-4 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 23 cars

Part Basement parking c. 28 cars

Note
The foreseeable market for commercial space in this location for a
development of this size is considered no greater than 2000m2.

This has resulted in a utilised building envelope that is less than the
proposed height envelope.

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 170m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1100m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 730m2 (Offices)

Level 3 - 800m2 (Residential)

Level 4 - 300m2 (Residential)

Approx. 18 apartments total

Sensitivity Analysis

Commercial Rent Sensitivity

Net Rent Required to achieve a ¢ 20% development ‘target’ margin

*  $380 p/m2 (90% increase above current)

An increase of this magnitude over a 5 year time period is not considered possible.
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[image: image169.png]4.0  Feasibility Modelling Summary (cont.)

B. Site Type 2 - Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) $0
Development Margin 0%
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $23 mill

Development Summary

Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - 5 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 23 cars
Part Basement parking c. 43 cars

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 170m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1160m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 670m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 260m2 (Residential)

Level 3 - 650m2 (Residential)

Level 4 - 545m2 (Residential)

Level 5 - 545m2 (Residential)

Approx. 33 apartments total

Sensitivity Analysis

Commercial Rent Sensitivity
Net Rent Required to achieve a ¢ 20% development ‘target’ margin
e $330 p/m2 (65% increase above current)

An increase of this magnitude over a 5 year time period is not considered possible.

C. Site Type 2 - BASECASE Model Comparison

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) ($0.7mill)
Development Margin (3%)
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $22.7mill

Development Summary

Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - 5 Storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 23 cars
Part Basement parking c. 43 cars

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 170m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1165m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 935m2 (Offices)

Level 3 - 650m2 (Residential)

Level 4 - 545m2 (Residential)

Level 5 - 545m2 (Residential)

Approx. 29 apartments total
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[image: image170.png]4.0 Feasibility Modelling Summary (cont.)

Summary

Based on the feasibility analysis undertaken, a Commercial 3 zoning applied to a mixed use development
with a 35% or 50% proportion of residential area is unlikely to be viable within a medium to long term
period (5-10 years).

For the purpose of this report a time period greater than 8 years is considered long term.

This view is based on the results of the ‘current market' feasibility modelling that derives a negative or at
best ‘breakeven’ profit for a development of this form.

The sensitivity testing applied to varying rental levels show that it is unrealistic to expect demand (and
rental levels) to grow to the amount required to achieve a 15-20% target profit margin in order make this
form of development a viable proposition.

The factor driving the lack of viability is the low demand for commercial space in an inner industrial
location. This lower level of demand is largely driven by a yet to be established market and lower level of
amenity in these locations that are suited to commercial uses.

Although the amenity for residential use could be considered reasonably high (in select locations of this site
type), the weighted value attributable to this residential use is relatively low as a proportion to the overall
building area, therefore minimising the opportunity for value uplift to the overall development economics.

When making a relative comparison of the BASECASE model the application of the Commercial 3 zoning
with a 50% residential component when compared to the BASECASE model shows a relative improvement
in margin, albeit both development profit (and margin) are still not considered as conducive of a viable
development proposition.

Taking into account the purpose of establishing the BASECASE, it could be considered that the application
of the Commercial 3 Zone is value accretive (or at least of equivalent value) when compared to the current
planning scheme controls.

43 Site Type 3 - Outer Industrial Site

Site Details and Feasibility Parameters

Address 12 Railway Parade Pascoe Vale
Site Area 1500m2

Current Zoning IN3Z

Uses Office Use and Residential

Land Value $2000 p/sgqm

Net Rent - Office $180 p/sgm

Capitalisation Rate - Offices | 5.75%

Sales Rates - Residential $8000 p/sqm (exc GST)
Apartments
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[image: image171.png]4.0 Feasibility Modelling Summary (cont.)

A. Site Type 3 - Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) ($4,18 mill)
Development Margin (27%)
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $15.1 mill

Development Summary

Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys
Utilised building envelope - c. 2 storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 18 cars

Part Basement parking c. 20 cars

Note
The foreseeable market for commercial space in this location for a
development of this size is considered no greater than 1500 m2.

This has resulted in a utilised building envelope that is less than the
proposed height envelope.

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 300m2 (Office/ Workshop)
Level 1 - 1200m2 (Offices)
Level 2 - 808m2 (Residential) Approx. 13 Apartments

Sensitivity Analysis

A.  Commercial Rent Sensitivity

Net Rent Required to achieve a approximately 20% development ‘target’ margin.

*  $430 p/m2 (140% increase above current market levels)

An increase of this magnitude over a 5 year time period is not considered possible.
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B. Site Type 3 - Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space

Metric

Development Profit / (Loss) ($1.9 mill)
Development Margin (10%)
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $18.3 mill
Development Summary Proposed Height envelope 5 Storeys

Utilised building envelope - c. 3storeys
Part Undercroft Parking c. 18 cars
Part Basement parking c. 31 cars

Note
The foreseeable market for commercial space in this location for a
development of this size is considered no greater than 1500 m2.

This has resulted in a utilised building envelope that is less than the
proposed height envelope.

Net Lettable Area

Ground Floor - 300m2 (Office/ Workshop)

Level 1 - 1200m2 (Offices)

Level 2 - 800m2 (Residential) Approx. 25 Apartments
Level 3 - 700m2 (Residential)

Sensitivity Analysis

Commercial Rent Sensitivity

Net Rent Required to achieve a ¢ 20% development ‘target’ margin

e $400 p/m2 (122% increase above current market levels)

An increase of this magnitude over a 5 year time period is not considered possible.
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[image: image173.png]4.0  Feasibility Modelling Summary (cont.)

Summary

Based on the feasibility analysis undertaken, a Commercial 3 zoning applied to a mixed use development
with either a 35% or 50% proportion of residential area within an outer industrial site is unlikely to be viable
within a 10 year period.

This view is based on the results of the ‘current market’ feasibility modelling that derives a large
development loss and negative development profit.

The sensitivity testing applied to varying rental levels show that it is unrealistic to expect demand and rental
levels to grow to the amount required to achieve a 15-20% target profit margin in order make this form of
development a viable proposal.

The factor driving the lack of viability is the lack of foreseeable demand for commercial office space in an
outer industrial area largely driven by the lack of perceived amenity for the intended commercial uses.

Although there will be certain locations (such as the case study site chosen) that have good access to public
transport, for a commercial use to be viable, this alone cannot be regarded as the primary driver that will
generate demand for a level of commercial space that is required to underpin the underlying value of a
mixed use development under a Commercial 3 Zone.
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When considering the commercial viability of undertaking a mixed use development within a Commercial 3
Zone, the key consideration in any assessment will be whether there is any foreseeable demand for
commercial/office or other employment generating uses.

The application of an allowable component of residential use (by a proportion of up to 50% of building floor
area) under the C3Z will not enable a mixed use development to be viable if there is no ‘substantial’
appetite for commercial/office premises.

The Commercial 3 Zone allowing a proportion of residential use will likely ‘bring forward' the timing of when
a development of this form becomes viable, but only once the market has started to show signs of a
demand for commercial uses.

In this regard the application of this Commercial 3 zoning could be viewed as an ‘accelerator’ of this form of
development in an area that is showing signs of transitioning.

From a commercial perspective (and based on the feasibility modelling undertaken), the application
of a Commercial 3 Zone in the context of the MILS employment areas, could only be considered
viable in a location regarded as a ‘Fringe Activity Centre’ site and with an allowable proportion of up
to 50% of residential floor area as a proportion of the total building area.

It should also be noted that even when selecting the application of the C3 Zone within a fringe activity

centre area, consideration should be given to the site specific location and the sites micro attributes for the
predominant commercial use. In particular the level of amenity and proximity to public transport will be key
determinants in realising a market demand for the intended commercial and employment generating uses.
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[image: image175.png]Annexure A - Financial Feasibility Models

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space
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[image: image177.png]Annexure A - Financial Feasibility Models

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space
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[image: image179.png]Annexure A - Financial Feasibility Models

Site Type 1 - Fringe Activity Centre Site

BASECASE Model - Current Planning Scheme Controls
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[image: image181.png]Annexure A - Financial Feasibility Models

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site

Mixed Use Building with 35% Residential Floor Space
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[image: image183.png]Annexure A - Financial Feasibility Models

Site Type 2 - Inner Industrial Site

Mixed Use Building with 50% Residential Floor Space
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Moreland MILS
50% Resi - Dawson
Inner Industrial

Lo o Concep Propery

Time Spans Feb-1910May-22 (39 Moris)
T Mived Use.
Stas: Uncer Review,
Sio e 1266 SqM
o 1
ProjctSize Bunts -
27006FA
Total AUD Per AUD Per AUD Per
AuD SqM of Site Area. GFA “Total Net Revenue
Revenues
Quanity SaM AUDISaM
Gross Sales Revenue 3 413400 5.783.00 23,906,922 18,590 85854 103.8%
Residential - 1 Bedroom Units 1 2,000.00 800000 16,000,000
‘Commerical Offce. 1 203300 388929 7,906,922
Retail Shops - 100 - -
Not Classified 1 100,00 - -
Less Seling Costs (559.069) 35) (@1 24%
Less Purchasers Costs - - - 0.0%
NET SALES REVENUE 23,347,853 18,155 8647 101.4%
Average Yield Sam AUDISqMannum
Gross Rental Income 581% 2033.00 22597 - - - 0.0%
Commerical Office. 581% 203300 2597 -
Less Outgoings & Vacancies - - - 0.0%
Less Leting Foes (68.910) (54) (265) 03%
Less Incentives (Rent Free and Filout Costs) (252.750) (197) (94) 1%
Less Other Leasing Costs - - - 0.0%
NET RENTAL INCOME (321.660) (250) (119) 4%
Interest Received ‘ - ‘ - - 0.0%
Other Incore. - - - 0.0%
TOTAL REVENUE ‘ BB | 7,90 8528 100.0%
Costs.
Land Purchase Cost 3215000 2,500 1191 14.0%
Land Acquisition Costs 476,825 138 65 058%
Construction Costs (inc. Contingency) 17,060,670 13,266 6319 74.1%
Other Consiruction Costs 15,509,700 12,060 5744 67.4%
Coningency 150,970 1208 574 6.7%
Professional Fees 1/564,854 1217 580 68%
Statutory Fees 310000 241 115 13%
Wiscelaneous Costs 1 60,000 a7 2 03%
Wiscelaneous Costs 2 - N N 0%
Wiscelaneous Costs 3 B . B 00%
Project Contingency (Reserve) N N B 00%
Land Holding Costs 234,000 162 &7 10%
Pre-Sale Commissions - - - 0.0%
Finance Charges (inc. Fees) 180,000 140 67 08%
Interest Expense 238,775 86 £ 10%
Plus Corporate Tax - - - 0.0%
TOTAL COSTS, 23,040,123 | 7916 8533 100.1%
Performance Indicators
Net Development Profit (13,931) 1 ©)
* Development Margin (ProfitRisk Margin) Based on total coss c sling cost 0.06%
“ Residual Land Value Based on Tarel Margincl 15% 415,861 923 154
* Not Present Value Based cn Discount Rateof 15% .2 Nominal (@567,712)
“ Benefit Cost Ratio 08493
 Project Internal Rate of Return (IRR) Por arvum Nomina 0.90%
* Residual Land Value Based PV 801,734 623 207
Equity IR n Nomil 0.04%
Equity Contrbution 12,000,000
Peak Debt Exposure. 11,452,847
Equity to Deb Ratio 108.05%
“ Weighted Average Cost of Capial (WACC) 288%
*° Breakeven Dae for Cumulative Cash Flow NA. (Negative Profi)
" Yield on Cost 195%
Rent Cover 0¥rs, 0 Mihs!
* Profi Erosion 075, 0 Miths!
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[image: image186.png]SUMMARY OF PROJECT RETURNS

Moreland MILS
BASECASEI - Dawson
Inner Industrial

Lo o Concep Propery

Time Spans Feb-1910May-22 (39 Moris)
T Mived Use.
Stas: Uncer Review,
Sio e 1266 SqM
o 1
ProjctSize Bunts -
27006FA
Total AUD Per AUD Per AUD Per
AuD SqM of Site Area. GFA “Total Net Revenue
Revenues
Quanity SaM AUDISaM
Gross Sales Revenue 3 413595 55315 22,905,530 7811 8484 103.8%
Residential - 1 Bedroom Units 1 1739.00 800000 13912000
‘Commerical Offce. 1 2.309.00 3,894.99 8,993,530
Retail Shops - 100 - -
Not Classified 1 86.95 - -
Less Seling Costs (507.295) (@04 (188) 23%
Less Purchasers Costs - - - 0.0%
NET SALES REVENUE 22,308,235 17417 8,29 101.5%
Average Yield Sam AUDISqMannum
Gross Rental Income 581% 2,309.00 22633 - - - 0.0%
Commerical Office. 581% 230900 22633 -
Less Outgoings & Vacancies - - - 0.0%
Less Leting Foes (78:3%0) @1 @9) 04%
Less Incentives (Rent Free and Filout Costs) (252.750) (197) (94) A%
Less Other Leasing Costs - - - 0.0%
NET RENTAL INCOME (331,140) (@257 (123) 5%
Interest Received ‘ - ‘ - - 0.0%
Other Incore. - N - 0.0%
TOTAL REVENUE ‘ 22,067 8 3 X
Costs.
Land Purchase Cost 3215000 2,500 1191 14.6%
Land Acquisition Costs 476,825 a8 65 058%
Construction Costs (inc. Contingency) 16,836,820 13,002 6236 76.3%
Other Consiruction Costs 15,306,200 11,902 5669 69.4%
Coningency 1530,620 1190 567 6.9%
Professional Fees 1/546,946 1203 573 7.0%
Statutory Fees 310000 241 115 14%
Wiscelaneous Costs 1 60,000 a7 2 03%
Wiscelaneous Costs 2 - N N 0%
Wiscelaneous Costs 3 B . B 00%
Project Contingency (Reserve) N N B 00%
Land Holding Costs 234,000 162 &7 1%
Pre-Sale Commissions - - - 0.0%
Finance Charges (inc. Fees) 167500 46 69 0.8%
Interest Expense 127.745 £ a7 06%
Plus Corporate Tax - - N 0.0%
TOTAL COSTS, 22,694,836 | 7648 8,405 102.8%
Performance Indicators
Net Development Profit (627,741) 88) @32)
* Development Margin (ProfitRisk Margin) Based on total coss c sling cost 271%
“ Residual Land Value Based o Taret Margi of 15% (61.529) @8) @)
* Not Present Value Based cn Discount Rateof 15% .2 Nominal (2.991,227)
“ Benefit Cost Ratio 08227
 Project Internal Rate of Return (IRR) Por arvum Nomina -2.08%
* Residual Land Value Based PV 406.495 316 151
Equity IR n Nomil 131%
Equity Contrbution 15,000,000
Peak Debt Exposure. 8110508
Equity to Deb Ratio 190.97%
“ Weighted Average Cost of Capial (WACC) 2.06%
*° Breakeven Dae for Cumulative Cash Flow NA. (Negative Profi)
" Yield on Cost 2.25%
Rent Cover 0¥rs, 0 Mihs!
* Profi Erosion 075, 0 Miths!
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[image: image188.png]SUMMARY OF PROJECT RETURNS

Moreland MILS
35% Residential
Outer Indusiial Site - Railway Pde

Lo o Concep Propery

Time Spr: e 1010 e 2206 i)
Type: VixeaLse
St Under Rovew
St Aren: 1500 5qh
R i
Proect e P s s
1407 GFA
Total AUD Per AUD Per AUD Per
AuD SaMof Site Area GFA Total Net Revenue
Revenues
Quaniy o AUDISGM
Gross Sales Revenue 3 235800 482346 11.375652 7584 97 103.8%
Residenial - 1 Bedroom Units 1 808.00 800000 6464000
‘Commerical Offce. 1 1509.00 325491 4911652
Retai Shops - 1.00 - -
Not Classified 1 4040 - -
Less Seling Costs (@o7.677) 205) @ 28%
Less Purchasers Costs - - - 00%
NET SALES REVENUE 11,067,976 7379 970 1010%
Average visd sat AUDISqanmum
Gross Rental Income 577% 1,509.00 18787 - - - 00%
‘Commerical Offce 577% 1,509.00 18787 -
Less Ouigoings 8 Vacandies - - - 0%
Loss Loting Foos. (@2525) @) @ 04%
Less Incentives (Ren! Free and Filout Costs) (67,500) (5) © 08%
Less Other Loasing Costs - - - 00%
NET RENTAL INCOME (110,025) ) (10) 0%
Interest Received ‘ - ‘ - - 0.0%
Otner Income. - - - 0%
TOTAL REVENUE ‘ 0TSt | 7,305 %61 1000%
Costs
Land Purchase Cost 3000000 200 263 274%
Land Acquisiton Costs 165,000 10 14 15%
Construction Costs (inc. Contingency) 10,350,085 6906 08 o45%
Other Gonstruclion Costs 9417350 6278 826 85.9%
Contingency 91735 628 [ B6%
Professional Fees 1.078727 719 % 9%
Statutory Fees 165,000 103 14 14%
Wiscellaneous Gosts 1 60,000 w s 05%
Wiscellaneous Cosis 2 - - . 0%
Wiscellaneous Cosis 3 . : : 0%
Project Contingency (Reserve) - 3 B 0%
Land Holding Cosls 257000 158 2 22%
Pre-Sale Commissions - - - 0%
Finance Charges (inc. Fess) 80,000 Bl 7 07%
Interest Expense 6421 4 1 01%
Plus Corporate Tax - - - 0%
TOTAL COSTS 15,181,233 | 10,094 1,327 138.2%
Performance Indicators
Net Development Profit 14,183,282) @789) 67)
* Development Margin (Proft/Risk Margin) ased oo ot (nc sling ot 27.08%
* Residual Land Value Sasaon Tt Mgl 157 (2.482.469) (1656) @)
 Net Present Value Based on Discount Rate of 15% p.a. Nowtinal (4,120,741
© Benefi Cost Ratio 06467
7 Project Internal Rate of Return (IRR) P e Norana -69.69%
* Residual Land Value Based P (964.740) (643) )
Equity IRR Mool -24.42%
Equity Contrbution 8000000
Peak Debl Exposure. 1,035,408
Eaquity to Deb Ratio s20.73%
* Weighed Average Cost of Capital (WACC) 065%
* Breakeven Date for Cumulatve Cash Flow NA. (Negaive Profi)
" Yild on Cost 1.84%
* Rent Cover 0Yrs, 0 Wi
* Prof Erosion 0Yrs. 0 Mihs
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[image: image190.png]SUMMARY OF PROJECT RETURNS

Moreland MILS
50% Residential
Outer Indusiial Site - Railway Pde.

Lo o Concep Propery

Time Spans Feb-1910 o 22 (38 Monts)
T Mived Use.
Stas: Uncer Review,
Sio e 1,500 SqM
o 1
ProjctSize unts [—
1407 GFA
Total AUD Per AUD Per AUD Per
AuD SqM of Site Area. GFA “Total Net Revenue
Revenues
Quanity SaM AUDISaM
Gross Sales Revenue 3 2,085.00 548190 1691652 11,274 1483 103.2%
Residential - 1 Bedroom Units 1 1500.00 800000 12,000,000
‘Commerical Offce. 1 1509.00 325491 4911652
Retail Shops - 100 - -
Not Classified 1 7500 - -
Less Seling Costs (@09.117) @) (@) 25%
Less Purchasers Costs - - - 0.0%
NET SALES REVENUE 16,502,536 11,002 1447 100.7%
Average Yield Sam AUDISqMannum
Gross Rental Income 577% 1509.00 167.67 - - - 0.0%
Commerical Office. 577% 1509.00 187.87 -
Less Outgoings & Vacancies - - - 0.0%
Less Letiing Fees (42,525) (28) “) 0.3%
Less Incentives (Rent Free and Filout Costs) (67.500) (@5) ©) 0.4%
Less Other Leasing Costs - - - 0.0%
NET RENTAL INCOME (110,025 @3 (10) 7%
Interest Received ‘ - ‘ - - 0.0%
Other Incore. - - - 0.0%
TOTAL REVENUE ‘ | 10928 143 100.0%
Costs.
Land Purchase Cost 3,000000 2,000 263 18.3%
Land Acquisition Costs 165,000 110 14 10%
Construction Costs (inc. Contingency) 13,300,155 8.867 1166 81.1%
Other Consiruction Costs 12,091,050 8061 1060 738%
Coningency 1,200,105 806 106 7.4%
Professional Fees 1314012 876 115 80%
Statutory Fees 155,000 103 14 09%
Wiscelaneous Costs 1 60,000 o 5 04%
Wiscelaneous Costs 2 - - R 0%
Wiscelaneous Costs 3 B . B 00%
Project Contingency (Reserve) N N B 00%
Land Holding Costs 237,000 158 21 14%
Pre-Sale Commissions - - - 0.0%
Finance Charges (inc. Fees) 95,000 63 8 06%
Interest Expense 1315 1 0 0.0%
Plus Corporate Tax - - - 0.0%
TOTAL COSTS, 18,327,482 | 12218 1,607 1.8%
Performance Indicators
Net Development Profit (1,934,971) (1.290) 70)
* Development Margin (ProfitRisk Margin) Based on total coss c sling cost -10.33%
“ Residual Land Value Based o Taret Margi of 15% (961.765) (641) (®4)
* Not Present Value Based cn Discount Rateof 15% .2 Nominal (2:391,548)
“ Benefit Cost Ratio 06283
 Project Internal Rate of Return (IRR) Por arvum Nomina <33.05%
* Residual Land Value Based PV 734,322 4%0 6
Equity IR n Nomil 757%
Equity Contrbution 9500000
Peak Debt Exposure. 84,019
Equity to Deb Ratio NA
“ Weighted Average Cost of Capial (WACC) 0.00%
*° Breakeven Dae for Cumulative Cash Flow NA. (Negative Profi)
" Yield on Cost 151%
Rent Cover 0¥rs, 0 Miths!
* Profi Erosion 075, 0 Miths!
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[image: image192.png]Planning and Environment Act 1987

MORELAND PLANNING SCHEME

AMENDMENT C193
EXPLANATORY REPORT

Who is the planning authority?

This amendment has been prepared by the Moreland City Council who is the planning authority for

this amendment.

The Amendment has been made at the request of the Moreland City Council

Land affected by the Amendment

The Amendment applies to industrial land within the Brunswick Activity Centre identified in the

Moreland Industrial Land Strategy (MILS) 2015-2030 as Category 2 — Employment MILS Areas listed

in Table 1 below.

What the amendment does

The Amendment proposes to rezone land to Commercial 3 Zone with a maximum allowable
percentage of the combined gross floor area of all buildings on a lot for dwelling and residential

building uses not exceeding 50%.
Table 1. Affected properties

Affected Properties

87-89 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

31-33 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

91 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

35 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

93-97 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

39 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

104-110 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057 | 41 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

118-120 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

43-45 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

122 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

47 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

124 ALBERT STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

55 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

191 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

57 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

193-195 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

59-61 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

201 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

145 GLENLYON ROAD BRUNSWICK 3056

203 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

6 ILHAN LANE BRUNSWICK 3056
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205 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

140 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

207 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

142 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

209 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

144 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

211 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

146 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

213 ALBION STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

148 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

130 BARKLY STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

150-152 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

85-89 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

154-158 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056
(EXCEPT FOR THE LAND DEFINED AS
CATEGORY 3 AT THE REAR)

95-101 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

160-164 VICTORIA STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

103 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

1-5 WESTON STREET, BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

105 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

120 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

107 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK 3056

122 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

109 BRUNSWICK ROAD BRUNSWICK 3056

124 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

12-14 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

126 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

13-15 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056
(EXCLUDING THE REAR SECTION WHICH
FRONTS DODS STREET)

132-134 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

18-20 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

140 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

22 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

142-144 WESTON STREET BRUNSWICK EAST 3057

28-36 EDWARD STREET BRUNSWICK 3056

Strategic assessment of the Amendment

Why is the Amendment required?

The Moreland Industrial Land Strateqy 2015-2030

The Moreland Industrial Land Strategy 2015-2030 (MILS) was introduced into the Moreland Planning
Scheme through Amendment C158 on 6 April 2017. The MILS provides a coordinated and evidence
based approach to managing growth and strengthening our local economy. It complements Council’'s
objectives for creating a sustainable urban environment where people have access to jobs and business
services near to where they live, and it enables planning for local employment opportunities now and

for future generations.





[image: image194.png]The amendment affects industrial land within the BAC within the following MILS categories:

Category 2 - Employment areas which seek to support transition from traditional industrial uses to a
broader range of employment uses, and prioritise employment uses over residential uses in
Employment Areas.

Brunswick Activity Centre

The vision for the Brunswick Activity Centre is one of continued economic and social diversity and
improved sustainability. Planning for growth and development will focus on three corridors: the Sydney
Road/Upfield Corridor, Lygon Street and Nicholson Street. Core Industry and Employment Areas will be
protected, Employment Areas will transition from traditional industrial uses to a broader range of
employment uses, and declining industrial areas will fransform into residential areas. (Brunswick Activity
Centre Structure Plan Reference Document Theme 1 Land Use Pattern and Activity pg. 16)

In October 2016 Council adopted the Brunswick Activity Centre Structure Plan Reference Document
(BACSP). The BACSP supersedes the following documents as reference documents to the Moreland
Planning Scheme:

= The Brunswick Structure Plan (2010)
= The Brunswick Structure Plan Addendum (2012)
= Sydney Road/Upfield Corridor Strategic Framework Plan (2014)

One of the key strategies of the BACSP under the theme of Land Use Pattern and Activity is to Implement
rezoning’s where required to give effect to the MILS (pg. 16). Amendment C193 will facilitate new
employment and housing opportunities by rezoning underutilised industrial land that is well serviced by
existing infrastructure and public transport. The rezoning of this land will encourage new development
and employment opportunities which will add to the vibrancy and mix of uses within the activity centre
and assist Council in achieving its vision for the BAC.

Zone selection

Land within Category 2 — Employment Areas are proposed to be rezoned to the Commercial 3 Zone
(C3Z). The purpose of the C3Z is:

« To provide for a range of industrial, commercial, office and other employment generating uses
which support the mixed-use employment function of the area.

« To promote collaborative and high-quality working environments which support the area through
good urban design and high-amenity, accessible and well-connected places.

« To provide opportunities for limited retail uses which are complementary to the role and scale of
the area.

* To provide the option for limited residential uses that do not undermine the primary employment
and economic development focus of the zone. To facilitate the use, development and redevelop.

The C3Z will achieve the employment outcomes sought by MILS for Category 2 Areas while still
providing flexibility for some residential uses to occur in the context of the BAC. As part of this
Amendment a 50% maximum percentage of residential floor space will be mandated through the
schedule to the C3Z. This ensures a minimum percentage of commercial employment generating floor
space is provided as part of any development. The use of floor space controls within the C3Z has
significantly greater strength for planning decision-making compared to a local policy.

How does the Amendment implement the objectives of planning in Victoria?

The amendment seeks to implement the following objectives set out at Section 4 of the Planning and
Environment Act 1987:

= 1(a) - to provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land;

= 1(c) - to secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for
all Victorians and visitors to Victoria;

= 1(g) - to balance the present and future interests of all Victorians.




[image: image195.png]The BAC is identified in Plan Melbourne 2017-2050 as a place likely to experience significant change
over time as the population of Melbourne increases. The amendment will assist in the facilitation of
redevelopment of land within the BAC with the proposed zone, implementing the objectives and
guidelines of the BACSP and give effect to the policies and objectives set out for activity centres in
Plan Melbourne 2017-2050.

How does the Amendment address any environmental, social and economic effects?

The proposed application of the C3Z provides clear direction for investment and provides certainty to
Council, the community and the development sector about the proposed uses within the activity centre.

The controls are consistent with the need for the BAC to fulfil its role and function as a centre with a
genuine mixture of housing, office and retail while maintaining the amenity of surrounding residential
areas and meeting community expectation.

The proposed rezoning of industrial land responds to the decline in traditional manufacturing industries
in Moreland and more specifically Brunswick, and the strong presence of residential uses in these
precincts. Growing pressures faced by increasing demand for residential land, limited availability of
residential land in close proximity to the CBD, increasing land prices and greater potential for conflict
between uses and traffic problems in residential streets has also contributed to the decline.

The development opportunities provided for by the rezoning will facilitate a range of employment
generating activities that help to retain or create new local employment. Furthermore, the proposed
zones will encourage the establishment of residential uses that take advantage of the broad range of
community infrastructure, services and facilities within the BAC.

Does the Amendment address relevant bushfire risk?

The land is not included within a bushfire prone area and will not result in any increase to the risk to
life, property, community infrastructure and the natural environment from bushfire.

Does the Amendment comply with the requirements of any Minister’s Direction applicable to
the amendment?

The Amendment is consistent with the Ministerial Direction on the Form and Content of Planning
Schemes under Section 7(5) of the Act.

Ministerial Direction No 1 — Potentially Contaminated Land

The previous industrial use of some properties within the BAC meet the definition of potentially
contaminated land defined in Ministerial Direction No 1 — Potentially Contaminated Land. As the MUZ
would allow for sensitive uses either as-of-right or subject to a planning permit, an EAQ is proposed to
apply to these properties as part of Amendment C164 Part 1.

Ministerial Direction No 9 — Metropolitan Strateqy

Plan Melbourne 2017-2050, the Victorian State Government's overarching strategic policy for the growth
of Melbourne, identifies Brunswick as a major activity centre. This status provides an opportunity for
medium and higher density development close to jobs and services.

Direction No 9 requires that planning scheme amendments must have regard to Plan Melbourne. This
amendment is considered to be consistent with the directions and policies of the Strategy. The
amendment is considered to facilities the following within Plan Melbourne:

« Delivering Jobs and Investment — Create a city structure that drives productivity, supports
investment through certainty and creates more jobs.
Key Directions — define a new city structure, plan for the expanded central city, plan for jobs closer
to where people live, enable transit oriented development and urban renewal.

« Housing Choice and Affordability — Provide a diversity of housing in defined locations that cater for
different households and are close to jobs and services.
Key Directions — plan for expected housing needs, reduce costs of living by increasing housing
supply near services, and facilitate the supply of social and affordable housing.





[image: image196.png]* Liveable Communities and Neighbourhoods — Create healthy and active neighbourhoods and
maintain Melbourne’s identify as one of the world’s most liveable cities.
Key Directions — Create a city of 20 minute neighbourhoods, protect suburbs from inappropriate
development, and make our city greener.

The amendment is consistent with Ministerial Direction No. 11 — Strategic Assessments of
Amendments. A Strategic assessment of the proposed amendment has been undertaken in
accordance with this Ministerial Direction in this explanatory report.

Ministerial Direction No. 19 — Preparation and content of Amendments that may significantly impact
the Environment, Amenity and Human Health requires planning authorities to seek the views of the
Environment Protection Authority (EPA) in the preparation of planning scheme that could result in use
or development of land that may result in significant impacts on the environment, amenity and human
health due to pollution and waste. The outcomes from the proposed Amendment will not have any
significant impact on the environment, amenity and human health.

How does the Amendment support or implement the Planning Policy Framework and any
adopted State policy?

Clause 11 — Settlement

The amendment provides opportunities for redevelopment and intensification in an established urban
area with excellent access to public transport and services.

Clause 16 - Housing

The amendment facilitates an increase in housing supply in an established urban area, proximate to a
range of services. It also adds to the housing diversity and choice across the Brunswick Activity
Centre.

Clause 17 — Economic Development

The amendment will facilitate new employment opportunities and reinvestment into existing urban
areas. It will increase the resident workforce within Brunswick, which will support existing and new
employment opportunities, and commercial activity within the Brunswick Activity Centre.

Clause 18 — Transport

The amendment facilitates more efficient use of existing transport infrastructure by consolidating
urban development in close proximity to tram, bus and train routes. The amendment also seeks to
improve the interface of key pedestrian and cycling routes across the Brunswick Activity Centre.
Clause 19 - Infrastructure

The amendment facilitates higher density residential development and employment opportunities
within the Brunswick Activity Centre with access to existing infrastructure, services, recreational areas
and community facilities.

How does the Amendment support or implement the Local Planning Policy Framework, and
specifically the Municipal Strategic Statement?

The Moreland Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) seeks to encourage housing growth, with good
access to transport, retail and services. It also seeks to contribute to economic regeneration through
the transition of specific precincts of industrial zoned land to accommodate more diverse employment
opportunities and housing supply.

How does the amendment support or implement the Municipal Planning Strategy?

This strategic consideration does not apply as a Municipal Planning Strategy at Clause 02 of the
Moreland Planning Scheme has not yet been included.

Does the Amendment make proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions?

The amendment makes proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions (VPP) through the selection of
the appropriate tool to achieve guidance for future land use outcomes for the BAC. The Commercial 3
Zone has been selected to provide clarity for the specific land use outcomes that are seeking to be
achieved consistent with the MILS.
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The review of Moreland’s previous industrial land strategy and the development of the MILS involved
extensive public consultation including public exhibition during Amendment C158 to implement the
MILS into the Planning Scheme. As part of this process, and the development of the MILS, the views
of the Victorian Planning Authority (formerly the Metropolitan Planning Authority) and the Department
of Land Water Environment and Planning were sought.

Public consultation and a planning panel was held as part of the amendment process for Amendment
C164.

Does the Amendment address relevant requirements of the Transport Integration Act 20107

The intent of the amendment broadly aligns with the objectives and decision principles outlined in
Section 3 of the Act. The amendment aims to encourage land uses and developments that minimise
dependence on car use and facilitate sustainable transport options within the Activity Centre.

The proposed amendment has the potential to facilitate significant residential and commercial
development within the Sydney Road and Lygon Street Local Areas with excellent access to the existing
train, tram and road network. This will provide convenient access to the transport network, and
contribute to social and economic inclusion, and economic prosperity.

The amendment contributes to the transport system with the integration of redeveloped vacant land in
established build-up areas to existing transport networks that can provide access to social and economic
opportunities.

Resource and administrative costs

* What impact will the new planning provisions have on the resource and administrative
costs of the responsible authority?

The amendment is expected to have a positive impact on administration and resources. By taking a
proactive approach to the implementation of the MILS, and the application of a zone that clarifies the
ultimate use envisaged in these employment areas, the amendment will reduce uncertainty and assist
in preventing land speculation within the BAC. A proactive rezoning which affects a number of
precincts is an efficient use of Council resources. The amendment will therefore have a positive
impact on the resource and administrative cost for the responsible authority.

Where you may inspect this Amendment

The Amendment is available for public inspection, free of charge, during office hours at the following
places:

« Coburg Citizen Services Centre, Moreland City Council, 90 Bell Street, Coburg.

« Brunswick Citizen Services Centre, Moreland City Council, 233 Sydney Road, Brunswick.
« Brunswick Library, 233 Sydney Road, Brunswick

o Campbell Turnbull Library, 220 Melville Road, Brunswick West

e Coburg Library, Corner of Victoria and Louisa Streets, Coburg

In addition, amendment documentation and information can be viewed online at:
* Moreland City Council website at www.moreland.vic.gov.au.

* Department of Environment Land Water and Planning website at
www.delwp.vic.gov.au/public-inspection.
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Any person who may be affected by the Amendment may make a submission to the planning
authority. Submissions about the Amendment must be received by XX

A submission must be sent to:

Moreland City Council

Strategic Planning Unit
Submission to Amendment C193
Locked Bag 10

MORELAND VIC 3058

Please be aware that all submissions to amendments are public documents that must be made available
for viewing by any person as part of the planning process.

For further information, please contact Moreland City Council’s Strategic Planning Unit on (03) 9384
9215.

Panel hearing dates

In accordance with clause 4(2) of Ministerial Direction No.15 the following panel hearing dates have
been set for this amendment:

« directions hearing:
* panel hearing:

Further details regarding the full panel hearing will be provided by Planning Panels Victoria post the
Directions Hearing.
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VICTORIA PLANNING PROVISIONS

COMMERCIAL 3 ZONE

Shown on the planning scheme map as C3Z with a number (if shown).

Purpose
To implement the Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.

To provide for a range of industrial, commercial, office and other employment generating uses
which support the mixed-use employment function of the arca.

To promote collaborative and high-quality working environments which support the area through
good urban design and high-amenity, accessible and well-connected places.

To provide opportunities for limited retail uses which are complementary to the role and scale of
the area.

To provide the option for limited residential uses that do not undermine the primary employment
and economic development focus of the zone.

To facilitate the use, development and redevelopment of land in accordance with the objectives
specified in a schedule to this zone.

Operation
The schedule to this zone may specify:
= Objectives to be achieved for the arca.

= A maximum allowable percentage (not exceeding 50%) of the combined gross floor arca of all
buildings on a lot for dwelling and residential building uses.

Table of uses

Section 1 - Permit not required

Use

Art and craft centre

Education centre (other than Primary
school and Secondary School)

Food and drink premises The leasable floor area must not exceed 150 square metres.

Home based business

Industry (other than Materials Must not be a purpose listed in the table to Clause 53.10 except
recycling and Transfer station) for boiler makers, bakery, smallgoods production and joinery.

The land must be at least the following distances from land (not
a road) in a residential zone, Activity Centre Zone, Commercial
1 Zone, Capital City Zone, Docklands Zone, land used for a
hospital, primary school, or secondary school, land not in this
zone used for any other education centre, or land in a Public
Acquisition Overlay to be acquired for a hospital, primary school,
secondary school, or for any other education centre on land not
in this zone:

» The threshold distance, for a purpose listed in the table to
Clause 53.10.
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Use

Coni

» 30 metres, for a purpose not listed in the table to Clause
53.10.

« Ifapurpose listed in the table to Clause 53.10, the land must
be at least the threshold distance from land used for a
dwelling or residential building.

Informal outdoor recreation
Manufacturing sales
Market

Office

Place of assembly (other than Place
of worship)

The leasable floor area must not exceed 200 square metres.

Postal agency
Railway
Research centre

Tramway

Any use listed in Clause 62.01

Must meet the requirements of Clause 62.01.

Section 2 - Permit required

Adult sex product shop Must be at least 200 metres (measured by the shortest route
reasonably accessible on foot) from a residential zone or, land used
for a hospital, primary school or secondary school or land in a Public
Acquisition Overlay to be acquired for a hospital, primary school or
secondary school.

The leasable floor area must not exceed 200 square metres.

Dwelling The combined gross floor area of all dwellings and residential
buildings as a percentage of the combined gross floor area of all
buildings on the lot must not exceed the maximum allowable gross
floor area percentage specified in the schedule to this zone. If no
maximum allowable gross floor area percentage is specified, it must
not exceed 35%.

Any frontage at ground floor level must not exceed 4 metres.

Leisure and recreation (other than
Informal outdoor recreation, Major
sports and recreation facility and
Motor racing track)

Place of worship The leasable floor area must not exceed 250 square metres.

Residential building The combined gross floor area of all dwellings and residential
buildings as a percentage of the combined gross floor area of all
buildings on the ot must not exceed the maximum allowable gross
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VICTORIA PLANNING PROVISIONS

Use Con

floor area percentage specified in the schedule to this zone. If no
maximum allowable gross floor area percentage is specified, it must
not exceed 35%.

Any frontage at ground floor level must not exceed 4 metres.

Shop (other than Adult sex The leasable floor area must not exceed 200 square metres.
product shop)

Utility installation (other than
Minor utility installation and
Telecommunications facility)

Warehouse The leasable floor area must not exceed 500 square metres.

Any other use not in Section 1 or
3

Section 3 - Prohibited

Accommodation (other than Dwelling and Residential building)
Major sports and recreation facility
Motor racing track

Retail premises (other than Adult sex product shop, Food and drink premises, Manufacturing sales,
Market, Postal agency and Shop)

Use of land

A use must not detrimentally affect the amenity of the neighbourhood, including through the:
« Transport of materials, goods or commodities to or from the land.

= Appearance of any building, works or materials.

« Emission of noise, artificial light, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, vapour, steam, soot, ash,
dust, waste water, waste products, grit or oil.

Subdivision

A permit is required to subdivide land.

Buildings and works

A permit is required to construct a building or construct or carry out works.
This does not apply to:

= The installation of an automatic teller machine.

= Analteration to an existing building fagade provided:

The alteration does not include the installation of an external roller shutter.

- Atleast 80 per cent of the building facade at ground floor level is maintained as an entry or
window with clear glazing.
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« Anawning that projects over a road if it is authorised by the relevant public land manager.
« Structural changes to a building provided the size of the building is not increased.
An apartment development must meet the requirements of Clause 58.

The height of a storey at the ground floor level of a new building must be at least 4 metres measured
from finished floor level to the ceiling.

Maintenance

All buildings and works must be maintained in good order and appearance to the satisfaction of
the responsible authority.

Application requirements
Use
An application to use land must be accompanied by the following information, as appropriate:

« A description of the proposed use and the types of activities which will be carried out and any
proposed staging of use and activities on the land.

« Plans drawn to scale and dimensioned which show:
The siting and use of buildings.
- Areas not required for immediate use.
- Adjacent buildings and uses.
«  The likely effects, if any, on adjoining land, including noise levels, traffic, the hours of delivery
and despatch of goods and materials, hours of operation and light spill, solar access and glare.
« Pedestrian connectivity and accessibility to the land and surrounding land.
« The means of maintaining land not required for immediate use.
. Ifan industry or warchouse use:
- The type and quantity of goods to be stored, processed or produced.

Whether a Works Approval or Waste Discharge Licence is required from the Environment
Protection Authority.

- Whether a notification under the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations 2017 is
required, a licence under the Dangerous Goods Act 1985 is required, or a fire protection
quantity under the Dangerous Goods (Storage and Handling) Regulations 2012 is exceeded.

- The likely effects on adjoining land, including air-borne emissions and emissions to land

and water.

Subdivision
An application to subdivide land must be accompanied by the following information, as appropriate:
«  Plans drawn to scale and dimensioned which show:
- Site shape, size, dimensions and orientation.
The pattern of subdivision of the surrounding area.
- Easements.
Location of drainage and other utilities.
- Street frontage features such as poles, street trees and kerb crossovers.

Access points.
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Pedestrian connectivity and accessibility to the land and surrounding land.

- Any natural features.

Buildings and works

An application to construct a building or construct or carry out works must be accompanied by
the following information, as appropriate:

= Plans drawn to scale and dimensioned which show:
- The boundarics and dimensions of the site.
- Adjoining roads.
- The location, height and use of buildings and works on adjoining land.

- Levels of the site and the difference in levels between the site and surrounding properties
to a defined point at the site boundaries or to Australian Height Datum (AHD).

Any contaminated soils and filled areas, where known.
- The layout of existing and proposed buildings and works.
The internal layout and use of the proposed development.
- All access and pedestrian arcas.
All driveway, car parking and loading areas.
- Existing vegetation and proposed landscape areas.
All external storage and waste treatment areas.

- The location of easements and services.

« Elevation plans drawn to scale and dimensioned which show:
- The building form and scale.
- Setbacks to property boundarics.

- Finished floor levels and building heights to a defined point at the site boundaries or to
Australian Height Datum (AHD).

« Details of measures to mitigate noise, odour, vibration and other amenity impacts.

« Shadow diagrams based on the equinox shown for existing conditions and the proposed
development.

= Aschedule of finishes for the proposed development detailing materials and colours of external
surfaces including walls, roofs and fences.

« Construction details of all drainage works, driveways, vehicle parking and loading areas.

« Pedestrian connectivity and accessibility to the land and surrounding land.

« A landscape layout which includes the description of vegetation to be planted, the surfaces to

be constructed, site works specification and method of preparing, draining, watering and
maintaining the landscape area.

Anapplication to construct or extend an apartment development, or to construct or extend a dwelling
in or forming part of an apartment development, must be accompanied by an urban context report
and design response as required in Clause 58.01.
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Exemption from notice and review

An application to subdivide land or construct a building or construct or carry out works is exempt
from the notice requirements of section 52(1)(a), (b) and (d), the decision requirements of section
64(1), (2) and (3) and the review rights of section 82(1) of the Act. This exemption does not apply
to land within 30 metres of land (not a road) which is in a residential zone, land used for a hospital,
primary school, or secondary school, land not in this zone used for any other education centre, or
land in a Public Acquisition Overlay to be acquired for a hospital, primary school, secondary
school, or for any other education centre on land not in this zone.

Decision guidelines

Before deciding on an application, in addition to the decision guidelines in Clause 65, the responsible
authority must consider, as appropriate:

General

« The Municipal Planning Strategy and the Planning Policy Framework.

« The objectives set out in a schedule to this zone.

«  The interface with adjoining zones.

«  The extent that the layout and design of the new usc or development minimises the potential
for off-site impacts, including from noise, fumes, odour or vibrations, ensuring that:

- existing uses are not compromised by a new use or development, or
- anew use or development is designed to address amenity impacts from, and to, existing
uses.
Access

= Movement systems through and around the site including the movement of pedestrians and
cyclists, and vehicles providing for supplies, waste removal, emergency services and public
transport.

« The provision of car parking, loading of vehicles and access to parking spaces and loading
bays.

« Providing for pedestrian connectivity and accessibility through the site and adjoining land
including to, and from, public arcas.

Uses other than dwelling and residential building

«  The effect that existing uses may have on the proposed use.

« The mixture of uses on the land and the primacy of non-residential uses.

« The complementary but limited role of shop, other associated retail uses, food and drink
premises, place of assembly and place of worship uses in the area.

« The drainage of the land.

« The availability of and connection to services.

« The effect of traffic to be generated on roads.

« The interim use of those parts of the land not required for the proposed use.

«  Whether the use is compatible with adjoining and nearby land uses.

Dwelling and residential building uses

«  Whether the use is complementary and appropriate to the area and does not undermine the
primary employment and economic development focus of the arca.
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Whether the dwelling or residential building is designed to effectively mitigate noise, odour,
vibration and other associated amenity impacts from non-residential uses.

Whether the use is compatible with adjoining and nearby land uses.

Subdivision

Provision for vehicles providing for supplies, waste removal and emergency services and public
transport.

The effect the subdivision will have on the potential of the area to accommodate the uses which
will maintain or enhance its competitive strengths.

The pattern of subdivision and its effect on the spacing of buildings.

For subdivision of land for residential development, the objectives and standards of Clause 56.

Building and works

The design, scale, height, setback, appearance and material of the proposed buildings and
works.

The design of the public realm.
The relationship between the proposed building and the public realm.

The movement of pedestrians and cyclists, and vehicles providing for supplies, waste removal,
emergency services and public transport.

The provision of car parking.

The streetscape, including the conservation of buildings, the design of verandahs, access from
the street front, protecting active frontages to pedestrian areas, the treatment of the fronts and
backs of buildings and their appurtenances, illumination of buildings or their immediate spaces
and the landscaping of land adjoining a road.

The storage of rubbish and materials for recycling.
Defining the responsibility for the maintenance of buildings, landscaping and paved areas.
The interface with adjoining zones, especially the relationship with residential zones.

Consideration of the overlooking and overshadowing as a result of building or works affecting
adjoining land in a General Residential Zone, Neighbourhood Residential Zone, Residential
Growth Zone or Township Zone.

The availability of and connection to services.
The provision for solar access to the building and on the public realm.

The objectives, standards and decision guidelines of Clause 54 or Clause 55. This does not
apply to an apartment development.

For an apartment development, the objectives, standards and decision guidelines of Clause 58.

Signs

Sign requirements are at Clause 52.05. This zone is in Category 1.
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c192

Shown on the planning scheme map as C3Z1.

BRUNSWICK ACTIVITY CENTRE
1.0 Objectives
o120 N L. . .
c1e2 = To support transition from traditional industrial uses to a broader range
of employment uses, and prioritise employment uses over residential
uses.
= To support the retention and growth of existing industrial and related
businesses in Moreland.
= To facilitate new industrial and related business investment in
Moreland.
2.0 Maximum allowable gross floor area percentage

=120~
cro2 The maximum allowable percentage of the combined gross floor area of all
buildings on a lot for dwelling and residential building uses must not exceed

50%.

ZONES — CLAUSE 34.03 - SCHEDULE 1 PAGE 1 OF |
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DCF79/19
Permanent Road Closures - Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East (D19/265939)

Director City Futures
City Change 
Executive Summary

In December 2018, Council considered a Notice of Motion (NOM56/18) identifying the potential traffic impact of the East Brunswick Village on the local streets east of Nicholson Street. Council resolved to consult with the affected residents.

The result of the consultation was reported to Council at its meeting in April 2019. Council resolved to commence the process to introduce trial road closures in both Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East. This involved calling for formal submissions from the community and was completed on 23 May 2019.

On 10 July 2019, Council considered the 15 written submissions of support and 8 submissions of objection to the proposed trial road closures. Four of the 23 written submitters spoke to their submissions at Council’s Submissions Hearing Committee. Council resolved (DCF54/19) to erect temporary barriers in Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East, and to receive a report on the closures in October 2019. 

The trial barriers were erected on 1 and 2 August 2019. Council officers have not been made aware of any major issues with the closures.

Council can now proceed to measure the community support for making these two road closures permanent. This can be done by commencing the process for making the trial closures permanent, which would trigger the same comprehensive consultation process required for the trial.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Approves the commencement of the process under Section 207, Schedule 11, Clause 9 of the Local Government Act 1989 to block the passage of vehicles, other than bicycles, by placing permanent barriers in Sumner Street from Noel Street to a point 8 metres further west, and in Peers Street from Nicholson Street to a point 11 metres further east.
2.
Gives public notice of the proposal to permanently block the passage of vehicles, other than bicycles, and calls for submissions under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) as required by Section 207A of the Act, in the Moreland and Northern Leader newspapers, on Council’s website and notice to owners and occupiers of all properties in the area bounded by Nicholson Street, Albert Street, the Merri Creek and the southern municipal boundary.
3.
Appoints Councillor ____________ as Chair, and Councillors ______________, ________________ and ______________ to a Committee to hear any submitters requesting to be heard in support of their written submission.
4.
Sets the Hearing of Submissions Committee meeting to be held on Wednesday 27 November 2019 at 5.30 pm, at the Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg.
5.
Following the consultation process, receives a report outlining any submissions received in relation to the proposal to block the passage of vehicles permanently and a report from VicRoads on the proposal, with a recommendation on whether to proceed.


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

Council’s recently adopted Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy includes Headline Action 3 – use of road closures to support mode shift, reduce rat-running, and encourage take up of cycling by less confident riders. Road closures reduce traffic in streets, thereby improving conditions for cyclists.

2.
Background

In December 2018, Council considered a Notice of Motion (NOM56/18) identifying the potential traffic impact of the East Brunswick Village on the local streets east of Nicholson Street. Council resolved to consult with the affected residents.

The result of the public consultation was reported to Council in April 2019 (DCF25/19). Council resolved to commence the process for trial road closures in both Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East, as a method of protecting the local streets east of Nicholson Street from the traffic impact of the East Brunswick Village. That resolution initiated the consultation process under Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989, calling for submissions from the wider public.

Twenty-three written submissions were received, 15 in support and 8 opposed to the trial closures. Four of the submitters also were heard in support of their submissions by the Hearing of Submissions Committee established by Council. On 10 July 2019, Council considered a report (DCF54/19) on the submissions and resolved:


Under Section 207, Schedule 11, Clause 10(1)(c) of the Local Government Act 1989 to erect temporary barriers in Sumner Street from Noel Street to a point 8 metres further west, and in Peers Street from Nicholson Street to a point 11 metres further east to block the passage of vehicles other than bicycles, for the purpose of a genuine traffic diversion experiment, as published in the public notices.


Introduces ‘No Stopping’ 6 am-1 pm Thursdays parking restrictions on the northern side of Peers Street to allow waste trucks to empty waste bins in the street whilst minimising the number of reversing manoeuvres in the Rupert Street intersection.


Monitors the queuing and safety at the intersection of Glenlyon Road and Nicholson Street, before and after the closures and provide recommendations to VicRoads.


Requests VicRoads erect bicycle lanterns to allow Glenlyon Road cyclists to use the east-west ‘pedestrian only’ phase at Nicholson Street.


Receives a further report to the Council meeting of 9 October 2019 on the impact of the traffic diversion experiment.


Requests that officers notify all those previously circularised, including those who made submissions and VicRoads, of Council’s decision.

The trial plan of the road closures is included at Attachment 1.

3.
Issues

Closure implementation

Trial barriers were erected in Peers Street at Nicholson Street on 1 August 2019.

Trial barriers were also erected in Sumner Street at Noel Street on 2 August 2019. The barriers in Sumner Street had to be erected at Noel Street instead of Nicholson Street because VicRoads had already approved the new Sumner Street traffic signals at Nicholson Street and would have required Council to pay for design changes, plus any and all additional costs of the chosen contractor.

Impact of closures

Initial feed-back indicated that the 2 closures did not generate any major issues, although additional signage and bollards were required for both education and to prevent drivers determined to find a way through the closures. Adjustments to the weekly household waste collection proceeded as designed.

‘No Stopping’ signs

The ‘No Stopping’ (6 am-1 pm, Thursdays) was implemented along the northern side of Peers Street allowing the waste bins in Peers Street to be emptied in a safe manner. An inspection on the first Thursday morning in the week following the closure found excellent compliance to the parking ban in Peers Street which contributed to the efficiency of the waste collection in a newly ‘dead-end’ street.

Queuing at Glenlyon Road/Nicholson Street intersection

Queuing in Glenlyon Road at Nicholson Street was measured during the morning and evening peak hours on 23 and 24 July 2019 before the implementation of the closures. Follow up surveys were carried out on 17 and 18 September 2019, after the closures were implemented. The post-closure surveys found little change to the queueing at the intersection. It would appear that some of the traffic has diverted away from this intersection.

Bicycle lanterns

Council’s request for bicycle lanterns at the traffic signals in Glenlyon Road at Nicholson Street was sent to VicRoads in September. VicRoads has not processed the application yet, however indications are that it is unlikely to be funded.

However, the queuing surveys referred to above, found that all cyclists undertaking this movement had no problem in getting through the intersection. The peak hour surveys identified that the lantern will not provide a significant advantage.

Issues

Two issues have arisen during the trial:


GPS navigation is still guiding drivers into Sumner Street, resulting in regular 3‑point turns at the closure. To assist in overcoming this problem a request to Google to advise drivers of the trial changes was made but has not yet been actioned; possibly because it was not a permanent change. Council officers will lodge a request with Google again to ensure that this change is made should Council resolve to formalise the closures.


A resident in Sumner Street just east of Nicholson Street has expressed concern at having to walk their waste bins approximately 30 metres to just east of the closure. The resident is required to do this now because the waste trucks are not entering the short section of Sumner Street. Unfortunately, no alterative exists in order to avoid the waste trucks reversing into Nicholson Street. It is acknowledged that this is inconvenient but is however an unavoidable impact of the closure which has greater benefits to all surrounding residents. There are several streets across the city where residents are required to move their bins to the ends of courts or to the other side of the street where there are one-way traffic controls, so this is not an unusual requirement.

Next step

Since the erection of the barriers Council officers have not been made aware of any other issues with the closures.

The public appears to have largely accepted the trial road closures. The next step is to formally measure the level of support for making the closures permanent and to conduct a statutory consultation process.

Consultation will be extended to the same large area previously consulted, and to the wider community via local newspapers and Council’s website.

4.
Consultation

Pre-trial consultation

In accordance with the Council resolution of 10 July 2019, all those previously circularised seeking submissions on the proposed trial, were notified of Council’s decision. Submitters have also been advised of this report.

Permanent Closure Consultation

Section 207A of the Local Government Act 1989 requires that a Section 223 public consultation process occur, to grant the public the right to make submissions to Council to inform its decision on whether to install road closures. This will enable the community to advise Council of the impact of the trial road closure, which in turn, will allow Council to make a fully informed decision on whether to proceed with the permanent closures.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

It is estimated that the construction of the permanent road closures will cost approximately $120,000 which can be funded from the existing 2019/20 road closure capital works budget.

7.
Implementation

It is proposed to advertise a proposal to make the existing trial road closures permanent in both Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East.

A Section 223 process must be followed, and a committee established to consider verbal submissions in support of written submissions.

If Council determines to consult on the permanent closure, the 28-day consultation period is expected to commence in late October 2019 and the date of the hearing of submissions committee can be set for late November 2019.

Council could then consider the matter in December 2019.

Attachment/s

	1 
	Trial Road Closures Location Plan - Sumner Street and Peers Street, Brunswick East
	D19/235267
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DCI17/19
Reserve Masterplan Construction Progress Transparency - Response to Notice of Motion NOM7/19 (D19/337401)

Director City Infrastructure
Open Space and Street Cleansing 
Executive Summary

At the March 2019 Council meeting, Council resolved (NOM7/19) to receive a report on providing more transparency for residents, sports and community clubs on the progress of the rollout of masterplans for reserves in Moreland. The report should reference: 


Making up-to-date progress available online of masterplan construction, including features such as a progress bar. 


Directly providing an annual letter and email update to the sporting or community clubs which are tenants of each reserve as to the progress of their reserve masterplan.
There are several masterplans that have been developed over the past 10 years and adopted by Council. Some have already been fully implemented and others are at various stages of implementation. Whilst this information is available on separate pages on Council’s website, there is currently no central point of access to information relating to projects for specific masterplans.

Since March, work has commenced to collate all current information on Council’s website relating to each masterplan and updating where required. There is a benefit in having one webpage that focuses on current reserve masterplans and their overall status that can also guide users through links to information relating to specific projects aligned to each masterplan. This work is continuing, and will be completed by the end of November 2019, with an update provided to Councillors at its conclusion.

Towards the end of 2019, Council will be releasing an eNewsletter. It is proposed a subscription link to this eNewsletter be included in the proposed masterplan webpage, allowing for updates on masterplans to be provided through this publication. 

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Notes that a new masterplan webpage will be developed by the end of November 2019.

2.
Notes that a ‘subscribe’ box for the new email newsletter is to be included within the proposed masterplan webpage, where subscribers will receive information on masterplan status through this publication.




REPORT

1.
Policy Context

The development of masterplans for open space/recreation area is supported by the following priorities in the Council Plan 2017-2021:


Connected Community – Set a clear vision and strategy for aquatics, leisure and sporting facilities to meet ongoing community needs.


Progressive City – Increase tree canopy cover, enhance existing open space and create at least 2 new parks, in areas with the lowest access to open space.

Information regarding the development and implementation of masterplans is available on Council’s website from the following page: https://www.moreland.vic.gov.au/about-us/projects/ as each project is undertaken.

2.
Background

At the March 2019 Council meeting, Council resolved (NOM7/19) to:

Receive a report on providing more transparency for residents, sports and community clubs on the progress of the rollout of masterplans for reserves in Moreland. The report should reference: 


Making up-to-date progress available online of masterplan construction, including features such as a progress bar. 


Directly providing an annual letter and email update to the sporting or community clubs which are tenants of each reserve as to the progress of their reserve masterplan.
The decision highlighted that Council has a number of reserves with masterplans to deliver upgrades to facilities and grounds. 

Masterplans that have been completed and implemented over the past 10 years include:


Brearley Reserve;


Bush Reserve;


CB Smith Reserve;


DeChene Reserve.

There are other adopted masterplans that are yet to be implemented, with each plan at different stages of implementation. Those adopted masterplans that are yet to be fully implemented, and their status, are outlined below:

Fleming Park Master Plan (Refresh)

The playground at Fleming Park was upgraded in 2017, as were the public toilet facilities. 

Community consultation for the reimagining of the grandstand was undertaken in September 2019. The feedback received is largely positive, via both email and the ‘drop in session’ held on 11 September 2019. 

A report is planned to be presented to the November 2019 Council meeting providing a further update on the implementation of this masterplan.

Gowanbrae Open Space Development and Management Plan

This plan has had significant investment since 2014, including a new public toilet along Riverwalk Boulevard, multipurpose courts, Elm Court playground and other structural landscaping work.

An amount of $540,000 has been allocated this financial year for the completion of a skate space, path connections, community garden, outdoor gym equipment and other improvements. 

The masterplan will be completed in 2020/2021 financial year, with a final allocation of $400,000 to build a new play space (Tullamarine), improve shared path connections, continue supporting the community garden project and revegetation of slope in the area.
Morris Reserve Master Plan

Netball courts, turf table, synthetic wicket, new irrigation, new cricket practice nets and circular granite pathway have been installed to the value of $780,000. The pavilion upgrade is also coming to a completion, to the value of $1.2 million.

Mutton Reserve Precinct Plan

Prior to adoption of the precinct plan in 2018, a stormwater harvesting facility was constructed as well as eight new netball courts. Since then, the netball pavilion, public toilets and carpark have all been refurbished, as well as path works, installation of drinking fountains, and the development of a community garden on the Fawkner Bowls facility.

Oak Park Reserve Master Plan

With the completion of the pool upgrades last financial year, this plan will be completed this financial year with the playground upgrade.

Hosken Reserve Redevelopment Plan

Having 18 key improvements identified with a total project cost in excess of $2.35 million, including the construction of a full sized synthetic training pitch and tennis facility upgrades, both of which are identified within the current forward Capital Works Program.

Works which have been completed to date include the soccer pavilion upgrades, car park refurbishment off Pallet Street, construction of training lights, playground upgrade, stormwater harvesting facility and path works.

While each project relating to these masterplans has information available on Council’s website during the time they are undertaken, the collective progress on the rollout of these reserve masterplans is not easily accessible by residents and sporting clubs.

3.
Issues

As information on specific projects is available on different project webpages on Council’s website, it is difficult to gain consolidated information on masterplans as a whole. There is a benefit in having one webpage that focuses on current reserve masterplans and their overall status, that can also guide users through links to information relating to specific projects aligned to each masterplan.

Towards the end of 2019, a new Council email newsletter will be released. This can be subscribed to, allowing the community to receive the publication automatically. It is proposed that a link to subscribe to the new eNewsletter be included in the proposed masterplan webpage, allowing for updates on masterplans to be provided through this publication. This would mitigate the need for an annual letter to be sent to clubs and tenants, keeping the process digital and web based.
Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

All departments involved in masterplan development and implementation, as well as webpage development were consulted during the completion of this report. Community consultation is a key element in the development of masterplans.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

Whilst there will be officer time involved to develop and maintain this new webpage, the resource impacts can be absorbed by departments involved.

7.
Implementation

The webpage development will be completed by the end of November 2019, with an update to be provided on Councillor Connect when complete.

Attachment/s

There are no attachments for this report. 

DCD24/19
Food System Strategy 2017-2020 Progress Report (D19/277720)

Director Community Development
Community Wellbeing 
Executive Summary

There have been some important achievements in the second year of the Moreland Food System Strategy 2017-2020 (MFSS). The network of groups and residents sharing and collaborating on local food projects has strengthened and expanded. Several partnerships have formed around the Fawkner Food Bowls leading to a significant increase in community engagement and participation. The Moreland Community Garden Assessment Tool and Guidelines are being applied to effectively educate and support community members to get involved in community gardening. 

Key areas of achievements for the year also include:


Strengthening the Moreland Food System Network:


The network was expanded to include new partners and residents;


A successful Moreland Food System Networking Event was held, resulting in increased partnerships and collaborations. 


Support for Local Food Social Enterprises:


Commercial kitchens in Moreland were mapped and a pilot commercial kitchen hiring program at the Fawkner Bowls Club investigated. Council is supporting the club to develop formal processes to ensure hiring conditions are clear and risks are managed.


Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of progress within the Food Systems Strategy:


A reflection workshop was held with major stakeholders, resulting in 9 stories of change on the impact and benefits of the food system work being undertaken in Moreland.


Food education:


Presentation of three food system education events, attended by over 100 people, in partnership with CERES, Sustain and 3000 Acres.

This is the final year of the MFSS. Subject to the 2020/2021 budget process, a Food System Action Plan 2020-2025 will be developed that integrates with the Moreland Health and Wellbeing Plan and Moreland Zero Carbon – 2040 Framework.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:
1.
Notes the achievements and opportunities highlighted in the report on the second year of the Moreland Food System Strategy at Attachment 1 to this report.

2.
Refers the development of a Food System Action Plan 2020-2025, that integrates with the Moreland Health and Wellbeing Plan and Moreland Zero Carbon – 2040 Framework, to the 2020/2021 budget process.


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

The Moreland Food System Strategy 2017–2020 (MFSS) is aligned with, and strongly underpins, Council’s strategic objectives. MFSS actions contribute to the following key Council goals under:


Council Action Plan 2017–2021: 


Achieve higher levels of social cohesion for our multicultural, established and newly arrived community, by fostering opportunities for shared learning and celebration.


Increase community awareness and participation in environmental initiatives to reduce waste to landfill.


Moreland Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017–2021: 


Nutritious food is socially and economically accessible to everyone in the community and residents are eating nutritious foods.

Moreland is a cooler, greener and more sustainable city.

Moreland Zero Carbon – 2040 Framework:


Drastically reduce the amount of organics sent to landfill.


Collaborate to encourage adoption of low carbon plant-based diets.

2.
Background

In May 2017, Council adopted the MFSS and allocated $100,000 - $120,000 per year over 3 years, including the appointment of a 0.4EFT Council officer to collaborate with community groups and organisations to support the implementation of the strategy.

The MFSS is now in its final year of implementation and has provided the foundation and direction for several collaborations.

Highlights of 2018/19 include:


Strengthening of the Moreland Food System Network, expanding it by three new local food groups and several residents. A Moreland Food System Networking event was held, attended by over 50 residents, featuring the Council funded 3000acres ‘Moreland Grows’ home food garden exhibition;


Providing networking opportunities, governance advice and project funding which supported the development of partnerships between the Fawkner Food Bowls, Fawkner Bowls Club and the Fawkner Wholefoods Collective and between Fawkner Food Bowls and The Community Grocer. This has led to a significant growth in social membership at the Fawkner Bowls Club, and the diversification of groups and cultures involved in both the Fawkner Food Bowls and Fawkner Bowls Club;


Leading the design and consultation to establish the Merlynston Linear Park Orchard; providing funding and advice to help establish Warr Park Food Forest; providing guidance and advice to help establish the Renown Street Reserve Orchard (part of the Upfield Urban Forest);


Investigating and resolving of over 10 community-initiated food growing related requests, using the new Moreland Community Garden Assessment Tool and Guidelines to educate and guide community members.

Detailed achievements are outlined in Attachment 1.
3.
Issues

Environmental implications

Environmental principles are strongly embedded in food system projects and initiatives, helping to deliver the objectives under the Moreland Zero Carbon – 2040 Framework. 

An example of this is the implementation and support of community gardens help the Moreland community to recycle food waste effectively, improve soil health, harvest storm water and source fresh nutritious food with minimal or no transport emissions.

Social and economic implications

More projects and initiatives in Year Two of the MFSS have focused on delivering social and economic outcomes. 

An example of this is hosting a food micro-enterprise workshop, mapping the commercial kitchens in Moreland and investigating a pilot commercial kitchen hiring program. 
Regional/strategic implications

Council’s participation in the 2019 South Australia Urban Food Network local government forum highlighted the importance of sharing the Moreland Food System work with other Councils in Victoria and other states. Food Systems interlink with many councils’ strategic priority areas (such as climate change, biodiversity and waste) and, in the case of South Australia, is supported through the Natural Resources arm of the South Australian government. These offer insights which could help frame Council’s advocacy for food system changes to other levels of government in the future.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

Councillors were informed and consulted at Food System Strategy briefings on the following topics:


Response to Notice of Motion NOM45/18 - Bees in Moreland;


Progress of Year Two (2018/19) actions and outcomes;


Update on future priority actions and projects.

Food System Strategy actions and progress were discussed with community stakeholders at the Moreland Food System network event on 4 April 2019, and updates published to the Moreland Food Gardens Network in August 2018, January 2019 and May 2019.

Members of six community stakeholder groups were invited to provide feedback on Food System Strategy progress as part of a Monitoring and Evaluation Framework reflection workshop in March 2019.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

Food systems are complex and require time and resources to achieve sustainable and ongoing benefits. Council officers from a number of different Council areas and many committed community members, who are mostly volunteers, have contributed to the achievements of the first 2 years. 

The 2018/19 Food System budget was 80 percent expended, with $20,000 returned as savings. This amount was earmarked for community engagement and planting of the Wheatsheaf Hub orchard which was postponed due to non-alignment with the capital works schedule. 

To ensure sufficient time to coordinate and facilitate projects and partnerships with the community, the Food System Officer role has been increased from 0.4 to 0.8EFT (with a commensurate decrease in project funds). This will enable more of the outcomes sought for the strategy to be achieved in Year 3 within the approved 2019/20 budget of $120,000.

7.
Implementation

The third year of the MFSS will see the Food System Officer leading the project to undertake the Community Food Hub Feasibility Study in the North of Moreland (CAP item 2).

The Food System Officer will also consult with key internal stakeholders to understand the opportunities and priorities for 2019/20 and beyond.

The achievements and outcomes of community-based food system activities will be captured through an external stakeholder focus group.

The results of the internal and external consultation will inform a 2020/21 new initiative proposal for the development of a 2020-2025 Food System Action Plan/program that integrates effectively with the Moreland Health and Wellbeing Plan and Moreland Zero Carbon – 2040 Framework. 

Attachment/s

	1 
	Moreland Food System Strategy - Progress Report for 2018/2019
	D19/366248
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DCI18/19
Moreland Urban Forest Strategy 2017-2027 - Update Report (D19/357303)

Director City Infrastructure
Open Space and Street Cleansing 
Executive Summary

Council adopted its Urban Forest Strategy (UFS) on 9 August 2017. The UFS vision is:

To promote and encourage the transformation of Moreland into a municipality where healthy trees and vegetation are a core part of the urban environment.

Significant work has been carried out since the adoption of the UFS to achieve the main goals and objectives.

This report is to update Council on the key initiatives that have been carried out over the past 2 years and are continuing.

It also describes developments at a State Government and regional level since Moreland was one of the first Victorian councils to adopt a strategy to promote and encourage healthy trees and vegetation in the urban environment.

The UFS action plan consists of 91 actions over short, medium and long-term timeframes, as well as ongoing actions. All short-term actions are either completed or are on track to be completed within the first three years as per the strategy, with ongoing actions also progressing.

Council is thus far meeting its tree planting target of 5,000 new trees annually across the municipality.
	Recommendation

That Council notes the actions and progress made towards the vision of the Urban Forest Strategy since its adoption in 2017. 


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

Moreland Urban Forest Strategy (UFS)

The UFS strategically guides Council’s policies and processes to increase and protects its urban forests and the visions is:

To promote and encourage the transformation of Moreland into a municipality where healthy trees and vegetation are a core part of the urban environment.

Council will achieve this vision for greening Moreland by nurturing a healthy, attractive and diverse urban forest that uses traditional and innovative greening solutions to double public realm canopy by 2030 to improve the health and wellbeing of current and future generations through meeting the following objectives:


Protect and enhance the urban forest in both the public and private realm;


Value the urban forest as a core element of our urban space;


Create a diverse urban forest of trees and other vegetation that will enhance urban ecology;


Maintain the health of the urban forest; 


Manage and mitigate urban forest risks; 


Monitor and review progress to measure success and best practice; 


Strengthen community custodianship and engagement of the urban forest.

The UFS also contributes to many other Council policies and strategies:


Moreland 2025 Community Vision;

Moreland Council Plan 2017-2021;

Moreland Strategic Statement and Structure Plans (Glenroy, Coburg and Brunswick);

Municipal Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021;

Moreland Open Space Strategy 2012-2022;

Moreland Street and Landscape Strategy 2012 (superseded by UFS)

WaterMap 2020;

Urban Heat Island Effect Action Plan 2016;

Zero Carbon Evolution Strategy 2014-2020;

Moreland Play Strategy 2016-2020;

Integrated Transport Strategy 2019;

Creek and Waterway Strategies and Guidelines (various).
2.
Background

Council adopted the UFS at the August 2017 Council meeting. The strategy has 91 actions, as outlined in Attachment 1, to be delivered over a 10-year period. Of these actions, 36 are ‘ongoing’ actions, meaning they will be ongoing throughout the life of the strategy. These may not necessarily have specific completion timeframes as they relate to business as usual activities or ongoing monitoring. There are also 36 ‘short term’ actions which are to be delivered within the first 3 years of the strategy. Of these, 17 have been completed with the remaining on track for completion within the 3-year timeframe.

The short-term actions that have been completed to date are summarised in the following table.

	Action Number
	Action
	Comment

	1.3
	Prepare, cost and introduce a tree planting program in and around parks, reserves, play spaces and pathways to provide a shady, sheltered environment
	Street tree planting program refined. Park planting program is not only part of the above, but also aligned with playground/park upgrade program

	1.7
	Develop and adopt TechNote for in-road at grade tree pits that are considered for all road projects
	Technote C100.06 and C100.07

	2.4.4
	Establish a working group to review a range of mechanisms and actions (such as planning scheme provisions, local law, educational, incentives and other) for protecting vegetation in the private realm, including cost and resourcing implications
	Working group established and investigating planning scheme protection for trees on private land relating to the feasibility study of Tree Bonds. Significant Tree Register work also initiated

	2.4.6
	Assess and review development impacts upon vegetation
	PD developed for Urban Forestry Officer and recruitment completed

	3.1.8
	Audit of Council's Pest and Weed Management Policy implementation including use of signage
	Completed with decision to phase Glyphosate products out over two years

	5.1
	Incorporate hazard abatement in to programmed and reactive vegetation maintenance programs including staff training
	Staff trained in reducing risk at the stage of maintenance of trees

	5.1.1
	Ensure tree risks are managed and programmed with corrective measures undertaken in responsible timeframes
	Tree management processes include that all trees are inspected every two years, with those in higher risk areas more frequently. Inspections also carried out upon resident request.

	5.1.2
	Determine Council’s legal maintenance responsibilities for the Urban Forest
	Worked with insurers to understand legal requirements around tree management

	5.1.3
	Ensure vegetation hygiene protocols are managed to best practice (ISO1400)
	Part of all maintenance practices

	5.1.6
	Adopt and implement transparent tree risk assessment procedures
	As per 5.1.1

	6.9
	Develop business case and Position Description for Greening Officer position
	As per 2.4.6

	7.2
	Produce a summary Urban Forest Strategy document
	Completed and available on Moreland website


	7.5
	Increase community opportunities to engage and connect with the urban forest
	Community planting days organised and advertised on web page. Worked with schools for tree planting events during National Tree Day.

	7.5.3
	Request a street tree program
	Request a street tree program is managed through general tree planting requests. Upon request, residents contacted to schedule timeframes for planting

	7.5.4
	Introduce community notification processes for street tree planting
	Streets notified when planting is to occur. Residents not wanting a tree have the option to ‘Opt Out’

	7.5.6
	Encourage neighbourhood nature strip plantings
	Revised Nature Strip Guidelines on web page

	7.5.7
	Review nature strip beautification guidelines with community groups
	Revised Nature Strip Guidelines on web page


At the adoption of the UFS, Council also provided additional funding of $500,000 (on top of existing allocated funding), to support the delivery of various goals of the UFS, primarily the target planting of 5,000 new trees a year. There was also a recognition that planting would need to take place in difficult sites along streetscapes, such as where concrete or asphalt cut-outs would be required and follow-up maintenance critical for establishment and survival. Council now invests in excess of $2,000,000 annually to tree planting and establishment.

3.
Issues

Over the past 2 years, there has been a lot of work carried out in relation to increasing, protecting and enhancing our urban forest, as well as collaborative approaches with other councils and government agencies to gain positive outcomes. The key work that has been performed over the past 2 years is described in further detail as follows. Each has been identified along with its aligned action/s as per the UFS action plan at Attachment 1.

Additional tree planting

When the UFS was adopted by Council (DCI41/17), a goal of planting 5,000 trees per year with adequate resources for planting within season and ongoing maintenance to best ensure survival was also set. This target has so far been successfully delivered as follows:

	Financial Year
	Total new trees planted

	2016/2017
	5,957

	2017/2018
	5,642

	2018/2019
	5,058


The same annual target is anticipated to be met in the current planting season. 

Mapping work is underway to determine current canopy coverage as well as survival rates of recent plantings within the municipality. Last month, the State Government’s Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) made available canopy and urban heat island spatial data from 2014 and 2018, after mapping and analysing vegetation, land use, and urban heat across Melbourne. This is a very valuable dataset that will enable Moreland to better understand canopy cover and the changes from 2014 to 2018. Analysis of this dataset is ongoing.

This information will be utilised to determine if the additional $500,000 allocated funding will be required past the initial allocation of 3 years at the time of the UFS adoption. 

Aligned Actions: 1.1.1 / 1.1.2 / 1.3 / 1.4 / 1.5 / 2.1 / 3.1.6 / 5.1 / 6.2 / 6.3
Improved maintenance and planting processes 

The additional $500,000 allocated at the time of the UFS adoption has been used to improve planting and maintenance practices. These practices are now measured using a tool called ‘Yardstick’ that measures processes across all open space service delivery areas and benchmarked against the industry. In 2017 Moreland’s practices were ranked at 51%, with this increasing to 61% in 2018. 2019 data is now being collected for assessment.

Aligned Action: 3.1.2

Road refurbishments and inroad plantings

Tree plantings have also occurred in harder to design/plant areas such as in-road and outstand areas. This is often aligned with Council’s roads resurfacing or reconstruction programs. In the case of Cumming Street, Brunswick West this year, residents also were involved in the planting. The street has been planted with alternating exotic Acer and native Corymbia tree species, giving it green all year-round, colour in autumn, as well as allow solar radiation in winter when half the trees are bare.

Aligned Actions: 1.1.1 / 1.1.2 / 1.3 / 1.4 / 1.5 / 3.1.2 / 3.1.6 / 6.3
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Photo: Cumming Street, Brunswick West before and after project

Tree pallet review

It was identified as part of the UFS work, that 70% of Councils tree stock was of the same plant family. This created a diversity issue and a risk of mass loss in the unlikely event of a pest/disease infestation. Tree pallets have now been reviewed to increase diversity within the stock planted throughout the municipality.

Aligned Actions: 1.1 / 4.2 / 5.1.5

Recruitment of Urban Forestry Officer

After the UFS was adopted, a full-time position of Urban Forestry Officer was created for an initial term of 2 years. This resource has been extremely beneficial in delivering on many of the actions of the UFS especially from a strategic perspective, to coordinate between different areas of Council and provide advice to Planning. An assessment will be carried out to determine the feasibility of this role to extend past the initial 2-year period.

Aligned Actions: 1.1 / 2.5 / 6.9

Assisting local schools at National Tree Day and education programs

The Urban Forestry Officer and other Open Space staff have been fostering better engagement and partnerships with local schools. For example, on 26 July 2019, Moreland Primary School students, Mayor Cr Natalie Abboud and Council staff got together to plant trees at Allard Park to celebrate National Tree Day. A hydrogen-powered car was also showcased.

Aligned Action: 4.1.3

Introduction of a General Local Law protecting mature and significant trees

In February 2018, new clause 2.5 was added to Moreland’s General Local Law and came into effect, to protect mature and significant trees on private land. One of its key measures is a Tree Works Permit, which is required if residents want to prune or remove mature trees on private property in Moreland. 

Aligned Action: 2.4

Tree Finder Tool 

Council identified a decline in tree canopy on private land as a key issue in the UFS. To help promote the intelligent selection of a canopy tree, Council developed an online Tree Finder tool to guide developers, architects and residents in selecting the most suitable tree species for a space. Council’s Planning staff also use the tool to check the trees specified in planning applications for medium and high-density development, against the list of recommended species. Each tree is given a star rating, which is based on the tree's environmental value, ecological benefits, pest and disease susceptibility, climate change adaptability, life expectancy and amenity value. 

Aligned Actions: 1.6 

Significant Tree Register

To recognise, celebrate and protect significant trees on privately owned land, Council has recently announced the establishment of a Significant Tree Register, to be referenced in the Moreland Planning Scheme. Residents and ratepayers have been invited to submit nominations for the register until 18 October 2019. Thereafter, nominations will be assessed by a qualified arborist, and if considered significant, will be recommended for protection in the planning scheme. 

Aligned Action: 2.4.3

Investigating Tree Bonds for tree protection 

Investigations are underway on the feasibility of introducing tree bonds for the protection of private trees. Councillors had an initial briefing in October 2018, with a report to be presented to Council in February 2020. A working group with Planning and Open Space has been initiated to determine whether planning scheme protections are better placed to protect trees in the private realm.

Aligned Actions: 2.4.3 / 2.4.4

Natural resource management and re-vegetation

Continued focus on improving, increasing and revegetating our creek and habitat corridors is occurring. Council invested an additional $100,000 to Natural Resource Management in 2017/2018.

Aligned Action: 4.1.3

Stormwater harvesting 

A focus on harvesting stormwater over the past few years has seen not only the installation of many rain gardens, but the construction of stormwater harvesting facilities. These have been constructed in Merri Creek Wetlands, Charles Mutton Reserve, Hosken Reserve and currently at Coburg City Oval.

Aligned Action:
 3.2.1

Biodiversity Strategy

Council will deliver its first Biodiversity Strategy this financial year, aimed at protecting and enhancing habitat for all flora and fauna within the municipality. This will align with the vision of the UFS.

Aligned Actions: 4.1.1, 4.1.2

Park Close to Home

With the adoption of the Park Close to Home framework in 2017, great outcomes have occurred in relation to purchase of land in identified gap areas throughout the municipality. Land has been purchased in Tinning Street Brunswick, West Street Brunswick, Frith Street Brunswick and Sydney Road Brunswick. This will help close open space gap areas with park development planned over the next two years, further extending the Urban Forest. 

Other land has been purchased in line with goals of the Moreland Open Space Strategy, in McBryde Street Fawkner, Outlook Drive Glenroy and Spry Street Coburg. This will further enhance and protect our creek lines and habitat corridors.

Aligned Action: 1.2

Phasing Out of Glyphosate

At the August 2019 Council meeting, Council adopted a phased approach to ceasing the use of glyphosate products by August 2021, due to ongoing community concerns of the product and recent negative publicity surrounding it.

Aligned Actions: 3.1.8

Westbreen Creek Conservation and Development Plan

The recent adoption of the Westbreen Creek Conservation and Development Plan in May 2019, also aims to improve greening outcomes along this key environmental corridor, linking to the Moonee Ponds Creek via an underground drain. This includes opportunities for new wetlands, park and play upgrades, new paths and targeted revegetation.

Metropolitan Urban Forest Strategy

Council has also been collaborating with the Nature Conservancy and Resilient Melbourne, as well as other state and local government agencies on the development of a Metropolitan Urban Forest Strategy titled ‘Living Melbourne: Our Metropolitan Urban Forest Strategy’. The Metropolitan Urban Forest Strategy was endorsed by Council in May 2019 and launched on 5 June 2019. It is a bold new strategy that aims to create a greener, more liveable Melbourne. It has been the cumulative result of over 2 years of collaboration, to develop the evidence base for a plan to greening the city. This Metropolitan Strategy certainly aligns with Moreland’s UFS.

Aligned Actions: 6.8

Chain of Ponds Collaboration/Creek greening

Council along with Moonee Valley City Council and 19 other agencies and community groups have jointly developed and endorsed the Chain of Ponds, an action plan for the Moonee Ponds Creek. It was adopted by Council in December 2018 and reimagines the Moonee Ponds Creek as a healthy, vibrant destination which supports native plants and animals, provides green space for leisure and recreation, and helps prevent flooding. Work has started on implementing Chain of Ponds, including: 


Recreational access and activation of the creek: Moreland Road to Hopetoun Avenue, Brunswick West;


Revegetation, access and drainage improvements, JP Fawkner, Oak Park;


Access improvements at Bass Street, Pascoe Vale;


Revegetation works at Kernan Street, Pascoe Vale;


Access improvements, Esslemont Reserve, Pascoe Vale;


Revegetation at Holbrook Reserve, Brunswick West;


Revegetation at Union Street Escarpment, Brunswick West.

Aligned Actions: 6.8

Greening the North 

‘Greening the West’ has been a highly successful regional initiative that was about enriching communities in Melbourne’s west through the development of green spaces. It involved a strategic alliance of western suburbs councils (including Brimbank, Hobsons Bay, Maribyrnong, Melton, Moonee Valley and Wyndham), City West Water, Parks Victoria, DELWP and many other State Government bodies. It has seen more than 1 million trees planted.
Taking a leaf out of the success of ‘Greening the West’, Moreland recently joined in a similar alliance of councils and potential State Government bodies in a new ‘Greening the North’ initiative. An initial meeting was held on 30 April 2019. This partnership is anticipated to be able to deliver additional funding for initiatives in the northern suburbs, to grow the urban forest even more.

Aligned Actions: 6.8

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

Advice was sought from officers across Council involved in the delivery of actions stemming from the UFS.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

Council currently invests in excess of $2,000,000 annually, to plant and establish new trees throughout the municipality. This includes the additional $500,000 that was allocated at the strategy’s adoption.

7.
Implementation

Actions aligned to the UFS will continue to be implemented in line with timelines in the document over its 10-year lifespan.
Attachment/s

	1 
	Urban Forest Strategy Implementation Program
	D19/366752
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DCD25/19
Human Rights Policy - Annual Report 2018-2019 (D19/342565)

Director Community Development
Community Wellbeing 
Executive Summary

Council adopted the Moreland Human Rights Policy 2016-2026 in 2016. Council made significant progress with actions from the Human Rights Implementation Plan over 2018/2019 and had a number of achievements including:


Implementation of the Social Cohesion Plan and project implementation, including the Moreland Democracy Lab, Social and Economic Participation in Glenroy and the Fawkner Social Cohesion Project;


Revision of the Traditional Owner Acknowledgement Statement in consultation with Wurundjeri Elders;


Paid work experience provided for a diverse group of local residents in partnership with the Brotherhood of St Laurence and Council’s Street Cleansing Unit;


A new Maternal Child Health initiative to connect local rainbow families; 


A partnership brokered by Council resulting in over $100,000 in funding between Merri Health and the Department of Social Services to deliver Strong and Resilient Communities Activities in Moreland;


Receipt of Victoria’s Multicultural Award for Excellence in the Government and Civic Leadership category in 2018 for Council’s work on Social Cohesion.

A Human Rights Policy Action Plan 2019-2021 has been developed and will be implemented through a coordinated internal working group. Implementation progress will be reported to, and monitored by, the Moreland Human Rights Advisory Committee and the associated working groups. 

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Notes the Human Rights Policy Achievements Report 2018/2019 at Attachment 1 to this report.

2.
Notes the Human Rights Policy Implementation Plan 2019-2021 at Attachment 2 to this report.


REPORT

 1.
Policy Context

Council adopted the Moreland Human Rights Policy 2016-2026 (the Human Rights Policy) in 2016. 

The Human Rights Policy aligns with the Victorian Human Rights Charter and recognises that a holistic approach is needed to address human rights issues and needs in Moreland.

A key strategic objective of the Moreland Council Plan 2017–2021 is a Connected Community. This means that Moreland’s residents feel a strong sense of connectedness with their community. Council welcomes people from a wide range of ethnic backgrounds and appreciate how this diversity enriches our lives. 

The Human Rights Policy also relates to the Moreland Council Plan 2017-2021 through a significant number of actions under all three strategic objectives including, but not limited to:


Social Cohesion Plan Development (C1a)


Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 (C2c)


Disability (C3c)


Moreland Early Years Strategy 2016-2020 (C4a)


Affordable Housing Policy Implementation (P1e)


Improved Community Engagement (R2a)


Protect Moreland’s Heritage (P1n)


Urban Design Referral Advice (P1o)

Regional/strategic development related to the Policy

The Advancing the Treaty Process with Aboriginal Victorians Act 2018 is Australia’s first ever treaty law. This will require a future Aboriginal Representative Body and the State to establish elements to support future treaty negotiations. This includes a treaty authority, treaty negotiation framework and a fund to support Aboriginal self-determination.

2.
Background

The Human Rights Policy represents Moreland’s first attempt to integrate Council’s various related social policy areas of work through a human rights lens.

The Human Rights Policy encompasses four priority outcome areas and five priority population cohorts:

Priority outcome areas:


Empowerment and participation;


Equitable and accessible services;


Accessible places and spaces;


Advocacy and leadership.

Priority groups:


Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities;


Migrant and refugee communities;


People living with disability;


Women;


LGBTQI communities.

The Human Rights Policy Action Plan provides details of specific actions and resources required to implement the Human Rights Policy and is reviewed on a bi‑annual basis. Progress on implementation of the Human Rights Policy is reported to Council annually in September.

The This Report presents the completion of the first bi-annual Human Rights Policy Action Plan 2016-2018, and the development of the next bi-annual Human Rights Policy Action Plan 2019-2021 at Attachment 2.

3.
Issues

Achievements 

Council made significant progress with actions in the Human Rights Policy over 2018/2019 and had a number of achievements including:


Implementation of the Social Cohesion Plan and project implementation, including the Moreland Democracy Lab, Social and Economic Participation in Glenroy and the Fawkner Social Cohesion Project;


Revision of the Traditional Owner Acknowledgement Statement in consultation with Wurundjeri Elders;


Paid work experience provided for a diverse group of local residents in partnership with the Brotherhood of St Laurence and Council’s Street Cleansing Unit;


A new Maternal Child Health initiative to connect local rainbow families; 


A partnership brokered by Council resulting in over $100,000 in funding between Merri Health and the Department of Social Services to deliver Strong and Resilient Communities Activities in Moreland;


Receipt of Victoria’s Multicultural Award for Excellence in the Government and Civic Leadership category in 2018 for Council’s work on Social Cohesion.

All achievements are listed in Attachment 1.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

The Human Rights Policy has been specifically designed to assist all areas of Council to genuinely meet Council’s human rights obligations. 

The policy implementation process ensures that Council engages with the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities in four main areas of our operation: elected Council; administration; community engagement and third-party interaction. 

4.
Consultation

Consultations have been undertaken in the lead up to the development of the priority areas contained in this report. 

In April and May 2019, the Reconciliation Working Group reviewed and prioritised actions specific to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and compiled a list of 20 actions. 

In July 2019, service delivery areas including Planning, Open Space, Maternal and Child Health, Early Years, Arts and Culture, Youth, Aged Services, Recreation and Leisure were consulted to identify priority actions.

In August 2019, members from the Reconciliation Working Group, Disability Working Group and the Human Rights Advisory Committee met and advised on joint priorities for the Human Rights Policy Implementation plan for the next 2 years.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

Actions identified in the Human Rights Policy Action Plan 2019-2021 will be funded from within existing resources. 

7.
Implementation

The Human Rights Policy Action Plan 2019-2021 will be implemented through a co-ordinated internal working group. 

Implementation progress will be reported to and monitored by the Moreland Human Rights Advisory Committee and the associated working groups namely the Moreland Reconciliation Working Group and Moreland Disability Working Group.
Attachment/s

	1 
	Achievements - Moreland Human Rights Policy - 2018/2019
	D19/354195
	

	2 
	Implementation Plan - Moreland Human Rights Policy 2019-2021
	D19/342950
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DCD26/19
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 - Year 2 Annual Review (D19/373535)

Director Community Development
Community Wellbeing 
Executive Summary

The Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan (MPHWP) 2017- 2021 is a whole-of-Council plan that outlines the strategic health and wellbeing priorities for the municipality. Section 26 (4) of the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 states that a Council must review its Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan annually and, if appropriate, amend the plan. 

The MPHWP Year 2 Annual Review at Attachment 1 shows the actions and achievements from October 2018 to October 2019 against the priorities for each outcome area of the MPHWP. These indicate good progress, with actions against all 86 priorities either completed or ongoing, providing a strong foundation for the remaining 2 years of the Plan.

In response to Council’s decision (NOM42/18) ‘Investigating the impacts of sugary drinks and options for Council to better respond’, a number of actions were included in Year 2 of the MPHWP to address this issue. Actions included the installation of drinking water fountains in appropriate open space and public realm locations.

Development of the Year 3 Action Plan will incorporate specific actions for addressing all priorities, with many ongoing actions as well as new actions to address emerging needs. 

	Officer Recommendation

That Council notes the Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 Year 2 Annual Review, at Attachment 1 to this report.




REPORT

1.
Policy Context

Section 26 (4) of the Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 (the Act) stipulates that: ‘


A Council must review its Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan annually and, if appropriate, amend the Plan.’

Monitoring the implementation of the Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan, Year Two Action Plan is Item 7 in the Council Action Plan 2019-2020.

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) requires Council to submit reports on an annual basis.

2.
Background

The Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan (MPHWP) 2017-2021 is a whole-of-Council plan that outlines the strategic health and wellbeing priorities for the municipality. It focuses on delivering long term health outcomes and informs directions of Council and partner organisations. The vision of the MPHWP is that Moreland is a healthy, liveable and sustainable city. 

The MPHWP identifies 86 priorities to guide Council’s work in public health and wellbeing, across 15 outcome areas and 2 themes: 


Healthy Communities;


Liveable Neighbourhoods. 

Each year, actions are set to guide work on the 86 priorities, with input from across Council. For Year 2, 119 actions have been progressed with all actions either completed or ongoing into Year Three, showing good progress in the implementation of the Plan (Attachment 2). 

Attachment 3 provides an illustration of the highlights from Year 2, with significant achievement in health and wellbeing outcomes across a broad range of initiatives that address the social determinants of health. 

The annual review provides an opportunity for Council to identify gaps, refine activity levels and discontinue or commence activities as required. This Year 2 review will inform action planning for Year 3, ensuring implementation of the plan continues to achieve identified health and wellbeing outcomes. 

3.
Issues

Notice of Motion NOM42/18

At the September 2018 Council meeting, Council resolved (NOM48/18) that: 

Council prepares a report on the progress of the implementation of the Moreland Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 with particular reference to: 


Current sugary drink consumption patterns within the municipality and any programs working to address these;


Consideration of additional strategies that directly address impacts of the promotion of sugary products and any levers available to Council which may lead to reducing the extent and impacts of their promotion and marketing, in line with Vic Health’s recommendations, and which lead to improved diets and healthier communities across the municipality; and


Identifies the relevant units and teams within Council that can further collaborate to address these particular dietary components of the strategy within the Moreland Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan.

In response to this decision, the following measures were undertaken in Year 2 of the MPHWP: 


Consideration of recent data from the Victorian Population Health Survey 2017, which shows that the proportion of Moreland’s adult population consuming sugar-sweetened soft drinks daily has decreased to 9.6% from 10.9% in 2014. This is consistent with the Victorian average, with Moreland showing slightly lower rates of consumption (Victoria 2017: 10.1%; 2014: 11.2%);


Healthy Communities Outcome 2 was changed to include: Nutritious food and water is socially and economically accessible to everyone in the community and residents are eating nutritious foods and choosing water as their main drink of choice;


Priority 7 was added to Outcome 2: Council will continue to install drinking water fountains in areas identified as appropriate within open spaces and the public realm;


Additional and ongoing actions in relation to Priority 7 will be progressed in Year 3, to ensure implementation incorporates best practice in achieving Healthy Communities Outcome 2;


Year 2 implemented actions included: 


A total of 10 drinking fountains were installed or upgraded in parks across the municipality. In addition, water fountains were installed in Saxon Lane and Mechanics Institute forecourt (Lead: Open Space; Urban Design).


In accordance with the Active Moreland Healthy Eating Policy, no sugary drinks were sold in any of Council’s leisure and aquatic centres (Lead: Aquatic and Leisure Services, YMCA).

Year 3 Action Plan 
The annual review provides an opportunity to identify actions that have not progressed or need refinement, and to develop actions in relation to emerging needs. All priorities have been progressed during Year 2 and are on track for achieving the 15 outcomes identified over the 4-year life of the Plan. 

Development of the Year 3 Action Plan will incorporate specific actions for addressing all priorities, with inputs from relevant departments and external partners where necessary. The Year 3 Action Plan will guide the implementation of all priorities, with many ongoing actions, as well as new actions to address emerging needs. 
Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

The MPHWP 2017-2021 holds the human rights of our citizens as a key principle in ensuring that all members of the population can participate in and benefit from health and wellbeing outcomes and is aligned with the Moreland Human Rights Policy. 

4.
Consultation

Advice was sought from officers across Council and external partners involved in the implementation of the Year 2 Action Plan. 

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

Any financial implications will need to be considered by relevant units and through annual budget processes. 

7.
Implementation

The next annual report will be submitted to Council in October 2020.

Attachment/s
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	Annual Review - Year 2 - MPHWP 2017-21
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	Progress Chart - Year 2 -MPHWP 2017-21
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	3 
	Year 2 Highlights - MPHWP 2017-21
	D19/374817
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DBT21/19
Governance Report - October 2019 - Cyclical Report (D19/375395)

Director Business Transformation
Corporate Governance 
Executive Summary

The Governance Report has been developed as a monthly standing report to Council to provide a single reporting mechanism for a range of statutory compliance, transparency and governance matters.

The Governance Report – October 2019 includes:


Reports from Committee to Council;


Assemblies of Councillors records;


Responses to On Notice items taken at the 11 September 2019 Council meeting;


Consideration of the Annual Report 2018-2019;


Appointment and authorisation to enforce the Planning and Environment Act 1987;


Proposed Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street Oversight Committee; 


Councillor Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy.

This report recommends that Council notes the Reports from Committee to Council, Records of Assemblies of Councillors and responses to On Notice Items and appoints and authorises officers under the Planning and Environment Act 1987. The report also recommends Council establishes an oversight committee for the redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick and adopts the Councillor Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Notes the reports from Committees to Council at Attachment 1 to this report and:

a)
Appoints Jonathan Khoo as a member of the Moreland Libraries Advisory Committee until July 2020.

2.
Notes the Records of Assemblies of Councillors held between 1 August and 31 August 2019, at Attachment 2 to this report. 

3.
Notes the responses to Question Time - On Notice items from the 11 September 2019 Council meeting, at Attachment 3 to this report.

4.
Considers and endorses the Annual Report 2018-19, at Attachment 4 to this report, notes it was submitted to the Minister for Local Government by the due date of 30 September 2019, and makes it available for the public in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989.

5.
In the exercise of the powers conferred by section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989:
a)
Appoints and authorises the Council staff referred to in the Instruments at Attachment 5 to this report, as set out in each instrument.

b)
Determines the instruments come into force immediately the common seal of Council is affixed to the instrument and remain in force until Council determines to vary or revoke. 

c)
Authorises the affixing of Council’s common seal.

6.
Establishes the Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick Oversight Committee and adopts the Terms of Reference, at Attachment 6 to this report; and

a)
Appoints the Mayor as chair, and Councillors _______________, __________________ and __________________ to the Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick Oversight Committee.

7.
Adopts the Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy for Councillors, at Attachment 7 to this report.


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

The appointment of Councillors to specific areas of responsibility and committees provides a framework for relationships between Councillors and the administration of Council and reporting back of these committees to Council is an important transparency mechanism. Council’s advisory committees have been established to provide advice to Council in regard to their area of focus.

Section 80A of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) sets out the context in which the Assembly of Councillors Records must be reported to Council. 

The Meeting Procedure Local Law 2018 provides for the Chairperson to take a question On Notice and a written response to be provided to the person, should the question require a detailed answer that is not available at the meeting.

Sections 131 to 134 of the Local Government Act 1989 outline the process and inclusions for the preparation and submission of Council’s annual report. This legislation is supported by the Local Government (planning and reporting) Regulations 2014 and the Better Practice Guide for Planning and Reporting published by Local Government Victoria.

Section 224 of the Act provides for the appointment of Authorised Officers for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of any Act, regulations or local laws which relate to the functions and powers of the Council.

Under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 Authorised Officers can only be appointed by Council as this act prohibits delegation of the power to appoint Authorised Officers.

Good governance includes accountability and transparency mechanisms for the management of conflicts of interests including perceived conflicts of interest. A Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy is an essential part of the conflict of interest framework.

2.
Background

The Governance Report has been developed as a standing monthly report to Council to provide a single reporting mechanism for a range of statutory compliance, transparency and governance matters.

In accordance with best practice and good governance principles, and to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Act, this report incorporates matters including reporting of advisory committees, records of Assemblies of Councillors, items relating to the delegation of Council powers, and policy and strategy reporting.

3.
Issues

Reports from Committee to Council 

A summary of the key issues discussed at the following meetings is provided at Attachment 1 for Council’s information:


Friends of Aileu Community Committee meeting – 23 July 2019; and


Moreland Library Advisory Committee – 13 August 2019.

Moreland Library Advisory Committee (MorLAC) – proposed new committee member

Following the resignation of committee member Kathleen Matthews-Ward, expressions of interest were sought, received and assessed for a replacement member to join the MorLAC. A preferred candidate was identified and met with the Unit Manager Library Services and Team Leader Glenroy and Fawkner Libraries. As there was not a quorum present at the 13 August 2019 MorLAC Meeting, an email poll was conducted. A majority of members of MorLAC endorsed Jonathan Khoo to be recommended to Council to be appointed to MorLAC.

Assemblies of Councillors

An Assembly of Councillors is a meeting of an advisory committee of the Council, if at least 1 Councillor is present, or a planned or scheduled meeting of at least half of the Councillors and 1 member of Council staff which considers matters that are intended or likely to be the subject of a decision of the Council or delegate.

Some examples include Councillor Briefings, meetings with residents/developers/ clients/organisations/government departments/statutory authorities and consultations. Councillors further requested that all Assembly of Councillors Records be kept for Urban Planning Briefing meetings, irrespective of the number of Councillors in attendance.

Records of Assemblies of Councillors and Planning Briefings held during the period 1 August to 31 August 2019 are presented at Attachment 2 for the following meetings:


Coburg Square Oversight Committee – 5 August, 21 August;


Joint meeting - Human Rights Advisory Committee, Reconciliation Working Group and Disability Working Group – 8 August; 


Councillor Briefing – 12 August, 19 August;


Moreland Arts Advisory Committee – 13 August;


Planning Briefing – 26 August.

On Notice Responses

At the 11 September 2019 Council meeting, 2 questions asked were taken On Notice during Public Question Time. In addition, as the time allowed for Public Question Time had elapsed, 8 remaining questions were also taken on notice: 


ON21/19 – Amendments C192 and C193 – A meeting has been arranged in accordance with the commitment made by the Mayor;


ON22/19 and 23/19 – Speed hump in John Street, Brunswick East;


ON24/19 – Signal House Munro Street.

A copy of Council’s responses is included at Attachment 3. 

Annual Report 2018-19

On 23 September 2019, Council endorsed in principle the draft Annual Report 2018-19 for submission to the Minister for Local Government by 30 September. In accordance with the Act, within 30 days of submitting an annual report to the Minister, a Council must consider its annual report at a meeting that is open to the public.

The Annual Report 2018-19 at Attachment 4 contains the audited Financial and Performance Statements and provides information on Council operations for the 2018/2019 financial year. The highlights of the year included:


The completion of Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Centre;


Increasing female friendly changerooms at sportsgrounds;


Purchasing property to create two new parks in Brunswick; 


Trialling a food organics, garden organics service and subsequently adopting this model for rollout across the whole municipality;


Commencing Wheatsheaf Community Hub. 

The Annual Report 2018-19 was prepared in accordance with the Act, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 and the Better Practice Guide for planning and reporting issued by Local Government Victoria.

Appointment and Authorisation to enforce the Planning and Environment Act 1987
The appointment of Authorised Officers facilitates the administration and enforcement of any Act, regulations or local laws which relate to the functions and powers of the Council. Authorisations are made to specific Council officers in accordance with their roles and responsibilities.

Under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 Authorised Officers can only be appointed by Council as this Act prohibits delegation of the power to appoint authorised officers.

The position description for Councils Urban Planners includes the objective:

To undertake such duties, in consultation with the Planning Coordinator, Unit Manager Urban Planning and Group Manager City Development, as are necessary to achieve compliance with the Moreland Planning Scheme, Planning and Environment Act and related legislation. 

Therefore, it is recommended that all urban planners are authorised to undertake planning enforcement work, rather than relying solely on Planning Enforcement staff. This requires authorisation under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 to comply with legislative requirements such as entry of land powers.

The Instruments of Appointment and Authorisation at Attachment 5 concern 10 Urban Planners.

Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick

Council is the owner of the former school at 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick. The site is currently being managed as Siteworks, a low cost and temporary community and creative facility, on behalf of Council. Council endorsed a strategic framework for site redevelopment in 2017 and a concept plan in 2018. In preparation for site redevelopment, it is recommended that Council forms an advisory committee, chaired by the Mayor with the membership comprising 3 Councillors, the Chief Executive Officer, Director Engagement and Partnerships and Manager Places and Major Partnership Projects. The Committee would have input on project delivery strategy in advance of any Council decisions and provide advice and guidance in relation to:


Development concepts and options for the 33 Saxon Street site and surrounding precinct;


Council’s minimum requirements for the 33 Saxon Street redevelopment; and


Any potential community engagement activities.

The proposed Terms of Reference for the Committee is included at Attachment 6.
Councillor Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy

The current Councillor Gifts and Hospitality was adopted by Council in 2016. A Gifts and Hospitality for Employees Policy was also last endorsed also in 2016.

A review has been completed of both policies to reflect up to date expectations of Councillors and Council staff, broaden the policies to incorporate benefits and ensure alignment between the two policies. 

The reviewed policy is proposed to be Called the Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy for Councillors (Attachment 7). The key changes include:


Lowering the threshold for ‘token gifts’ to $20;


Inclusion of a requirement to disclose (and record) all offers of gifts, benefits or hospitality;


Introduction of guiding principles;


Reference to integrity agencies;


Alignment to the Councillor Code of Conduct.

The updated Gifts Benefits and Hospitality Policy for Staff will be endorsed by the Chief Executive Officer.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

Advisory committees provide a valuable communication and consultation link between the organisation, Councillors, Council and the community.

Community consultation is a key element in the development of the Council Plan 2017-2021 which informs annual action plans and the items for reporting in the Annual Report.
5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

7.
Implementation

Governance activity, including reports of committees to Council, Assemblies of Councillors and On Notice items, will continue to be reported to Council monthly. 

Subject to Council’s decision:


The Instruments of Appointment and Authorisation will be duly executed;


The Annual Report 2018-19 and Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Policy for Councillors will be prepared for publication and made available on Council’s website.


Meetings of the Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street, Brunswick Oversight Committee will be arranged.

Attachment/s

	1 
	Reports of Committees to Council - October 2019
	D19/379155
	

	2 
	Assembly of Councillors Record - 1 August 2019 - 31 August 2019
	D19/362343
	

	3 
	On Notice responses - September Council meeting
	D19/385492
	

	4 
	Annual Report 2018-19
	D19/383541
	

	5 
	Instruments of Appointment and Authorisation - October 2019
	D19/383449
	

	6 
	Draft Terms of Reference - Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street Oversight Committee
	D19/379015
	

	7 
	Draft Gifts Benefits and Hospitality Policy for Councillors
	D19/184084
	


[image: image284.png]MINUTES FRIENDS OF AILEU COMMUNITY COMMITTEE
MEETING 23 JULY 2019 (D19/351009)

A report of the Friends of Aileu Community Committee meeting held on 23 July 2019 is
provided for Council’s information.

Key Items Discussed:

Condolence Motion: Gary Jungwirth, former Hume City councillor and mayor, who
passed away on 13 July, was influential in the founding of the Moreland-Hume East
Timor Partnership Project, and active supporter and participant in Friends of Aileu,
including making many personal visits to Timor-Leste and hosting numerous visitors to
Melbourne, while serving on the Community Committee in various capacities over the
last 20 years.

Delegation to Aileu, July 2019: Delegation members Cr Mark Riley, Hume councillor
Karen Sherry and the Project Officer highlighted key observations and activities
undertaken, including:

o The warm welcome and acknowledgment of the value of the friendship
relationship received from community members as well as from Timor-Leste
Government, Aileu Administration and partner non-government organisation
representatives

o The dedication and enthusiasm of all these parties to continuing the work
towards their political, social and economic development objectives

o Discussions with various partners on project progress with various friendship
activities and priorities for the future including the review and re-
commencement of the scholarship program and the proposed renewal of the
Friendship Agreement in 2020.

CERES Gilobal visit to Aileu, July 2019: The Project Officer reported on the
engagement, exchange and learning visit, the third in the last four years, which focussed
on local agriculture, school and community gardens and permaculture.

Aileu Municipal Secretary study tour in Melbourne, June 2019: The Project Officer
reported on Mrs Victoria’s study tour including:

o The strengthening of personal, professional and organisational connections,
and follow up plans to work on improving waste management in Aileu

o Acknowledgement of Glenyys and Graham Romanes who provided homestay
accommodation for Mrs Victoria.

Financial Report: Approval of updated budget and funding for several youth
development, environment, health and nutrition activities, and for collecting video
interviews of Aileu people as part of preparations to mark the 20" anniversary of the
Friendship Relationship in May 2020.

Upcoming Events and Activities: Trivia Quiz fundraiser (16 August) for the Aileu
scholarship program and a special committee meeting (8 October) to commence
strategic planning for the Friendship Relationship beyond 2020.

Committee Recommendation

There were no recommendations from Committee to Council.
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[image: image285.png]MORELAND LIBRARIES ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD 13 AUGUST 2019 (D19/346326)

A meeting of the Moreland Libraries Advisory Committee (the Committee) was scheduled for
13 August 2019. A quorum was not achieved. The members of the committee present
discussed:

Key Items Discussed:

¢ Committee recruitment - The Moreland Library Advisory Committee vacancy was
advertised on the library website and in print at Fawkner and Glenroy Libraries.

¢ General updates — Open House Melbourne, Review of Library opening hours, Be
Connected Grant

e Health and Wellbeing for Women Program being established for women at Coburg
Library.

Subsequent to the discussion, the individual members of the Committee were contacted to
seek endorsement of a proposed new member for the Committee. The members agreed by
email that the appointment of Johnathan Khoo should be recommended to Council.

Committee Recommendation

As the Committee did not meet, there is no committee recommendation. Committee
members endorse and officer recommendation that Johnathan Khoo be appointed to the
Moreland Libraries Advisory Committee.
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[image: image286.png]ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS RECORD

1 August 2019 to 31 August 2019

An Assembly of Councillors is a meeting of an advisory committee of the Council, if at least one Councillor is present, or a planned or
scheduled meeting of at least half of the Councillors and one member of Council staff which considers matters that are intended or

likely to be:

e the subject of a decision of the Council; or

e subject to the exercise of a function, duty or power of the Council that has been delegated to a person or committee.

Assembly of Councillors does not include a meeting of the Council, a special committee of the Council, an audit committee established
under section 139 of the Local Government Act a club, association, peak body, political party or other organisation.

Assembly Councillor Conflict of
N In Out Officer attendees Matters discussed interest
details attendees .
disclosures
In Attendance « Confidentiality obligations
The Coburg | Cr Abboud 6 pm 7.30 pm and conflict of interest
Initiative — Cr Martin 6.10 pm | 7.30 pm disclosures
Coburg Cr Tapinos 6 pm 7.30 pm e Terms of reference
Square . Grant Thorne revision
Oversight Apologies Arden Joseph |, propi .
Committee | Cr Irfanli Giovanna Savini | | Project consultation team Nl
Liz Nairn .
5 August Absent * New phase — option
2019 Nil exploration, key tasks,
deliverables and timelines
e Potential sale
methodology introduction
Joint meeting | In Attendance
of the: Cr Abboud 6 pm 8 pm
Human Rights | Cr Bolton 6 pm 7.15 pm Overview of achievements
Advisory Cr Riley 6 pm 8 pm from:
Committee ; L X
Apologies * Reconciliation working
Reconciliation | \; Nalika Peiris group
‘g::::")"g Absent Veronika Pradel | o  Disability working group )
Absemt Elissa McMillan e Human Rights Advisory Nil
Disability Nil May Haeder Committee
‘g°’k'“9 e Implementation plan -
roup September 2019 — 2021 —
8 August priorities, involvement and
2019 prioritised actions
In Attendance
Cr Abboud 6 pm 7.22 pm
Cr Carli Hannan | 6 pm 7.22 pm
Cr Dorney 6.22 pm | 7.22 pm
Cr Irfanli 6.15 pm | 7.22 pm
Cr Kavanagh 6 pm 7.22 pm
Councillor Cr Martin 6 pm 7.22 pm | Liz Rowlands
Briefin Cr Riley 6 pm 7.22 pm | Arden Joseph )
9 Cr Tapinos 6.51 pm | 7.22 pm | Grant Thorne ¢ LXRP Progression update
12 August Phil Priest and Coburg Square Nil
Leave of i
2019 Leave ot Sue Vuicevi e Council agenda
absence ue vujcevie discussion
Cr Davidson Joseph Tabacco
Greg Gale
Apologies
Cr Bolton
Cr Yildiz JP
Absent

Nil
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To:

Cc: David Atkins

Subject: John Street Speed Humps - Question Time
Date: Thursday, 26 September 2019 12:51:00 PM
Attachments:

Dear Mario Butera,

| refer to your question from the Council Meeting held on 11 September 2019 regarding the
relocation of the speed hump originally located at 38/42 John Street.

As you may understand, the relocation of a speed hump is a two part process, requiring the
removal and resurfacing of the original speed hump location and then followed by the
reconstruction of the speed hump at an alternative location. Council completed the removal of
the speed hump during the week of 22 October 2018 and has resurfaced the road at that
location. Council has begun the process to construct the Watts profile speed hump and is
currently undergoing a process to ensure the work area is clear to allow for the construction
works to occur.

The AustRoads standards covering the installation of traffic calming devices recommends speed
humps to be spaced at a maximum of 120metres to ensure they are effective in reducing
vehicles speeds in that stretch of road. Currently the spacing between the intersection and the
existing speed hump at 15 John Street is 170m, which exceeds the maximum spacing set out by
the standard. Furthermore, speed humps in local streets help in ensuring the designated speed
limits are adhered to. The VicRoads Safe System approach recommends that, where possible,
speed limit reductions be installed in conjunction with appropriate road infrastructure to assist in
ensuring that the speed limits are adhered to. The slower speeds not only reduce the risk of
vehicle crashes but also aid in deterring cut through traffic from using this section of John Street.
As such Council will proceed with the construction of a “Watts Profile” hump, 1.5m south of
where the southern splay of the vehicle crossing at 291 Edward Street meets the kerb.

If you require any further information regarding the above, please contact Councils Senior
Transport Engineer, David Atkins, on 9240 2479.

Zaki Benamar

Transport Team Lead | Strategic Transport & Compliance | Moreland City Council
90 Bell Street, Coburg 3058 | Locked Bag 10, Moreland 3058

03 9240 2293 | zbenamar@moreland.vic.gov.au





[image: image289.png]From: Zaki Benamar

To:

Cc: David Atkins

Subject: John Street Speed Humps - Question Time
Date: Thursday, 26 September 2019 12:53:00 PM
Attachments:

Dear Yvonne Butera,

| refer to your question from the Council Meeting held on 11 September 2019 regarding the
relocation of the speed hump originally located at 38/42 John Street.

As you may understand, the relocation of a speed hump is a two part process, requiring the
removal and resurfacing of the original speed hump location and then followed by the
reconstruction of the speed hump at an alternative location. Council completed the removal of
the speed hump during the week of 22 October 2018 and has resurfaced the road at that
location. Council has begun the process to construct the Watts profile speed hump and is
currently undergoing a process to ensure the work area is clear to allow for the construction
works to occur.

The AustRoads standards covering the installation of traffic calming devices recommends speed
humps to be spaced at a maximum of 120metres to ensure they are effective in reducing
vehicles speeds in that stretch of road. Currently the spacing between the intersection and the
existing speed hump at 15 John Street is 170m, which exceeds the maximum spacing set out by
the standard. Furthermore, speed humps in local streets help in ensuring the designated speed
limits are adhered to. The VicRoads Safe System approach recommends that, where possible,
speed limit reductions be installed in conjunction with appropriate road infrastructure to assist in
ensuring that the speed limits are adhered to. The slower speeds not only reduce the risk of
vehicle crashes but also aid in deterring cut through traffic from using this section of John Street.
As such Council will proceed with the construction of a “Watts Profile” hump, 1.5m south of
where the southern splay of the vehicle crossing at 291 Edward Street meets the kerb.

If you require any further information regarding the above, please contact Councils Senior
Transport Engineer, David Atkins, on 9240 2479.

Zaki Benamar

Transport Team Lead | Strategic Transport & Compliance | Moreland City Council
90 Bell Street, Coburg 3058 | Locked Bag 10, Moreland 3058

03 9240 2293 | zbenamar@moreland.vic.gov.au
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Moreland City Council Telephone: 9240 1111
Facsimile: 9240 1212

Doc. No.  D19/386254
Enq: Richard Tolliday
Tel: 9240 1167

Jack Amanatidis

Dear Jack,

Thank you for your recent question raised at the 11 September 2019 Council Meeting, which was
taken on notice by the Director Engagement & Partnerships, Joseph Tabacco.

At the meeting you asked, “Will Council consider an injunction to stop the demolition of the signal
house at Munro Street if the works contractor attempts to demolish prior to the Heritage Victoria
Decision?”

As a permit has been granted by Heritage Victoria for Permit Application P31530 providing Level
Crossing Removal Project legal permission to proceed with their proposed plans, Council
therefore has no basis to consider seeking an injunction.

However, Council officers have reviewed the provisions of the Heritage Act 2017 and spoken
directly with Heritage Victoria regarding what avenues there may be for appeal against the
decision to grant approval for the demolition of the signal box at Munro Street, which was
received by Council on 12 September 2019.

Council was referred to section 106 of the Heritage Act 2017 which provides clear direction on
the options for appeal and review of decisions, however this does not extend to a situation where
a permit is approved, only where a permit is refused. There may be provision for appeal for
approved decisions on the basis of an administrative error, however in this case there is no such
error to warrant this action by Council.

Officers are disappointed with the outcome but respect the decision of Heritage Victoria, noting
that both Council and the community were given the opportunity to provide a submission for
consideration in the process.

| hope this information is helpful. If you have further questions regarding this matter please don’t
hesitate to contact Richard Tolliday, Project Manager Major Projects on 9240 1167 or via email
rtolliday@moreland.vic.gov.au, who would be happy to assist you.

Yours sincerely

AL S

GIOVANNA SAVINI
Manager Places & Major Partnership Projects

26/9/2019
Moreland Language Link
S 92801910 &Y 92801918
ltaliano 92801911  FilliF 92800750
EMnviko. 92801912 Vsl 92800751
[ 92801913

Tiirkge 92801914 All other languages
Tiéng Viét 92801915 9280 1919
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Moreland City Council Annual Report
2018-19

Welcome

Moreland City Council is committed to accountability and transparent reporting to the community.

Our Annual Report 2018-19 is the primary way we communicate to our community about our
operations and performance for the financial year.

The annual report provides an update on the highlights and achievements originating from this plan
and addresses the challenges experienced throughout the year.

Our Council Plan 2017-21 is the guiding document for this annual report. The council plan describes our
strategic objectives in three focus areas and the key priorities implemented to achieve them.

If you would like to view the council plan, you can visit moreland.vic.gov.au, phone (03) 9240 1111, or
visit one of our Citizens Service Centres or libraries.

We also welcome your feedback on this annual report. You can contact us on (03) 9240 1111 or write
to us at Locked Bag 10, Moreland, Victoria 3058.

Our Customer Service Centres are open from 8.30 am to 5 pm, Monday to Friday.
e Moreland Civic Centre 90 Bell Street, Coburg
e Brunswick Customer Service Centre 233 Sydney Road, Brunswick

e Glenroy Customer Service Centre 796N Pascoe Vale Road, Glenroy




[image: image293.png]| 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Contents
Mayor’s message

Chief Executive Officer’s report

Description of our municipality....

Highlights of the year

Strategic Objective: Connected Community

Strategic Objective: Progressive City....

Strategic Objective: Responsible Council

Challenges and future outlook

Financial overview

Service delivery

Awards and citations

Community satisfaction..

Our council
Our people
Organisational structure.
Council staff.

Inclusive employment

Service awards.

Workplace relation:

Building our leadership capability

Corporate training

Occupational health, safety and risk.

Occupational health and safety (OHS)
OHS training 2018-19

Injury management

Injury management results

Employee health and wellbeing

Risk management

Our performance

Planning and accountability framework

Council Plan

Performance against our objectives

Performance statement

Certification of performance statement.

Independent auditor’s report for performance statement .. 112
Governance and management ..114
Council meetings. .. 114





[image: image294.png]| 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Major committees ...115

... 115

Special committees

Councillor expenses and allowances ...

Governance and management checklist .. 117

Statutory information

Financial Report.

...136

A plain English guide to the Financial Report.. .136
... 142

... 143

Certification of the Financial Statements...

Independent auditor’s report for the Financial Report ...





[image: image295.png]| 2018-19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Waryor's message

It has been a great year for Moreland City Council and a rewarding one for me as
Mayor of our fine city.

Thanks to the hard work of our Council officers and careful guidance from our 11
Councillors, we made many great achievements in 2018-19, but | would
particularly like to highlight Council’s work in the areas of sustainability,
community cohesion and how we engage with the community, areas that we are
very passionate about.

In September last year, Council acknowledged the climate emergency. For many
years, Council has been adapting our operations to fight climate change and help our community to do the
same. We are also continuing our journey to become a zero-carbon community by 2040. Acknowledging the
climate emergency shows the rest of Melbourne that we are taking the issue of climate change very
seriously and we want to help others to do the same.

We have set an ambitious target of sending zero waste to landfill across the municipality by 2030. If we
want to fight climate change, we need to make huge changes to the way we view waste — and fast. Council
has implemented new ways for the community to become more sustainable. We trialled a kerbside
collection of food and garden organics through the green waste bin in a small section of Moreland early in
2019. This was a great success, so we rolled out the collection service to the rest of Moreland from 1 July
2019. We endorsed our Plastic Wise Policy in April in a move towards eliminating single-use plastics from
within Council’s operations as well as at Council-run events. This is to address our concerns about the long-
term environmental damage that plastic is having on open spaces, waterways and the marine environment.

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy is an ambitious plan that will set Moreland up to help shift our
reliance on cars. It aims to create a Moreland that is liveable, sustainable, safe, healthy, accessible,
prosperous and equitable for all. Once this strategy is fully implemented, we will see fewer cars and less
gridlock in our activity centres, more sustainable forms of transport like walking and cycling increase and
public transport favoured over car travel. As Mayor, | opted to use an electric bicycle instead of a mayoral
car, and | look forward to seeing more people in Moreland making similar choices, where they can.

We are also making growing food easier than ever with the launch of our Community Food Growing
Assessment Guidelines. Moreland has more than a dozen community gardens, providing people without
backyards the opportunity to grow their own food and connect with our food supply. But one of my
favourite benefits of community gardens is how they nurture community cohesion. At Fawkner Food Bowls,
people are sharing their food and their recipes and older residents are teaching newcomers how to preserve
the legacy of Moreland’s fruit trees through grafting. Coburg’s Pentridge Community Garden is providing a
place for people living in apartments to grow food together and start friendships with their neighbours. This
is a brilliant way to build community and a key part of how we will protect our environment into the future.

Community cohesion is a vital part of building community and as part of that, Council has been focusing on
making sure people of all backgrounds feel at home within the many and varied groups and clubs that call
Moreland home. Moreland is now the first council in Victoria to have all sporting clubs who receive an
annual allocation to our facilities have female teams. This is a result of targeted policies but also face-to-face
support from our officers to help clubs recruit women and girls for their teams and committees. This focus
has seen the participation in sports by women and girls increase from 8 per cent in 2008 to 23 per cent in
2018. I am immensely proud of this statistic and hope other councils work quickly to follow our lead!

Improving the way we inform and engage with the community has also been a big part of the past 12
months. We have heard that the community wants better communication from Council and to be involved
much more in our decision-making. In response, we established a community reference group who worked
with us to develop our new Community Engagement and Public Participation Policy. Council has employed a
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Community Engagement and Public Participation Coordinator and purchased a new online community
consultation platform, which will include information about projects and opportunities for the community
to give feedback and get involved. It is the beginning of our journey, but we have established a solid
foundation and | am looking forward to continuing to improve the way Council works with the community.

We have achieved a lot this year, but there is plenty more to do. | encourage you all to get involved with
Council and your community, whether that be through our community reference groups, by speaking up for
your community when there is a need or giving your feedback on new ideas through our website. We are
one community, proudly diverse, and when we all work together, the sky is the limit.
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Chief Executive Officar’s repaort

The 2018-19 financial year has been a real triumph and has seen the delivery
of flagship projects such as the Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Centre and the
fruition of our signature suite of plans for Moreland’s liveable and sustainable
future.

The City of Moreland’s population is expected to reach 200,000 people in the
next few years, and by 2036 our city is projected to grow by an extra 43,000
people and 18,000 households.

Council spent much of the past 12 months enacting our vision to prepare our
community for this population growth. This includes ground-breaking strategies for transport, open space
and parks, housing and how to reach our zero carbon targets by 2040.

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy is one of Council’s most ambitious and forward-thinking plans
to date. Together with the Parking Implementation Plan, it aims to reduce traffic and congestion through
achieving a shift towards walking, cycling and public transport use.

Our A Park Close to Home plan is an exciting initiative to ensure that every resident in Moreland is within
walking distance of a park. During 2018-19, we announced two new parks would be built in Brunswick, one
in Tinning Street and one in West/Breese Street. We also bought another two parcels of land in Sydney Road
and Frith Street in Brunswick that will become new parks. Creating these new green spaces in the heart of
our most built-up areas is a once-in-a-generation opportunity and an outcome we are all very proud of at
Moreland. With so many people wanting to make their homes in Moreland, medium and high-density
development is inevitable, but Council is taking steps to encourage better and more sustainable buildings to
last our community well into the future. The Moreland Design Excellence Scorecard has established a
benchmark for design excellence, striving for the very best in building design and materials, environmentally
sustainable design, building accessibility and benefits to the community.

In September 2018, Council acknowledged that Moreland is in a state of climate emergency. We have a goal
of becoming a zero-carbon community by 2040 and our commitment to sustainability continues to see us
put our words into action: Council is part-owner of the Melbourne Renewable Energy Project, a windfarm in
regional Victoria that produces more than enough renewable energy to supply Council’s needs. It is the first
time that a group of Australian institutions has banded together to collectively purchase renewable energy,
and this makes me incredibly proud. We also completed a trial of collecting food and garden organics
through our green waste bins. This was a roaring success, so we are now in the process of rolling this out to
the rest of the municipality. This has the potential to divert up to half of our waste from landfill, instead
recycling our food scraps into compost to enrich soil on farms, in parks, school gardens and more.

Alongside these bigger future plans, Council has also delivered outstanding projects during 2018-19.

The $27.3 million Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Centre was opened with a splash in October 2018. The
redeveloped pool includes a 50m fitness pool, water play splash pool and learner’s pool, a 24-hour gym,
group fitness and two brand new waterslides. The pool is proving to be a drawcard for swimmers from right
across Moreland and beyond, and happily we were also able to keep the beloved elephant statue! This
project was entirely funded by Council while remaining within the State-Government-imposed rate cap, a
feat which we are fiercely proud of at Moreland.

Another momentous project that Council is making significant investment in is the Wheatsheaf Community
Hub. This $26.4 million centre will co-locate the Glenroy Library, kindergarten, maternal child health and
childcare services with a community health provider and neighbourhood learning opportunities. It will also
include a community garden and an upgrade to the adjoining Bridget Shortell Reserve. We moved into the
detailed design phase in 2018-19 and will tender the construction contract by the end of 2019. Itis a
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testament to Council’s continued savvy financial management that not only have we maintained service
levels under the rate cap, but we have established a funding pipeline to deliver these much-needed major
projects now and into the future.

At the same time that Council has been working on such ground-breaking and forward-thinking plans,
throughout the year we have continued to deliver high quality and reliable services. In the 2018-19 period,
our dedicated staff immunised 4181 children aged under five years, collected 44,531 tonnes of waste from
residential bins, constructed 18,236 square metres of concrete footpaths and loaned out 1,183,447 physical
and electronic materials including books, audio books and e-music. The enormity of the work that our staff
carry out every day is mind-boggling.

Moreland has a proud past and a promising future. It is in incredibly good hands with a highly talented
executive and leadership team and is well-positioned to deliver continued success in the years to come.
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Description of our municipality

Location

The City of Moreland is located between 4km and 14km north of central Melbourne and covers the inner
and mid-northern suburbs of Brunswick, Brunswick East, Brunswick West, Pascoe Vale, Pascoe Vale South,
Coburg, Coburg North, Hadfield, Fawkner, Glenroy, Oak Park and Gowanbrae. Small sections of Fitzroy
North and Tullamarine are also part of Moreland.

Population
Our population remained steady at around 136,000 between 1996 and 2001. Since 2001, it has increased
by approximately 46,000 or 34 per cent. In June 2018, our estimated resident population was 181,725.

Between 2011 and 2036 it is predicted we will see unprecedented population growth. It is anticipated
the municipality will grow by 48 per cent —from a population of 154,245 in 2011 to 228,425 in 2036.
The majority of this growth will occur by 2026, and the greatest proportion of growth will occur in
Brunswick and Brunswick East.?

Births
We have seen a dramatic increase in births, with more than 2000 babies born in Moreland each year
since 2005. In this financial year, 2727 babies were born in Moreland. ?

Cultural diversity
Our city is culturally and linguistically diverse, with residents speaking more than 140 different
languages at home.

In 2016, 34 per cent of residents were born overseas. Of those residents, 87 per cent were born in non-
English-speaking countries.

Apart from Australia, the main countries of birth of residents represent the traditional migrant groups from
Europe, including Italy, Greece and the United Kingdom, along with India, Pakistan, New Zealand and China.*

New arrivals are changing our cultural diversity and are now more likely to be born in Pakistan, India, Syria,
China, Nepal, the Philippines and Irag. ®

Age profile
Our median age is lower than the Greater Melbourne Area with a median age of 34 years, compared with 36
years for Melbourne.

Historically, Moreland has had a higher proportion of elderly residents than the Greater Melbourne Area.
However, in 2016 the proportion of people aged over 65 years has fallen to 13.8 per cent, slightly lower
than Greater Melbourne at 14.1 per cent. In contrast, Moreland has higher proportions of people aged 20
to 34 years (29.7 per cent compared with 23.7 per cent for Greater Melbourne).

There are smaller proportions of 5 to 14-year-olds and 55 to 64-year-olds relative to the Greater Melbourne
Area. The number and proportion aged 35 to 54 years has increased substantially over the past decade and
is now like the Greater Melbourne Area.®

Life expectancy

The life expectancy of our residents is similar to the Victorian average and is increasing. Women live longer
than men by approximately five years. The life expectancy of women born in Moreland between 2008 and
2011 is 84.4 years, compared to 79.1 years for men.”
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Education and occupation
The proportion of residents who have non-school qualifications has increased, with 47 per cent more
residents in 2011 having completed a non-school qualification than in 2001.

The proportion of managers and professionals has increased from 19 per cent in 1996 to 29 per cent in
2011, while the proportion of technicians and trades workers, labourers and sales workers has decreased.®

Local business and employment
In 2016, health care and social assistance businesses employed the largest number of people in Moreland,
with retail trade falling into second place, and education and training coming in third.?

Housing and families
In 2016, there were 67,167 private dwellings (including unoccupied dwellings), up from 63,302 in 2011.

The proportion of families with children decreased to 58.3 per cent of all family types in 2016, which is 5 per
cent less than the Greater Melbourne Area.

The proportion of households comprising of couples without children has remained stable over the past
three census periods, while the proportion of lone-person households has increased. Moreland had 27 per
cent lone-person households in 2016, which is 4 per cent more than the Greater Melbourne Area. Moreland
has a higher proportion of group households than Greater Melbourne (9 per cent compared with 5 per

cent).?®

Housing stock

In Moreland, 56 per cent of occupied private dwellings are separate houses, which is significantly below the
Greater Melbourne Area average of 68 per cent. This is due to the increase in flats, units, apartments and
semi-detached dwellings. We have a significantly higher proportion of these dwellings (43 per cent)
compared with the Greater Melbourne Area (31 per cent).'

Residential property prices have risen at a relatively fast rate over most of the past decade, especially
between 2007 and 2010, and then again in 2014 and 2015.

Following the rapid rise in house and unit prices, the median price for both houses and units fell in 2011 and
2012. However, since 2012 house and unit prices have been steadily increasing. Moreland’s highest recorded
median house price in 2017 was $893,000, while the median price for a unit increased to $515,000 in 2017.12

The property price data for 2018 was not available at the time of writing this report.

1 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Regional Population Growth, Australia (3218.0)
2 population projections for Moreland, ID Consulting 2017, http://forecast.id.com.au/moreland
3 Moreland Maternal and Child Health Database, 2019

42016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

5 Department of Immigration and Border Protection Settlement Reporting.

62016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

7 Victorian Population Health survey, 2015

#2011 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

92016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

10 2016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

112016 Census of Population and Housing, Australian Bureau of Statistics

12 A Guide to Property Values, Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

10
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Highlights of the year

A summary of our achievements has been divided into the three broad strategic objectives of the
Council Plan 2017-21.

Strategic Objective: Connected Community

Key Priorities:

1.

6.

(KP 1) Achieve higher levels of social cohesion for our multicultural, established and newly arrived
community, by fostering opportunities for shared learning and celebration.

(KP 2) Set a clear vision and strategy for aquatics, leisure and sporting facilities to meet ongoing
community needs.

(KP 3) Determine the best way for Moreland to continue supporting our community throughout,
and after Aged Care and NDIS reforms.

(KP 4) Enhance family and children’s services to meet the needs of Moreland’s growing population
and increasing birth rate.

(KP 5) Better equip our young people for employment and provide opportunities to actively
participate in civic life.

(KP 6) Help people feel safer in our neighbourhoods.

Achievements:

Council continues to foster social cohesion and pride through the Moreland Awards. The awards
thank and recognise the quiet achievers in Moreland, who give back to their community and inspire
their peers. (KP 1)

The Fawkner Food Bowls community garden is developed and established as a family-friendly place
to meet people, grow food, share gardening tips and relax. (KP 1)

In March, Council adopts the Library Services Strategy 2019-23, which outlines the priorities for
Moreland's library services for the next five years. (KP 1)

Moreland is the first council in Victoria to require all clubs who receive an annual allocation to our
sports grounds and facilities to have female teams. (KP 2)

Female-friendly change rooms at Hallam Reserve in Pascoe Vale and Dunstan Reserve in Brunswick
West are completed to better enable women and girls to participate in sport. (KP 2)

Moreland’s largest ever capital works project, the $27.3 million Oak Park Pool, is opened, complete
with two new waterslides and with a focus on accessibility to increase participation of people with
disabilities. (KP 2)

Council decides to continue providing Commonwealth Home Support Program services while it
continues to receive block funding, and Regional Assessment Services until the future operating and
funding model is determined. (KP 3)

An Older Persons Reference Group is developed for consultation in relation to the Living and Ageing
Well in Moreland Framework and Action Plan. (KP 3)

Playground upgrades are completed at Jacobs Reserve and Denzil Don Reserve in Brunswick West,
Hosken Reserve in Coburg North, Allard Park in Brunswick East and Austin Crescent/Gavin Park in
Pascoe Vale. (KP 4)

Council develops and consults with more than 2300 young people, local service organisations and
educators on a new youth strategy, Full Potential - A Strategy for Moreland's Young People. (KP 5)
Officers produce detailed design lighting plans for five sections of the Upfield shared path: Fawkner
Railway Station to Box Forest Road; Plaisted Street to Shorts Road; Spry Street to Bakers Road;
Rogers Street to O’Hea Street; and Renown Street to Batman Railway Station. (KP 6)

11
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Strategic Objective: Progressive City

Key Priorities:

1.

o N o

(KP1) Enhance liveability, affordability and sustainability by guiding growth, and excellence in urban
design and development.

(KP 2) Facilitate a demonstrable shift to more sustainable modes of transport that also targets a
long-term reduction in car use.

(KP 3) Support the local economy and trading environments to enhance economic activity and
promote local jobs.

(KP 4) Increase tree canopy cover, enhance existing open space and create at least two new parks, in
areas with the lowest access to open space.

(KP 5) Move to a proactive approach to managing construction impacts resulting from population
growth in our city.

(KP 6) Develop a clear and funded approach to achieve zero carbon emissions by 2040

(KP 7) Invest in the revitalisation of shopping and trading precincts.

(KP 8) Strengthen and invest in the significant creative sector in Moreland and enhance its standing
as a destination for the arts.

(KP 9) Enhance the environmental outcomes of Council waste services and increase community
awareness/participation in environmental initiatives to reduce waste to landfill.

Achievements:

The Virtual Moreland project is completed, allowing the public to view the City of Moreland as a 3D
map and better understand development opportunities and effects of planning proposals. This tool
aims to improve Council's decision-making process and put Moreland at the forefront of using
virtual reality for planning and consultation. (KP 1)

A trail-blazing Design Excellence Scorecard is adopted in February for a 12-month trial. The tool
seeks to establish a benchmark for design excellence, over and above the standard planning scheme
requirements. (KP 1)

Council continues its commitment to address affordable housing by appointing the first board of the
Moreland Affordable Housing Ltd. This board will identify a suitable site on Council-owned land for
an affordable housing development for Council approval. (KP 1)

The Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy (MITS) is endorsed in March. This ground-breaking
policy aims to facilitate a shift to more sustainable modes of transport and also targets a long-term
reduction in car use. (KP 2)

The Draft Parking Management Policy is endorsed in March, along with the Moreland Integrated
Transport Strategy. (KP 2)

Council continues to advocate to the State Government for the best possible outcomes for the
community for the level crossing removals. Council’s advocacy for two extra level crossings at
Munro Street and Reynard Street result in the Premier formally announcing their inclusion in June.
(kP 2)

A working group is established for the Brunswick Design District and Council continues to be
successful in supporting start-ups and entrepreneurs through the LaunchVic-funded Moreland
Converger program. (KP 3)

Council’s first long-term parklet is installed in March, hosted by the Grandview Hotel in Brunswick
West. Parklets are little parks built in car spaces for the community to meet and gather. A
temporary parklet is moved from Florence Street in Brunswick to Brunswick North Primary School in
Brunswick West. (KP 3)

Two new parks are announced in Brunswick as Council buys land as part of the A Park Close to
Home initiative. This plan aims to see everyone living in the City of Moreland within 500 metres
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walking distance of a park or open space, and within 300 metres for those living in the city’s busiest,
high-density areas. (KP 4)

e Council adopts the Cooling the Upfield Corridor Action Plan in October. The Upfield Corridor has
been identified as having some of the hottest surface temperatures within Moreland and this action
plan aims to minimise the surface temperatures of this area. (KP 4)

e New Year’s Day sees Council begin purchasing electricity equivalent to that needed for all of its
Council operations from the Crowland Wind Farm in north-west Victoria, as part of the Melbourne
Renewable Energy Project. Council is one of many partners in the project that built the 80-megawatt
wind farm near Ararat. (KP 6)

e More than 70 kilowatts (kW) of solar capacity is installed on rented buildings across Moreland.
Council’s Solar on Leased Facilities program includes West Coburg Bowling Club (20kW), Fawkner
Bowling Club (18kW), Lake Park Kindergarten (5.5kW), Dawson Street Child Care Centre (14.5kW)
and the Denzil Don Kindergarten (9kW). A total of 794kW of rooftop solar capacity is now installed
across Council facilities. (KP 6)

e Work on Streetscape Renewal Projects continues, with Holmes — Nicholson Shopping Strip
completed in October, construction started on the Bonwick Street Shopping Strip Upgrade in June
and concept designs finalised for Gaffney Village Shopping Strip. (KP 7)

e Fawkner Festa brings the community together for a day of music, entertainment, dancing and food.
(KP 8)

e The Coburg Night Market takes over Bridges Reserve in Coburg with tantalising street food, artisan
makers and local music and performances to create a vibrant market atmosphere in the lead-up to
Christmas. (KP 8)

e The Brunswick Music Festival is kicked off with the annual Sydney Road Street Party, offering a wide-
ranging program across streets, spaces and venues in Brunswick. (KP 8)

e The 1000-household Food Organics, Garden Organic (FOGO) trial is a huge success and Council
resolves to offer the service across the whole municipality from July 2019. The upgraded service
sees residents able to put food and garden organics into their green waste bin, diverting it from
landfill and allowing the matter to be turned into compost by Veolia. (KP 9)

e Council adopted the Waste and Litter Strategy in December and the Plastic Wise Policy in April. The
Plastic Wise Policy moves towards eliminating the use of single-use plastic within Council’s own
operations as well as at Council-run events.
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Strategic Objective: Responsible Council

Key Priorities:

(KP 1) Improve resident satisfaction to 90 per cent with Council’s performance in customer service.
(KP 2) Reach the top 25 per cent of all councils for improved community satisfaction with Council’s
engagement practices.

(KP 3) Maintain and match our infrastructure to community needs and population growth.

(KP 4) Provide transparent and effective governance of Council’s operations.

(KP 5) Operate without seeking an exemption from the rate cap through efficient use of Council’s
skills and financial resources.

(KP 6) Enable Council’s workforce to be mobile and accessible, supported by smart and efficient
technologies.

Achievements:

Council’s new Complaints Resolution Policy is finalised and delivers on requirements outlined in the
Victorian Ombudsman’s Councils and Complaints: A Good Practice Guide. (KP 1)

The Tree Finder Tool is launched on Council’s website, allowing the community to enter their needs
(for example, size of yard) and find out what trees are recommended for their space. (KP 1)

The new Community Engagement Policy and Framework is adopted in December, which will guide
and improve how Council engages with the community (KP 2)

Moreland’s 2019-20 Budget is announced, with an investment of $46 million in capital works to
maintain and improve the amenity of the city, while maintaining a focus on core services for the
Moreland community. (KP 3)

Council progresses the design of the Wheatsheaf Community Hub, which will create an integrated
hub in Glenroy with a focus on education, lifelong learning and health, combined with a district-level
open space. The planning permit is submitted in April. (KP 3)

Council endorses a concept plan for future development of the Saxon Street hub in Brunswick. The
short-term activation ‘Siteworks’ continues to be well-attended by a diverse range of community
members. (KP 3)

The Fleming Park ‘Refresh’ Master Plan is adopted for implementation over 12 years. (KP 3)

Council continues to refine its submission on the proposed Local Government Bill after gaining an
overview of the reform themes, key changes and key considerations at a ministerial briefing in June.
(KP 4)

Council identifies four projects for the Northern Region Collaborative Procurement Program and
saves more than 10 per cent as a result. This collaboration with other northern region councils also
allows for the employment of disadvantaged people from our municipality. (KP 5)

Mobile devices are now rolled out to 100 per cent of staff through Council’s IT strategy to help see a
more efficient use of time and money while addressing the need for business intelligence and
sustainable integration. (KP 6)

The Northern Melbourne Smart Cities Network is initiated in February with the new network to be
implemented in 2019-20. This network will allow Council to collect a range of new data from across
the municipality to improve processes and efficiencies, such as public bins that report when they are
full. (KP 6)
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Challenges and future outlook

Challenges
Growing population

In the next few years, Moreland’s population is expected to hit 200,000 and by 2036, the City of Moreland is
projected to grow by an extra 43,000 people and 18,000 households. The majority of the growth will occur
by 2026 and the greatest proportion of growth will occur in Brunswick and Brunswick East.

Council continues to plan for the increased need for more services and greater pressure on infrastructure
resulting from population growth through our strategies on transport, open space and parks, housing
availability and affordability and reaching our zero carbon targets by 2040.

Recycling

Like all Australian councils, Moreland is affected by China’s decision to impose stricter contamination
thresholds on the recyclables it receives for processing. Recycling now costs Council money per tonne to be
processed whereas previously Council received money for each tonne that was processed. However,
through Council’s partnership with Visy Recycling, no recycling material is going into landfill. Council’s new
Waste Strategy also aims to dramatically reduce household waste in the coming decade through initiatives
like the food and garden organics collection service and our plastic-wise policy.

Rate cap

The State Government-imposed rate cap continues to create financial pressure on Council with any rate
increase capped at 2.5 per cent for the next 12 months. Despite this constraint, we are determined to work
within this cap while maintaining and enhancing Council services.

Aged Care

Council is committed to supporting older residents to live and age well and will continue to deliver services
under the Commonwealth Home Support Program while we receive block funding. Council is anticipating a
change in mid-2020 to the way that assessment for aged care is conducted. It will be important for Council
to support residents through this change and to continue to support them to navigate the My Aged Care
system.

Reducing the harm of gambling

The harmful effects of gambling are a major challenge for Council and the community as a whole. We are at
the coalface, dealing with the financial and emotional harm that problem gambling creates. We will
continue to push for meaningful gambling reform through our partnership with the Alliance for Gambling
Reform.

Maintaining and increasing open space

With a growing population and an increase in dwelling numbers, it is vital that Council maintains and creates
open space. This is particularly challenging as we are an inner-metropolitan council with so much of our land
area already developed. Council has taken on this significant challenge by creating the A Park Close to Home
plan to proactively acquire land to create new parks in areas that need them most. In the past year, Council
has successfully purchased land to create four new parks in Brunswick. Council has also secured parcels of
land along the Merri Creek in Fawkner and at Outlook Drive in Glenroy to help maintain the open space we
already have.

Planning
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There is a disconnect between what Council is seeking in terms of good planning policy and what the State

Government is implementing across Victoria. This has created uncertainty for Moreland. Council continues
to work for the best possible planning outcomes for its community and advocating for genuine reform.
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Financial overview

The ‘Financial Report’ section in this report includes the comprehensive financial statements prepared in
accordance with relevant accounting standards and legislative requirements. These statements are detailed
and, as such, some stakeholders and community members may find them difficult to interpret. This
overview aims to simplify the pertinent information regarding our financial performance for the year.

Strategic Resource Plan

Council is guided by the principles of the Strategic Resource Plan for the period 2019 to 2024. This plan is
not intended to be static and is reviewed annually as part of our planning process and updated to reflect
changing circumstances.

The aim of the Strategic Resource Plan is to ensure that we can undertake our strategic and governance
role and to maintain and repair our infrastructure assets at the level expected by the community, while
continuing to deliver essential services.

Operating income — where did the money come from?

Total income for the year was $217.5 million. There was an overall decrease in income of $22.5 million (or
9.0 per cent) compared to that of 2017-18, largely due to $25.4 million in gifted assets in the 2017-18
financial year. Council’s major source of income, rates and charges, generated $151.5 million (or 69.7 per
cent of total income).

Other major sources of income other than rates and charges, includes government grants of $22.9 million
(or 10.5 per cent of total income) and user fees and statutory fees and fines of $20.0 million (or 9.2 per
cent of total income).

Operating expenses — how was the money spent?

Total operating expenses for the year were $193.6 million. The majority of total expense consists of
employee costs being $84.2 million (43.0 percent of total expenses) and material and services of $68.1
million (35.0 per cent of total expenses).

We are reporting an accounting surplus of $23.9 million for the financial year. It is, however, important to
note that this accounting surplus includes items that are either one-off or committed for capital
expenditure in future years.

Operating expenditure profile for 2018-19

[Operating Category Percentage
[Capital Works B1.1%
IAdministration 12.3%
|Asset Depreciation B.5%
IAged, Disability & Socials Services 5.3%
lLocal Laws & Regulations 5.2%
Parks & Street Trees 6.0%
aste Collection & Recycling U.4%
Planning & Economic Development 2.9%
[Arts, Culture & Libraries R.9%
[Systems & Communications B.0%
[Transport R.6%
Roads & Footpaths B.3%
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[Operating Category Percentage
ICustomer Service [.8%
Health & Immunisation L.7%
IAsset Maintenance R.2%
[Street Cleansing n.4%
outh and Children's Services [L.3%
IGovernance [1.9%
Recreation & Leisure R.3%
[Asset Management 0.5%
Property Services 0.4%
[Total [100.0%

Capital expenses

Total completed capital expenditure for the year was $94.0 million, with another $8.2 million in works in
progress. We continue to address our capital works program across a wide range of projects, with the total
completed capital work spend being $68.5 million above the depreciation for the year.

Top 20 major capital works by category delivered in 2018-19 include:

ICapital works category Amount
All land assets 540,131,702
Roads & carparks 168,972,267
Parks & reserves 56,852,531
IAquatic & leisure centres 156,429,749
Footpaths & bikepaths 63,511,162
Pavilion & sports clubs 163,004,556
ICoburg 2020 152,214,015
(Civic buildings 161,826,197
[Transport management 161,729,896
ICouncil fleet 161,484,288
Library collection 161,001,011
[Climate change 16990,100
Drainage 860,874
ICommunity use facilities 858,706
Buildings-general [795,079
Information technology [6664,957
ater quality 1$531,427
Public open space [6439,250
Public toilets 5269,832
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ICapital works category Amount

Furniture & fittings 201,100

Service delivery

Council is responsible for more than 150 services, from waste management to delivering meals, open space
to business development, and traffic regulation to supporting people in their homes. Council oversees the
planning permit process, animal registration, street cleaning, family and children’s services, planning for
appropriate development and ensuring accountability for our budget.

These services and infrastructure support the wellbeing and prosperity of our community. For more
information on our achievements to improve infrastructure and increase delivery of these services, and on
the challenges we faced, refer to the ‘Our Performance’ section in this report.

Awards and citations

e 2019 Aquatic and Recreation Victoria Awards
Winner — Marketing and Communications Award — Oak Park Aquatic and Leisure Centre.

e Victoria’s Multicultural Awards for Excellence
Winner — Government and Civic Leadership Award.

e Parks and Leisure Awards for Excellence
Winner — Parks and Leisure Awards for Excellence — Strategic Planning category for the “Allocation
and Use of Sporting Facilities Policy”.

* 2018 National Place Leaders Awards
Commendation — Siteworks, Brunswick.

e 2018 Australian Urban Design Awards
Shortlisted — Australian Urban Design Award — Leadership, Advocacy, and Research — City and
Regional Scale Category for the “Virtual Moreland” project.

e 2018 Premier’s Sustainability Awards
Winner — Premier’s Sustainability Award — Government Category for the Melbourne Renewable
Energy Project.

e 2018 Premier’s Sustainability Awards
Finalist — Premier’s Sustainability Award — Social Justice Category for the Cooling Communities
project.

Community satisfaction

We are committed to building and maintaining a vibrant and liveable city.

Every year we participate in a survey of local government services which aims to provide data so individual
councils can track the views of their residents over time. Twenty-two Council services were surveyed in
2019.
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Council’s satisfaction score for our overall performance is holding steady. Since the start of this council
term, the results have been 84 per cent (2017) and 90 per cent (2018) with our most recent results at 82
per cent (2019). The survey results can be compared as far back as 2013 when Council’s score was 86 per
cent.

Council continued to rate highly in 2019 for recreational facilities, libraries, and providing arts and cultural
opportunities with each receiving scores of above 90 per cent. Council also continued to perform well in
the areas of family support services, elderly support services and waste services with each receiving scores
of more than 85 per cent.

Our lowest satisfaction scores were for parking facilities (60 per cent), planning for population growth in
the area (59 per cent) and general town planning policy (63 per cent). These continue to be areas of
focus for Council.

Results from Council’s biannual Community Indicators Survey 2018 show continuing high levels of
perceived community wellbeing, with the vast majority (96 per cent) of our residents considering their
local area a good place to live.

As in previous years, a very high 94 per cent agreed that Moreland is a good place to raise a family. Eighty-
six per cent agreed that they can access a variety of recreation facilities and leisure activities, while 94 per
cent of respondents agreed with the statement, “You can get to know your neighbours”.

Ninety-four per cent of residents agreed with the statement, “Cultural diversity enriches local community
life”, and 95 per cent believed that people from different ethnic backgrounds are made welcome in their
neighbourhoods.

However, fewer than half of our residents agreed that Moreland is an affordable place to live,
dropping from 45 per cent in 2016 to 36 per cent in 2018.

The below provides the quantities of a selection of key services that we provide to our residents.

e Planning permit applications received: 1,235 (*as reported in the state-wide
planning permit activity report.)
Number of meals delivered: 82,180
Kilometres of streets swept: 41,706
Library loans: 1,183,447
Kids at Storytime, Rhyme Time and Toddler Time: 17,082
Trees planted: 5,058
Attendance at Active Moreland water safety and learn-to-swim programs:
163,581
Number of visits to outdoor aquatic facilities (incl. Oak Park): 218,522
Number of visits to outdoor aquatic facilities (incl. Oak Park) — just swim:
159,549
Number of visits to year-round aquatic and leisure facilities: 904,761
Dogs and cats registered: 14,267
Total attendance at Active Moreland facilities: 1,143,618
Active Moreland members: 8,455
Tonnes of garbage collected: 29,571
Tonnes of comingled recycling collected: 14,930
Tonnes of green waste collected: 7,771
Tonnes of hard waste collected: 3,402
Total number of immunisations
o under 5s: 4,181
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o high school students: 3,071
o adults: 913
e Visitors to our libraries: 670,500
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Our council
On 22 October 2016, our community elected 11 Councillors to represent them. These Councillors are elected
from three wards across our municipality: North-West Ward, North-East Ward and South Ward.

Our Councillors for the 2018-19 year were:

South Ward
Councillor Jess Dorney (sworn in December 2017)
Councillor Mark Riley
Councillor Lambros Tapinos
North-East Ward
Councillor Natalie Abboud
Councillor Sue Bolton
Councillor Annalivia Carli Hannan
Councillor Al Irfanli
North-West Ward
Councillor Helen Davidson
Councillor John Kavanagh
Councillor Dale Martin
Councillor Oscar Yildiz JP
Councillors

Our Councillors are elected by Moreland residents and ratepayers every four years to collectively
make decisions in the interests of the whole municipality. The next election is in October 2020.

Council elects the mayor and a deputy mayor each year. In October 2018, Council elected Cr Abboud
as Mayor and Cr Riley as Deputy Mayor. They will hold these offices until October 2019.

An essential part of the representative role that Councillors play is by participating in a range of
committees established by Council, peak body/sector associations, and local and regional forums.
They do this through their appointments and participation in a range of committees and groups
established by Council (advisory committees) and as Council’s appointed representative on external
groups and bodies.

Some Councillors also take the lead in particular areas of interest as the “Councillor Responsible For
and in this role they make sure key information is available to Council when making decisions in
these areas.

In December, all Councillors were appointed to the CEO Selection Review Panel. This panel was
dissolved in June and all Councillors were appointed to the newly established Employment Matters
Advisory Committee. All Councillors were also invited to attend the Communications Task Group
Meeting and Financial Review Briefing, both held monthly.
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Specific Councillors and responsibilities in 2018-19:

Mayor Natalie Abboud

Elected to Council in 2016, elected Deputy Mayor in 2017 (to October 2018) and elected Mayor in
October 2018.

Advisory Committees:

Coburg Advisory Group, Moreland Community Recognition Committee, Disability Working Group,
Coburg Square Oversight Committee

External Committees:

Merri Creek Management Committee (substitute), and Victorian Local Governance Association.
Councillor Responsible For:

Economic Development, Urban Planning and Status of Women.

M 0499 807 166
E nabboud@moreland.org.au

Deputy Mayor Mark Riley

Elected to Council in 2016 and elected Deputy Mayor in 2018 (October).

Advisory Committees:

Brunswick Advisory Group, Audit and Risk Management Committee, Moreland Housing Advisory
Committee, Moreland Community Recognition Committee, Moreland Arts Advisory Committee,
Moreland Transport Advisory Committee, Human Rights and Inclusion Committee, Reconciliation
Working Group.

External Committees:

Northern Alliance for Greenhouse Action Executive, Metropolitan Transport Forum.

Councillor Responsible For:

Accessible and Affordable Housing, Transport, Arts and Culture, Social Diversity, Multiculturalism and
Reconciliation.

M 0499 807 044
E mriley@moreland.org.au

Cr Sue Bolton

Elected to Council in 2012 and 2016.

Advisory Committees:

Coburg Advisory Group, Moreland Housing Advisory Committee, Reconciliation Working Group,
Disability Working Group.

Councillor Responsible For:

Accessible and Affordable Housing.

M 0417 583 664
E sbolton@moreland.org.au

Cr Annalivia Carli Hannan
Elected to Council in 2016.

Advisory Committees:

Coburg Advisory Group, Friends of Aileu Community Committee, Moreland Community Recognition
Committee, Family and Children Services Advisory Committee.

Councillor Responsible For:

Aged Services, Children.
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M 0499 807 095
E acarlihannan@moreland.org.au

Cr Helen Davidson

Elected to Council in 2012, 2016 and elected Mayor in 2016.

Advisory Committees:
Glenroy Advisory Group.
Councillor Responsible For:
Status of Women.

M 0403 709 948
E hdavidson@moreland.org.au

Cr Jess Dorney

Elected to Council in 2017.

Advisory Committees:

Sustainable Moreland Advisory Group, Brunswick Advisory Group, Financial Review Briefing.
External Committees:

CERES Committee of Management, Merri Creek Management Committee, Metropolitan Local
Governments Waste Forum.

Councillor Responsible For:

Sustainability, Climate Change and Water.

M 0419 560 055
E jdorney@moreland.org.au

Cr Ali Irfanli
Elected to Council in 2016.

Advisory Committees:

Audit and Risk Management Committee, Coburg Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee.
External Committees:

Moreland Energy Foundation Ltd Board.

M 0477 363 623
E airfanli@moreland.org.au

Cr John Kavanagh

Elected to Council in 2004, 2008, 2012 and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2011
and 2017 (to October 2018).

Advisory Committees:

Audit and Risk Management Committee, Glenroy Advisory Group, Family and Children Services
Advisory Committee, Moreland Community Recognition Committee.

Councillor Responsible For:

Children, Recreation and Leisure.

M 0427 550 935
E jkavanagh@moreland.org.au

Cr Dale Martin
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Elected to Council in 2016.

Advisory Committees:

Glenroy Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee, Moreland Community Recognition
Committee, Moreland Transport Advisory Committee, Moreland Libraries Advisory Committee, Youth
Facility and Services Steering Committee (Oxygen).

Councillor Responsible For:

Youth, Infrastructure.

M 0499 807 075
E dmartin@moreland.org.au

Cr Lambros Tapinos

Elected to Council in 2008, 2012 and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2008 and 2013.

Advisory Committees:

Brunswick Advisory Group, Coburg Square Oversight Committee.

External Committees:

Metropolitan Transport Forum, Municipal Association of Victoria (substitute).
Councillor Responsible For:

Transport, Recreation and Leisure.

M 0433 419 075
E [tapinos@moreland.org.au

Cr Oscar Yildiz JP

Elected to Council in 2008, 2012, and 2016 and elected Mayor in 2010, 2012 and 2014.

Advisory Committees:

Glenroy Advisory Group

External Committees:

Municipal Association of Victoria.
Councillor Responsible For:
Recreation and Leisure.

M 0413 850 357
E oyildiz@moreland.org.au
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Our people

Organisational structure

Chief Executive Officer, Nerina Di Lorenzo
Dr Nerina Di Lorenzo commenced as our Chief Executive Officer at the end of January 2015.

Nerina is a highly qualified local government executive, holding a Bachelor of Engineering, a Bachelor of
Business Administration and a PhD on implementing change in local government organisations. Her prior
roles include Director of Infrastructure at Wyndham City Council and Director of City Infrastructure at
Moreland City Council and she held a range of senior management roles in engineering and business
improvement. Prior to joining local government, Nerina was an offshore oil rig engineer.

Nerina grew up and was educated in Moreland. She concluded her role as CEO of Moreland City Council in
July 2019 to take up a position with Melbourne Water.

Director City Infrastructure, Grant Thorne

Grant Thorne commenced as Director City Infrastructure in February 2014. Grant has approximately 26
years of local government experience across rural, growth and metropolitan councils and holds a Bachelor
of Engineering, a Graduate Diploma of Management and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors. He took up the role of Acting CEO of Moreland City Council in July 2019.

Grant has gained experience across five local governments in his career, progressing from a graduate
engineer to senior management roles. Grant is responsible for the portfolios of open space design and
development, open space maintenance, street cleansing, roads, fleet, waste, engineering, asset
management, building maintenance, building projects, local laws, parking and animal management.

Director Community Development, Arden Joseph
Arden Joseph commenced as Director Social Development in July 2015. In 2018, after an organisational
restructure, this department was renamed Community Development.

Arden holds a Bachelor of Business (Public Administration) and has completed the Australian Institute of
Company Directors course. His prior executive-level experience is in local government and state
government. His previous local government directorship was at Maribyrnong City Council as Director of
Community Wellbeing and before this he held state government directorships at the departments of
Planning and Community Development, Sport and Recreation, Education and Training (Victorian
Qualifications Authority) and Employment. He has also served on several government boards and
committees and on community sector boards in a voluntary capacity.

Director Engagement and Partnerships, Joseph Tabacco

Joseph Tabacco started as Director Engagement and Partnerships in December 2018. Joseph has more than
20 years of diverse local government leadership experience across six municipal areas in metropolitan,
peri-urban and rural settings. He has managed portfolios including economic development,
communications, information technology, spatial systems, records management, strategic planning, urban
design, strategic property development, tourism and events, transport planning, traffic and drainage
engineering, environmental sustainability and municipal laws.

Joseph has also held several executive and non-executive director roles on boards throughout Victoria. He
holds a Diploma of Local Government (Governance and Administration) and a Bachelor of Business
(Marketing). He is currently responsible for advocacy, communications and marketing, community
engagement, customer experience, economic development, major partnership projects, place-making, and
urban renewal through strategic property projects.
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Director City Futures, Kirsten Coster

Kirsten first joined Moreland City Council in August 2009 as the Director Economic Development. During
her time as a director she has overseen a variety of areas including economic development, places, urban
design, strategic and urban planning, environmental sustainable development, building, and environmental
health services. Kirsten holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Planning) and a Masters of Business
(Marketing).

Prior to joining Moreland, Kirsten spent more than 20 years in local government across three councils,
before serving as a company director in the private sector for a national town planning and economic
development consultancy. She has held a number of executive and non-executive director roles on boards
in a voluntary capacity throughout her career.

Kirsten has a strong background in urban development and renewal, land-use strategies and major
projects, having worked in these fields in both the private and public sectors for nearly 30 years. Kirsten is
responsible for influencing development in the city and responding to population growth and
environmental change.

Kirsten took a year of leave from her role in August 2018 and returned as Director City Futures in August
2019.

Acting Director City Futures, Phillip Priest
Phil Priest was appointed to the role of Acting Director City Futures in December 2018. The City Futures
directorate includes three branches: City Development, City Change and City Strategy and Design.

The City Development Branch comprises the portfolios of urban planning, subdivision, environmental
health and building services and includes decision-making and compliance functions tasked with improving
the design quality, environmental performance and safety of development and land uses throughout
Moreland.

The City Change Branch comprises the portfolios of strategic transport, development advice and
environmentally sustainable design services including Council’s lead on the response to climate emergency
through waste, energy, water and transport initiatives.

The City Strategy and Design Branch leads the organisation’s research and strategy responsibilities,
strategic planning, affordable housing, community needs and urban design functions.

Phil has a strong background in the leadership of urban planning, land-use strategies, major projects,
heritage, urban design and other aspects of the built environment, having worked and led teams in these
fields for 30 years.

Director Business Transformation, Sue Vujcevic

Sue Vujcevic commenced as Director Business Transformation in December 2018. Sue has more than 20
years of local government leadership experience and holds a Bachelor of Applied Science in Planning and
Graduate Diploma in Geospatial Information. Her portfolio includes human resources operations,
organisational performance, corporate governance, information technology and records management.

Sue has led multi-disciplinary teams in a range of management portfolios including strategic planning,
environmental sustainability, heritage, urban design, geospatial information systems, research, and
economic development. Sue was also Acting Director Planning and Economic Development from August to
December in 2018.

Executive Manager Finance, Liz Rowland

Liz Rowland commenced in 2016 as Chief Financial Officer. From April 2018 she was the Acting Director
Corporate Services where she was responsible for the portfolios of customer service, communications,
finance, governance, property and information technology. Later in 2018 the organisation underwent a
restructure and Liz’s role changed to Executive Manager Finance, where she is currently responsible for the
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portfolios of finance operations, procurement, rates collection and valuations, and property. Liz holds a
Bachelor of Commerce (Professional Accounting) and a Bachelor of Arts (Psychology) and is a Certified
Practicing Accountant. Prior to joining Moreland City Council, Liz had worked for a state government
agency and in the telecommunications industry.

*Moreland City Council underwent an organisational restructure in the latter half of 2018 with the current
structure coming into effect from 3 December 2018.
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Inclusive employment

Council is proud to support our employees by facilitating flexible working arrangements that assist them to fulfil their
professional, personal and caring responsibilities. Support for parents returning to work following parental leave is high
with part-time and job-share arrangements accommodated in different areas of the organisation.

Work experience for secondary and tertiary students continued across a broad range of services including youth,
finance, information technology, recreation, environmental health, planning and libraries. Several traineeships and
apprenticeships were taken up in City Infrastructure, with a cadetship taken in City Futures.

This year our Indigenous Traineeship recipient was offered a formal Business Administration Certificate and practical
work experience.

Service awards

We formally acknowledged the contribution of our employees to Moreland City Council through the presentation of
service awards to 169 employees who celebrated five years or more in the organisation. Service award ceremonies are
held twice a year in both our operations and Civic Centre sites. In 2018-19, the celebrations included three employees
who have worked at Council for 40 years.

Workplace relations

Council successfully negotiated for the renewal of the Moreland City Council Enterprise Agreement which expired on 30
June 2018. Approval by Fair Work Australia of a new agreement was confirmed in March 2019. In developing the new
agreement to determine future working conditions for Council staff, negotiations were undertaken with
representatives from the Australian Services Union, Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation, and Professionals
Australia along with representatives of Council.

An organisational restructure was implemented on 3 December. This change was undertaken following extensive
consultation with Council staff and applicable unions between the months of September and November. The
restructure resulted in an increased number of departments (from four to five) along with the creation of the Finance
and Business Systems branch. This change resulted in significant organisational change, but there were no days lost
because of industrial activity.

Building our leadership capability

Great leaders are critical to driving a constructive culture throughout Council (aligned to the Moreland values) that
delivers high performance. In 2018-19, we focused on building capability, attracting and nurturing talent and further
developing our leaders and teams. Initiatives included:

* Investing in senior manager and executive assessment, and calibration to drive performance.

* Developing our leaders at all levels, turning our focus towards building the capabilities of our new leaders.

e Accelerating key talent through tailored on-the-job learning/career development and identifying key talent
(using set criteria, evidence-based and objective assessment criteria).

*  Working towards strong succession planning and investment in development opportunities.

* Implementing the new competency framework by aligning our leadership development opportunities to the
competencies and commencing embedding them into the whole recruitment and management life cycle.

¢ Ongoing investment in our culture improvement work.

* Delivering qualitative feedback for leaders to identify areas of strength and development.

* Developing a new human resources technology system to use data to track performance and leadership data,
and insights.

Leaders across the organisation participated in several development opportunities covering the following topics:
* Leadership (including programs such as adaptive leadership styles, Moreland-specific responsibilities,
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creating high-performing teams, maintaining relationships, systematic problem-solving, continuous
improvement, culture and strategic thinking)

e Recruitment and on-boarding

e Support and training for new and upcoming leaders

e Legislative requirements including fair process
e Participation in cross-council management programs enhancing inter-council relationships for current and

upcoming leaders.

Managers were also supported with additional coaching, mentoring and tailored team enhancement programs to

facilitate improved leadership across Council.

Corporate training

We are committed to investing in our employees through development and training opportunities and recognise that

building our internal capacity contributes to improving the performance of the organisation.

Category Courses run Attendees (instances)
Occupational Health and Safety 31 532

Leadership and Management 16 233

Business and Workplace Effectiveness 30 246

Compliance (face-to-face) 27 226

Compliance (online) 10 1139

Systems training 45 146

Total 159 2522
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Occupational health, safety and risk

Occupational health and safety (OHS)
Moreland City Council is committed to providing a healthy and safe environment for all employees, contractors, visitors
and members of the public.

We have developed and implemented a safety management system and programs. These actively promote and
improve the health, safety and wellbeing of all employees and, so far as is reasonably practicable, prevent workplace
injuries and illnesses.

We share health and safety information and consult with employees and other stakeholders about how to ensure we
have a safe workplace. This approach ensures that all our employees, contractors and visitors understand their duties
and cooperate with Council in its actions around workplace and community safety.

We are committed to continually improving our safety management system, programs and initiatives. This contributes
to positive safety culture and puts us in a good position to expand and develop our most valuable resource: Moreland
City Council employees.

Key safety initiatives undertaken during this year include:

e Conducting SafetyMAP Surveillance Audits in Recreation, Home Support, IT/Records, Places and Major
Partnerships, Arts and Culture.

e Safety and health-and-wellbeing coaching for managers, supervisors and coordinators.

e Developing an online incident reporting system.

OHS training 2018-19

Course Courses I.\ttendees
run (instances)

Asbestos Awareness Training 1 8
Contract Management Training 1 9
CPR Training 8 101
Emergency Fire Warden Training 4 70
First Aid Refresher 6 60
HSR Refresher Training 1 10
Manual Handling 7 38
Manual Handling Awareness Refresher Open Space 1 18
Noise Awareness 1 23
Occupational Violence Prevention Training 3 60
Safety and Wellbeing Essentials for Managers/Supervisors 1 7
(previously OHS, Risk and Injury Management Training)
Safe Work at Heights 1 12
Sun Smart Education Sessions 7 138
Traffic Management and Traffic Control 1 15

TOTAL 43 569

Injury management
Council takes the safety, health and wellbeing of our employees seriously.

Where an employee is injured at work, Council offers all staff access to an early intervention program, to
ensure that treatment to their injury starts as soon as reasonably practicable. When an employee submits a
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WorkCover claim, the claim is actively managed to ensure, as far as is practicable, an early, safe and
sustainable return to work.

There were 408 incidents reported during this year. The incidents represented 199 general incidents, 76 near misses,
80 motor vehicle incidents, 20 plant and equipment incidents and 33 hazards. There were 165 injuries represented
across the 408 incidents.

Council continues to provide a range of programs and targeted interventions to prevent injuries from occurring.
Ongoing initiatives include the early intervention program, manual handling task-specific training, ergonomic
assessments and a targeted health-and-wellbeing program.

Injury management results

Incidents reported (including injuries) 408
Injuries reported 165
Claims 17
Average claim cost $34,264
Days lost 438
Employees returned to work* 13

Staff who did not return to work** 4

*For return-to-work information, only time-lost claims have been included.
** The staff who did not return to work are no longer employed at Council.

Employee health and wellbeing
Our Health and Wellbeing Program is designed to support employees to manage their own health and wellbeing
through ongoing education programs and initiatives.

During the year, employees participated in bone density testing and a range of physical activity sessions at Coburg
Leisure Centre. We also delivered short seminars covering topics such as nutrition and breast health.

Risk management

Risk management continued to be embedded into the business practices and culture of the organisation. Council’s risk
management function transitioned into the Corporate Governance branch to better support the needs of the business.
This resulted in improved business decision-making, employee and community safety, planning, project management,
business resilience and procurement mitigating risk exposure for Council.

Reporting categories included:
e Monthly reporting of risk management to the Moreland Executive Group.
e Monthly Risk Management Committee meetings.
e Quarterly reporting on risk management to the Audit and Risk Committee.
e Quarterly review of strategic and operational risks.

Council’s Risk Management Policy and Framework were updated as part of continuous improvement and focused on
embedding enterprise risk management into Council’s business practices. This aimed to:

e Provide an improved risk-based approach to business decision-making.
e Assist in delivering the objectives of the council plan.
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Council has aligned its enterprise risk management program to the current ISO 31000 2018 risk management
guidelines. This will ensure that risk management remains a value creation, being integrated, structured and
comprehensive, customised, inclusive, dynamic, using the best available information, factoring human and culture and
continual improvement.

The Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy was updated, along with the Fraud and Corruption Control Plan and a Fraud
Risk Register, to ensure that Council employees act with integrity, accountability, impartiality, fairness, equity and
consistency, and in the public interest.

Risk Champions were appointed for each department to better support and embed risk management practices
throughout the business. Risk Champions also form part of the Risk Management Committee providing a valuable
resource for Council.

The Risk Management Committee was established through the updated Risk Management Policy, operating as a sub-
committee of the Moreland Executive Group. It is responsible for providing senior management with more detailed and
timely insight and understanding of the organisation’s key risks and controls.

Operational and strategic risks continue to be routinely reviewed thus ensuring that the performance of risk controls
remain effective and within Council’s risk appetite and tolerance levels. Council embarked on an enterprise risk
management software solution to capture its risks and performance management of those risks.

Council’s internal audit program undertook nine audits across the business aimed at providing assurance with
legislative and statutory compliance including business policies and procedures.

Annual corporate business resilience training was conducted to provide improved awareness and understanding of the
principles of business continuity. Business impact analyses of critical services were completed and business sub-plans
were updated. An online training and awareness e-learning module was developed which will be rolled out as part of
the 2019-20 business continuity continuous improvement program.

Council conducted a public tender for its insurance brokering service and insurance policy renewals. The tender
provided assurance that Council has obtained best value for its insurance program in a tightening and distressed global
market, and that the insurable risks are adequately insured with competitive pricing, policy offerings and overall
coverage limits. Statutory liability and workplace health and safety insurance policy was purchased, further building
upon recommendations of Council’s Insurable Risk Profiling and Insurable Gap Analysis undertaken in 2017.
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Certification of performance statement

In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Elizabeth Rowland, Certified Practising Accountant
Principal Accounting Officer

Dated: /7,7 /7

In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the Moreland City Council for the year ended
30 June 2019 presents fairly the results of council's performance in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in relation
to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the
performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting)
Regulations 2014 to certify this performance statement in its final form.

(gl Hbboud

Natalie Abboud

i

Mark Riley 5

Councillor

Dated: \\\ 0\\ \U\
oy

Grant Thorne

Chief Executive Officer (Acting)
Dated: i/ 7/19.
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Independent auditor’s report for performance statement

Independent Auditor’s Report

VAGO

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

To the Councillors of Moreland City Council

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Councillors'
responsibilities for the
performance
statement

Auditor's
responsibilities for the
audit of the
performance
statement

1 have audited the accompanying performance statement of Moreland City
Council(the council) which comprises the:

«  description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2019

«  sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2019

«  service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2019

« financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2019

«  otherinformation for the year ended 30 June 2019 (basis of
preparation)

. certification of the performance statement.

In my opinion, the performance statement presents fairly, in all material
respects, the performance of the council for the year ended 30 June 2019, in
accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989.

1 have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. | further
describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Performance Statement section
of my report.

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and |
are independent of the councilin accordance with the ethical requirements of
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of
the performance statement in Victoria. My staff and | have also fulfiled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

I believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my opinion.

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the performance statement in accordance with the
performance reporting requirements of the Local Government Act 1989, and
for such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation and fair presentation of the statement of performance that is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility i to express an opinion
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance

Level 31 /35 Collins Strest, Melbourne Vic 3000
T 038601 7000  enquiries@auditvic.govou www.auditvic.gov.au
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Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material i,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this performance
statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance
Engagements, | exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

©  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
performance statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

«  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the council's internal control

«  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
performance statement, including the disclosures, and whether the
performance statement represents the underlying events and results in
2 manner that achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including,
any significant deficiencies in internal control that | identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE Il yvelidis
18 September 2019 as delegote for the Auditor-Génesbl of Victoria
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Governance and management

Moreland City Council derives its power, role, purpose and functions from the Victorian constitution and
the Local Government Act 1989.

Council meetings

Decisions on issues affecting the community are made at Council meetings, where community
members can observe the decision-making process.

Council began live-streaming Council meetings in 2015 to allow people to watch and listen to the meeting
proceedings in real time online. This option offers greater access to Council decision-making and debate
and encourages openness and transparency. The number of people watching the meetings online (both
live and the recordings) continues to steadily increase.

In June 2018, Council revoked the delegation and dissolved its Urban Planning Committee. Council decided
that, considering the significance of planning and development in Moreland, planning and related matters
would be considered at Council meetings specifically scheduled to consider planning matters, rather than
by a special committee. Since that time, Council has one meeting each month that is designated as a
Council meeting for planning and related matters. This is called a Planning and Related Matters meeting.

Council met 31 times during the reporting period. A Councillor may seek approval from Council to take
leave of absence during the year. A meeting not attended during a Councillor’s leave of absence is
subtracted from the possible number of meetings a Councillor could have attended. If a Councillor has
submitted an apology or been absent at a meeting, it is deducted from the number of meetings attended
only.

Councillor attendance at 31 Council meetings in 2018-19

Cr Natalie Abboud (approved leave of absence — 1 meeting) 30/30
Cr Sue Bolton 29/31
Cr Annalivia Carli Hannan (approved leave of absence - 8

meetings) 22/23
Cr Helen Davidson (approved leave of absence — 3 meetings) 26/28
Cr Jess Dorney (approved leave of absence — 2 meetings) 25/29
Cr Ali Irfanli (approved leave of absence — 2 meetings) 25/29
Cr John Kavanagh (approved leave of absence — 2 meetings) 27/29
Cr Dale Martin (approved leave of absence — 1 meeting) 30/30
Cr Mark Riley (approved leave of absence — 5 meetings) 26/26
Cr Lambros Tapinos (approved leave of absence — 3 meetings) 27/28
Cr Oscar Yildiz JP (approved leave of absence — 3 meetings) 23/28
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Major committees

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee acts as an advisory committee to Council and is consistent with
the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and good corporate governance generally.

The purpose of the committee is to provide a forum for communication between Council and senior
management, finance, risk and compliance managers, internal auditors and external auditors. The
committee also assists us in our oversight responsibilities by monitoring, reviewing and advising on:

e External reporting (including financial reporting)

e External and internal auditing

e Internal control and risk oversight and management
e Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

e Fraud (including corruption)

e Related-party transactions

e Performance reporting

The committee operates under a charter that was reviewed during the year and endorsed by Council on 13
February.

The committee consists of seven members: an independent chair, John Watson; three independent
members, Craig Burke, Joelle Tabone and Oliver Webb; and three Councillors. Oliver’s term expired
during the year resulting in a vacancy on the committee that will be filled in July 2019.

Councillors John Kavanagh, Natalie Abboud and Annalivia Carli Hannan were Councillor members for the
September 2018 meeting. At the November 2018 Council meeting, Councillors Kavanagh, Mark Riley and
Ali Irfanli were appointed as Councillor members for the 2018-19 mayoral year.

The committee met four times during the 12-month period.

Special committees

There were no special committees established by Council operating in 2018-19.

Councillor expenses and allowances

Expenses
Councillors are provided with resources and support to undertake their duties, so that they can serve,
engage and act in the community's best interests.

Council may make available or pay for resources or reimburse claims for out-of-pocket expenses.

The Victorian Government sets minimum levels of civic and resource support for Councillors in a Policy
Statement on Local Government Mayoral and Councillor Allowances and Resources. Our Councillor
Support and Reimbursement Policy also governs the level of expense and resources support provided.
During 2018-19 the policies relating to Councillor support and expenses were reviewed and consolidated
into a single, updated Councillor Support, Expenses and Resources Policy.

Councillor expenses are published quarterly on our website.

Councillor expenses for the 2018-19 year were:
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Travel |Child Conferences |Mileage |Mobile & |Events |Copying Totals
/Family /Training Data /Stationery
Care
Cr Abboud - $6,999.00 - $1,300.88 | - $183.78 $10,219.80
$1,736.14
Cr Bolton $56.00 - - - $2,333.14 |- - $2,389.14
Cr Carli $84.72 - - - $1,300.88 | - - $1,385.60
Hannan
Cr Davidson | - - - - $1,337.18 |- - $1,337.18
CrDorney | $1687.72 - $12,105.80 | - $1,385.48 | - - $15,179.00
Cr Irfanli $1157.53| - $1,239.00 - $1,300.88 | - - $3,697.41
Cr $374.83 |- - - $1,300.88 |- $27.30 $1,703.01
Kavanagh
Cr Martin - - - - $1,300.88 | - - $1,300.88
Cr Riley - $1,428.90 - $1,300.88 | $660.00 | $27.30 $5,266.47
$1,849.39
Cr Tapinos | $411.72 | - - - $1,300.88 | $195.00 | - $1,907.60
CrYildiz $924.86 |- $1,099.00 - $1,300.88 | $195.00 | $480.00 $3,999.74
Allowances

The Mayor and Councillors are entitled to receive an allowance while performing their duty as an

elected official.

The Local Government Act 1989 regulates the allowance payable to mayors and councillors in Victoria.
Council is required to review the allowance levels by 30 June in the year following a general election and
the allowance level determined will remain in effect for the full term of the Council, unless a further
review is conducted. Following the election in 2016, Council reviewed the Mayor and Councillor
allowances and set them at the top of the range for a Category 3 council, in light of the complexity of the
issues to be determined by Council and the significant expectations on Councillors.

Allowances are subject to annual automatic adjustments that are announced in the Victoria Government
Gazette by the Minister for Local Government. The last adjustment made by the Minister came into
effect on 1 December 2018.

The allowances paid to our Mayor and Councillors are:

Allowance Superannuation Total
Guarantee (9.5%)
Mayor $98,465 $9,354.18 $107,819.18
Councillors $30,827 $2,928.57 $33,755.57

Councillor Code of Conduct

The Councillor Code of Conduct is available on our website and was reviewed and adopted on 12 June.
The code sets out how Councillors interact and work with the community, Councillor colleagues and
Council staff.
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Governance and management checklist

Results of Council’s assessment against the prescribed governance and management checklist:

1. Community engagement policy (policy

with the community on matters of public
interest)

2. Community engagement guidelines

and how to engage with the community)

126 of the Act outlining the financial and

the next four financial years)

Act setting out the services to be provided

12 months and the funding and other
resources required)

key infrastructure asset classes for at least
the next 10 years)

6. Rating strategy (strategy setting out the
charges)

7. Risk policy (policy outlining Council's
risks to Council's operations)

8. Fraud policy (policy outlining Council's
risk of fraud)

9. Municipal emergency management plan
(plan under section 20 of the Emergency

outlining Council's commitment to engaging

(guidelines to assist staff to determine when

3. Strategic resource plan (plan under section

non-financial resources required for at least

4. Annual budget (plan under section 130 of the

and initiatives to be undertaken over the next

5. Asset management plans (plans that set out
the asset maintenance and renewal needs for

rating structure of Council to levy rates and

commitment and approach to minimising the

commitment and approach to minimising the

Current policy in operation

Current guidelines in
operation

Plan adopted in accordance
with section 126 of the Act

Budget adopted in accordance
with section 130 of the Act

Current plans in operation

Current strategy in operation

Current policy in operation

Current policy in operation

Prepared and maintained in
accordance with section 20 of

YES: 12/12/2018

YES: 12/12/2018

YES: 24/06/2019

YES: 24/06/2019

NO:

Road Asset
Management Plan —
covering 50% of the

value of Council non-
land assets — has been
developed.

Asset management
plans for remaining key
asset classes are in
development.

YES: 24/06/2019

YES: 27/03/2019

YES: 26/03/2019

YES: 08/01/2019
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10.

il

12

13.

14,

15.

16.

17

Management Act 1986 for emergency
prevention, response and recovery)

Procurement policy (policy under section
186A of the Local Government Act 1989
outlining the matters, practices and
procedures that will apply to all purchases of
goods, services and works)

Business continuity plan (plan setting out the
actions that will be taken to ensure that key
services continue to operate in the event of a
disaster)

Disaster recovery plan (plan setting out the
actions that will be undertaken to recover
and restore business capability in the event
of a disaster)

Risk management framework (framework
outlining Council's approach to managing
risks to the Council's operations)

Audit Committee (advisory committee of
Council under section 139 of the Act whose
role is to oversee the integrity of Council's
financial reporting, processes to manage risks
to the Council's operations and for
compliance with applicable legal, ethical, and
regulatory requirements)

Internal audit (independent accounting
professionals engaged by the Council to
provide analyses and recommendations
aimed at improving Council's governance, risk
and management controls)

Performance reporting framework (a set of
indicators measuring financial and non-
financial performance, including the
performance indicators referred to in section
131 of the Act)

Council plan reporting (report reviewing the
performance of the Council against the
Council Plan 2017-21, including the results in
relation to the strategic indicators, for the
first six months of the financial year)

the Emergency Management
Act 1986

Prepared and approved in
accordance with section 186A
of the Local Government Act

Current plan in operation,
with a new plan being
developed

Current plan in operation

Current framework in
operation

Committee established in
accordance with section 139
of the Act

Internal auditor engaged

Current framework in

operation

Current report

Yes: 12/06/2019

(review date: 12 June
2020)

YES: 24/07/2015

Reviewed on 31 March
2019

YES: 25/10/2017

Reviewed in April 2019
(version 12.8)

YES: 26/3/2019
Reviewed in February
2019.

YES: 13/02/2019

YES: Contracted to
1/09/2020

YES: 24/07/2017

YES: Annual Council
Action Plan

Q4 - prior year:
8/08/2018

Q1:14/11/2018
Q2:13/03/2019
Q3: 08/05/2019
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Q1 (2017-18 Financial

18. Financial reporting (quarterly statements to | Quarterly statements
Statements): Presented

Council under section 138 of the Act presented to Council in
comparing budgeted revenue and accordance with section 12/09/2018
expenditure with actual revenue and 138(1) of the Act

Q2 (September 2018):

expenditure) Presented 14/11/2018

Q3 (December 2018):
Presented 13/02/2019

Q4 (March 2019):
Presented 8/05/2019
19. Risk reporting (six-monthly reports of Reports prepared and YES:
o s . .
Is:(ra::glc;lskzto Council's operfatlons, Fhew . presented November 2018 and
ikelihood and consequences of occurring an March 2019
risk minimisation strategies)
20. Performance reporting (six-monthly reports Reports prepared and YES:

of indicators measuring the results against presented
financial and non-financial performance,
including performance indicators referred to
in section 131 of the Act)

Full-year results: (Post-

Auditor-General review

and approvals): August
2018

Half-year results and
quality control review of
non-financial postponed
until end of year, as per
agreement with VAGO:

22/05/18
21. Annual report (annual report under sections | Annual report considered at a YES: 27/09/2018
131, 132 and 133 of the Act to the meeting of Council in
community containing a report of operations | accordance with section 134
and audited financial performance of the Act
statements)
22. Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under Code of conduct reviewed in YES: 12/6/2019
section 76C of the Act setting out the conduct | accordance with section 76C
principles and the dispute resolution of the Act
processes to be followed by Councillors)
23. Delegations (a document setting out the Delegations reviewed in Ve
power_s, duties a.nd fun_ctions of Council and accordance with section 98(6) 20/04/2017
the Chief Executive Officer that have been of the Act (@ il to CEO)
delegated to members of staff) QUACIEEO
12/12/2018
(Council to members of
staff)
23/01/2019
(CEO to council staff)
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24. Meeting procedures (a local law governing Meeting procedures local law YES: 13/06/2018
the conduct of meetings of Council and made in accordance with
special committees) section 91(1) of the Act
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Statutory information

Victorian and Federal Government investigations

Council was not the subject of any Victorian or Federal Government investigations.

Documents available for public inspection

Council is committed to open and transparent governance in accordance with the Local Government Act
1989 (the Act) and the Local Government (General) Regulations 2015. The following documents are
available for public inspection at the Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg:

1

Details of overseas or interstate travel (other than interstate travel by land for fewer than
three days) undertaken in an official capacity by any Councillor or member of Council staff in
the previous 12 months, including:

a. name of Councillor or member of Council staff

b. dates on which the travel began and ended

c. destination of the travel

d. purpose of the travel, and

e. total cost to the Council of the travel, including accommodation costs.

Agendas and minutes of ordinary and special meetings held in the previous 12 months,
which are kept under Section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas and minutes relating
to a part of a meeting which was closed to members of the public under Section 89 of the
Act and are confidential information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act. These
agendas and minutes are also available on Council’s website.
Minutes of meetings of special committees established under Section 86 of the Act and held
in the previous 12 months, other than those minutes relating to a part of a meeting which
was closed to members of the public under Section 89 of the Act and are confidential
information within the meaning of Section 77(2) of the Act.

= Note there were no committees operating in 2018-19 that had been

established under Section 86 of the Act

Register of delegations kept under Sections 87(1) and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on
which the last review took place under Sections 86(6) and 98(6), respectively, of the Act.
Details of all leases involving land which were entered into by the Council as lessor, including
the lessee and the terms and the value of the lease.
Register maintained under Section 224(1A) of the Act of authorised officers appointed under
that Section.
Donations and grants made by the Council in the previous 12 months, including the names
of persons who or bodies that have received a donation or grant and the amount of each
donation or grant.

Inspection of these documents can be arranged by contacting the Unit Manager Governance and Civic
Protocols on 9240 1111.
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Best Value

In accordance with section 208G of the Local Government Act, at least once every year a Council must
report to its community on what it has done to ensure that it has given effect to the best value principles.
These require council services to:

Meet high quality and cost standards.

Be responsive to community needs.

Ensure high levels of accessibility.

Achieve continuous improvement in its operation.
Consult with the community on service levels.

® o0 oo

During 2018-19, Council continued to drive performance improvement and ensure our delivery on the best
value principles for the community.

1. Consultation and engagement framework

Driven by strong demand from the Moreland community for better communication and more involvement
with Council decision-making, Council is working on a fundamental rethink of community engagement and
public participation to improve how Council interacts with the community. With the valuable assistance of
a community reference group and the benefit of research and benchmarking, Council has reframed the
way it engages with community through a new Community Engagement and Public Participation in
Moreland Policy, adopted in December.

The policy commits Council to how it will realise the potential that community input brings to the city
through purposeful, respectful, inclusive, responsive and transparent working relationships. Community
members are partners in shaping the future of Moreland and ‘engagement’ is the term Council uses for the
activities in which Council works together with the community.

Implementation began with the formation of a small staff team focused on engagement, who introduced a
draft framework and staff capacity-building, which is currently being tested on four pilot projects. The full
implementation will take place across the next two financial years.

2. Annual service-planning and budgeting

The Annual Planning and Budgeting working group has continued this year and has reviewed and
streamlined the overall Council budgeting process to support the implementation of the Council plan and
service delivery initiatives. In February, Council introduced an online budget simulator to engage with the
community and ensure the budget would meet community expectations.

Council also held the first business initiation expo in June with positive results, aligning the organisation’s
internal services with Council’s external-facing services. The council planning and budgeting process was
delivered with support from a cross-organisational team.

A new service-planning approach was delivered this year to combine planning, delivery and monitoring of
Council’s service performance on a monthly basis, with stronger reporting to the executive leadership
team.

Council’s performance for the 2018-19 financial year was 95 per cent completion of its service plan actions,
up from 91 per cent for the 2017-18 financial year, and above the organisation KPI of 90 per cent.

3. Service reviews

During 2018-19, six Council services reviewed their way of working to ensure they provided best value in
the performance of their operations.

122




[image: image413.png]| 2018 - 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council
Environmental Health

Through an internal audit, opportunities were identified to make improvements to systems and processes
within the Environmental Health Unit. A review of processes was completed and a number of
improvements were implemented to streamline workflows, build a collaborative approach to regulation
enforcement and create detailed procedures to guide staff. In conjunction with this review, a plan was
developed to increase digitisation, including a move to electronic correspondence, eliminating the use of
paper files and the creation of online application lodgement.

Communications

Early in 2019, a review of the communications team was undertaken which resulted in a revised structure
to effectively facilitate a contemporary, integrated and engaging approach to Council’s

communications. This work followed on from Council’s establishment of the Engagement and Partnerships
Directorate in late 2018 to increase Council’s connectivity with the community it serves in proactive and
meaningful ways. The new Communications Unit aligns the functions and outputs of the communications
team to what the community satisfaction research results tells us that the Moreland community needs.

Some of the key communications requirements of Council going forward are:
* Improved and more visible information about Council’s activities and services.

* Improved ways for Council to engage with the diverse community of Moreland.

* Improved channels, including website and social media, for the community to easily access and engage
with Council information.

Construction management and enforcement

During 2018-19, the construction management team reviewed how they could minimise the impact of
development on the community during the building process, how community assets are protected and to
ensure that construction within Moreland across all levels is well-managed and undertaken within the
applicable laws and regulations. Results included an increased focus on improving compliance at all scales
of building, templates for use by builders and early discussions between builders and staff.

Noise complaint handling

Council investigated the management of noise complaints, which were growing due to the level of building
and development and higher density living, because Council has a requirement under the Public Health and
Wellbeing Act to investigate noise complaints. This work resulted in improved evidence-gathering support
for the community, including noise diaries and clearer information on how noise complaints work on
Council’s website. The allocation of noise-related complaints to the relevant Council team was also
improved.

Youth services

Moreland Youth Services is currently finalising a new strategic plan titled: Full Potential — A Strategy for
Moreland’s Young People (Draft), which was formally released for community review at the 12 June Council
meeting. The final draft will be returned for Council consideration at the September meeting.

A key component with the strategy project plan was to incorporate a service review to adjust resources to
best align with the new strategic direction and maximise outcomes for the community. The process has
been facilitated in partnership with an external consultancy firm and internal project working team. To
date, using an open and incremental approach, multiple workshops and one-on-one interviews have been
concluded with a preferred operating model identified and shared with youth services staff. The next stage
of the process is to adjust existing position descriptions and continue to engage with staff and plan for
transitions into the proposed operating model.
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Governance

Council’s governance unit provides support and advice across the organisation to ensure decision-making
processes are transparent and accountable, including supporting Council meetings and undertaking
statutory roles required by legislation such as Freedom of Information and privacy and data protection. The
unit provides support to the Mayor and Councillors and delivers civic events as well as guiding Council
officers in accessing legal services. To support the development of a more proactive support and advisory
service, the processes and structure of the unit were reviewed to determine how best to meet the needs of
the Mayor and Councillors, the community and staff. As a result of the review, some functions were
reallocated within the unit and a more robust structure was implemented to provide greater capacity to
identify opportunities to improve, lead development of good governance practice across the organisation
and provide strategic governance advice. This structure has the benefit of career progression opportunities
for staff and succession planning for the unit overall. The unit was also renamed Governance and Civic
Protocols.

4. Continuous improvement program

In 2018-19, Council continued to streamline and improve processes, leading to better outcomes for
customers and more efficient ways of working.

A large focus has been on continuing to shift manual, paper-based processes to online and digital
processes. This reduces time spent sorting paperwork and makes it easier for customers to access services.
These initiatives included work on our No Spray Register, valuation enquiries, Bpay for open space
payments and the mature trees process. The Environmental Health Unit has also recently implemented
online lodgement, registration and payment services, as well as improving internal systems and workflows.
The result is a much smoother process for customers.

A major change to how Council worked in 2018 was the implementation of the new finance system, NAV.
This streamlined a range of financial, procurement and billing processes, and saved a huge $300,000 per
year in maintenance and service costs. Council has also increased access to use of BPAY to increase
payment options for the community.

The libraries teams have been busy engaging with continuous improvement and looking for different ways
to improve customer experience at the library. These include reducing the number of touchpoints when
reserving items, improving the availability and ease of borrowing DVDs, making libraries more “pram-
friendly” and improving online sign-ups to make joining the library and accessing online services easier.

Council undertook several trials relating to household waste in Moreland, as part of efforts to create a
more sustainable city. The first was a trial of accepting food scraps through green waste bins, undertaken in
Pascoe Vale and Pascoe Vale South. These trials were very successful and will help reduce the amount of
waste going to landfill in the future. Council also trialled different ways of collecting waste at large
apartment buildings, testing different size bins and collection methods. Experimental trials such as these
help work out better ways of collecting waste, keeping streets cleaner and making the morning bin run
more efficient.

This year Council participated in the Better Approvals Project, which aims to make it easier for small
business to obtain all permits and supports they need to get started. The project is now in the testing phase
with real examples being trialled through a new process.

Finally the amenity and compliance teams streamlined a number of processes for parking and animal
management officers, resulting in a $200,000-a-year saving. Internal Pathway processes were also
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improved, helping track and coordinate planning compliance work, helping to ensure construction across
Moreland is safe and compliant.
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Freedom of Information

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) gives the community a legal right to access certain Council
documents.

The Act has four basic principles:

1. The public has a legal right of access to information.

2. Local governments are required to publish information concerning the documents they hold.

3. People may request that inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading information in
their personal records be amended.

4. People may appeal against a decision not to give access to the information or not to amend
a personal record.

Council responds to requests directly related to its operations. There were 45 FOI requests received in
2018-19 (compared with 60 FOI requests in 2017-18). Sometimes only parts of documents were released.
Where requests for documents were partially granted, the most common exemption reason was Section
33(1), which relates to the unreasonable disclosure of information relating to the personal affairs of any
person.

In accordance with the Act, Council has submitted its report on the operation of the Act for inclusion in
the annual report of the Freedom of Information Commissioner to Parliament.

Accessing Freedom of Information

Requests to access Freedom of Information must be in writing and accompanied by an application fee of
$28.90 (2018-19) or $29.60 (2019-20).

When a request for documents is received, a decision about the release of documents must be made within
30 days, unless an extension of time is agreed by the applicant. Where a decision is made to refuse or defer
access, the applicant is notified in writing of the reasons for the refusal and the procedures available to
appeal the decision.

More information about Freedom of Information can be found at foi.vic.gov.au and on Council’s
website.

The Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner reviewed two of Council’s decisions relating to
the release of documents in 2018-19. In one case, Council reassessed the request and response and
released some additional documents. The commissioner directed Council to release a copy of one
further document. The other matter is yet to be finalised.

Local laws

Council has two Local Laws:

The purpose of the General Local Law 2018 is to:

e promote a physical and social environment that is accessible and free from hazards to health, in
which the residents of and visitors to the municipality can enjoy a quality of life that meets the
general expectations of the community;

e protect the use of public places and control activities in, on or near them;

e provide for safety in public places;

e control, protect and conserve the environment and maintain the amenity of the municipality;

e provide for, control and manage the use of premises and vehicles in particular circumstances;

e regulate the number and manner of the keeping of animals;

e control, prevent and abate nuisances; and

e provide for the peace, order and good government of the municipality.

The objectives of the Meeting Procedure Local Law 2018 are to:
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e provide the procedures governing the conduct of Council meetings;

e provide for the election of the mayor and a deputy mayor;

e set the rules of behaviour for those participating in, or present at, Council meetings;

e provide for the appointment of Councillor office holders and assignments as members of
committees established by Council or as Council representatives to external committees and
organisations; and

e provide for the use of Council’s Common Seal.

Whistleblower legislation — protected disclosures

The purpose of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 is to encourage and facilitate disclosures of improper
conduct by Council officers or Councillors. The Act provides protection to whistleblowers who make
disclosures in accordance with the Act and establishes a system for the matters to be investigated and
rectifying action to be taken. As required by Section 58 of the Act, Council has developed disclosure
procedures, which can be found on Council’s website.

During the reporting period, there was one disclosure notified to the Independent Broad-based Anti-
corruption Commission (IBAC). The disclosure did not meet the threshold to be investigated as a protected
disclosure and was referred back to Council for investigation and resolution.

All correspondence, phone calls or emails from internal or external whistleblowers should be addressed to
Council’s Protected Disclosure Coordinator by email on jwatson@moreland.vic.gov.au or phone 9240 2387.

Information privacy policy

Council believes that the responsible handling of personal information is a key aspect of good democratic
governance and is committed to protecting every individual’s right to privacy. Accordingly, Council is
committed to full compliance with its obligations under the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 and the
Health Records Act 2001. Council complies with the information privacy principles and health privacy
principles contained in the Acts. Council’s privacy policy was reviewed and updated in 2018-19 and it
applies to all personal information collected or held by Council.

Council’s Information Privacy Policy and Health Records Policy applies to all Council employees,
Councillors and contractors to Council. Training and awareness sessions, local procedures and a policy
manual ensures personal information is protected and strong security frameworks around its use and
disclosure are provided.

Any person wishing to access their personal information should contact the area of Council that collected it.
If any person believes their personal information is inaccurate, incomplete or out of date, they may request
Council to correct the information. If someone feels aggrieved by the handling of their personal
information, they may make a complaint to Council’s Privacy Officer. The complaint is investigated and a
response is provided. Alternatively, any person may make a complaint to the Office of the Victorian
Information Commissioner.

During the reporting period, one complaint was referred to us by the commissioner and subsequently
resolved.

Contracts

During the year Council did not enter into any contracts valued at $150,000 or more for services or
$200,000 or more for works of a kind specified in section 186(5)(a) and (c) of the Act. Council also did not
enter into any other contracts valued at $150,000 or more for goods or services or $200,000 or more for
works without engaging in a competitive process.

During the year, Council received a state-wide exemption (which was granted to all councils in Victoria),
under Section 186 of the Local Government Act 1989, to extend recycling collection contracts to June
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2021, allowing Council to continue its existing contract. The exemption was granted by the Minister for
Local Government, The Honourable Adem Somyurek MP. The aim of this exemption was to assist in easing
the administrative burden on councils and to support Victoria’s recycling sector.

Disability access and inclusion plan

In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, Council has prepared the Disability Access and
Inclusion Plan 2016-20 and implemented the following initiatives in 2018-19:

Established the Moreland Disability Service Provider Network with more than 25 local disability
service providers. Council hosts and coordinates regular network meetings aimed at creating
networks, sharing information and building organisational capacity around improving disability
access and inclusion.

Supported Moreland Disability Working Group and convened and organised bi-monthly meetings.

Created a new Moreland Award category — Access and Inclusion — to recognise an outstanding
contribution by an individual or group in relation to access and inclusion for people with disability
in Moreland.

Provided support to relevant state and national campaigns and consultation affecting people with
disability, including the Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People
with Disability, level crossing removal projects, and the VicRoads Accessible Parking Permit
Scheme.

Through the MetroAccess Program, delivered the disability awareness workshop Inclusion in Action
for neighbourhood house staff. People with disability were employed to co-facilitate this
workshop.

Through partnership with building maintenance and sport and recreation teams, constructed an
accessible pathway to the Hadfield Tennis Club.

Supported the employment of a blind person on a short-term, part-time basis in the role of event
support officer. This person has now gained full-time, ongoing employment with a large disability
organisation.

Improved and expanded community access to hearing assistance devices (hearing loops). These are
now available throughout Moreland libraries and two neighbourhood houses. Library and
neighbourhood house staff have received hearing loop system training.

Delivered disability awareness information/training at four library staff forums.

International Day for People with Disability - organised inclusive art event in collaboration with
Newlands and East Coburg Community Houses (Open Studio) and the Brotherhood of St Lawrence.
Artwork from local people with disabilities was exhibited within the Brotherhood’s office in Coburg
and inclusive art workshops were held in the foyer.

Responded to more than 180 internal and external community consultations, enquiries and
complaints.

Domestic animal management
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In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994, Council prepares a domestic animal management plan
every four years, in consultation with the Victorian Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport
and Resources.

The Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-21 was endorsed by Council on 6 December 2017 and
submitted to the Department on 21 December 2017.

Key objectives within the plan include encouraging responsible pet ownership, educating the community
on topics related to animal management, increasing registration of domestic cats and dogs, ensuring
animal management officers have appropriate training, identifying dangerous, menacing and restricted
breed dogs in the municipality to ensure they are kept in accordance with the Act and relevant regulations,
minimising the risk of dog attacks and reducing the nuisance caused by cats and dogs.

Implementation of the plan has included reviewing the animal registration database, subsidising desexing
programs, promoting responsible pet ownership and developing a domestic animal business audit.

Food Act ministerial directions

In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required to publish a summary of any
ministerial directions received during the financial year in its annual report. Council did not receive any
ministerial directions during the financial year.

Road Management Act ministerial directions

In accordance with section 22 of the Road Management Act 2004, Council must publish a copy or summary
of any ministerial direction in its annual report. Council did not receive any ministerial directions during
2018-19.

Infrastructure and development contributions

Council introduced a Development Contributions Plan in 2015. In accordance with section 46GM and 46QD
of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, a Council that is a collecting agency must prepare and give a

report to the Minister for Planning on development contributions, including levies and works in kind.

For the 2018 — 19 year the following information about development contributions is disclosed (see over
page).
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Financial Report

A plain English guide to the Financial Report
Introduction

The Financial Report is a key report presented by Moreland City Council. It shows how Council performed
financially during the financial year and the overall position at the end of the financial year (30 June 2019).

Council’s report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. Particular terms required by the standards may not be familiar
to some readers. Further, Council is a not-for-profit organisation and some of the generally recognised
terms used in private-sector company reports are not appropriate to its reports.

Council is committed to accountability. It is in this context that a plain English guide has been
developed to assist readers to understand and analyse the Financial Report.
What is contained in the annual Financial Report?

The report has two main sections: the report and the notes. There are five statements and eight notes.
These are prepared by Council staff, audited by the Victorian Auditor-General, examined by Council’s Audit
Committee and then approved and adopted by Council.

The five statements are included in the first few pages of the report. They are the comprehensive
income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and
statement of capital works.

The notes detail Council’s accounting policies and the make-up of values contained in the statements.

Comprehensive income statement
The comprehensive income statement shows:

. the sources of Council’s revenue under various income headings, and
. the expenses incurred in running Council during the year.

The expenses relate only to the operations and do not include the cost associated with the purchase of
or the building of assets. While asset-purchase costs are not included in the expenses, there is an item
for depreciation. This amount is the value of the assets used up during the year.

The key figure to look at is the surplus or deficit of Council for the year. A surplus means that the revenue
was greater than the expenses and a deficit means that the expenses were greater than the revenue.

Balance sheet

The balance sheet is a snapshot of the financial position as at 30 June. It shows what Council owns as
assets and what it owes as liabilities. Towards the bottom of the balance sheet is a line showing net
assets. This is the net worth of Council, which has been built up over many years.

The assets and liabilities are separated into current and non-current. Current means those assets or
liabilities which will fall due in the next 12 months.

The components of the balance sheet are described here.

Current and non-current assets

. Cash and other financial assets include cash and investments, that is, cash held in the bank
and in petty cash and the market value of Council’s investments.

. Receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and others.

. Non-current financial assets represent the value of shares held by Council.
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. Investment property represents the value of property owned by Council as investment.

. Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of Council’s worth
and represents the value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment and so on,
which has been built up over many years.

Current and non-current liabilities

. Payables are those to who Council owes money as at 30 June.
. Provisions include accrued long service and annual leave owed to employees.
. Trust funds represent monies held in trust by Council.
. Loans represent Council’s outstanding borrowings.
Net assets

This term is used to describe the difference between the value of total assets and the value of total
liabilities. It represents the net worth of Council as at 30 June.

Total equity

This always equals net assets. It is made up of the following components:

. asset revaluation reserve is the difference between the previously recorded value of assets
and their current valuations,

. other reserves are allocations of the accumulated surplus to specific activities, and

. accumulated surplus is the value of all surpluses and deficits accumulated over time.

Statement of changes in equity

During the year, the value of total ratepayer’s equity as set out in the balance sheet changes. This
statement shows the values of such changes and how these changes arose. The main reasons for a change
in equity stem from:

. a surplus or deficit from operations for the year,
. the use of monies from Council’s reserves, and
. revaluation of the assets. This takes place on a regular basis and also occurs when existing

assets are taken up in the books for the first time.
Statement of cash flows

The cash flow statement summarises Council’s cash payments and cash receipts for the year. This
statement is presented according to a very specific accounting standard and needs some care in analysis.
The values may differ from those shown in the income statement as it is prepared on a cash accounting
basis and the income statement is prepared on an accrual basis.

Cash in this statement refers to bank deposits and other forms of highly liquid investments that can
readily be converted to cash, such as cash invested in term deposits or with funds managers.

Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, three main areas:

e Cash flows from operating activities:
o Receipts — all cash received into Council’s bank account from ratepayers and others
who owed money to Council. Receipts also include the interest earnings from
Council’s cash investments. It does not include the costs associated with the sale of
assets.
o Payments — all cash paid by Council from its bank account to staff, creditors and other
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persons. It does not include the costs associated with the creation of assets.
e Cash flows from investing activities
o This section shows the cash invested in the creation or purchase of property,
infrastructure, plant and equipment assets and the cash received from the sale of
these assets.
e Cash flows from financing activities
o This is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed funds are recorded.

The bottom line of the cash flow statement states the cash held at the end of the financial year. This shows
Council’s capacity to meet cash debts and other liabilities.

Statement of capital works

The statement of capital works details all amounts expended by Council on capital works. The statement
classifies the expenditure in line with Council’s asset classes.

It categorises capital works expenditure into renewal of assets, upgrading of assets, expansion of assets or
creating new assets. Each of these categories has a different impact on Council’s future costs.

Notes to the accounts

The notes are a very important and informative section of the report. The accounting standards are not
prescriptive in a lot of issues. Therefore, to enable the reader to understand the basis on which the values
shown in the statements are established it is necessary to provide details of Council’s accounting policies.
These are described throughout the notes as relevant.

Apart from the accounting policies, the notes also give details behind many of the summary figures
contained in the statements. The note numbers are shown beside the relevant items in the comprehensive
income statement, balance sheet, statement of cash flows and statement of capital works.

Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which cannot be incorporated into the statements, it is
shown in the notes.

Other notes include:

e the breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves and other assets,
e contingent liabilities, and
e transactions with persons related to Council.

The notes should be read at the same time as, and together with, the other parts of the Financial
Statements to get a clear picture of the accounts.

Statements by Principal Accounting Officer and Councillors

The certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person responsible for the financial
management of Council that, in her or his opinion, the financial statements have met all the statutory and
professional reporting requirements.

The certification of Councillors is made by two Councillors on behalf of Council that, in their opinion, the
Financial Statements present fairly the financial transactions of Council.

Auditor General’s report

The independent audit report provides the reader with an external and independent opinion on the financial
statements. It confirms that the financial report has been prepared in accordance with relevant legislation
and professional standards and that it represents a fair picture of Council’s financial affairs.
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Council’s main office

90 Bell Street Coburg, Victoria 3058
External auditor
Auditor-General of Victoria
Internal auditor

Crowe Horwath

Solicitors

Various

Bankers

Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Westpac Institutional Bank
Website address

moreland.vic.gov.au
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Certification of the Financial Statements

In my opinion the accompanying financialsatements have been prepared in accordance withthe Local Goverment Act 1989, the Local Goverment (Planning and
‘Reporting) Regulations 2014, Austalian Accounling Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

Eilzabelh Rowland, Cortiod Practising Accountant
Principal Accounting Officer

Date: ///{ September, 2019

Coburg

n our opinion the accompanying financial statements present faiy the financial transactions of Moreland City Counci for the year ended 30 June 2019 and the
financal posiion of the Counci as a tht date.

Asatthe date of signing, we are not aware of any Gicumstances which would render any particulars i th financial statements o be misleading orinaccurale.

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulatons 2014 10 ceriy the financial staements i their inal
form.

Nafko oo

Natalie Abboud
Mayor and Councillor

Date: ( ( September, 2019
Coburg

ol Bl

Deputy Mayor and Councillor

Date: N septemver, 2010
Cobug

Grant Thorme

Chiel Executive Officer (Acting)

Date: 1] september, 2019
Coburg

Page 1
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VAGO

Independent Auditor’s Report Victorian Auditor-General's Offica

To the Councillors of Moreland City Council

Opinion

Basis for
Opinion

Councillors”
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

I have audited the financial report of Moreland City Council (the council) which comprises.
the:

«  balance sheet asat 30 June 2019

«  comprehensive income statement for the year then ended

«  statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

«  statement of cash flows for the year then ended

«  statement of capital works for the year then ended

«  notesto the financial statements, including significant accounting poli
o centification of the financial statements.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the council as at 30 June 2019 and its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.

Ihave conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. | further describe my responsibilities under that Act and
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilites for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and | are
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
staff and | have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

I believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting nless it is inappropriate to do so.

Level 31 / 35 Collins Strees, Melbourne Vic 3000
T 038601 7000 enquiries@aucitvic.gov.ou www.audit vic.gov.au
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Auditor’s As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility s to express an opinion on the financial
responsibilities report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
fortheaudit  about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
of the financial  due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
report assurance is 2 high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
toinfluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, | exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

«  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  obtainan understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council's internal control

+  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors

«  conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the council's ability to continue s a going concen. If | conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
council to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

interal control that | identify during my audit.
MELBOURNE ghthan Kyvelidis
18 September 2019 05 delegate for the AuditorGenerol of Victoria
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Note 2019
$000

Income
Rates and charges 31 151,525
Statutory fees and fines 32 12,988
User fees 33 7013
Grants - operating 34 17,973
Grants - capital 34 4,933
Contributions - monetary 35 15,235
Contributions - non monetary 35 618
Fair value adjustments for investment property 6.4 -
Other income 37 7167
Total income 217,451
Expenses
Employee costs 4.1 84,151
Materials and services 42 68,094
Depreciation 43 25,503
Bad and doubtful debts 44 3,365
Borrowing costs 45 1,404
Other expenses 46 229
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 36 4,875
Fair value adjustments for investment property 6.4 5,957
Total expenses 193,577
Surplus for the year 23,874
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods
Net asset revaluation (decrement) / increment 6.2 102,834)
Total Comprehensive result (78,960)

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Comprehensive Income Statement

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2018
$'000

141,484
12,130
7,251
18,300
3,437
18,240
25,360
6,677

176,609

63,395

146,370

209,764

Page 4
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Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Inventories

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Unlisted Shares

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Investment property
Other assets

Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trust funds and deposits

Provisions

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Provisions

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Equity

Accumulated surplus
Asset revaluation reserve
Other reserves

Total Equity

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2019

Note

51a)

51¢)

5.1b)
52
52

6.3
6.2
6.4
5.2

53
5.3
55
54

5.5
54

9.1
9.1

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
30,057 49,906
26,621 19,792
69,000 56,000
350 242
1,196 1,315
127,223 127,256
2 2
2,015,780 2,068,231
26,695 32,652
1,653 1,890
2,044,131 2,102,775
2,171,354 2,230,031
24,430 12,863
7077 3516
19,104 19,122
9,105 1,090
59,716 36,590
1,765 1,806
26,217 35,316
27,982 37,122
87,698 73,7112
2,083,656 2,156,318
635,595 586,499
1,397,755 1,600,589
50,306 69,231
2,083,656 2,156,318

Page 5
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2019

Balance at beginning of the financial year

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Recognition of previously unrecognised non-current assets

- Infrastructure assets

- Building assets

- AASB 9 adjustment

Surplus for the year

Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)
Transfers to other reserves

Transfers from other reserves

Balance at end of the financial year

2018

Balance at beginning of the financial year

Recognition of previously unrecognised non-current assets

- Infrastructure assets

- Land assets

Surplus / (deficit) for the year

Net asset revaluation increment / (decrement)
Transfers to other reserves

Transfers from other reserves

Balance at end of the financial year

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Asset
Note Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
2,156,318 586,499 1,500,589 69,231
58 58 - -
5,382 5,382 - -
858 858
23874 23874 - -
91 (102,834) - (102,834) -
9.1b) - (30429) - 30429
9.1b) - 49,353 - (49,353)
2,083,656 635,595 1,397,755 50,306
Asset
Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves
§'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
1,936,546 523,563 1,354,219 58,763
258 258
9,750 9,750
63,395 63,395 - -
9.1 146,370 - 146,370 -
9.1b) - (34,702) - 34,702
9.1b) - 24235 - (24,235)
2,156,318 586,499 1,500,589 69,231
Page 6
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges

Statutory fees and fines

User fees

Grants operating

Grants capital

Contributions - monetary
Interest

Trust funds and deposits taken
Other receipts

Net GST refund

Materials and services
Employee costs

Trust funds and deposits repaid
Other payments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Payments for other financial assets
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year
Financing arrangements

Restrictions on cash assets

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note

9.2

5.1(a)
56

5.1

2019
Inflows/
(Outflows)
$'000

147,384
9.237
7,556

19,770
5426
16,049
3468
19,961
4410
7,218

(61,784)

(92,630)

(16,399)

(241
69,484

(75,331)
1484
13,000

(86,846)

(1,404)
(1,084
(2487)

(19,849)
49,906

30,057

2018
Inflows/
(Outflows)
§'000

143,563
10029
8679
20,113
3781
19,812
3,665
19,252
4471
7714
(72670)
(88,137)
(18,833)

185)
60,944

(51451)
260
3,700

(47,491

(2188)
10,822)
(13,009

444
49462

49,906
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Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018

$'000 $'000
Property
Land 38,231 691
Buildings 25,628 18,546
Total property T 63859 19238
Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,975 2236
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 150 227
Computers and telecommunications - 1,184
Library books 1,001 1,033
Total plant and equipment —3,11’6 —4,680
Infrastructure
Roads 5,549 5,530
Bridges 731 205
Footpaths and cycleways 4,403 3,742
Drainage 4,475 2,867
Other infrastructure 11,897 6,245
Total infrastructure 27,085 18590
Total capital works expenditure 94,040 42,507
Represented by:
New asset expenditure 55,054 12,643
Asset renewal expenditure 30,270 19,578
Asset expansion expenditure 5,675 -
Asset upgrade expenditure 3,041 10,286
Total capital works expenditure 94,040 42,507
The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes. Page 8
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Introduction

The Moreland City Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 21 June 1994 and is a body
corporate.
The Councif main offce is located at 90 Bell Sreet, Coburg.

Statement of compliance
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works
and notes accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with Australian
Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the
Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Requlations 2014

Significant accounting policies

()

Basis of accounting

The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets
liablties, equity,income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of
when cashis received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and labties
that are not readily apparent fom other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on
professional judgement derived from historical experience and various ofher factors that are beleved to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management n the application of
AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

- the fair value of land, buildings, nfrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.2);
- the determination of depreciation for buildings, ifrastructure, plant and equipment (efer to Note 6.2); and
- the determination of employee provisions (refer o Note 5.5).

Unless othenwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where
‘appropriate, comparaive figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been
made of any material changes to comparaives.

Paged
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note 1 Performance against budget

The performance against budget notes compare Council's financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance.
The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted a
materiality threshold of the lower of 10 percent or $3 million where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been provided
for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 25 June 2018. The budget was based on assumptions that were
relevant at the time of adoption of the budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this budget in
order to meet Council's planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long term. The budget did not reflect any
changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and
Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

1.1 Income and Expenditure

Budget Actual Variance Variance
2019 2019 2019 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref
Revenue
Rates and charges 150,327 151,525 1,198 0.8%
Statutory fees and fines 11,354 12,988 1,634 14.4% 1
User fees 5,353 7,013 1,660 31.0% 2
Grants - Operating 15,950 17,973 2,023 127% 3
Grants - Capital 2,181 4,933 2,752 126.2% 4
Contributions - cash 12,604 15,235 2,631 209% 5
Contributions - non-monetary assets - 618 618 100.0% 6
Other income 7,317 7,167 (150) -2.0%
Fair value adjustments for investment property
Total revenues 205,086 217,451 12,365 6.0%
Expenses
Employee costs 90,505 84,151 6,354 7.0% 7
Materials and services 56,031 68,094 (12,063) -215% 8
Bad and doubtful debts 1,377 3,365 (1,988)  -144.4% 9
Depreciation and amortisation 25,432 25,503 71) -0.3%
Finance costs 1,358 1,404 (46) -3.4%
Other expenses 511 229 282 55.2% 10
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,
infrastructure, plant and equipment - 4,875 (4,875) 100.0% 11
Fair value adjustments for investment property - 5,957 (5,957) 100.0% 12
Total expenses 175,214 193,577 (18,363) -10.5%
Net surplus (deficit) 29,872 23,874 (5,998) -20.1%

Page 10
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

(i) Explanation of material variations

Ref,

1

10

1"

12

Item

Statutory fees and fines

User fees

Grants - Operating

Grants - Capital

Contributions - cash

Contributions - non-monetary assets

Employee costs

Materials and services

Bad and doubtful debts

Other Expenses

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of
property, infrastructure, plant and
equipment

Fair value adjustments for investment
property

Explanation

Better than anticipated results in Parking fine revenues and Perin
court recoveries.

Health Registration Fees and Local Law Infringements had increased
activity for the financial year.

Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants instalment relating to
2019/20 was received in advance on 30 June 2019

Unbudgeted State Government grants to construct Wheatsheaf Hub
and the City Oval Masterplan were received during the year.

Sub-divider contributions and revenue for the Developer Contribution
Plan were higher than anticipated due to increased development
activity.

This variance is due to the recognition of developer contributed drain
assets

Council had a higher turnover of staff during the year than previous
years, vacancies were filled by agency staff as recruitment
procedures occurred.

The primary reasons for this variance are use of agency staff to fill
staff vacancies, higher than budgeted consultancy costs and
expenditure originally budgeted as part of the capital program which
were actually operating in nature.

At balance date debtors were assessed for recoverability. As a result

the increase in the provision for Parking debtors was higher than
budget.

The primary reasons for this variance are increased audit fees as
well and legal advisor costs

Some infrastructure assets were disposed with no proceeds.

Market valuations undertaken for Council's investment properties by
qualified valuers, resulted in this overall decrease.

Page 11
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note 1 Performance against budget (cont)

1.2 Capital Works

Budget Actual Variance  Variance
2019 2019 2019 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref
Property
Land - 38,231 (38,231) - 1
Buildings 17,423 25,628 (8,205) (47.1) 2
Total Property 17,423 63,850 (46,436) (266.5)
Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,502 1,975 (473) (315 3
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 197 150 47 238 4
Computers and telecommunications 557 - 557 1000 5
Library books 1,000 1,001 (1) (0.1
Total Plant and Equipment 3,256 3,126 130 4.0
Infrastructure
Roads 11,297 5,549 5,748 5.9 6
Bridges 135 731 (596) (4415) 7
Footpaths and cycleways 3,286 4,403 (1,117)  (340) 8
Drainage 1,190 4,475 (3,285) (276.1) 9
Other infrastructure 7,110 11,897 (4,787) (67.3) 10
Total Infrastructure 23,018 27,055 (4,037) (17.5)
Total Capital Works Expenditure 43,697 94,040 (50,343) (115.2)
Represented by:
New asset expenditure 5,212 55,054 (49,842) (956.3) 11
Asset renewal expenditure 27,631 30,270 (2,639) (9.6)
Asset expansion expenditure - 5,675 (5,675) - 12
Asset upgrade expenditure 10,854 3,041 7,813 720 13
Total Capital Works Expenditure 43,697 94,040 (50,343) (115.2)
Page 12
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(i) Explanation of material variations

Ref.

1

10

"

12

13

Ites

Land

Buildings

Plant, machinery and
equipment

Fixtures, fittings and
furniture

Computers and
telecommunications
Roads

Bridges

Footpaths and cycleways

Drainage

Other infrastructure

New asset expenditure

Asset expansion
expenditure

Asset upgrade
expenditure

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Explanation

Council undertook several (unbudgeted) strategic purchases of land as part
of its 'Park Close to Home: A Framework to Fill Open Space' initiative.
Council is committed to creating new open space and A Park Close to Home
will help deliver on this commitment. It should be noted that these
purchases, whilst unbudgeted, have been funded by reserves specifically
established for this purpose.

Several large projects have been capitalised in 2018-19, predominantly the
Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Precinct ($19.326 million).

A greater number of Plant, machinery and equipment purchases were able
to be capitalised than budgeted.

A lesser number of fixtures, fittings and furniture purchases were able to be
capitalised than budgeted due to the application of asset recognitition
criteria.

Purchases of computers and telecommunications equipment were not
capitalised due to the application of asset recognitition criteria.

A significant portion of expenditure budgeted for Council's road
reconstruction and rehabilitation projects were re-classifited as drainage
assets upon capitilisation.

Capitalised expenditure on bridge repairs and retaining walls was higher
than budget as a result of the application of asset recognition criteria.

A portion of expenditure budgeted for Council's road reconstruction and
rehabilitation projects were re-classifited as footpaths and cycleways assets
upon capitilisation.

A significant portion of expenditure budgeted for Council's road
reconstruction and rehabilitation projects were re-classifited as drainage
assets upon capitilisation.

The variance to budget is largely related to expenditure on the Oak Park
Sports and Aquatic Precinct which was classified as other infrastructure
during capitalisation.

Relates to Council's unbudgeted purchases of land to increase the level of
open space within Moreland as funded by Reserves

Mainly relates to Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Precinct partly reclassified as
expansion in nature

Predominantly relates to Oak Park Sports and Aquatic Precinct being partly
reclassifed as expansion in nature whilst some road and recreation projects
were delayed.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note 2.1 Analysis of Council results by program

Council delivers its functions and activities through the following programs.

2.1 (a) Chief Executive Officer Management
Chief Executive Officer Management oversees the management executive group, manages overall
operations and sets the tone, vision and culture of Council.

Finance & Property

Finance and Property provides efficient, effective and proactive support services across council to
enable the delivery of policy commitments, council vision and mission. The provision of these
services includes finance and rating services, property and procurement.

City Infrastructure Department

City Infrastructure is responsible for Council's infrastructure and fleet assets. This includes designing,
building, expanding, renewing, cleansing and maintaining a diverse range of assets that underpin the
wellbeing of the community. The department is also responsible for local laws and waste collection.

Business Transformations

Business Transformation is responsible for corporate functions relating to people, culture and
business enhancement. This includes human resources, corporate governance, organisational
performance and information technology.

Engagement & Partnerships

Engagement & Partnerships is responsible for Council's external interface with the community,
businesses, government and other partners. The Directorate enhances the organisation’s capacity
for engagement, major partnership projects, economic development and the delivery of holistic place
outcomes.

City Futures

City Futures is responsible for influencing development in the city, including urban planning decision-
making and urban policy/strategy development, transport and waste strategy, urban design and
streetscape improvement, environmental health and building services. The Department takes the
lead on all Council external facing strategies that support our response to population growth, the
promotion of sustainable transport and environmental change within the city.

Community Development Department

Community Development provides high quality community focused programs, service delivery and
communication to residents. It is responsible for services relating to infants, children, youth, family
and aged. Leading the achievement of our wellbeing outcomes including recreation, health,
education, cultural vibrancy, safety and social cohesion.

Page 14
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Note 2.1 Analysis of Council results by program

2.1 (b) Summary of revenues, expenses, assets and capital expenses by program

Surplus / . Gran!s»
Income Expenses .- includedin  Total assets
(Deficit) N
income
2019 §'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 $'000

Chief Executive Officer Management - 568 (568) - 6
Finance & Property 149,456 46,037 103,418 4,710 516
City Infrastructure Department 31,737 59,387 (27,650) 3,572 666
Business Transformations 470 19,609 (19,140) - 220
Engagement & Partnerships 691 75583 (6,892) 120 8
City Futures 17,373 19,245 (1,872) 424 216
Community Development Department 17,724 41,147 (23.423) 14,080 462
217,451 193,577 23,874 22,906 2,17

Surplus / Grants

Income Expenses - includedin  Total assets
(Deficit) N
income
2018 §'000 §'000 $'000 §'000 $'000

Chief Executive Officer Management 0 633 (633) - 8
Finance & Property 173,424 46,191 127,233 5,569 583
City Infrastructure Department 27,588 52,047 (24,459) 2,006 657
Business Transformations 718 17,193 (16,474) - 217
Engagement & Partnerships 495 6,326 (5,831) - 80
City Futures 20,401 16,274 4121 388 205
Community Development Department 17,378 37,944 (20,566) 13,774 479
240,004 176,609 63,395 21,737 2,230
Page 15
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services

3.1 Rates and charges
Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within
the municipal district. The CIV of a property is the total market value of the land plus
buildings and other improvements.
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2018/2019 was $61.2110 billion
(2017/2018 $49.100 billion). The 2018/2019 rate in the CIV dollar was 0.0022004
(2017/2018, 0.0025681).
General Rates 133,315 124,962
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 2,832 2,766
Waste management charge 14,879 13,300
Special rates and charges 498 457
Total rates and charges 151,525 141,484
The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal
district was 1 January 2018 and the valuation will be first applied in the rating year
commencing 1 July 2018.
Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates
notices. Supplementary rates are recognised when a valuation and reassessment is
completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

3.2 Statutory fees and fines
Infringements and costs 7970 6,309
Fines Victoria recoveries 517 487
Town planning fees 1,624 2225
Land information certficates 161 178
Other fines 500 638
Permits 2216 2,293
Total statutory fees and fines 12,988 12,130
Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when
the service has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been
applied, whichever first occurs.

3.3 User fees
Parking 332 29
Aged services fees 1,780 1,904
Registration fees 1722 1,541
Road occupancy charges 115 130
Building services 662 591
Valuation fees/supplementary charges 108 41
Waste management services 216 539
Right of way closures 50 182
Other fees 2,028 2,034
Total user fees 7,013 7,251
User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or the payment
is received, whichever first occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$000 $000
3.4 Funding from other levels of government
Grants were received i respectof the following:
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants 12247 13,461
State funded grants
Total
(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants - general purpose 2316 4503
Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants - local roads 2304 896
Families and children 787 640
Home help 5575 5201
Food services 795 784
Other 148 9
Recurrent - State Government
Home help 1530
Libraries 1216
Families and children 222
Food services 51
Other 374

Total recurrent operating grants 17,413

Non-recurrent - State Government

Environment protection 166 309
Families and children 96 -
Other cuture: 3 -
Community welfare 50 -
Other 217 -

Total non-recurrent operating grants. 560 309

Total operating grants 17,973 18,300

(b) Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery 21 839

Recurrent - State Government
Recreation 1316 2201
Other 5 2%

Total recurrent capital grants 1552 3457

Non-recurrent - State Government

Recreation 20
Community safety -
Buidings .
Other -

Total Capital Non-recurrent 260

Total capital grants 3437

¢) Unspent grants received on condition that they be spentin a specific manner

Balance at sartof year 1809 1,238

Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 2,702 1,809

Received in prio years and spent during the financial year 1,809 1,238

Balance at year end 2,702 1,809

Grantincome is recognised when Counil btains control of the contibution. This is
normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquital)or upon eariier notification that a grant
has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date o transfer.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
3.5 Contributions
Monetary 15,235 18,240
Non-monetary 618 25,360
Total contributions 15,852 43,600
Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes.
Land under roads - 141
Property 618 24,094
Infrastructure - 1124
618 2530

Monetary and non-monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.

In 2018 a one-off project initated by the Land Tilles Office to reconcile Crown land parcels as part of a digitsation project, esulted in
the tils of various land parcels being transferred to Moreland City Council

3.6 Netloss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Non Infrastructure Assets

Proceeds of Sale 1484 260

Write down value of assets disposed 2,167) 1,326)
T e o)

Infrastructure Assets

Proceeds of Sale - -

Write down value of assets disposed (4.192) 6.280)
T wasm _ eam)

Total

Proceeds of sale 1484 260

Write down value of assets disposed (6,360) (7.606)

Total (4,875) (7,347)

The proftor loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer. A significant
portion of assets sales are infrasiructure assets where Council receives no proceeds upon disposals.

3.7 Other income

Interest 3155 3332
Investment property rental 451 387
Otherrent 1,958 1866
Sale of non plant and equipment 73 78
Legal costs reimbursed 3717 318
Payrol reimbursements 109 128
Other 1043 1017
Total other income 767 7124

Inerest is recognised as ts eamed

Other income is measured at the air value of the consideration recived or receivable and
is recognised when Coundil gains control over the right to receive the income.

Note 4 The cost of delivering services

41 Employee costs
a) Total Employee costs

Wages and salaries 65493 63,085
Workcover 2010 1875
Casual staff 375 449
Annual leave and long service leave 726 7671
Superannuation 6,685 6427
Fringe benefis tax 65 19
Other 2248 1631
Total employee costs 84,151 81,256
Page 18
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2019 2018
000 000
(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following
Defined benefit fund
Employer contibutions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 614 659
614 659

Employer contibutions payable at reporting date.
Accumulation funds

Employer contibutions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)
Employer contibutions - other funds

Employer contibutions payzble atreporting date.

Refer to note 9.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.

4.2 Materials and services

Utilities

Contractors

Works contracts

General services.

Office services and supplies
Other supplies

Materials

Minor equipment and medical supplies
Other related costs

Property leases and rentals

Fire Services Property Levy
Council grants and sponsorships
Insurance

Total materials and services

4.3 Depreciation and amortisation

Property

Plant and Equipment

Infrastructure:

Total depreciation

Prepayment ssset

Rights of use of Animal Shelter
Total depreciation and amotisation

4512
14757
166
31486
6,676
2985
537
1,045
2,068

3338
12,208
586
26,293
5205
2372

2801

5,034
3546
16,686

25,266

236

25503

3971
3502
16,429
23,903

236

24139

Referto note 5.2( ) and 6.2 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting policy.

4.4 Bad and doubtful debts

Parking fine debtors
Other deblors
Total bad and doubtful debts

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year

New Provisions recognised during the year

Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectable
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year

Balance at end of year

2658
707
3,365

2586
707
17

3276

Provision for doubtful debt is recognised based on an expected credit loss model. This model considers both

historic and forward looking information in determining the level of impairment.

Bad debts has increased between years due to a change of Councifs debt writ off policy.

1,992
1134

3426

1474
1134
2

(45)
586
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

4.5 Borrowing costs

Interest - Borrowings
Total borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred,
except where they are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council.

456 Other expenses

Auditors' remuneration
Auditors' remuneration - Internal
Councillors' allowances
Total other expenses

Note 5 Our financial position
5.1 Financial assets

a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Term Deposits (maturity < 90 days)
Total cash and cash equivalents
b) other financial assets
Tem Deposits (maturity > 90 days)
Total cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets

Council's cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets are subject to external
restictions that limit amounts available for discretionary use. These include:

Trust funds and deposits (Note 5.3)

Total restricted funds

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets

Intended allocations

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future
purposes by Council:

Restricted Reserves (Note 9.1)

Total funds subject to intended allocations

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call and other highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Other financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date. Term
deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains and losses on holdings at
balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
1404 2,188

1,404 2,188

107 64
102 104
20 1
29 169

6 7
14,551 8699
15,500 41,200
30,057 49,906
69,000 56,000
99,057 105,906

7077 3516
7,017 3516
91,980 102,391
22,178 50,832
22,178 50,832
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%19 2018
000 $000
5.1 Financial assets (cont)
¢) Trade and other receivables
Current
Statutory receivables
Rates debtors 11,657 10,703
Parking infringement debors 7933
Provision for doubtful debis - parking infingements (6.359)
Non statutory recaivables
Other debtors 5138
Provision for doubtful debls - ther debtors (2586)
Fire Services Property Levy deblors 2024
Net GST receivable 1939

Total trade and other receivables

‘Shortterm receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtul debs is
recognised when there s objective evidence that an impaitment has occurred. Long term
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

d) Ageing of Receivables

Atbalance date other deblors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired.
These amounts relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. The ageing of the Counci's trade & other receivables (excluding statutory

receivables) was
Curtent (notyet due) 1870 (@11)
Past due by upto 30 days 5% 1806
Past due between 31 and 180 days 138

Past due between 181 and 365 days
Past due by more than 1 year
Total trade & other receivables

¢) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables.

Atbalance date, other deblors representing financil assefs with a nominal value of $3,276,479
(2018: $2,586,374) were impaired. The amount ofthe provision rased against these deblors
was $3,276 479 (2018: $2,586,374). They individually have been impaired as a result of their
doubtul collecion. Many ofthe long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with
Councis debt colletors or e on payment arangements.

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:

Current (not yet due) 2 -
Pastdue by upto 30 days 8 -

Past due between 31 and 180 days 605 6
Past due between 181 and 365 days 707 562

Past due by more than 1 year
Total trade & other receivables

5.2 Non-financial assets
a) Inventories
Inventores held for distibution 350 22
Total inventories. 350 22

Inventores held for distibution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potenial.

All other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where
Inventories are aoquired for no cost or nominal consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the.

date of acquisition.

b) Other assets

Current

Prepayments 568 810
Accrued income 592 495
Other % 10
Total 119 1315
Non-current

Prepayments 1653

Total 1653
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2019 2018
$'000 $'000
5.2 Non-financial assets (cont)
c) Intangible assets
Council has no intangible assets at this time. (2018: $ Nil)
5.3 Payables
Trade and other payables
Current
Trade payables 14,481 4631
Accrued expenses 9,949 8232
Total trade and other payables 24,430 12,863
Trust funds and deposits
Refundable deposits 922 873
Trust funds 663 644
Retention amounts 615 598
Fire services levy 4131 921
Other refundable deposits 747 480
Total trust funds and deposits 7,077 3,516
Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as Trust
funds until they are returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or
forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in council gaining control of the funds, are to be
recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.
Council currently maintains separate and distinct Trust Funds for the Gavin Environment Trust, the
Blackburn Bequest Trust and the Inner Circle Linear Trust. These funds are held and administered in
accordance with the Trust Deed arrangements.
Refundable deposits - deposits are taken by Council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances,
including in relation to building works, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.
Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State
Government. Council remits amounts received on a quarterly basis. Amounts disclosed here will be
remitted to the State Government in line with that process.
Retention Amounts — Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has
met certain requirements or a related warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory
completion of the contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the
relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.
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5.4 Interest-bearing liabilities

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
Current
Borrowings - secured (1) 9,105 1,080
9,105 1,090
Non-current
Borrowings - secured (1) 26,217 35316
Total 35,322 36,406
(1) Borrowings are secured by Council's general rate income.
The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:
Not later than one year 9,105 1,080
Later than one year and not later than five years 10,647 19,446
Later than five years 15,570 15,870
Total 36,406
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs.
The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-
bearing liabilties as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at
amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net
result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the
classification of its interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.
Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Current 9,105 1,090
Non-current 26217 35316

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings
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5.5 Provisions

Annualleave  Long service Service Other Total
leave Gratuity
2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,796 14,085 14 3 20,928
Additional provisions 5614 1987 0 - 7,601
Amounts used (5,727) (2.277) ) - (8,010)
Increase (decrease) in the discounted amount arising
because of time and the effect of any change in the
discount rate 34 317 - - 351
Balance at the end of the financial year 6,717 14,112 8 33 20,869
2018
Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,376 13,353 16 33 19,778
Additional provisions 6,316 2493 0 - 8,809
Amounts used (5,800) (1,757) @ - (7.560)
Increase (decrease) in the discounted amount arising
because of time and the effect of any change in the
discount rate ©6) ) . . ©)
Balance at the end of the financial year 6,796 14,085 14 33 20,928
2019 2018
$'000 $'000
(a) Employee provisions
Current provisions expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
Annual leave 6,172
Long service leave 2126
7,862 8,298
Current provisions expected to be settled wholly after 12 months
Annual leave 1,086 624
Long service leave 10,116 10,153
Service gratuity 8 14
Other 33 33
11,242 10,824
Total Current provisions. 19,104 19,122
Non-current
Long service leave 1,765 1,806
1,765 1,806
Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:
Current 19,104 19,122
Non-current 5 1,806
20,869 20928
The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting
date.
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be wholly settled
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee
services up to the reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.
Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the
provision for employee benefits as current liabiliies, measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
Page 24

165




[image: image456.png]| 2018 - 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

5.5 Provisions (cont)
Long service leave
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Current Liability — unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability even when the council does not expect to settle
the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer settiement of the entitlement
should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current liability are measured at :

- present value - component that is not expected to be settled within 12 months.
- nominal value - component that is expected to be settled within 12 months.

Classification of employee costs

Non-current liability - conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of
employment, is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the entitlement
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Retirement gratuities

Retirement gratuities were provided to certain employees who were, prior to the formation of Moreland City Council,
employed by the City of Brunswick. The liabilty represents payment amounts calculated on the basis of achieved
levels of available sick leave. At balance date, the liability is measured at the present value of estimated future cash
flows to be made for this entitlement.

5.6 Financing arrangements 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June.
Bank overdraft 4,000 4,000
Credit card faciliies 800 462
Total facilities 4,800 4,462
Used facilities 8 143
Unused facilities 4117 4318
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5.7 Commitments
The Council has entered into the following commitments

Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and presented inclusive

of the GST payable.
Laterthan1  Later than 2
yearand not  years and not
Not later than 1 later than 2 laterthan 5 Later than 5
2019 year years years years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Garbage collection 47 - - - 447
Leisure centres 1,029 866 - 1,895
IT systems support 787 697 - 1484
Consultancies 8 8 - 16
Environmental Operations 443 - - 443
Animal Welfare 39 79 210 - 329
Building Management 60 60 - 120
Total 2813 1,710 210 - 4733
Capital
Consultancies 1,067 460 - - 1,527
Works 5774 1170 - - 6,944
Total 6,840 1,630 - - 8471
Laterthan1  Later than 2
yearand not  years and not
Not later than 1 later than 2 laterthan 5 Later than 5
2018 year years years years Total
§'000 §'000 $§'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Garbage collection 438 447 - 884
Leisure centres 1,278 1,895 - 3173
T systems support 550 1,015 - 1,565
Consultancies 189 - - 189
Environmental Operations 657 443 - 1,099
Total 3112 3799 - - 6911
Capital
Consultancies 109 - - - 109
Works 2,704 1172 650 - 4,526
Total 2813 1172 650 - 4,635
Street clensing contracts included in 2018 disclosure has been removed as upon further review of contracts they were deemed to be contract
type 'schedule of rates' type contracts.
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2019 2018
$'000 $'000
5.7 Commitments (cont)
Operating leases
At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable
operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within Council's
activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Not later than one year 82 79
82 79
Operating lease receivables

The Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property, consisting of surplus
freehold office and/or retail complexes. These properties held under operating leases have remaining non-
cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 10 years. All leases include a CPI based revision of the rental
charge annually.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year 1,552 1,614
Later than one year and not later than five years 5,834 5,866
Later than five years 15,101 16,485

22,488 23,965

Note 6 Assets we manage
6.1 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Balance at beginning of financial year - 600
Transfers (from) assets held for sale - 600)
Total Non-current assets classified as held for sale - -

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets,
disposal groups and related liabilities assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale (or disposal group
sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification.
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6.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Summary of property,infrastructure, plant and equipment

AtFairValue Acquistons  Contributions ~~ Found  Depreciation  Disposal Transfers  Revaluations At Fair Value

2018 Assets 2019

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Land 1,366,441 38,231 - - - (1,120) - (102,834) 1,300,718
Buildings 183,494 25628 - 5382 (5,034) (628) - - 208,842
Plant and Equipment 14,429 3126 - - (3,546) (419) - - 13,500
Infrastructure 477,565 27,055 618 153 (16,686) (4,288) - - 484,416
Work in progress 26,302 77.324 - - - (1372) (94.040) - 8213
Total 2068231 171,364 618 5535 (25.266) (7,828) (94,040)  (102834) 2,015,780

Derecogniton of assets and impaiments are included i the disposal amount.
The found buikling asset relates o the inclusion of further componatiation of buidings previously not recognised.

‘The vast majority of found infrastructure assets discovered during the financial year that require to be recognised as Council assets, are drains.

Summary of Work in Progress

Opening WP~ Addions  Transfers ~ Wiite Offs  Closing WIP

000 000 5000 5000 $000
Property 2071 51300 (69.268) (o11) 3192
Plant and Equipment 121 3267 (3.126) (12) 20
Infrastructure 4109 273 (21646) (449) 4752
Total 302 77324 (94040)  (1,372) 8213
Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods Depreciation Period Threshold Limit
000

Property
Land
Land Not applicable No limit
Land under roads Not applcable: No imit
Buildings
Buidings 510200 years 1
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment 31010 years 3
Fumiture and fitings 31010 years 1
Computer equipment 31010 years 1
Library books 31010 years 1
Motor vehicles 51010 years 3
Attworks Not appiicable: 1
Infrastructure
Roads surface 101030 years 1
Road pavement 5010100 years 1
Drains 2010100 years 1
Footpaths (includes shared footways) 151050 years 1
Kerb and channel 151075 years 1
Bridges 351080 years 1
Other infrastructure
Street fumiture: 101020 years 10
Recreational, leisure and community faciltes 101050 years 5
Parks, open space and streetscapes 101025 years 5
Playground equipment and other structures 101050 years 5
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6.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

Acquisiton

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisiions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as consideration
atthe date of acquisiion plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquistion. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset (or paid o transfer a labiity) in an orderly transaction between market partcipants t the measurement date.

Where assets are constructed by Council,cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borowing costs incurred
during construction and an appropriate share of directly atributable variable and fixed overheads.

In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class
and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.

Land under roads
Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the fair value basis. Council does not recognise land
under roads that t controlled prior to that period in its inancial report.

Depreciation and amortisation

Buidings, plant and equipment, infrastructure and other assets having limited seful ives are systematically depreciated over
their useful lives to the Councilin a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.
Estimates of remaining useful ives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed
annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually.

Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned
distinctuseful lves and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a imited useful fe.
Artworks are not depreciated.

Straight ine depreciation is charged based on the residual useful e as determined each year.

Depreciation periods used are lsted at note 6.2 and e consistent with the prior year unless otherwise tated.

Repairs and maintenance
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to the
replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capialisation threshold the cost s capitalised and depreciated.
The canying value of the replaced asset s expensed.

Valuation of fand and buikdings

Arevaluation is necessary when the fir value of each revalued class of asset difers materiall from its carrying amount at
balance date. Mr. Stephen Davy AAPI, a certified practicing valuer of Opteon Property Group, has completed a review of the.
canrying amount of land and building assets s at 30 June 2019. The valuation of buildings is at air value based on current
replacement cost less accumulated depreciation at the date of valuation. The valuation of land s atfai value, being market value
based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Al freehold land reserved for public open space is
valued at a discount of 20 percent to market value based on legal precedents. The review methodology included analysis of
recent land and buikling sales to determine the movement in values as displayed by the market.In order to ascertain a evel of
market value movement the valuer had regard for recent sales throughout the Moreland Municipality from the 1st July 2018 to the:
30th June 2019 to determine the material change in the underlying land value of each property sector. The property sectors
referred to include Residential, Commercial and Industial. From their analysis, Buiding Assets since the last valuation
undertaken at 30 June 2018 was not material. However, the material change in the underlying land value of each sector over the
analysed period has been Residential -13.30%, Commercial 3.09%, Industrial 2.46%. This change was applied to Moreland
Councilsland asset register as a desk top revaluation as at 30 June 2019.

Valuation ofland under roads

Land under roads is valued at fair value. Fair value is based on Council valuations for land under roads in existence at the date
acquired for subsequent acquisiions using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics,
access fights and private interests of other parties and entitiements of infrastructure assets and services. Counciln s policy on
and under roads has elected notto bring to account the value of Land Under Roads in existence prior to 30 June 2008.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads willhave a sgnifcant impact on th fair
value of these assets

Details of the Council's land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level3  Date of Valuation
$000 5000 5000
Land - Non Specialised - 278,290 .- June 2019
Land - Specialised - - 1018445  June 2019
Land under roads - - 3,983 NA
Buildings - - 208842 June 2018
Total - 278,290 1,231,270

No transfers between levels occurred during the year.
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6.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)
Valuation of infrastructure
Fair value assessments have been performed at 30 June 2019 for Infrastructure. This assessment demonstrated that fair value
was materially similar to carrying value, and therefore a full revaluation was not required this year. The next scheduled full
revaluation for this purpose will be conducted in 2019/20.

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.

Details of the Council's infrastructure assets and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Date of Valuation

$000 $000 $000
Roads - - 207,389 June 2016
Bridges - - 16,693 June 2016
Drains - - 99422 June 2016
Footpaths - - 51,089 June 2016
Kerb & Channel - - 40,573 June 2016
Other Structures - - 69,250  June 2016
Total - - 484,416

No transfers between levels occurred during the year.

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

Specialised land and land under roads

The market based direct comparison method is used for specialised land although is adjusted to reflect the specialised nature of
the assets being valued. Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of
land per square metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values
between 5 per cent and 95 per cent. The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and the
current market conditions. Currently land values range between $3 and $5,696 per square metre.

Specialised buildings

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the
current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs is calculated on a square metre basis
and ranges from $125 to $30,000 per square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the
current condition of buildings and vary from 1 year to 99 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions,
with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in
expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.

Infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the current
replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure asses are determined on
the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 4 years to 99 years. Replacement cost s sensitive to changes in
market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are
sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure

assets.

2019 2018
Reconciliation of specialised land $000 $000
Land under roads 3,983 3983
Parks and reserves 1018445 1,104,043
Total specialised land 1,022,428 1,108,926
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2019 2018
6.3 Investments in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries 000 $000
Unlisted Shares
Shares in MAPS Group Ltd 2 2
2 2
Unlsted shares in the MAPS Group Liited are valued at cost. Dividends are recognised when they accrue.
2019 2018
6.4 Investment property 000 $000
Balance at beginning of financial year 32652 2975
Acquisiions . .
Fair value adjustments 5.957) 6677

Balance at end of financial year 26,695 32,652
Investment property, comprising freehold office complexes,is held to generate long-term rental yields. Investment

property is measured initally at cost, including transaction costs. Costs incurred subsequent to intil acquisition are

capitalised when itis probable that future economic benefitin excess of the originally assessed performance of the

asset willflow to the Council. Subsequent to inital recognition at cost,investment property is caried at fai value,

determined annually by independent valuers. Changes to air value are recorded in the Comprehensive Income

Statementin the period that they arise. Rental income from the leasing of investment properties i recognised in the

Comprehensive Income Statement on a straight ine basis over the lease term.

Valuation of investment property
Independent valuations of investment propertes were performed at 30 June 2019 by M. Stephen Davy AAPI a
certiied practicing valuer of Opteon Property Group, who has experience in the location and category of the:
property being valued. The valuation is at fai value, based on the current market value for the property.
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Note 7 People and relationships

7.1 Council and key management remuneration
2) Related Parties
Parent entity

Moreland City Councils the parent entiy.

Subsidiaries and Associates

Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in Note 6.3.

b) Key Management Personnel

Details of persons holding the position of Councillo or other members of key management personnel at any time during the year are:
Councillors
Councillor Natalie Abboud (Deputy Mayor from 1/7/18 to 29/10/18; Mayor from 29/10/18 to current)
Councillor Mark Riley (Deputy Mayor from 29/10/18 to current)
Councillor John Kavanagh (Mayor from 1/7/18 to 29/10/18)

Councillor Dale Martin

Councillr Annalivia Carl Hannan
Councillo Jess Domey

Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel
Chief Execuive Officer

Director Corporate Services

Director Ciy Futures

Director Engagement & Partnerships
Acting Director City Futures

Total Number of Councillors

Total of Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel

Total Number of Key Management Personnel

) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Shorttem benefits
Long-term benefits

Post employment benefits

Termination benefits

Total

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council

and any related enties, fal within the following bands:

$10,000
$20,000
$30,000
$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$70,000
$120,000
$190,000
$210,000
$220,000
$230,000
$240,000
$250,000
$260,000
$280,000
$380,000

$19,999
$29,999
$39,999
$49,999
$59,999
$69,999
$79,999
$129,999
$199,999
$219,999
$229,999
$239,999
$249,999
$259,999
$269,999
$289,999
$389,999

James Scott
Kirsten Coster
Joseph Tabacco
Philip Priest

Councillor Oscar Yildiz JP
Councillor Lambros Tapinos
Councillor Sue Bolton
Councillor Ali Infanli
Councillor Helen Davidson

Dr Nerina Di Lorenzo Director Community Development  Arden Joesph
Director City Infrastructure Grant Thome
Executive Manager Finance
Director Business Transformation ~ Suzana Vujcevic

Elizabeth Rowland

Executive Manager Anita Craven
2019 2018
No. No.
11 12
10 9
2 2
2019 2018
000 000
2519 2174
50 3
202 194
2,771 2,403
2019 2018
No. No.
- 2
- 1
9 8
- 1
- 1
1 R
1 1
1 R
- 1
- 1
1 R
1 R
2 -
1 B
2 1
1 3
1 1
2 2
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7.1 Council and key management remuneration (cont)

d) Senior Officers Remuneration

A Senior Officer is an officer, other than Key Management Personnel, who:

a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or

b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $148,000

The number of Senior Officers are shown below in their relevant income bands: 2019 2018
No. No.

Income Range:

$148,000 - $149,999 -

§$150,000 - $159,999

$160,000 - $169,999

§$170,000 - $179,999

$180,000 - $189,999

§$190,000 - $199,999

$200,000 - $209,999

$210,000 - $219,999

$220,000 - $229,999

$230,000 - $239,999 -

RN

O N
IS

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above,

amounted to 4,254,963 4,923,958
2019 2018
7.2 Related party disclosure $'000 $'000

a) Transactions with related parties
During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.

b) Outstanding balances with related parties
No balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to
transactions with related parties - -

c) Loans tolfrom related parties
Council does not make loans or receive loans from related parties. No guarantees
have been provided.

d) Commitments to/from related parties
The aggregate amount of commitments in existence at balance date that have been
made, guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party are as follows:

The total remuneration amounts disclosed within Note 7.1 and Note 7.2 includes annual and long service leave on costs.
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties
8.1 Contingent assets and liabilities
a) Contingent assets
As at 30 June 2019 there were no Contingent Assets identified by Council. (2018 Nil)

b) Contingent liabilities

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make
additional contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the fund are covered by the assets of the
fund, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the increased volatility in
financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods has increased. At this point in time
itis not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount.

Council is presently involved in several confidential legal matters, which are being conducted through Council's
solicitors. As these matters are yet to be finalised, and the financial outcomes are unable to be reliably
estimated, no allowance for these contingencies has been made in the financial report.

Council was a participant of the MAV Liability Mutual Insurance (LMI) Scheme. The LMI scheme provides public
liability and professional indemnity insurance cover. The LMI scheme states that each participant will remain
liable to make further contributions to the scheme in respect of any insurance year in which it was a participant
to the extent of its participant’s share of any shortfall in the provision set aside in respect of that insurance year,
and such liability will continue whether or not the participant remains a participant in future insurance years.

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
c) Guarantees for loans to other entities - -

The amount disclosed for financial guarantee in this note is the nominal amount of the underlying loan that is
guaranteed by the Council, not the fair value of the financial guarantee. Financial guarantee contracts are not
recognised as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender has exercised their right to call on the guarantee
or Council has other reasons to believe that it is probable that the right will be exercised.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way of
anote and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented
inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
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8.2 Change in accounting standards
The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2019 reporting period.
Council has assessed these pending standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from
the application of these standards in future reporting periods.

Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG Sector)

The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is
determined based on what the customer expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement
encompasses estimation by the entity of the amount expected to be entitled for performing under the contract.
The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most likely to impact where contracts extend over
time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount of the consideration, or where
there are multiple performance elements. This has the potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant
income.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 2016-
7) (applies 2019/20)

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1
January 2019.

Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)

The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be
recognised in the Balance Sheet by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing
a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease payments will be recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the
expense recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as leasing costs, it will
be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an interest charge on the lease liability. The
interest charge will be calculated using the effective interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of
interest expense over the lease term.

Council has elected to adopt the modified retrospective approach to the transition to the new lease standard.
This will mean that only existing operating leases for non low value assets, with remaining terms greater than 12
months, will be recognised on transition (1 July 2019). Based on our current lease commitments and an
assumption of a continuation of the current leasing arrangements Council expects that the transition to the new
standard will see the initial recognition of $480,839 in lease related assets and an equivalent liability.

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058) (applies 2019/20)

This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions
where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable not-for-profit entity to
further its objectives.
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8.3 Financial Instruments
(a) Objectives and policies
The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding
statutory receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. Details of the significant
accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument is disclosed in notes of the financial statements. Risk management s carried out
by senior management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis
of the risk exposure to Council and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

(b) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. The Council's exposures to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only
insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Our interest rate liability risk arises primarily
from long-term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow
interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and
deposits that are at floating rate.

Our loan borrowings are sourced from major Australian banks by a tender process or the issuing of bonds by the
Local Government Funding Vehicle. Overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks. We manage interest
rate risk on our net debt portfolio by:

- diversification of investment product;
- monitoring of return on investment; and
- benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for
managing interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's
year end result.

(c) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and
cause us to make a financial loss. We have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our
balance sheet. To help manage this risk:

- we have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with;

- we may require collateral where appropriate; and
- we only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our
investment policy.

Page 39

180




[image: image471.png]| 2018 - 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019
8.3 Financial Instruments (cont)
(c) Credit Risk (cont)
Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government
sectors. Credit risk associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debor is secured
by a charge over the rateable property.
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when
we provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 8.1(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount,
net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial
statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements or we will not have
sufficient funds to settle a transaction when required, we will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or
may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.

To help reduce these risks we:
- have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be
maintained;

- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid
instruments;

- monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and

- set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal
repayments to rate revenue.

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the
face of the balance sheet and the amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 8.1c) and is
deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for
managing liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.
Details of the maturity profile for borrowings are disclosed at Note 5.4.
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge
and experience of the financial markets, Council believes the following movements are ‘reasonably possible'
over the next 12 months:

- A parallel shift of + 1% and -1% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.00%.
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor
will they have a material impact on the results of Council's operations.
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8.4 Fair value measurement
Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, Council's
financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting
Standards. AASB 13 Fair value measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing
a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use
across Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Under AASB 13 fair value is an exit
price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within a fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable; and

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above.

In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Revaluation

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are
measured at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair
value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially
differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation
hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use on an asset result in
changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. Further details regarding the fair value
hierarchy are disclosed at Note 6.2, Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment.
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8.4 Fair value measurement (cont)
In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular
basis ranging from two to three years. The valuation is performed either by experienced Council officers or
independent experts.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve
except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been
recognised as an expense, in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the
expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in
the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset, in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the
extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements
within the year are offset.

Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets
carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the
Comprehensive Income Statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the
extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of
asset.

8.5 Events occurring after balance date
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.
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Note 9 Other matters
9.1 Reserves
Balance at
beginning of Increment  Balance at end of
reporting period (decrement)  reporting period
(a) Asset revaluation reserves §'000 $'000 §'000
2019
Property
Land 1,086,048 (102,834) 983,214
Buildings 78,844 - 78,844
1,164,892 (102,834) 1,062,058
Infrastructure
Road surface 62,783 - 62,783
Road pavement 96,429 - 96,429
Bridges 12,224 - 12,224
Footpaths 30470 - 30,470
Drainage 53,771 - 53,771
Kerb and channel 27,746 - 27,746
Other structures 52,274 - 52,274
335,697 . 335,697
Total asset revaluation reserves 1,500,589 (102,834) 1,397,755
2018
Property
Land 950,215 135,833 1,086,048
Buildings 68,307 10,637 78,844
1,018,522 146,370 1,164,892
Infrastructure
Road surface 62,783 - 62,783
Road pavement 96,429 - 96,429
Bridges 12,224 - 12,224
Footpaths 30470 - 30,470
Drainage 53,771 - 53,771
Kerb and channel 27,746 - 27,746
Other structures 52,274 - 52,274
335,697 . 335,697
Total asset revaluation reserves 1,354,219 146,370 1,500,589

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.
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9.1 Reserves (cont)

Balance at ‘Transfer from Transfer to
beginning of accumulated accumulated Balance at end of

reporting period surplus suplus reporting period
(b) Other reserves $000 000 $000 $000
2019
Public resort and recreation land fund (Restricted) 49734 12,183 (#1,595) 20322
Housing strategy 820 50 (131) 740
Moonee ponds creek development 59 - (59) -
Leisure centre development reserve 33% 31 (605) 312
Moreland Defined Benefit Reserve 6007 2415 - 842
Significant Projects Reserve 1327 9188 (101) 10415
Bridge works Reserve 1400 500 - 1,900
Oak Park SAC Redevelopment 2469 2504 4.939) %
Whealsheaf Rd Precinct 702 - (102) -
Saxon St Precinct 643 - (643) -
PVCC on Rogers Reserve (506) 506 - 0
Local Govemment Funding Vehide reserve 2087 1405 - 3492
Developer Contibution Plan Reserve (Resticed) 1098 1337 79 1856
Total Other reserves 69,231 30429 (49,35) 50,306
2018
Public resort and recreation and fund (Restricted) 36482 14,469 (1.217) 49734
Housing strategy m 50 - 820
Moonee ponds creek development i - (18) 59
Leisure centre development reserve 305 748 15) 33%
Moreland Defined Benefit Reserve 3811 21% - 6007
Significant Projects Reserve - 2291 (964) 1327
Bridge works Reserve - 1400 - 1400
Medynston Progress Hall 400 - (400) -
Oak Park SAC Redevelopment 11467 9256 (18.254) 2469
Whealsheaf Rd Precinct 415 410 (123) 702
Saxon St Precinct 38 410 (115) 643
PVCC on Rogers Reserve 1265 - (1.770) (506)
Local Govemment Funding Vehide reserve 662 1405 - 2087
Developer Contibution Plan Reserve (Resticed) (10) 2067 (960) 1098
Total Other reserves 56,763 34,702 (24.235) 69,231

The Public Resort and Recreation Land Fund accumulates developers contibutions paid to Counciland is used to provide or improve
recreation land and facites.

‘The Housing Strategy provides funds for the purchase of community housing projects along with other housing intiatves.
The Moonee Ponds Creek Development provides funds fr the revitalisation of the Moonee Ponds Creek required because of freeway
and CityLink works.

Moreland Defined Benefit Reserve provides funds for payments requested by Vision Super to meet our superannuation obligations.
under the definded benefit scheme.

Bridges works Reserve funds works to constructor repair major bridges witin Moreland City Council
The Oak Park SAC Redevelopment Reserve acoumulates funds set aside o be used in the complete redevelopment o the Ok Park
faclty.

‘The Leisure Centre Development Reserve accumulates funds from the savings derived from the outsourcing of the leisure centre
facilies. These funds are and will continue to be used to maintain and upgrade these faciites.

‘The Wheatsheaf Road Precinct Reserve accumulates funds to be used in the development of the former primary school in Wheatsheaf
Road.

The Saxon Street precinct reserves accumulates funds to be used to redevelop the former school site located at Saxon Streetin
Brunswick.

‘The PVCC on Rogers Reserve accumulates funds to be used to build the Pascoe Vale Community Centre at Rogers reserve.
‘The Local Goverment Funding Vehicle reserve accumulates funds to be used to reduce the LGFV bonds held by Counil.

‘The Developers Contribution Plan Reserve (DCP) accumulates developers funds paid to Councilin respect of developments within
particular Plan areas and is used to contribute towards payment of a ten year Capital works program with each of the twelve DCP
areas.

Pageds

185




[image: image476.png]| 2018 - 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018

9.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus $000 000
Surplus for the year 23874 63395
Depreciation 25503 24,139
(Profitloss on disposal of property, nfrastructure, plant and equipment 4875 7347
Fair value adjustments for investment property 5957 6677)
Contributions - Non-monetary assets (18) (25.360)
Finance costs 1404 2,188
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (6:829) 2270
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments 479 101
(Increase)/decrease in accrued income (123) (228)
Increase(decrease) in trade and other payables 11,567 (7.826)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (107) (3)
(Decrease)fincrease in trust funds 3562 419
(Decrease)increase in provisions 59) 1150
Net cash provided by operating activities 69484 60944

9.3 Superannuation
Moreland City Council makes the majority of ts employer superannuation contrbutions in respect of ts employees to the Local
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). The Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefi, each of
which is funded differenty. Obiigations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense i the Comprehensive Income
Statement when they are due.

Accumulation
The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super Saver,receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis.
Employer contibutions are normaly based on a fixed percentage of employee eamings (9.5 per cent required under Superannuation
Guarantee Legislation, (2017/18, 9.5 per cent).

Defined Beneft Plan
Moreland City Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefitobligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit
category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefitcategory is a muli-employer sponsored plan.

There is no proportional spiitof the defined benefit liabilfies, assets or costs between the participating employers as the defined
beneft obligation is a floating obligation between the partiipating employers and the only time that the aggregate obligation is
allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of Moreland City Councilin the Fund
cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other partcipating employers. Therefore, the Actuary is unable to allocate beneft
libilties, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119.

Funding arrangements

Council makes employer contrbutions to the defined benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on the advice of
the Fund's Actuary.

As 2t 30 June 2018 an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lfetime pensions in the Defined Benefi
Category.The vested benefitindex (VBI) of the defined benefitcategory of which Counci is a contributing employer was 106.0%. The
financial assumptions used o calculate the VBIs were:

Net Investment Retur 60% pa.
Salary Inflation 35%pa.
Price Inflation (CPI) 20%pa.

Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2019 was 107.1%

The VB i to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBl was above 100 per cent, the actuarialinvestigation
determined the defined benefitcategory was in a satistactory financial position and that no change was necessary to the defined
benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

Employer contributions

Regular contributions

On the basis of the resuts of the interim actuarialinvestigation conducted by the Fund's Actuary as at 30 June 2018, Council makes
employer contrbutions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund's Trustee. For the year ended 30 June
2019, this rate was 9.5 per cent of members'salaries. (2017/18, 9.5 per cent) This rate willincrease in line with any increase to the
Superannuation Guarantee (SG) contribution rate. In addition, Councilreimburses the Fund to cover the excess o the benefits paid as
a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.

Page 45

186




[image: image477.png]| 2018 - 19 Annual Report, Moreland City Council

9.3 Superannuation (cont)
Funding calls
If the defined benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at actuarial investigation or the defined benefit category's VB is
below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the defined benefit category has a shortfall for the
purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the
shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97 per cent.

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund's participating
employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall.

Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 July 1993
and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund's defined benefit category, together with the employer's payroll at 30 June 1993
and at the date the shortfall has been calculated.

Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund includes lifetime
pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up.

If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be retumed to the participating employers.
In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that
employer's successor.

The 2018 interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts

An actuarial investigation is conducted annually for the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer.
Generally, a full actuarial investigation conducted every three years and interim actuarial investigations are conducted for each
intervening year. An interim investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2018 and a full actuarial investigation was conducted as at 30
June 2017

The Fund's interim actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2018 identified the following in the defined benefit category of which Council is
a contributing employer:

- A VBI surplus of $131.9 million (2017: $69.8 million)

- A total service liability surplus of $218.3 million (2017: $193.5 million)

- A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $249.1 million (2017: $228.8 million).

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the Fund's assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the vested
benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2018.

The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund's defined benefit category plus expected future
contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses.

Council was notified of the 30 June 2018 VBI during August 2018. (2017: August 2017)

2019 interim actuarial investigation
An interim actuarial investigation will be conducted for the Fund's position as at 30 June 2019. It is anticipated that this actuarial
investigation will be completed in October 2019.
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Gina Settle, Subdivisions Officer

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377979
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Graeme Linsell, Senior Subdivisions Officer

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377986
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Konrad Bruhn, Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377974
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Moreland City Council

Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation

(Planning and Environment Act 1987)

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Meagan Merritt, Principal Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377938
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Niall O’Brien, Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377947
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Moreland City Council

Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Paris Dickson, Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377989
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Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation

(Planning and Environment Act 1987)

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Renee Ragozzino, Senior Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377956
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Moreland City Council

Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation

(Planning and Environment Act 1987)

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377966
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Timothy Hector, Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/377966
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Moreland City Council

Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation

(Planning and Environment Act 1987)

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
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In this instrument ‘officer’ means

e Madeleine Pieper, Urban Planner

By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Moreland City Council —

1. under section 147(4) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 appoints the officer to be
an authorised officer for the purposes of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 and the
regulations made under that Act; and

2. under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 authorises the officer generally to
institute proceedings for offences against the Acts and regulations described in this
instrument.

It is declared that this instrument —
(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution;
(b) remains in force until:

(i)  varied or revoked, or
(i)  the officer’'s employment by Moreland City Council ceases.

This instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Moreland City Council on 9 October 2019.

The COMMON SEAL of )
MORELAND CITY COUNCIL )
was affixed on  October 2019 )

with the authority of the Council:

Chief Executive Officer

Councillor

S11A Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (Planning and Environment Act 1987) 9 October 2019
D19/357267
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Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street - Oversight Committee

Terms of Reference

1. Name

Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street — Oversight Committee (the
Committee)

2. Classification

Internal

3. Delegation

Nil. Provides advice to Council and Delegated Officers.

4. Scope

Redevelopment of 33 Saxon Street — Oversight Committee provides
an oversight role on the development options and feasibility for the 33
Saxon Street redevelopment project, in accordance with Council’s
resolution .

The Committee will provide advice and guidance about:

« Development concepts and options for the 33 Saxon Street site
and-surrounding precinct

e Council’s'minimum requirements for the 33 Saxon Street
redevelopment

* Any potential community engagement activities.

The Oversight Committee will advise Council on the merits of the
project. and chosen scope and project process, discuss issues and
opportunities ahead of Council decisions.

5. Membership and
chairperson

The Committee will be chaired by the Mayor. Membership will
comprise of the Mayor plus three Councillors.

And the following officers:
e Chief Executive Officer
e Director Engagement and Partnerships and
e Manager Places and Major Partnership Projects.

6. Current or
anticipated role of
staff member(s)

Specialist Council officers and/or consultants may be invited to attend
meetings on an as needs basis.

The role of Council officers and/or consultants in relation to the
Committee is to provide information to ensure comprehensive
discussion and seek timely feedback on development options,
including required legal agreements and discussion of project
constraints.

7. Meeting frequency

As required, depending on key project milestones.
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8. Timeline for
involvement

Meeting duration: Up to 1.5 hours

Time outside meetings: Agendas, meeting minutes and any reports
will be sent out approximately one week prior to the meeting.

9. Accountability of
committee and

Committee members are encouraged to review any materials prior to
the meetings.

committee
members The Committee is accountable to provide advice and feedback on the
project scope as set out in Section 4 of this Terms of Reference.
Action based minutes will be taken at meetings and provide the basis
. for a report from Committee to Council to be included in the monthly
10. Reporting Governance Report considered at Council Meetings.

requirement

Reports, presentations and submissions will be presented to Council
as required to support decision-making.

11. Any other relevant
information

Agendas and minutes for meetings will be prepared by the Places and
Major Partnership Projects Branch.

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989:
e Meetings of the Committee will be Assemblies of Councillors
and reported to Council;
e . Committee members will be required to disclose any conflicts
of interest.

12. Confidentiality

Members will be required to sign the project confidentiality and conflict
of interest deed:

It is recognised that members will need to discuss issues and/or
decisions with other Moreland Councillors and Council officers. It is
not the purpose of this confidentiality clause to prevent this from
occurring, but to protect individual members from being quoted out of
context.

Meeting materials, including agendas and minutes, of the Committee
may be designated confidential. Therefore, release of Committee
papers or correspondence can only be made with the approval of
Council.

All documents should be kept secure to ensure that confidentiality is
maintained.
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13. Communication

All communications regarding all activities of the Committee and
project will be made in accordance with confidentiality deeds, the
project Probity Plan and Council decisions.

Members are responsible for:

e Ensuring no breaches of the confidentiality deeds to occur.

e Ensuring no unauthorised media statements, press releases or
responses to media queries are made.

14. Contact details of
committee

Giovanna Savini (Manager Places and Major Partnership Projects)
9240 2380
gsavini@moreland.vic.gov.au

15. Approval date

9 October 2019
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Responsible Department Business Transformation
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Chief Executive Officer
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The community expects, and the law requires, that Councillors act with integrity, accountability,
impartiality, fairness, equity and consistency, and in the public interest.

Councillors are required to act impartially and with integrity and avoid conflicts of interest in the
performance of their duties as a Councillor. This policy is designed to help Councillors comply with
the conflict of interest provisions of the Local Government Act 1989 and ensure the principles of
good governance and accountability are practised by Councillors when they are offered gifts,
benefits, bequests or hospitality in the course of their duties. The policy applies to all Councillors.

2 Context

Councillors are elected to represent and serve their community and receive an allowance to cover
the expenses associated with holding a public office. It is expected that all decision making is
founded on virtues of transparency, impartiality, accessibility, equity and accountability. On all
occasions, the actions of Councillors shall be undertaken with the highest regard to ethical
standards and probity. This policy applies where gifts, benefits or hospitality are offered to, or
received by, Councillors from sources external to Council and where gifts or hospitality are offered
by Councillors.

2.1 Alignment

The policy is relevant in terms of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2015 which include
provisions relating to primary returns, ordinary returns and inspection of the register of interests
and the Councillor Code of Conduct. This Policy supports behaviour consistent with the Councillor
Code of Conduct - all Councillors are required under section 2.20f the Code to comply with this
Policy.

3 Obijective

This policy states the Moreland City Council’s position on:

« responding to offers of gifts, benefits and hospitality; and

« providing gifts, benefits and hospitality.

This policy is intended to support individuals and Council to avoid conflicts of interest and maintain
high levels of integrity and public trust.

4 Policy Details

4.1 Policy Principles
Council is committed to and will uphold the following principles in applying this policy:

Impartiality: Councillors have a duty to place the public interest above their private interests when
carrying out their official functions. They will not accept gifts, benefits or hospitality that could raise
a reasonable perception of, or actual, bias or preferential treatment. Councillors do not accept
offers from those about whom Council are likely to make business decisions or undertake business
with.

Accountability: Councillors are accountable for:

« declining all token and non-token offers of gifts, benefits and hospitality, or where an exception
applies under this policy, seeking approval to accept the offer; and

e declaring all offers of non-token gifts, benefits and hospitality;
« the responsible provision of gifts, benefits and hospitality.

Councillors must be aware that fraudulently receiving a gift/benefit/hospitality is an offence under
both common law and the Local Government Act 1989;




[image: image501.png]Integrity: Councillors strive to earn and sustain public trust through providing or responding to
offers of gifts, benefits and hospitality in a manner that is consistent with community expectations.
Councillors will refuse any offer that may lead to an actual, perceived or potential conflict of
interest.

Risk-based approach: Council, through its policies, processes and audit committee, will ensure
gifts, benefits and hospitality risks are appropriately assessed and managed.
4.2 Management of offers of gifts, benefits and hospitality

This section sets out the process for accepting, declining and recording offers of gifts, benefits and
hospitality. Any exceptions to this process must have the prior written approval of the Manager
Corporate Governance.

4.2.1 Conflict of interest and reputational risks

When deciding whether to accept an offer, Councillors should first consider if the offer could be
perceived as influencing them in performing their duties or lead to reputational damage. The more
valuable the offer, the more likely that a conflict of interest or reputational risk exists.

Figure 1. GIFT test (Victorian Public Sector Commission)

Who is providing the gift, benefit or hospitality and what is their
relationship to me?

G | Giver Does my role require me to select and/or manage suppliers, award grants,
regulate industries or determine government policies? Could the person or
organisation benefit from a decision | make?

Are they seeking to gain an advantage or influence my decisions or
actions?

I | Influence | Has the gift, benefit or hospitality been offered to me publicly or privately? Is it
a courtesy or a token of appreciation or a valuable non-token offer? Does its
timing coincide with a decision | am about to make?

Are they seeking a favour in return for the gift, benefit or hospitality?
Has the gift, benefit or hospitality been offered honestly? Has the person or
organisation made several offers over the last 12 months?

Would accepting it create an obligation to return a favour?

Would accepting the gift, benefit or hospitality diminish public trust?
T | Trust How would the public view acceptance of this gift, benefit or hospitality? What
would my colleagues, family, friends or associates think?

F | Favour

4.2.2 Requirement for refusing offers

Councillors should consider the GIFT test at Figure 1 and the requirements below to help decide
whether to refuse an offer. Councillors should refuse offers:

« likely to influence them, or be perceived to influence them, in the course of their duties or that
raise an actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest;

« that could bring them or Council into disrepute;

« made by a person or organisation about which they will likely make or influence a decision (this
also applies to processes involving grants, sponsorship, regulation, enforcement or licensing),
particularly offers:

- made by a current or prospective supplier;

- made during a procurement or tender process by a person or organisation involved in the
process;

- likely to be a bribe or inducement to make a decision or act in a particular way;

- that extend to their relatives or friends;
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- where, in relation to hospitality and events, the organisation will already be sufficiently
represented to meet its business needs;

- where acceptance could be perceived as endorsement of a product or service, or
acceptance would unfairly advantage the sponsor in future procurement decisions;

- made by a person or organisation with a primary purpose to lobby Council; or
- made in secret.

If an individual considers they have been offered a bribe or inducement, the offer must be reported

in accordance with 4.7. to the Chief Executive Officer, Manager Corporate Governance or Director

Business transformation (who should report any criminal or corrupt conduct to Victoria Police or the
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission).

4.2.3 Token offers

A token offer is an offer of a gift, benefit or hospitality that is of inconsequential or trivial value to
both the person making the offer and the individual. It may include promotional items such as pens
and note pads, and modest hospitality that would be considered a basic courtesy, such as light
refreshments during a meeting. A token offer cannot be worth more than $20.

All offers should be declared on Council’s Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Register.

4.2.4 Non-token offers

Councillors can only accept non-token offers if they have a legitimate business benefit. All
accepted non-token offers must be approved in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, recorded in
the Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Register and be consistent with the following requirements:

« it does not raise an actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest or have the potential to
bring the individual or Council into disrepute; and

« there is a legitimate business reason for acceptance. It is offered in the course of the
individual’s official duties, relates to the individual's responsibilities and has a benefit to Council
or the municipality.

Councillors may be offered a gift or hospitality where there is no opportunity to seek written
approval from the CEO prior to accepting. For example, they may be offered a wrapped gift that
they later identify as being a non-token gift. In these cases, the Councillor must seek approval from
the CEO within five business days.

Where the gift would likely bring you or Council into disrepute, Council should return the gift. If it
represents a conflict of interest for you, Council should either return the gift or transfer ownership to
Council to mitigate this risk.
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All non-token offers, whether accepted or declined, must be recorded in Council’s Gifts, Benefits
and Hospitality Register. The business reason for accepting the non-token offer must be recorded
in the register within 14 days and include sufficient detail to link the acceptance to the individual’s
work functions and benefit to Council or the municipality.

Councillors should consider the following examples of acceptable and unacceptable levels of detail
to be included in Council’s register when recording the business reason:

Unacceptable

e ‘Networking’

« ‘Maintaining stakeholder relationships’
Acceptable

e ‘Councillor is the designated representative on the Disability Advisory Committee and receives
an invitation to Event A. Councillor attended Event A in an official capacity and reported back
to Council on the event'.

« ‘Councillor presented to a visiting international delegation. The delegation presented the
Councillor with a cultural item worth an estimated $200. Declining the gift would have caused
offence. The gift was accepted on behalf of Council’.

Access to the register is restricted to relevant persons within Council.

Council's Executive and the Audit and Risk Management Committee will receive a report at least
annually on the administration and quality control of the gifts, benefits and hospitality policy,
processes and register. The report will include analysis of Council’s gifts, benefits and hospitality
risks (including multiple offers from the same source and offers from business associates), risk
mitigation measures and any proposed improvements.

The public register will contain a subset of the information detailed in Council’s internal register.

4.2.6 Ownership of gifts offered to individuals

Non-token gifts with a legitimate business benefit that have been accepted by an individual for their
work or contribution may be retained by the individual where the gift is not likely to bring them or
Council into disrepute, and where the CEO has provided written approval. Councillors must
transfer to Council official gifts or any gift of cultural significance or significant value.

4.2.7 Repeat offers

Receiving multiple offers (token or non-token) from the same person or organisation can generate
a stronger perception that the person or organisation could influence you. Councillors should
refuse repeat offers from the same source if they create a conflict of interest or may lead to
reputational damage.

4.2.8 Ceremonial gifts

Ceremonial gifts are official gifts provided as part of the culture and practices of communities and
government, within Australia or internationally. Ceremonial gifts are the property of the
organisation, irrespective of value, and should be accepted by individuals on behalf of Council.
The receipt of ceremonial gifts should be recorded on Council’s register but this information does
not need to be published online.
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.

Ensure that Council is not put in a position of being obliged to purchase / donate gifts /
hospitality in return for cheaper service rates etc.

Not under any circumstance give cash, cheques, vouchers, credit/debit cards, prepayments,
memberships, discount cards or credit notes as gifts.

Not purchase gifts/hospitality where there is a real or perceived conflict of interest (i.e.:
businesses that may potentially be tendering for work with Council or individuals/businesses
with pending building/planning permits).

In purchasing gifts/hospitality do so in strict accordance with the limitations outlined in this
policy.

Not purchase gifts for family members or friends of staff/Councillors unless approved by the
CEO. The purchase of gifts for recognition of celebrations, births, illnesses or condolences is
to be limited to the guidance provided at 4.4.

Not purchase gifts that contravene Council’s policies and values.

4.3 Management of the provision of gifts, benefits and hospitality

This section sets out the requirements for providing gifts, benefits and hospitality.

Figure 2. HOST test (Victorian Public Sector Commission)

To whom is the gift or hospitality being provided?

H | Hospitality | Will recipients be external business associates, or individuals of the host
organisation?

For what purpose will hospitality be provided?

O | Objectives Is the hospitality being provided to further the conduct of official business?
Will it promote and support government policy objectives and priorities? Will
it contribute to staff wellbeing and workplace satisfaction?

Will public funds be spent?

S | spend What type of hospitality will be provided? Will it be modest or expensive,
and will alcohol be provided as a courtesy or an indulgence? Will the costs
incurred be proportionate to the benefits obtained?

Will public trust be enhanced or diminished?
Could you publicly explain the rationale for providing the gift or hospitality?

T | Trust Will the event be conducted in a manner which upholds the reputation of the
public sector? Have records in relation to the gift or hospitality been kept in
accordance with reporting and recording procedures?

4.3.1 Requirements for providing gifts, benefits and hospitality

Gifts, benefits and hospitality may be provided when welcoming guests, to facilitate the
development of community or business relationships, further Council outcomes and to celebrate
achievements.

When deciding whether to provide gifts, benefits or hospitality or the type of gift, benefit or
hospitality to provide, individuals must ensure:

any gift, benefit or hospitality is provided for a business reason that furthers the conduct of
official business or other legitimate organisational goals, or promotes and supports Council
policy objectives and priorities;

that any costs are proportionate to the benefits obtained for the State, and would be considered
reasonable in terms of community expectations (the ‘HOST’ test at Figure 2 is a good reminder
of what to think about in making this assessment); and

it does not raise an actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest.
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Individuals should contain costs involved with providing gifts, benefits and hospitality wherever
possible, and should comply with the financial probity and efficient use of resources guidance
outlined in the Employee Code of Conduct. The following questions may be useful to assist
individuals to decide on the type of gift, benefit or hospitality to provide:

« Wil the cost of providing the gift, benefit or hospitality be proportionate to the potential
benefits?

« s an external venue necessary or does the organisation have facilities to host the event?
« Is the proposed catering or hospitality proportionate to the number of attendees?

e Does the size of the event and number of attendees align with intended outcomes?

o s the gift symbolic, rather than financial, in value?

« Wil providing the gift, benefit or hospitality be viewed by the public as excessive?

4.4 Process

Value of Gift § | Declare to Whom What to do with Gift
Councillor Manager Corporate Governance | Retain if endorsed by
Up to $20 And Submit Declaration Form to Manager Corporate
Governance Governance
Councillor Chief Executive Officer Return to donor
$20-$500 and Submit Declaration Form to
Governance
Councillor Chief Executive Officer CEO decision for disposal
Over $500 and Submit Declaration Form to
Governance

4.5 Disposal of Gifts

If a gift does not have a public value the recipient may, at the discretion of the Chief Executive
Officer, buy the gift from Council. The purchase price must be the manufacturer's wholesale value
of the gift in the place of origin at the time of purchase as determined by the Chief Executive
Officer. If there is difficulty in assessing the value, a valuation must be obtained by Council from an
appropriately experienced person or body.

Where gifts are accepted because refusal may give offence, they should be forwarded to the CEO
who may dispose of these gifts by any of the following methods:

(a) Disposal by resolution of Council;
(b
(c

) Retention by the Council;
)

d) Transfer as a gift to a local recognised charitable, aid or non-profit organisation;
)

Transfer to other public agencies or authorities;

(e) Archival action by Museum Victoria or the State Library;
(f) Reduction to scrap; or
(g) Destruction.

The Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) may delegate decision making powers in relation to (b) to (g)
above to the Director Business Transformation.
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Breaches of this policy will be dealt with in accordance with the Councillor Code of Conduct.
Compliance with the policy will be monitored by the Manager Corporate Governance and any
anomalies highlighted and brought to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer.

Compliance with this policy is the responsibility of all Councillors. Organisational compliance with
the policy will be monitored by the CEO and Corporate Governance and any anomalies highlighted
and brought to the attention of the CEO. A review of the Gift and Hospitality Register will be
included in the Internal Audit Program.

Disciplinary action consistent with the Councillor Code of Conduct, including dismissal, may be
taken where an individual fails to adhere to this policy. This includes where an individual fails to
avoid wherever possible or identify, declare and manage a conflict of interest related to gifts,
benefits and hospitality in accordance with this Policy and the conflict of interest provisions within
the Local Government Act.

Actions inconsistent with this policy may constitute misconduct under the Councillor Code of
Conduct, which includes breaches of the binding Councillor Code of Conduct, such as sections of
the Code covering conflict of interest, gifts, conduct obligations, use of council resources,
prohibited conduct and misuse of position.

Any corrupt conduct will be reported to the Police and /or the Independent Based-based Anti-
corruption Commission (IBAC) on 1300 735 135. Any incidents of corruption will be registered on
Council’s Fraud Incident Register.

For further information on managing breaches of this policy, please contact the Manager Corporate
Governance.

Council will communicate its policy on the offering and provision of gifts, benefits and hospitality to
contractors, consultants and other business associates. Those identified as acting inconsistently
with this policy may be subject to contract re-negotiation, including termination.

4.7 Speak Up

Individuals who consider that gifts, benefits and hospitality or conflict of interest within Council may
not have been declared or is not being appropriately managed should speak up.

The reporting of suspicion, or awareness, of a situation involving a breach of this policy, unethical
conduct, corruption or illegal conduct by a Councillor has multiple reporting avenues:

« Notification to the Chief Executive Officer on (03) 9240 1190,

« Notification to the Manager Corporate Governance on (03) 9240 2387,
« Notification to the Director Business Transformation on (03) 9240 2272.
External reporting avenues include:

Notification to the Internal Audit contractor, Andrew Zavitsanos at Crowe Howarth on (03) 9258
6807 or email andrew.zavitsanos@crowehorwath.com.au.

Individuals who believe they have observed corrupt conduct in their colleagues may also make a
protected disclosure directly to the Independent Based-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC)
on 1300 735 135.

Council will take decisive action, including possible disciplinary action, against individuals who
discriminate against or victimise those who speak up in good faith.
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Councillors have the right to make a disclosure in accordance with the Protected Disclosure Act
2012. This is encouraged where any person wishes to access the protections afforded by the Act.
Further information is available on Councillor Connect under ‘protected disclosure’.

A protected disclosure can be made to:

e Council’s Protected Disclosure Officer — Manager Corporate Governance, telephone (03) 9240
2387.

e The Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) Level 1, North Tower 459
Collins Street Melbourne Vic 3000 Postal address: GPO Box 24234, Melbourne VIC 3001
Telephone: 1300 735 135 Website: www.ibac.vic.gov.au.

4.9 Exemptions

All gifts/hospitality received in the ordinary course of attending conferences, seminars, events and
information sessions (including gifts for presentations) whereby Council has paid a fee for
attendance are exempted from the scope of this policy. Such gifts/hospitality can be accepted as
they are contained in the attendance fee and are offered equally to all attendees and as such do
not need to be declared. Other exemptions include gifts / prizes / hospitality received as part of a
sponsorship arrangement or ‘official gifts and or donations’ received by an individual on behalf of
Council which will become a Council asset and should be listed on Council’s asset register.

4.10 Reporting

4.10.1 Completed Gift, Benefit and Hospitality Declaration Forms are to be forwarded to the
Manager Corporate Governance for recording in the Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality
Register.

4.10.2 The Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Register will be maintained by Governance and Civic
Protocols and will be forwarded to the Chief Executive Officer, Director Business
Transformation and Manager Corporate Governance on a quarterly basis for inspection.

4.10.3 The Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Register will be made available for public inspection and
will be placed on Council's website and updated quarterly in addition to previous reporting.
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Party/parties Roles and responsibilities Timelines
Manager Corporate Ensure legislative requirements are met, Ongoing
Governance research, coordinate consultation, review and

updating of this policy.
gzi\z\l{l:;:g:rand Civic Maintain the Gifts and Hospitality Register. Ongoing
Protocols * Ensure this Policy is available on Council’s

website.

Team Leader Quarterly

* Provide a copy of the Gifts and Hospitality
Register to the Manager Corporate
Governance, Director Business
Transformation and Chief Executive quarterly.

Governance

* Place the quarterly update of the Gifts and
Hospitality Register on Council’s website.

6 Monitoring, Evaluation and Review

The Manager Corporate Governance will ensure this policy is reviewed as required and as a result
of changes to applicable legislation.

7 Definitions

Term Definition
The Act Local Government Act 1989
Benefit Benefits include preferential treatment, privileged access, favours or

other advantage offered to an individual. They may include
invitations to sporting, cultural or social events, access to discounts
and loyalty programs and promises of a new job.

Bribe Means money, reward or service offered to procure an action,
decision, or preferential treatment - a corrupt inducement to reward.

Conflict of Interest Conflicts may be:
Actual: There is a real conflict between an employee’s public duties
and private interests.
Potential: An employee has private interests that could conflict with
their public duties. This refers to circumstances where it is
foreseeable that a conflict may arise in future and steps should be
taken now to mitigate that future risk.
Perceived: The public or a third party could reasonably form the view
that an employee’s private interests could improperly influence their
decisions or actions, now or in the future.

Gift Goods and services given of a commercial value including property,
tickets, souvenirs, promotional items, vouchers, flowers, chocolates,
fruit baskets and discounted or free services.

Gifts, Benefits and A comprehensive record, preferably digital, of all declarable gifts,
Hospitality Register  benefits and hospitality.





[image: image509.png]Term

Definition

Hospitality

Hospitality is the provision of food, beverages, travel or services
(accommodation, entertainment, etc) which is offered at a free or
heavily discounted price and not connected to official business such
as a conference or seminar, to convey goodwill on behalf of the
giver.

Hospitality is a form of Gift, but for the purpose of this Policy is
considered separately.

Monetary gifts

Cash, cheques, money orders, gift vouchers, traveller’s cheques,
direct deposits, loans.

Official gifts

Gifts officially given to Council as part of Council business operations
e.g.: sister city arrangements, individuals and organisations
bestowing a corporate gift which is in the public interest e.g.: plaques
or art works.

Perishable Gifts

Flowers, Food, Hamper, Fruit Basket

Non-Perishable Gifts

Bottle of wine, Mug, Backpack, Computer accessories

Sponsorship

Where items or services are exchanged and identified as part of a
formal written sponsorship agreement between Council and a third
party.

The Regulations

The Local Government (General) Regulations 2015.

Token Offer

A token offer is a gift, benefit or hospitality that is of inconsequential
or trivial value to both the person making the offer and the recipient
(such as basic courtesy). A token offer cannot be worth more than
$20 and should not create a sense of obligation in the receiver that
will influence, or appear to influence, the exercise of their official
duties.. Examples include:

e Flowers;

e Food — chocolates and cakes;

* Single bottle of reasonably priced wine; and
« Trinkets (ties, scarves, coasters, tie pins).

Non Token Offer

A non-token offer is a gift, benefit or hospitality that is, or may be
perceived to be by the recipient, the person making the offer or by
the wider community, of more than inconsequential value. All offers
worth more than $20 are non-token offers.

Value

Face value or estimated retail value.

8

Associated Documents

e Councillor Code of Conduct

e Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy

e Fraud and Corruption Control Plan

e Procurement Policy

e Corporate Fraud Risk Register
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References
Local Government (General) Regulations 2015 Local Government Act 1989
Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Resource Suite, Victorian Public Sector Commission

VLGA Improved governance - guide for Councils
https://www.localgovernment.vic.qgov.au/ _data/assets/pdf file/0017/48032/Improved-
governance-guide-for-councils-PDF-211215.pdf
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Moreland City Council

Quick Reference Guide:

Refusing or Accepting gifts, benefits or hospitality

Token Gifts Other gifts Benefits Hospitality
Value <§20
Examples: Examples: Examples:
Examples: Ceremonial gifts or « offers of discounts « offers of modest
Gifts that have an artefact, or thank you on products food and drink at
office use, such as gifts for representing « free or discounted business meetings
cop of coffee or drink, Council. travel or or functions
diaries, mug. accommodation « restaurant meals
» tickets or fre and corporate
admittance to hospitality at public
sporting, cultural or events
entertainment * corporate
events. hospitality at
sporting, cultural or
entertainment
events.
Accept Gifts Refuse Gifts All benefits must Offers of Can accept when
If accepting it if accepting it be refused. substantial offer is common
would not cause would cause a hospitality must courtesy or a
a reasonable reasonable be refused. modest food/drink
person to person to at a work related
perceive a perceive a meeting or
conflict of conflict of function less than
interest and if interest. $20 in value.
refusal would
offend.

R l

Can be accepted Register with Governance Gifts,
and retained by Benefits and Hospitality Register
staff within 14 davs of the offer

|

Gifts will be retained by
Council
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Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Declaration Form

All Gifts, Benefits & Hospitality (received or declined) —

regardless of their value, are to be declared.

(Completed forms are to be given to the Manager Corporate Governance
for the Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Register)

Name of recipient

Details of the gift:

e Donor — name and address

* Date received

e Approximate monetary value

« In what setting was the gift /
hospitality received? — at a
function, over the counter, on site)?

« What (if any) is your relationship
with the donor

« What was the donor’s reason for
offering the gift, benefit or
hospitality

e What is the donor’s relationship to
the Council (e.g contractor?)

Employee’s signature:

Date: / /

CEO comments (where applicable):

CEO signature:

Date: / /

Page 1
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Financial management report for the period ended 31 August 2019 - cyclical report (D19/376294)

Executive Manager Finance
Finance Management 
Executive Summary

This report presents the Financial Management Report for the financial year to date (YTD) period ending 31 August 2019.

Council has developed and implemented a financial strategy of generating small surpluses to reinvest in much needed infrastructure projects.

The YTD Income Statement shows that Council’s operating result is $3.8 million better than the adopted annual budget. This comprises overall revenues having ended $1.0 million better than budget and overall expenditures having ended $2.8 million better than budget. 
Council has spent $6.8 million in capital expenditure which is $2.7 million more than the adopted budget. This is an increase compared to the same time last year (YTD August 2018) when the actual spend was $4.7 million. The overspend is primarily due to the unbudgeted purchase of properties for public open space, totalling $3.7 million. These properties were purchases from the Public Resort and Reserve Land Fund Reserve.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council notes the Financial Management Report for the period ended 31 August 2019 at Attachment 1 to this report.




REPORT

1.
Policy Context

This report supports Council’s continuing commitment to open and accountable management of the financial resources of Moreland on behalf of its ratepayers.
2.
Background

The Financial Management Report at Attachment 1 provides Council’s financial statements for the year to date (YTD) period ending 31 August 2019. The actual results are compared to the adopted annual budget. 
3.
Issues
Council ended August 2019 with a surplus operating result of $8.4 million which is $3.8 million (82%) better than the YTD budget of $4.6 million.

Significant variance explanations below identify where the YTD variances are expected to be a timing issue or permanent by 30 June 2020. A timing variance is a current difference between the year to date actual result and budget which is expected to be resolved before the end of the financial year. A permanent variance is a current difference between the year to date actual result and budget which will continue to the end of the financial year.

The main items contributing to the overall variance are:

Revenue


Rates and Charges ended $0.6 million better than budget primarily due to a larger than anticipated supplementary valuation processed in July (permanent);

Contributions Monetary ended $0.9 million better than budget primarily due to better than anticipated development activity giving rise to increased subdivider contributions (permanent);


Grants Operating ended $2.2 million better than budget primarily due to receiving grants earlier than anticipated (timing).

Expenditure

Employee Benefits are $1.5 million (8%) less than budget. The variance relates primarily to roles that have been vacant for July and August and project roles, approved in the 2019/20 annual budget, that have not yet completed recruitment (permanent).


Contracts, Materials and Services are $1.3 million (11%) less than budget primarily due to:


Consultants and professionals ended $0.4 million favourable, primarily due to a delay commencement of several operating projects (timing);


Communications ended $0.2 million favourable, primarily due to a delay in receiving invoices and the expenditure not being accrued (timing).

Capital Projects – Capital Expenditure (CAPEX)

The CAPEX program YTD has an actual spend of $6.8 million which is $2.7 million more than the YTD budget of $4.1 million. This is predominately due to the unbudgeted purchase of properties totalling $3.7 million, these properties were purchases from the Public Resort and Reserve Land Fund Reserve.
Cash

Cash assets are $84.8 million at 31 August 2019. This is a $14.3 million decrease on 30 June 2019 cash levels, primarily due to a number of property purchases made in the 2018/19 financial year. Cash fluctuates frequently over the year due to several factors including the timing of payments and receipts. The first instalment of rates is due at the end of September which will see an increase in cash levels.
Solvency assessment

Council’s liquidity ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) is 1.4 as at 31 August 2019. The Victorian Auditor-General's Office recommends that this ratio be 1.5 or higher. The ratio is below the VAGO recommended ratio due to Council raising the 2019/20 rates in July, however, recognising the rates as they are earned monthly over the financial year. This unearned revenue in the liability section of Council’s Balance Sheet artificially lowers Council’s liquidity ratio early in the financial year. The current ratio is similar to this time last year. 

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.
4.
Consultation

This report has been prepared this report based on information provided by managers and reviewed by directors.
5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest
Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications
The overall corporate objective is to deliver the 2019/20 budget with the best possible outcome for Council and the community and in line with the approved revised forecast targets.
7.
Implementation
The financial position of Council will continue to be monitored and managed.

Attachment/s

	1 
	Financial Report - August 2019
	D19/377047
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For the two months ended August 2019 Council achieved a surplus operating result of $8.4M which is $3.8M (82%) better than the YTD budget of
$4.6M. This comprises overall revenues having ended with $39.7M which is $1.0M (3%) better than the YTD budget of $38.7M and overall
expenditures having ended with $31.4M which is $2.8M (8%) less than the YTD budget of $34.2M.

The main reasons for this favourable variance to YTD budget are:

Revenue

Due to Essential Services Commission reporting requirements supplementary valuations are not processed between April - June each financial
year. This leads to a large supplementary valuation processed in July, resulting in a favourable variance of $0.6M.

Contributions Monetary ended $0.9M (39%) favourable primarily due to better than anticipated development activity giving rise to increased
subdivider contributions ($0.9M). These revenues are transferred to reserves for future use.

Grants Operating ended $2.2M (87%) favourable primarily due to:

(a) CHSP grant income, including Domestic Assistance and Personal Care, was received earlier than anticipated ($1.3M);

(b) Second payment from DELWP for the Public Libraries Funding Program was received in August instead of October as anticipated ($0.6M);
and

(c) Moreland is delivering the Libraries after Dark Program which is fully funded by the Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation, we have
received $0.2M of this unbudgeted income to date.

Expenditure
Employee Benefits are $1.5M (8%) less than budget. This variance is related to higher than anticipated vacancies throughout the whole

organisation and is partially offset by an overspend in vacant staff backfill ($0.4M).

Contracts, Materials and Services are $1.3M (11%) less than budget primarily due to:
(a) A number of favourable variances in operating projects ($0.4M favourable); and
(b) An underspend of $0.2M in Communications primarily in data communication and unified communications due to the timing of invoices;
(c) Utilities ended $0.1M favourable, this will be monitored throughout the year and declared as savings if this continues.

Council has spent $6.8M on capital expenditure which is $2.6M or 64% more than the YTD budget of $4.1M. This variance comprises unbudgeted
property purchases totalling $3.7 million, these property were purchased from the Public Resort & Reserve Land Fund reserve. If we isolate the
'unbudgeted' property purchases the capital expenditure is tracking at $3.1M which is $1.0M under buget.

Cash assets are $84.8 million at 31 August 2019. This is a decrease of $14.3 million on 30 June 2019 cash levels. Cash fluctuates frequently over
the year due to a number of factors including the timing of payments and receipts. The first instalment of rates is due at the end of September
which will see an increase in cash levels.

Cash at Bank Uncommitted Cash
July 19 to August 19 9,000
(5000) 7,000
5,000
90,000 3000
86,000 1,000
82,000 000
78,000
-3,000
74,000 Jul-19 Aug-19
70,000 ($'000)
Jul-19 Aug-19
- —Actual —Budget
15,000 YTD Operating Result Historical YTD Capital Works Analysis
g Jul 19 to August 19 FY18 to FY20
12,000 Aug-
17
9,000
Aug-
6,000 18
3,000 Aug-
19
Jul-19 Aug-19 - 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 7,000
($'000) )
000)
mActual = Budget = Budget = Actual (s'000)
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Consolidated Income Statement (Base & Opex)

Two Months Ended August 2019 w—an

Full Year )
Original Revenue & Expenditure

Forecast
Budget Variance

Budget 001 5000

Revenue
Rates and Charges 21760 15759
Statutory Fees and Fines 2310 e 13501
User Fees 1456, 15010 5012
Contrbutions Monstary 2202l 14050
Grants Operating 250900 15,089
Grants Capital 257010 Y 2270
Other Revenue 127910 o 769
Contibutions Non Monetary ol N

Asset Sles 7

EXPENDITURE
Employee Benefits 181660
Contracts, Materials & Services 11,055 /@
Depreciation & Amortisation Expense. 42540
8ad & Doubtful Debts 350/0
oanescots e
Other Expenses 50

VARIANCE NOTES:

1) Rates & Charges ended 50.6M favourable due to supplementary valuations being processed resulting in an increase in supplementary
\valuation revenue and a decrease in rates revenue;

12) Contributions Monetary ended $0.9M favourable primarily due to better than anticipated development activity giving rise to
increased subdivider contributions. These revenues are transferred to reserves for future use;

3) Grants Operating ended $2.2M favourable primarily due to receiving Aged & Community Support and Libraries grants earler than
anticipated;

14) Grants Capital ended $2.4M unfavourable due to phasing of the budget.

[Expenditure

(4) Employee Benefits are $1.5M (85%) less than budet. The variance is related to higher than anticipated vacancies throughout the
Jwhole organisation, this also includes $0.4M underspend in operating projects relating to roles.

(5) Contracts, Materials and Services are $1.3 (11%) less than budget primarily due to:

- A number of favourable variances in operating projects ($0.4M favourablel;

- Communication expenses ended $0.2M favourable due to timing of invoices;

- Utiities ended $0.1M favourable which will be monitored and given up as savings if available.
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 August 2019
August Variance to Prior Year Movement
2019 budget June 2019 0 e 2008
($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash Assets 84,833 106,701 (21,868) 99,057 (14,224)

Receivables 1 175,240 143,758 31,482 22491 152,749

Other Assets 1,654 1,968 (314) 1,545 108
|Total current assets 261,726 252,427 9,299 123,093 138,633
Non current assets

Investments 28,350 28,615 (265) 28,350

Property, Plant & Equipment 2,018,328 2,028,455 (10,126) 2,015,780 25548
|Total non-current assets 2,046,679 2,057,069 (10,391) 2,044,131 2,548
|Total Assets 2,308,405 2,309,496 (1,092) 2,167,223 141,181
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables

Payables 36,067 43,350 7,283 33,382 2,685
Revenue Received in Advance 2 131,097 128,476 (2.621) 833 130,264/

Provisions 20,736 20,087 (650) 20,708 28
Total current liabiliti 187,900 191,912 4,012 54,923 132,977
Non current Liabili

Non Current Liabilities 28,460 29,328 868 28,645 (185)
Total non current Liabilities 28,460 29,328 868 28,645 (185)
|Total Liabilities 216,360 221,239 4,880 83,568 132,792
Net Assets 2,092,045 2,088,257 2,083,656
EQUITY
Reserves

Asset Revaluation Reserves 1,397,755 1,397,755 ) 1,397,755

General Reserves 53,566 52,647 919 50,306 3,260
|Total Reserves 1,451,321 1,450,402 919 1,448,061 3,260
Surplus

Accumulated Surplus 640,724 637,855 2869 635,505 5129
[Total Accumulated Surplus 640,724 637,855 2,869 635,595 5,129

2,092,045 2,088,257 2,083,656

NOTES to MOVEMENTS SINCE JUNE 2019:

1. Receivables - This movement primarily represents the balance of outstanding debtors for annual rates revenue. This is offset by
income received in advance in the Payables grouping below.

2. Revenue Received in Advance - The majority of this movement represents 2/12ths of the rate revenue recorded as income
received in advance. This is offset by rate debtors in the receivables grouping above.
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Cashflow Statement
Two Months Ended August 2019

@ | YTD August w:u/:::“ Variance to

E

] 2019 2019.20 budget

(5'000) (51000) (5'000)
Receipts
Rates and charges 16,831 26,176 (9,345)
User fees 932 1,501 (569)
Statutory fees and fines 2,149 2,315 (166)
Grants 5,251 2,549 2,701
Grants - capital 58 2,570 (2,512)
Contributions - Cash (operating & capital) 2,659 2,342 317
Interest 362 247 115
Other receipts (includes rents & reimbursements) 527 467 60
Tax / Trust funds 2,762 3,939 (1,177)
31,531 42,105 (10,574)

Payments
Employee costs (16,648) (17,621) 973
Materials and consumables (21,419) (12,795) (9,624)
Utilities 0 0 0
Other payments 7 (81) 88

(38,061) (29,497) (8,564)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure,

plant and equipment 0 5 (5)
(Purchase) / Proceeds of sale of financial assets 0 0 0
Payments for investment property 0 [ 0
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and

equipment (7,482) (4,555) (2,927)

Deposits movement (includes trust monies and
deposits held)

Finance costs

Proceeds from borrowings 0 0 0
Repayment of borrowings (185) (184) (1)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (212) (a14) 202
Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (14,229) 7,644 (21,868)

Cash Position **

Non-restricted Cash at 1 July 2019 30,057 30,057 0
Restricted Cash at 1 July 2019 69,000 69,000 0
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of financial 99,057 99,057 o
vear
Non-restricted Cash at close of period 15,833 37,701 (21,868)
Restricted Cash at close of period * 69,000 69,000 0
Cash & cash equivalents at end of reporting period 84,833 106,701 (21,868)

INOTES:
1. The restricted cash is made up of term deposits with a maturity date over 3 months.
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Underlying Result Analysis
Two Months Ended August 2019
Adopted YTD YTD YTD

Fi t
Budget Actuals Budget | Variance YTD orecas

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) (%)

($'000)

32,051 Surplus for the Year 8,389 4,602 3,787 82% 32,051

Less Capital Income

(2,570) Capital Grants (148) (2,570) 2,422 -94% (2,270)

(14,050) Capital Contributions Next Year Projects (3,260) (2,342) (918) 39% (14,050)

0 Capital Contributions Current Year Projects 0 0 0 0% 0

0 Non-monetary contributions 0 0 0 0% 0

0 Assets Sales (28) (5) (23) 514% (327)
Less Transfers & Other

9,258 Tfr to Reserves 0 0 0 0% 9,258

(688) Tfr from Reserves to Operating 0 0 0 0% (688)

1,105 Loan Principal Repayments 185 184 1 0% 1,105

0 Carry Forwards processed into FY21 0 0 0 0% 0

0 Capital to Operating 0 0 0 0% 0

9,085 Additional Rates Funded CAPEX 1,514 1,514 0 0% 9,085
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ype of Interest Rate S &P short Amount
account term rating
Westpac Transaction 1.25% A-1+ S 9,049
Com'wealth Bank (CBA) Transaction | 1.25% A1+ S 2,584
Com'wealth Bank (CBA) At call 1.50% A-1+ S 1,000
$ 12,633
Sank & Te ° date Rate erm rating 000 Ratio
Bank West 19-Feb-20 1.65% A-1+ S 3,000 4.17%
Bendigo Bank 19-Feb-20 1.65% A-2 s 4,000
Bendigo Bank 02-Dec-19 1.60% A-2 S 3,000 16.67%
Bendigo Bank 25-Nov-19 2.60% A2 S 4,000
Bendigo Bank 01-Oct-19 1.85% A-2 S 1,000
BOQ 02-Jan-20 2.05% A2 S 2,500 3.47%
IMB 03-Jan-20 1.95% A2 S 2,000
IMB 25-Nov-19 2.22% A2 $ 1,500
IMB 18-Nov-19 1.67% A2 $ 3,000 [ 10 4n
IMB 31-Oct-19 1.75% A2 $ 2,000
IMB 29-Oct-19 1.70% A2 $ 1,500
IMB 24-Sep-19 2.25% A-2 $ 4,000
ME Bank 02-Dec-19 2.65% A2 S 2,500
ME Bank 25-Nov-19 2.30% A2 5 3,000 13.19%
ME Bank 15-Nov-19 2.65% A2 S 2,000 )
ME Bank 24-Sep-19 2.00% A2 8 2,000
NAB 03-Jan-20 1.96% A-l+ $ 1,500
NAB 06-Nov-19 1.83% A1+ $ 2,000 13.89%
NAB 01-Oct-19 2.20% A-l+ $ 4,500
NAB 24-Sep-19 1.97% A-1+ S 2,000
Suncorp 09-Dec-19 1.65% A1 $ 3,000
Suncorp 09-Dec-19 1.93% A1 S 4,000
Suncorp 02-Dec-19 2.20% A1 S 4,000 S517%
Suncorp 25-Nov-19 2.60% A1 $ 4,000 .
Suncorp 22-Nov-19 2.28% A1 $ 4,000
Suncorp 24-Oct-19 2.55% Al S 2,000
$ 72,000 100%
Minor Cash Accounts (eg, NAB holding account & Petty Cash)
Cash at Bank & Investment Total $ 84,833
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1) This variance comprises unbudgeted property purchases totalling $3.7 million, these property were purchased from the Public Resort & Reserve Land
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EMF33/19
Draft Rating System Review Submission (D19/382008)

Executive Manager Finance
Revenue Services 
Executive Summary

The State Government appointed a panel (the Review Panel) on 4 June 2019 to review Victoria’s rating system. As part of the review, the Review Panel has requested submissions from the public and local government. Council has been requested to answer 14 administrative questions as part of its submission, with the opportunity to advocate for changes it believes would improve the fairness and equality of the rating system in Victoria. The consultation period commenced on the 29 July 2019 and closes on 1 November 2019 with the Review Panel required to submit a report to the Minister for Local Government on the 31 March 2020.

In early August 2019, the Review Panel released a discussion paper that introduced a framework for engaging with the review and provided an explanation of the current rates system to the general public. 

This review has provided an opportunity to advocate on items such as a review of the non‑rateability criteria, the property valuation method for venues with a gaming license, review of the revaluation cycle, an increase of benefits to pensioners in the form of a solar loan scheme or increased pension funding and a review of the calculation method for pension rebates on rates. 

Council officers have prepared a draft submission proposed to be forwarded to the Review Panel. 

The administrative items that the draft submission seeks reform on are focused on reducing the administrative burden of the rating system and helping shape a rating system that is fairer and more equitable for all ratepayers. These items include clearer definitions, rate notice issue dates and financial hardship.

This report seeks Council’s endorsement of the Draft Submission.

	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Endorses the Draft Submission to the Rating System Review at Attachment 1 to this report. 
2.
Authorises the Executive Manager Finance to make any necessary amendments to improve the content or messaging, generally in accordance with the endorsed submission to the Rating System Review, prior to submission.



REPORT

1.
Policy Context

The Rating System Review is one of the largest reviews undertaken on the rating section of the Local Government Act 1989 to date. The Rating System Review has been implemented in response to the Parliament of Victoria’s Inquiry in to the Sustainability and Operational Challenges of Victoria’s Rural and Regional Councils to identify changes that will improve the fairness and equity of the local government rating system. 

2.
Background

On 4 June 2019, the Minister for Local Government announced the formation of an independent panel (the Review Panel) to review all aspects of Victoria’s local government rating system. The panel has been tasked with ensuring that local government rates are fair and equitable for all the community. Consultation commenced on the 29 July 2019 and the Review Panel has requested submissions from the public and local government. 

The Review Panel has requested that responses from Local Government answer 14 questions relating to rates administration items as part of their submission. The Review Panel has also encouraged councils to include any other items they wish to raise in their submissions. Consultation closes on the 1 November 2019, with a report submitted to the Minister for Local Government on 31 March 2020.

3.
Issues

Council’s draft submission (Attachment 1) to the Review Panel answers the 14 questions about how Council currently administers rates in Moreland. The submission also provides opportunity for Council to advocate for changes to the Victorian rating system to improve the fairness and equity of the system and to assist the most vulnerable ratepayers in our community. The key advocacy items are based on ensuring the rates raised are distributed more fairly across the municipality, that the system is simplified for the ratepayer to understand and be more able to budget for their annual rates and that we are further assisting those ratepayers most in need. 

The key advocacy items included in Council’s submission are:

Review non-rateability criteria

Council currently has 538 properties granted non-rateability status in line with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Council’s Rating Strategy. These properties are occupied by religious bodies, Returned Service League (RSLs), Department of Health and Human Services, aged care organisations and educational institutions. As many of these property owners use Council services or assets such as libraries and public open space, Council believes that a review of the legislated non-rateability criteria needs to be undertaken, with the aim of tightening the criteria in assessing properties for non-rateable status. Within the municipality, there are several non-rateable venues that have a gaming license. 

Due to the social impact that gambling has on our communities and the costs associated with addressing the issues created by gambling, the draft submission proposes that no gaming venue has non-rateable status.

Gambling venue valuations

The Valuation of Land Act 1960 outlines how properties are to be valued for rating purposes. Currently all gaming venues are valued in line with standard rating valuations practices. Due to the impact these venues have on the widespread Moreland and Victorian community, Council officers recommend that the value of a venues gaming license be included in its rateable valuation. This will lead to gaming venues being responsible for a greater share of the rates revenue base, offsetting the social debt created by gambling, and easing the rates burden on other ratepayers. 
Preferred method for apportioning rates

Council officers believe that the fairest way to apportion rates is via capital improved value. With the large levels of development within inner-Melbourne, apportioning rates on site value would greatly disadvantage property owners, as the gap between site values and capital improved values is too great to reflect the ratepayer’s asset base for apportioning rates. Council officers have reviewed ideas such as a poll tax and apportioning based on income, but these methods will be too resource intensive to implement and administer, creating a greater burden to ratepayers. 

Change to the revaluation cycle

In 2019/20 Council relinquished the role of valuation authority to the Valuer-General Victoria. As part of this change, revaluations have changed from every 2-years to annually. This impacts ratepayers, as valuation shifts impact the annual rates amount payable. With the introduction of rate capping, this has changed the expectations of the community and has created confusion as they expect individual property rates to increase by the rate cap percentage. The annual valuation cycle provides no benefit to Council as the valuations are purely for distributing the rates among individual rate payers. The change to annual valuations is solely to the benefit of the State Revenue Office and the ability to raise a greater amount of land tax. 

As part of the draft submission, in addition to capital improved value being the preferred rates apportioning method, it is proposed that revaluations of capital improved value are undertaken every four years. This will simplify the rates system from an administrative perspective, but also reduce confusion for ratepayers, allowing them to budget their annual rate increase and limiting rate charge fluctuations to every four years with property valuation adjustments. As part of the proposed change to the revaluation cycle, ratepayers will only be able to object to their capital improved in the year of their revaluation. 

This proposed change will reduce the costs the Valuer-General Victoria incurs with contract valuers and release Council resources in the years that a revaluation is not administered. 

The change to the revaluation cycle would result in millions of dollars in savings to the State Government.

Low interest/no interest loan solar scheme for pensioners 

The draft submission proposes the funds saved from the revaluation cycle change be used to set up a low or no interest loan solar scheme for pensioners. This would give pensioners the ability to borrow funds from the scheme to install solar panel systems on their property, reducing the utility costs for those pensioners and providing a long-term sustainable solution to keeping their living costs reduced. It is proposed the loan could be paid back through rates, using the savings from utility bills. The administration savings Council experience from the change to the revaluation cycle could be redirected to administering the loan scheme repayments via the rating system.

Additional pension rebate funding

The current pension rebate is $285.15. Prior to rate capping, the pension rebate did not increase in line with Council rates increases. Alternatively, if a solar loan scheme is not viable, the draft submission proposes that additional rebate funding be provided, and the rebate process is standardised across Victoria.

It is proposed this additional funding be partly funded by the savings experienced from the need to no longer revalue capital improved values annually. 

Distribute pension funding based on a percentage 

Whilst the Federal Government provides most pensioners with a set dollar rebate, pensioners rates and charges can differ greatly based on their property value. Applying a fixed pension rebate is no longer fair or equitable and the model should be changed to apply the pension rebate based on a fixed percentage of rates payable annually. 

Standardise hardship framework

Under the Local Government Act 1989 ratepayers can apply for a waiver of rates based on financial hardship. This part of the act is ambiguous and does not guide Councils clearly or consistently in applying a hardship model. A key theme of the rating review is equity and fairness. Clearer guidelines around identifying and assisting ratepayers experiencing financial hardship needs to be outlined in the Local Government Act 1989. This will ensure all Councils apply a consistent financial hardship model.

4.
Consultation

Council officers attended forums held by the Review Panel to inform the advocacy issues raised in the draft submission. 

Councillors were consulted over 2 separate Councillor briefings to provide feedback on the forums held by the Review Panel and to develop the advocacy issues identified in the draft submission. 

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

The submission to the Rating System Panel Review has been completed by Council officers within the existing operational budget.

The financial impact of changes recommended by the report completed by the Rating System Review Panel will be assessed when the report is tabled on the 31 March 2020. 

7.
Implementation

Subject to Council endorsement, Council officers will lodge the submission to the Rating System Review Panel before the due date of 1 November 2019. 
Attachment/s

	1 
	Draft Rating Review Submission
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To Whom It May Concern,

Thank you for inviting Moreland City Council to prepare a submission into the Rating System
Review. You will find below our response to the administrative questions that Council was invited
to respond to, along with key additional items that Council believes crucial to the Rating System
Review in make the rating system fairer and equitable for all ratepayers.

Consultation Questions

How regularly does your council assess occupancies for each of the non-rateable exemptions
under s154 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act)?

What policy criteria do you apply?

By property category, in your municipality, how much in rates do you estimate would be raised
if these non-rateable occupancies were rateable?

Council reviews occupancies for non-rateable exemptions on an annual basis. Council applies an
internal policy criterion contained within our rating strategy in line with s154 of the Local
Government Act 1989. Council relies on s154 to guide us on our application of non-rateability and
does not apply any interpretations outside of this guidance.

The total value of non-rateable properties within Moreland for rating purposes in 2019/20 is
$1,275,498,000. Based on the rate in the dollar, if these properties were rateable it would result in
an additional $3,143,465 in rates.

What rates and charges does your council declare?

Do you have a revenue and rating strategy to help determine rates and charges under s155 of
the Act?

How do you engage your community in determining rates and charges?

If you use a municipal charge, how do you calculate its level?

What exemptions do you apply for municipal charges? How many, and what is the total value?

Moreland City Council declares a general rate and cultural and recreational charge across the
municipality. Could also has a special charge scheme which is for commercial properties within the
Sydney Road precinct across Coburg and Brunswick.

Moreland Language Link

RAGE 92801910  f&&r 92801918
Italiano 92801911  Hilif 92800750
EMnvike. 92801912 Yl 92800751
e 92801913

Turkce 92801914 All other languages
Tiéng Viét 92801915 92801919
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The draft annual budget and rating strategy are published for the community to review and
provide submissions on an annual basis. This is published online, and hardcopies are also available
to ratepayers. Notice of the submission period is published in local newspapers and on social
media, directing residents to the Council website or offices.

Moreland City Council does not have a municipal charge.

How often have you issued rate notices to the occupier, or mortgagee in possession of, the land
under s156 of the Act?
What are the problems that you have experienced issuing notices under s156(3)?

This is not an option Council has considered and no notices have been issued under s156(3).

Do you issue separate notices for Special Rates and Charges; or do you combine them on a single
notice?
What are the challenges of providing prescribed information onirate notices?

The special charge information is issued on the annual notice. The issue we experience is new
tenants not understanding the special charge and'querying it with Council:

How does your council determine general rates (uniform or differential)?

What criteria does your council use in their application?

What evidence does your council cofisider when determining the rates in the dollarfor your
differential rating categories?

Does your council consider what services should be paid for with other income (e.g.
municipal/service/special charges)?

Moreland City Council only-has a general rate. The general rates are set after budget requirements
are outlined to the Revenue'Services Unit and general rates are.raised'in line with the rating
strategy, annual budget and rate capping requirements.

What administration issues have you experienced when creating and administering special rates
and charges?

The main'issue we have experienced is setting special charge tiers based on valuations. This causes
confusion around revaluations as ratepayers don’t understand that the tier is set from the first
year of the scheme.

Please describe the payment options your council makes available to ratepayers?

Do you provide other payment options (in addition to offering a choice between paying in four
instalments or'in‘a lump sum)?

Do you provide any incentives for payment of rates such as early payment? What are they?

Payment options are cash, cheque, Eftpos, direct debit, Bpay and Australia Post. Council also
offers 10-monthly direct debit'but does not offer any incentives for early payment.

Do you provide any rating rebates and concessions (in addition to State government
concessions)?

What are the criteria in your council for providing these rebates and concessions?
What is the total annual value of these rebates and concessions?

How do you monitor and report on the community benefits?

Council does not offer any additional rebates.
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Do you have a policy for deferment of rates and charges?
What is the current total of rates and charges that are currently deferred?

Deferment of rates is managed in Councils Financial Hardship and Debtor Management policies.
Currently, no ratepayers are on deferment, as Council refers financial hardship cases to a financial
counsellor and assists those in financial hardship by waiving future interest and legal fees on rates
not paid on time.

Do you have policies regarding waiving rates and charges?
What types of waivers do you provide to ratepayers and what is their estimated annual value?

In the Financial Hardship Policy interest waivers are outlined. No rates are waived. Legal fees will
be waived if the ratepayer is experiencing financial hardship. The annual estimated amount of
interest waived is $25,000.

Do you raise the amount declared under the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983 of 10 per cent for
unpaid rates and charges?
If not, what rates do you apply?

Yes.
What issues do you face when rating by occupancy?

Ratepayers not understanding that even though their properties may only be on.one title, Council
rates by occupancy. This does cause confusion from time to time.

What issues have you determined when applying rates to land that is becoming, or ceasing, to
be rateable?

Annually, over the past 5 years, how many supplementary rates and charges notices have been
issued?

For each of these years; what was the total income for these occupancies?

No operational issues have been experienced when applying rates to land that is becoming, or
ceasing, to be rateable.

Over the past 5 years there has been approximately 10,000 supplementary valuations for a total
income of approximately $7,500,000.

Do you have a policy regarding treatment of unpaid rates and charges?

If you do not, how do you treat ratepayers that live in their properties?

Do you treat non-residential properties differently?

Annually, over the past 5 years, how many ratepayers have you issued complaints on for unpaid
rates and charges and to what total value?

What amount of interest do you charge on unpaid rates and charges? Do you raise the amount
declared under the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983 of 10 per cent?

Do you have any additional administration fees and charges for managing ratepayers with
unpaid rates and charges?

What type of collection activities do you use to recover unpaid rates and charges?

Council has an internal debt management framework model, in line with the Debt Management
and Financial Hardship policies.

Council does not treat non-residential properties differently.
In the past 5 years approximately 300 complaints have been issued.
Council raises interest to the amount specified under the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983.

There are no additional administration fees for debt collection accounts, until the complaint is
issued, no costs are incurred by the ratepayer.
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Council has implemented an internal reminder system to recover unpaid rates and charges. If this
is not successful, our external collection agency is engaged to assist.

. What is your council’s policy regarding selling land to recover unpaid rates and charges?

If no policy exists, how do you apply the relevant legislation?

Do you apply the same approach regarding selling land where ratepayers live in their property?
Annually, over the past 5 years, how many times have you undertaken this process?

How many properties have you sold?

How much has this cost, per instance?

How many times have you claimed land instead of selling land?

How much did this cost, per piece of land?

What issues have you encountered when selling or claiming land?

Council does not have a policy regarding selling land to recover unpaid rates and charges. Whilst
Council has not sold any properties, recently two properties were sent to Council via a report to
endorse the sale of them. Council has engaged our collection agencies legal team to undertake
this process in line with the Local Government Act 1989¢

Council will not propose the sale of a ratepayer’s principal place of residence.

What issues have you encountered in providing information for Land Information Certificates?
Do you provide any updates (verbal or otherwise) to ratepayers/would-be ratepayers for these
certificates?

Have you experienced any privacy issues in providing updates? If so, what were they?

Council has not encountered any issues. Updates are provided verbally or via email and no privacy
issues have been encountered.

Do you have a policy on how you apply the rates section of the Cultural and Recreational Lands
Act?

How many occupancies in your municipality are categorised as cultural and recreational lands?
Annually, over the past\5 years, how much have you received in'lieu of rates in relation to
cultural and recreational property?

How much would you receive if you were to assess these properties under your normal rates?

There s no policy. Cultural and Recreational Land:is captured in Council’s rating strategy.

Moreland has two occupancies. In lieuof rates, approximately $100,000 has been collected over
the last 5 years. Under normal calculations, Council would receive approximately $165,000
annually.

How many occupancies make payment in lieu of rates under the Electricity Industry Act 2000 in
your council area?

How much revenue do you collect and approximately how much is forgone as result (compared to
rating under the Local Goevernment Act 1989)?

None.
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How many public inquiries on rates do you receive each year? What are some common themes
of those inquiries?

What software do you use to administer your rating system?

What is the estimated annual hardware/software cost to maintain rates using this system?
How many staff do you employ to administer rates and charges?

What is the total FTE and costs for the rating and revenue function in your council?

Council receive approximately 15,000 inquiries about rates each year. Common themes are
overdue amounts, address changes, payment arrangements and pension queries.

Council uses Pathway. The cost is approximately $20,000 annually.

Moreland City Council employs 5 FTE staff to manage the rates function. The FTE cost of this
function is approximately

Additional Items
Review non-rateability criteria

Council currently has 538 properties granted non-rateability status in line with the guidelines set
out in the Local Government Act 1989 and Councils Rating Strategy. These properties are occupied
by religious bodies, RSL’s, Department of Health and Human Services, aged care organisation’s and
educational institutions. As many of these ratepayers use Council services or assets such as
libraries and public open space, Council believes that a review of the legislated non-rateability
criteria needs to be undertaken, to tighten the criteria of the properties that are granted non-
rateable status. Withinth&municipality, there are severalhen-rateable,venues that have a gaming
license. Due to the impact that these venues have on our communities, Council proposes that no
gaming venue may have non-rateable status.

Gambling venue valuations

The Valuation of Land Act 1960 outlines how properties are to be valued for rating purposes.
Currently all gaming veénues arevalued in line'with,standard rating valuations practices. Due to the
impact these venues have on the widespread Moreland and Victorian community, Moreland
wishes to put forward that the value of a venues gaming license be included in its ratable
valuation. This will lead to gaming venues being responsible for a greater share of the rates
revenue base, which will ease the.burden on other ratepayers.

Preferred method for apportioning rates

Moreland believes that the fairest way to apportion rates is via capital improved value. With the
large levels of development within inner-Melbourne, apportioning rates on site value would
greatly disadvantage property owners, as the gap between site values and capital improved values
is too great to reflect the ratepayer’s asset base for apportioning rates. Council has reviewed ideas
such as a poll tax and apportioning based on income, but these methods will be too resource
intensive to implement to a point where it would be fairer and more equitable for ratepayers.
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In 2019/20 Council relinquished the role of being the valuation authority to the Valuer-General
Victoria. As part of this change, revaluations have changed from every two years to annually. This
impacts our ratepayers, as valuation shifts impact the annual rates amount payable, due to shifts
in rateable property valuations. With the introduction of rate capping, there is now less of an
emphasis on the importance of rateable valuations for rating purposes, as the change to the
annual model was primarily for land tax purposes.

As part of Councils submission, in addition to capital improved value being the preferred rates
apportioning method, it is proposed that revaluations of capital improved value are undertaken
every four years. This will limit rate charge fluctuations to every four years, allowing ratepayers to
budget long term and provide consistent annual notices that don’t change outside of the rate
percentage increase in line with the rate cap for the periods between valuation adjustments.

As part of the proposed change to the revaluation cycle, ratepayers will only be able to object to
their capital improved in the year of their revaluation, reducing the costs the Valuer-General
Victoria incurs with contract valuers and freeing up Council resources by only having an objection
period every 4 year.

The change to the revaluation cycle will result in millions of dollars in savings to the State
Government.

Low interest/no interest loan solar scheme for pensioners

Council is proposing the funds saved from the revaluation cycle change be used to set up a low or
no interest loan solar scheme for pensioners. This would give pensioners the ability to borrow
funds from the scheme to install solar panel systems on their property, reducing the utility costs
for those pensioners and providing a long-term sustainable solution to keeping their living costs
reduced. It is proposed.the loan could be paid back through their rates using the savings from their
utility bills.

Additional pension rebate funding
The current pension rebate is $285.15. Prior to rate capping, the pension rebate did not increase
in line with Council rates increases. Alternatively, if a solar loan scheme is not viable, Council

proposes that additional rebate funding be provided, and the rebate process is standardised
across Victoria.

It is proposed this additional funding be partly funded by the savings experienced from the need
to no longer revalue capital improved values annually.

Distribute pension funding based on a %

Whilst the federal government provides most pensioners with similar annual income amounts,
their rates and charges can differ greatly. Applying a fixed pension rebate is no longer fair or
equitable and the model should be changed to apply the pension rebate based on a fixed
percentage of rates payable annually.
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Under the Local Government Act 1989 ratepayers can apply for a waiver of rates based on
financial hardship. This part of the act is ambiguous and does not guide Councils clearly or
consistently in applying a hardship model. A key theme of the rating review is equity and fairness.
Moreland believes that clearer guidelines around identifying and assisting ratepayers experiencing
financial hardship needs to be outlined in the Local Government Act 1989. This will ensure all
Councils apply a consistent financial hardship model.

If you have any further queries or require anything to be further clarified, please contact our
Coordinator Revenue Services, Glenn Johnston, on 03 9240 2482.

Yours sincerely,

Liz Rowland

Executive Manager Finance
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DCF80/19
New Private Swimming Pool and Spa Safety Barrier Registration and Certification Requirements (D19/366660)

Director City Futures
City Development 
Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of pending changes requiring the registration and certification of private swimming pool and spas to be implemented via changes to Building Act Regulations from 1 December 2019. The new regulations will require all owners to register their pool and spas with Council by April 2020, and introduce a 3-year certification obligation, significantly increasing the onus on owners to comply with the regulations. When the new regulations are adopted, all Victorian Councils will have a greater role in administering and enforcing the safety of the swimming pool and spas within their municipal boundaries. 

There is significant work to be done in preparation for the implementation of these changes, including:


Establishing a registration system; 


Establishing new systems for the notification and receipt of swimming pool barrier compliance certificates;


New enforcement and penalty systems and a new system for private swimming pool barrier inspection services.

Based on the data available and with the experience of Council officers in dealing with swimming pools and spa safety barrier-related matters, it is not anticipated that additional resources will be required in the initial year of implementation of these requirements. A reduction in planning application numbers over the last 18 months will assist in the new additional administration demands being absorbed by the administrative support team within the City Development Branch this financial year. In future years however, pools that have not previously been inspected through Council’s proactive swimming pool audit program will be required to be inspected and the non-compliance rate is expected to be much higher. 

The future resource implications will therefore require further examination as part of the 2020/21 budget process, recognising that increased resources costs may also be off-set by new registration, inspection and compliance revenue.
	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Notes Council officer submissions to the Building Amendment (Swimming Pool and Spa) Regulations 2019 Regulatory Impact Statement contained in Attachment 1 and 2 to this report. 

2.
Notes these regulatory changes require Council to establish and maintain a register of swimming pools and spas, with associated registration, certification and compliance services and fees; these fees comprising a one-off registration fee of $51.25, thereafter a certificate of compliance fee every 3 years of $30.65 or in the event of a non-compliance an additional $385.00 fee.

3.
Establishes a new fee of $320 plus GST for a Swimming Pool or Spa Safety Barrier Certification Inspection service for those pools found not to comply.

4.
Resolves to charge the maximum fees prescribed in the Building Amendment (Swimming Pool and Spa) Regulations 2019, in order to maximise the cost recovery associated with these new services and thereby minimise the cost to those ratepayers who do not own a private swimming pool or spa.


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

Monitoring the life safety in the community and the built environment is an essential statutory role of Council. 

To meet this requirement, Council proactively inspects 100 private swimming pool and spa safety barriers each year in accordance with the Private Swimming Pool Safety Barriers Policy (November 2014).

Since 1991, new pools and spas have been required to have child-resistant barriers as part of the Building Permit process. The standard of fencing must comply with the Building Code of Australia and the relevant Building Surveyor (RBS) determines compliance with the Australian Standard for pool fencing. 

In 1994, the State Government required all older, pre-1991 pools to be retro-fitted with pool barriers. It is the responsibility of the owners to implement the pool barrier requirements for these older pools (noting the requirements for these older pools are not as stringent as for new pools). Compliance with these retrospective requirements is very low. 

With a policy objective to reduce or prevent incidents of drowning amongst children aged under 5-years in private swimming pools and spas, through a recent Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) the State Government has proposed the Building Amendment (Swimming Pool and Spa) Regulations 2019 (the proposed Regulations).

In September 2018, the Victorian Government amended the Building Act 1993 (the Act) and proposed changes to the Building Regulations to include a new regulatory scheme placing stronger obligations on pool and spa owners to maintain their barriers in a compliant state. Amendments to the Act include a requirement for Councils to establish and maintain a register of swimming pools and spas in their municipal area. 

The proposed changes include: 


Mandatory registration of swimming pools and spas by owners and creation of a register by Council by 1 December 2019;


All pools are required to be registered with the Council prior to 14 April 2020; 


Requirements for pool and spa owners to have pool and spa barriers inspected every 3-years;


The issuing of certificates of pool and spa barrier compliance or non-compliance certificates following an inspection; 


Requirements for the lodgement of these certificates with Council; 


Pools and spas completed after 14 April 2020 are required to apply for registration with Council 30 days after the owner receives the Certificate of Final Inspection (CFI)/Occupancy Permit (OP);


Land owners must provide Council with a Certificate of Compliance every three years and Council must update the register; 


Council must write to new property owners following notification of a change of ownership to advise them of the due date for their next Pool Barrier Safety Certificate.

2.
Background

Drowning is the most common cause of preventable death of young children under 5 years. This fact is recognised in the Victorian Water Safety Strategy 2016–2020 where a reduction in drowning deaths of young children is one of the three areas noted as highest priority. In Victoria, the most common location for fatal drownings of young children is home swimming pools. Between January 2000 and May 2019, there were 27 fatal drownings of young children in private swimming pools and spas in this state. 

There is clear evidence that non-compliance with the current safety barrier laws is a significant contributing factor in fatal and non-fatal drowning incidents of young children in private swimming pools and spas. Of the 27 fatal drownings since 2000, coronial findings reported in 20 cases the safety barrier was non‑compliant with the relevant technical standard and this non-compliance may have played a direct role in the fatal drownings. 

Aside from an absence of adult supervision, the non-compliance of the safety barrier is the single biggest contributing cause to these tragedies. As a result, the Victorian Coroner has recommended strengthening pool safety laws in several findings relating to the fatal drownings of young children. 

Council has been operating a proactive pool audit program since 2014 and maintains a database of approximately 1,400 known private swimming pools and spas in Moreland. It is expected this figure may increase when more undocumented swimming pools and spas are identified under the new pool barrier registration system. 

The new building regulations will place a far greater responsibility of land owners and Council to ensure that swimming pools and spas in the municipality are registered and inspected for compliance every three years, commencing with pools constructed prior to 1994.

Due to its proactive pool audit program, Council is well placed to implement this new pool legislation as:


Council has a register of all known pools and spas which will assist in preparation for the new registration system proposed to commence on 1 December 2019;


Building Services officers have established knowledge and skill sets to inspect pool barriers for compliance;


Building Services officers have previously inspected and ensured compliance of approximately 600 of the 1,400 swimming pool barriers;


All known pre-1991 pools (approximately 430) have been inspected for pool barrier compliance. 

Despite building safety regulations progressively being increased since 1991 and requiring land owners to retrospectively install safety barriers, experience too date with Moreland’s proactive inspection program indicates that of these earlier pools and spa installations, 95% have been found to be non-complaint.

The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) has prepared a RIS in relation to the new swimming pool and spa regulations. The RIS was released for comment on 31 July 2019 and Council officers provided input to the MAV submission and made a submission directly to DELWP via the online portal on 6 September 2019. A copy of the submissions to the MAV and DELWP are included at Attachments 1 and 2.

3.
Issues

Mandatory Registration of swimming pools 

The proposed Regulations will make it mandatory for all owners to register their swimming pools and spas. The deadline for registration of existing swimming pools and spas is 14 April 2020. This date has been set four and a half months after the commencement of the proposed Regulations to provide time for owners to inform themselves of the new requirements and for Councils to prepare to receive registration applications. New swimming pools and spas constructed after 14 April 2020 will also be required to be added to the register. 

What is Council required to do with the registration? 


Create a computer system to capture the registered pool;


Capture the required prescribed information, including: 


The address of the land on which the swimming pool or spa is located; 


The name of the owner of the land;


Whether the swimming pool or spa is a relocatable swimming pool or re‑located spa;


The date of construction of the swimming pool or spa as determined by the Council;


The applicable barrier standard for the swimming pool or spa;


The date and the most recent certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance lodged with the Council in relation to the swimming pool or spa barrier;


The date by which the next certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance for the swimming pool or spa is required to be lodged with the relevant Council;


The dates and permit numbers of any Building Permits issued after the date of construction of the swimming pool or spa for building work for the alteration, modification, replacement or renewal of the whole or part of the swimming pool or spa barrier. 

In determining the applicable barrier standard and date of construction of the pool or spa, it is acknowledged the Building Services Unit will need to review Building Permit records for most properties with swimming pools and identify what the barrier standard would be required.

DELWP, in the RIS has indicated Council should specify each part of the barrier and each standard that applies. A technical officer such as an Assistant Building Surveyor, Building Inspector or Building Surveyor will be required to carry out this work.

Changes to ownership and the register 

Whenever there is a change in ownership, Council is required to notify the new owners of the following:


Confirmation that their name has been recorded on the register;


Advise which applicable barrier standard applies to the swimming pool or spa;


The date by which the next certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance is required to be provided to Council by the new owner. 

Council’s submission to the RIS was that fees should be payable for this service or that administrative costs should be reflected in the certification lodgement fee.

Inspection and certification of safety barriers 

The changes in building legislation over time have resulted in there being 5 differing compliance standards for pool barriers making the administration and enforcement process complex. A single pool may be subject to multiple compliance standards depending on when the pool was constructed and when parts of the barrier may have been modified due to other works on the property, such as an extension to a dwelling forming part of the pool barrier, or even the construction of a new boundary fence. 

As part of the registration process, Council is required to advise owners of the applicable standard(s) that apply to their pool. 

The proposed Regulations require owners of swimming pools and spas to arrange for an inspection and certification of their safety barriers every 3-years. Owners are required to have their swimming pool or spa barrier inspected by a Registered Building Inspector or Building Surveyor or Council, to confirm compliance with the relevant swimming pool standard (depending upon the age of the pool or spa). 

Certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance lodgement fee 
The owner is required to lodge a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Compliance (Form 23) with Council every 3 years. A proposed lodgement fee of 2 fee units applies (currently this would equate to $30.65). A staged implementation is adopted to avoid unnecessary burdens on Council:


For pools or spas constructed prior to 30 June 1994, the certificate is required to be lodged with Council by 30 October 2020;


For pools or spas constructed between 1 July 1994 and 30 April 2010, the certificate is required to be lodged with Council by 30 April 2021;

For pools or spas constructed on or after 1 May 2010, the certificate is required to be lodged with Council by 29 October 2021 unless (Certificate of Final Inspection) for the pool has been issued within 3-years from 14 April 2020.

If the barrier is inspected by a private building surveyor/inspector and found to be non-compliant the inspector is required to issue the Owner a ‘notice’ to make the pool barrier compliant within 20 days; or if the extent of work necessary would mean that the pool or spa cannot be brought into compliance within 20 days or poses a significant risk to life and safety, the private building surveyor/inspector must issue a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-compliance and send this to Council without delay. Upon receipt of a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-compliance a lodgement fee is to be paid to Council of 26 fee units (currently this would equate to a maximum fee of $385).

A concern that under these proposed regulations a private building surveyor/inspector may be more inclined to simply issue a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-compliance with the resolution of the non-compliance then the responsibility of Council was included in the submission to the RIS. The submission also included concern with Council then needing to invoice the owner for the Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-compliance lodgement fee and pursue payment.

Upon receipt of a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-compliance, Council has a few options to address the identified non-compliance. The Municipal Building Surveyor (MBS) may choose: 


To exercise their existing powers under the Act and issue an Emergency Order or Building Order for minor works;


The proposed Regulations also provide a new option, which is the issuing of a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non–Compliance (Form 24).

Swimming pool and spa barrier certification service by Council

Given the experience and knowledge of the Building Services team with Swimming Pool Barrier inspections obtained over five years of the proactive non-fee-based inspection program (which will now cease), these changes provide an opportunity for Council to commence offering a swimming pool and spa barrier certification service for a fee. As this is a new service and no fee has been prescribed in the regulations Council would need to determine a new fee.

Offering this fee for service to Moreland residents has benefits of increasing the cost recovery of Council’s Building Services Unit while also providing Council greater control by:


Issuing a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier compliance (Form 23); 


Written notice to the land owner of 20 business days for rectification of minor non-compliance; or


Issuing a Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier non-compliance (Form 24).

The cost of service provision and benchmarking of fees offered by others has resulted in a recommended fee of in the 2019/20 financial year of $320 plus GST for a Swimming Pool or Spa Safety Barrier Certification Inspection service.
Subsequently the fee can be reviewed annually as part of the Council budget process.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

DELWP has undertaken consultation on the new regulations with the following timelines set out below. Council officers provided a response to the RIS by the required date 


Public consultation on the Regulatory Impact Statement and proposed Regulations 30 July – 6 September 2019;


Finalisation of the amendment Regulations September – November 2019;


Amendment Regulations made Late November 2019;


New provisions commence 1 December 2019.

The Building Services Unit will write to all 1,343 known properties with a pool or spa in Moreland to advise them of these changes and also to work with Council’s Communications Unit to promote awareness of these changes and the service that Council can provide to assist residents meet their obligations. 
5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

The proposed legislation includes initial registration and ongoing certification lodgement fees as well as penalties for non-compliance which will assist the cost recovery of the operations of the Building Services Unit, in administering and enforcing these new requirements. 

Currently, the Building Services team carries out a proactive pool audit program of 100 pools per year with no fees applicable to this proactive safety program. The experience gained through the existing program places Council in a good position to resource a replacement swimming pool and spa certification fee for service, to commence from 1 December 2019. 

It is estimated Council will receive Pool Registration fees in the order of $71,750 (1,400 pools x $51.25) which is a one-off registration fee. 

The revenue estimated for the lodgement of Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier in the first year is estimated to be:


Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Compliance lodgement (maximum fee) is $30.66, would result in $10,976 in lodgement fees (358 pools x $30.66). (Estimate based on 358 Certificate of Compliances, equals 80% of 447 pools).


Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Non-Compliance lodgement (maximum fee) is $385.00, would result in $ 34,265 in lodgement fees (89 pools x $385.00). (Estimate based on 89 Certificate of Non-Compliance, equals 20% of 447 pools).

The above proposed statutory fees are specified as maximum fees that may be charged. It is therefore open to Council to set a reduced fee. The prescribed maximum fees may also change in response to submission made to the RIS. 

The administrative costs associated with promoting these changes to the community, receiving and receipting registrations, maintaining the register, researching pool/spa construction dates, sending reminder notices, notifying new property owners following property transfers and pursuing failures to register are expected to exceed the one off $51.25 registration fee and the $30.66 certificate lodgement fees to be paid every 3-years. 

The costs of compliance inspections, issuing of notices and orders and follow-up inspections to ensure compliance has been achieved, together with the invoicing and pursuit of land owners for the payment, is also anticipated to exceed the $385 Certificate of Pool and Spa Barrier Compliance lodgement fee. 

It is therefore recommended that Council determines that the maximum fees be charged for these new services rather than any reduced fee. This will maximise the cost recovery associated with these new services and thereby minimise the cost (via rates) to those ratepayers who do not own a private swimming pool or spa.

Additional revenue associated with the introduction of the swimming pool and spa certification fee for service to assist Moreland residents would be dependent upon the uptake of a new certification inspection service.
There is significant work to be done in preparation for the implementation of these changes, including establishing a registration system, systems for the notification and receipt of swimming pool barrier compliance certificate, new enforcement and penalty systems and a new system for private swimming pool barrier inspection services.

Based on the data available and with experience in dealing with swimming pools and spa safety barrier-related matters it is not anticipated that additional resources will be required in the initial year of implementation of these requirements. A reduction in planning application numbers over the last 18 months will assist in the administration demands being absorbed by the City Development Branch. In future years pools not previously inspected through Council’s proactive inspection programme will be required to be audited and the non-compliance rate is therefore expected to be much higher. The future resource implications require further examination of the extent to which they may be off-set by new registration, inspection and compliance revenue.

7.
Implementation

The proposed Regulations are proposed to commence from 1 December 2019.

The implementation will involve: 


Building new swimming pool and spa registration system, templates and processes to enable Council to administer and enforce the requirements of the proposed Regulations;


Replacement of the current Proactive Swimming Pool and Spa Safety Program with a new Certificate of Swimming Pool and Spa Safety Compliance service to Moreland residents;


Establishing processes to determine the applicable barrier standard and date of construction of the pool or spa through research and retrieval of building permit records;


Updating of Council swimming pool or spa, mapping that verifies the date of construction of the swimming pool or spa and the applicable barrier standard for the swimming pool or spa;


Work to inform residents, including the approximately 1,400 known pool and spa owners of the pending regulation changes and how Council can assist residents in meeting their obligations;


Writing to all Moreland residents to advise them of the proposed changes which may be applicable should a private swimming pool or spa exist on their property.

Council will be updated on any significant issues that arise throughout the implementation of the new registration, inspection and certification of pool and spa barrier legislation.
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A copy of your submission is provided below:

1. Do you support the mandatory registration of all private swimming pools and spas?
Yes (proposed)

Please provide reasons for your response.

The mandatory registration of private swimming pools/spas is supported. A system relying on
voluntary submission of pools and barriers to scrutiny been unsuccessful and is unlikely to meet the
objectives of the regulations. Mandatory registration will enable Council to maintain an accurate
database to inform targeted education and enforcement. Moreland has had a proactive pool
inspection program in place since 2014, inspecting 40% of known pools in the last 5 years. The
proactive inspection regime has observed a 95% failure rate with first pool inspections, posing an
ongoing risk to our community and indicates that pool owners are not proactively self-regulating to
ensuring compliance with current with safety standards and obligations with regards to maintaining
pools and safety barriers.

2. Are the proposed fees that owners must pay for registration and certificate lodgement
reasonable?
No

If no, please provide reasons for your response and what you think would be a reasonable fee.
Moreland City Council agrees that the proposal to set maximum fees instead of prescribing uniform
fees is preferred however notes that the income likely to be generated as a result of these charges
will not be sufficient to cover the full costs of implementing the regulations. Unless the fees are
increased to provide cost recovery the wider community will be required to heavily subsidise a
program to be attributed to pool owners. The proposed registration fee is not sustainable for a long-
term program. Maintaining registrations as a one-off requirement needs further consideration to
ensure the proposed fee is sufficient to cover ongoing maintenance and administrative needs of the
database.

3. The proposed regulations set out dates that owners of existing pools and spas must take
certain actions by:
Registration of existing pools and spas: 14 April 2020.
Lodgement of first certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance with council
e for pools and spas constructed 30 June 1994 or earlier: 30 October 2020
e for pools and spas constructed between 1 July 1994 and 1 May 2010: 30 April 2021
e for pools and spas constructed from 1 May 2010: 29 October 2021.

Do you think these timeframes are reasonable?
No

If you answered no, please provide reasons for your response and what you think appropriate
timeframes would be.

The requirement to register their pools with Council by April 2020 is achievable if supported by
comprehensive communications support from State. Given the estimated workload for each
compliance date Council has concerns that management of each cohort will not be complete before
the next range of pool inspection certificates become due. This is likely to adversely impact a
seamless rollout of the program and cause backlogs of work for Council. To assist with the long-term
implementation of the program it would be beneficial for each cohort to require submission during
October each year (2020/21/22), which will assist a manageable workload over the 3 year period.

4. Do you agree with the creation of the proposed new class of building inspector (pool safety)
for inspecting and issuing certificates for pool barriers?
Yes

If no, please provide reasons for your response.
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Please provide reasons for your response.

It will be critical for a suitably trained and skilled workforce is available to conduct this inspection work.
Given the extent of the proposed inspection regime, the creation of a new building inspector class is
supported by Council. Further consideration is required to ensure that this new class of inspector will
be adequately trained given the current lack of accredited training in Victoria. Consideration needs to
be given to the likely availability of professionals to mentor these inspectors during this training period
and managing the transition from unaccredited to accredited training across the sector. The
successful implementation of the first round of certificate lodgement will be dependent on this training
being provided and sufficient numbers of inspectors completing the course.

5. How often do you believe pool and spa barriers should be inspected and certified as
compliant?
Every 3 years (proposed)

Please provide reasons for your response.

Moreland City Council agrees that a rolling 3 yearly inspection regime is an appropriate timeframe to
require inspections and certification in light of statistical evidence demonstrating high levels of non-
compliance generally occurring within 3 years of a satisfactory assessment. As a result of Council’'s
current proactive pool inspection program, it has been identified that non-compliance with inspections
is generally the result of landscaping/tree growth, placement of climbable objects adjacent to barriers
and general wear and tear of pool barrier mechanisms. Conducting inspections every 3 years should
allow sufficient time for these issues to be identified, while minimising the financial impact and
practical inconvenience of managing inspections on property owners.

6. Should pool and spa owners be required to display CPR signage near pools and spas?
Yes

Please provide reasons for your response.

Moreland City Council agrees that readily available CPR signage is of benefit to property owners in an
emergency situation and should be provided in close vicinity to pools and spas. The potential cost
implication in requiring mandatory signage is expected to be negligible in the scheme of ongoing pool
maintenance. It is also possible that signage may act as a reminder for visitors to sites with pools
about the potential dangers. We acknowledge that simply providing signage will not directly lead to
fewer drowning incidents however it is of significant enough value to require as a mandatory safety
measure. CPR signage would be of most value if complemented by a requirement to complete
relevant training as an untrained person will receive little benefit in having CPR signage if they are
unaware of how to effectively carry out CPR.

7. Do you believe that the proposed registration, inspection and certification requirements
should also apply to relocatable pools?
Needs further consideration

Please provide reasons for your response.

Requiring relocatable pools to be subject to the same requirements as permanent pools is
problematic due to the nature of these facilities. The fact that a proportion of these relocatable pools
would be exempt from these regulations based on their design further complicates the registration
and assessment requirements. Due to their predominantly transient use it is impossible for Council to
determine the number of these pools in use at any one time that may need to be registered with
Council. Evidence suggests that when confronted with issues regarding safety of relocatable pools
owners will generally remove the pool from use. It is probable that a higher non-compliance rate
following inspections of relocatable pools would be identified with enforcement problematic when
owners could take action to remove the pool at very short notice.

Do you have any further comments to add?
The above comments and attached submission document contains the opinions of officers and is not
a resolved Council position.




[image: image531.png]If you would like to upload a submission please do so here.
MCC Final Submission for MAV Pools RIS 3Sept19.docx

If would like to provide any supporting documents please upload them here.
No file specified

What is your involvement in the industry?
Local government

| am making this submission:
On behalf of an organisation (please ensure you have authority)

Individual or organisation name
Moreland City Council

Contact name and position
Phillip Priest, Group Manager City Development

Email address - Providing this is optional, however it will allow us to contact you if we have
any questions about your submission, and send you a copy of your response.
ppriest@moreland.vic.gov.au

Phone number

| agree to this submission being made public
Yes

Regards,
The Engage Victoria Team
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Mr Emlyn Breese

Senior Advisor — Planning and Environment
Municipal Association of Victoria

GPO Box 4326

MELBOURNE VIC 3001

Dear Mr Breese

Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) for proposed New Registration, Inspection
and Certification of Pools and Spas

| write to provide Council officer advice to inform the MAV submission to the Regulatory Impact
Statement (RIS) for proposed New Registration, Inspection and Certification of Pools and
Spas.

Moreland City Council recognises the importance and need for a significant overhaul of the
existing controls on pools and spas as they are not effective in ensuring property owners
maintain their pool barriers.

Moreland City Council has been implementing a proactive pool barrier inspection program
since 2014. During that time over 570 inspections have been completed. As a result of this
program the following key findings have been identified:

e A high rate of pool barrier non-compliance at first inspections, reaching 95%.

o Failure rates have been primarily attributed to lack of knowledge and/or maintenance
from property owners.

e Achieving compliance is attributed to a combination of education and enforcement.

Administering a mandatory inspection regime imposes a significant burden on council
resources. We believe it is justified to set fees to meet full cost recovery for council. Pool
owners, and not other ratepayers, should bear the cost of ensuring pool safety.

We understand some pool owners will be resistant to increasing the costs of owning a pool,
however we have an obligation to ensure that all pools are safe through having a compliant
safety barrier.

Moreland City Council generally supports the preferred options set out in the RIS. We draw
attention specifically to the below issues in addition to our responses to the questions below.
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The fees and charges proposed in the RIS provide a solid basis to require pool owners to
comply with the regulations however our initial assessment indicates that the income derived
from these charges will not cover the cost of Council to implement the regulations. As a result,
the wider Moreland community will still be required to heavily subsidise a private pool
registration and inspection regime. Further financial modelling should be undertaken to fully
understand the implications for Councils.

Guidance for practitioners

The VBA must produce effective guidance for practitioners and pool owners to accompany the
regulations. Guidance for pool owners has been available from the VBA for some time (such as
the self-assessment checklists) however it appears there has been little update of readily
available material by property owners to enable them to manage their own risk. Of particular
importance is guidance for private inspectors. Under the proposed regulations, an inspector
must immediately issue a certificate of non-compliance if “the non-compliance of the barrier
with the applicable barrier standard poses a significant and immediate risk to life or safety”. We
believe practitioners will require guidance on the interpretation of this requirement so that
appropriate non-compliances are sent to councils to enforce. Without this clarity there is
potential for Council to received high volumes of notifications and risk that will not be effectively
managed.

Lack of accessible records

In many cases, Councils do not have accurate and accessible information about pools in their
municipality. This will mean a significant burden in determining the construction date of pools,
particularly older pools, as required under the regulations. Building permit records may be
incomplete, missing, or difficult to access. Due to this, the initial registration period will be
challenging for Councils and the registration cost should further consider the administration
costs required to research pool history and assess registration applications.

Implementation timelines
There are four key dates proposed by the regulations, that for initial registration of all pools and
spas, and three different dates for initial lodgement of a certificate based on the date of
construction. Each of these dates will result in a significant workload for Council. We are
concerned that the proposed timeframes will not enable Council to complete the work
generated by one deadline prior to the next occurring.
We suggest that a staged 3-year implementation schedule would be more increased to allow
Council to achieve full compliance for each cohort of pool owners. It is suggested that
consideration be given to the following schedule:

o Registration of all pools by 14 April 2020

o First certificates for pools constructed pre 30/6/1994 to be received by 30/6/2020.

o First certificates for pools constructed between 1/7/1994 — 1/5/2010 to be received by

30/6/2021.
« First certificates for pools constructed after 1/5/2010 to be received by 30/6/2022.

Sale or lease of land
Several issues relating to the sale or lease of land need to be further considered including:
o A current certificate of barrier compliance should be required as a part of Section 32
information for prospective buyers.
e A current certificate of barrier compliance should be required prior to entering into a
residential rental agreement.
e Consideration given to how to address responsibilities falling on land owners for
relocatable pools owned by tenants. It is unclear how property owners will be
accountable for the actions of tenants. This proposal requires consultation with
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stakeholders are aware of the obligations and liability in relation to relocatable pools.

Barrier improvement notices

We agree that the power to issue a barrier improvement notice should lie with the Municipal
Building Surveyor rather than Council. This would be consistent with other similar powers
under the Act and Regulations.

Note:

This submission contains the opinions of officers and is not a resolved Council position. A
further submission may be provided following presentation of the proposed regulations to
Council.

Should you have any further queries in relation to this submission, please contact me 9240
1149.

Yours sincerely

Philip Priest
Group Manager City Development

3/9 /2019
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Chapter 2—Proposed regulatory approach

1. Do you agree that there should be no prescribed fee for the carrying out of an
inspection and certification of a safety barrier? Please explain your response.

Council is not supportive of prescribing fees for inspections and certification of safety barriers.
The costs of conducting these activities should be reflective of the costs for conducting the
activities and may vary depending on circumstances. Prescribing a fee for this service would
remove the ability of the market to dictate an appropriate cost schedule and reduce competition
among providers.

Inspection and certification costs should be monitored to ensure a professional and technically
proficient service is provided to property owners without causing significant financial burden on
property owners.

2. Do you agree that there should be no prescribed fee for councils to carry out
information searches in relation to determining the date of construction of pools and
spas? Please explain your response.

In conducting a proactive pool inspection program, Moreland City Council was required to
search for information on pools and spas, particularly in relation to older facilities to determine
the applicable safety standard to apply. There has been difficulty in obtaining complete and
accurate records of pool installations requiring Council to incorporate a variety of ways to
identify the likely age of pools and spas.

Notwithstanding the above, we believe that the one-off registration fee of $37 is insufficient and
does not convey the complete costs of establishing a registration database and therefore a
charge for information searches should be available to Councils to recoup some costs of
administering the program. Establishing a pool registration system will require an intensive
administration process and will result in Council subsidising the registration process.

3. If you believe that a separate fee for council information searches should be charged,
do you believe that the fee should be prescribed via regulations or set by individual
councils? Please explain your response.

We support the setting of “information search” charges being determined by individual
Councils. This will give Councils the capacity to charge fees in line with individual document
management requirements and cost recovery principles.

4. Do you agree that there should be no requirement for renewal of registration? Please
explain your response.

We support the option to not require renewal of registration and suggest that the initial
registration costs should be increased to include ongoing maintenance of the register. Although
this will be largely an administrative function, there does not appear to have been sufficient
consideration into this ongoing cost to Councils. This includes ensuring the register remains
current and ensuring mechanisms are in place to manage correspondence related to property
transactions.

Chapter 3—Registration

5. Do you support mandatory registration of all swimming pools and spas? Please
explain your response.

We support the mandatory registration of all swimming pools and spas. Reliance on a system
that requires home owners to voluntarily submit their pools and spas to scrutiny has not been




[image: image536.png]successful to date and is unlikely to meet the objectives of the regulations. Current levels of
compliance with requirements for barrier fences are known to be extremely low with data from
Council’s proactive pool inspection program confirming 95% failure on first inspections.

6. Is the proposed deadline of 14 April 2020 for owners of existing swimming pools and
spas to apply to register an appropriate timeframe? Please explain your response.

We note that the Building Act requires Councils to share information recorded on the register
with the VBA to assist with their regulatory activities. To avoid duplication and additional costs
to Councils we recommend that a State based registration system be developed and rolled out
to all Councils, allowing Councils and VBA to share information.

In the absence of a state-wide database, we believe that while it may be possible to establish a
register prior to the 1 December 2019 deadline so that property owners can apply to register
their pools and spas with Council, this will require the redirection of administrative functions in
the short-term, potentially impacting other Council services. Consideration should be given to
extending the registration deadline to 30 June 2020 to allow sufficient time to build and test
registration programs and maximise opportunities for property owners to complete the
registration process while also minimising likely follow up and sanctions required for pools not
registered by the deadline.

In order for property owners to submit their registration a significant education campaign will be
required that should be led by the State rather than Councils. Early engagement with property
owners will be key to ensuring a high rate of registration is lodged with Council.

Council experience with other forms of registration suggests that regardless of the deadline it is
unlikely that all property owners will register their pools and spas by the deadline. However,
our experience has also shown that educating, sending reminders and engaging heavily with
applicants is critical to achieving the highest possible intake of registrations. This will be crucial
to a new registration system.

7. Is the requirement for a registration application for new swimming pools and spas to
be submitted within 30 days of the owner’s receipt of a certificate of final
inspection/occupancy permit appropriate? Please explain your response.

We support this timeframe as appropriate for new installations. There is some concern with
these registrations to be provided after the final inspection or occupancy permit have been
issued. Specifically, Council seeks to address situations where pool or spa barriers become
the subject of a further permit and potential non-compliance. We acknowledge that the
intention of the regulations is to place responsibility on property owners to apply for registration
however we believe this function could be incorporated into existing Building Surveyor
notification processes for Occupancy Permits and Certificates of Final Inspection, both to
reduce the burden on owners of new properties and achieve greater compliance with the

8. Do you support no fee being required for an application to remove a swimming pool
or spa from the register? Please explain your response.

No. Removal of the pool from the register requires Council be satisfied that the pool or spa no
longer exists or has capacity to contain water that is more than 300mm deep. Councils would
not remove a pool from the register without first inspecting the property to confirm the
registration is no longer required. A fee to address this including the direct cost of the site
inspection and associated administrative activities would be appropriate.

9. Do you agree with the information proposed to be prescribed as required to be kept
on the register? Please explain your response.

The minimum prescribed information proposed to be kept on the register (owner details, pool
construction date, relevant pool standard, dates for most recent and future certificates due and
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out the functions of the new regulations.

10. Is there any other information that should be required to be included on the register?
Please explain your response.

We believe additional information would be beneficial to add to the register to enable timely
analysis of inspection and reporting outcomes. Additional information that should be included
on the register includes:

e |dentity of the pool inspector, including name and registration number.

e List of faults identified in past inspections.
These additional pieces of information would be beneficial for the VBA to monitor inspectors
operating within the municipality as well as being able to readily identify common issues and
develop a risk profile for targeted education or enforcement activity.

11. What, if any, additional obligations should be placed on Councils to keep the
register up to date? For example, if after inspecting a safety barrier, an inspector
believes that the applicable barrier standard recorded on the register is not accurate,
should Council be required to update the register? Or can this be left to the discretion of
councils?

None. The responsibilities under the Act are sufficient.

12. Do you have any information or data supporting an amendment to the requirements
in relation to windows in walls used as barriers for pools constructed prior to 8 April
19917 If so, what amendments should be introduced to address these issues?

Council does not hold any data to support an amendment to the requirement in relation to
widows in walls used as barriers. Although the regulations in 1991 does not prescribe a
standard for secureness for fly screens, Council officers inspecting these situations use a
standard methodology to determine the suitability of these window treatments.

13. Do you have any information or data regarding how many swimming pool and spa
barriers are likely to have multiple applicable barrier standards, i.e. because of
alterations to part of a barrier?

Council can readily identify likely construction dates based on previous work with the proactive
program however the breakdown does not currently extend to the number of sites that may
face multiple barrier standards.

14. To what extent do you believe a system of mandatory self-assessment by owners of
the compliance of their safety barriers would increase the safety of swimming pools and
spas across Victoria? Please explain your response.

The availability of a self-assessment tool may assist owners in non-inspection years, as well as
in preparing for an inspection however we do not believe that a mandatory self-assessment
program would provide a real additional benefit to the inspection program. Previous evidence
regarding self-assessment has confirmed few pool owners undertake such assessments.
Without requiring self-assessments to be forwarded to Council there is no guarantee that
remedial works or follow up will be undertaken to resolve non-compliance issues.

15. Do you agree that councils should be responsible for determining the date of
construction? Please explain your response.

We agree that Councils should have responsibility for declaring the construction date for pools
to ensure over/understating of pool age is minimised, however we believe that providing
evidence of the pool construction date does not have to be the sole responsibility of Council.
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available to current property owners, some property owners may have existing information on
the age of their pools and should be given the opportunity to present this information to Council
for consideration. Discounting this evidence will incur administrative costs for Council to
search archived records for similar information. An option should be available for property
owners to provide evidence they have of pool construction date when submitting their
registration for review by Council.

Chapter 4—Inspection and Certification

16. Do you agree that the average period for operable components of a barrier to fail in
the absence of appropriate maintenance is approximately three years? Please explain
your response.

Yes. While Council does not have data from our proactive pool inspection program on the time
it takes compliant barriers to become non-compliant, indications from various sources is that
this is likely to be within the 3-4-year period.

17. Do you agree with the proposed timeframes for when owners of swimming pools
and spas constructed or under construction prior to 14 April 2020 must provide their
first certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance? Please explain your response.

We agree that pools should be brought into compliance as soon as reasonably practicable.
However, we have concerns about the proposed timeframes. Due to Council’s proactive pool
inspection program, the initial registration and first lodgement period is likely to be the least
challenging for Council in terms of technical assessment however is still likely to resultin a
significant administrative burden to Council.

We are concerned that the current proposed dates are too tight and will result in a new
deadline being reached when the work required by the previous deadlines is still occurring.

We propose that the program should be rolled out over a 3-year cycle in line with the
inspection regime and level of risk likely to be observed in each era of pool construction in
accordance with the following schedule:

o First certificates for pools constructed pre 30/6/1994 by 30/6/2020.
o First certificates for pools constructed between 1/7/1994 — 1/5/2010 by 30/6/2021.
« First certificates for pools constructed after 1/5/2010 by 30/6/2022

Scheduling due dates for first certificates 6 months after the previous due date will be
problematic due to the level of serious non-compliance expected to be observed after the first
year of the program and the subsequent level of follow up required by Council to address these
non-compliance matters. Providing a timeframe of only 6 months severely underestimates the
likely impact on Council’s resources.

18. How long does it usually take councils to resolve matters of swimming pool and spa
safety barrier non-compliance? Which factors influence the time taken (e.g. age of
barrier)?

A random review of inspection through Councils proactive pool inspection program reveals that
it generally takes between 3 — 5 months to achieve compliance with pool and spa safety barrier
non-compliance, depending on the degree of non-compliance and willingness of the property
owner to work with Council to achieve a positive outcome. We expect that the time required to
achieve compliance may be extended in situations where there is a higher level of complexity
on site such as multiple standards to assess compliance.
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lodging of a certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance? If you believe an alternative
period is more appropriate, please indicate the period in your response.

We agree with this timeframe noting the responsibility of submitting the certificate lies with the
property owner. Further consideration needs to be given by Council with regards to issuing
reminders for due/overdue certificates and the level of administration required to ensure the
lodging of certificates does not deteriorate into an ad-hoc lodgement process or require the re-
assessment of pool barrier compliance to obtain a valid certificate.

20. If periodic inspection and certification of barriers is required under the new scheme,
what is the most appropriate interval for requiring owners to provide a new certificate of
barrier compliance? Please explain your response.

Given the proposed costs associated with obtaining barrier certification and the likely
timeframe for non-compliance to occur with a previously assessed installation, three years
appears to be an appropriate interval to lodging a certificate of barrier compliance.

21. Do you consider the size of the existing cohort of registered building surveyors and
building inspectors to be enough to support the efficient and effective operation of the
proposed scheme? Please explain your response.

No. We acknowledge that building surveyors are already in significant demand with a range of
other significant issues that are currently being addressed, such as combustible cladding. It is
possible that the scale of work required for inspecting pools barriers will be unappealing to
inspectors that can undertake a wide range of functions. The volume of the inspection regime
across the state will require additional inspectors, particularly considering the tight time fames
proposed for submission of certificates. We believe a new class of practitioner is required to fill
the void from the existing workforce.

22. If the new building inspector (pool safety) class is to proceed, are the proposed
qualification and experience requirements suitable for the proposed scope of work?
Please explain your response.

We support the ability of the VBA to work with a training provider to develop a training course
for the new class of inspectors. It is unfortunate that new inspectors will need to complete
unaccredited training given the time delay in getting a course fully accredited. Given the
differences between the initial short-term course and proposed accredited training, questions
arise regarding the long-term validity of accepting unaccredited training to fulfil the role. To
achieve the practical experience component of the training it will also be critical that these new
inspectors complete their practical experience under the supervision of a registered building
practitioner to ensure the quality of the inspection service being undertaken.

23. Do you foresee any issues with applicants for the new building inspector (pool
safety) class successfully meeting the proposed experience requirements? Please
explain your response.

There may be some difficulty for new inspectors to find relevant mentors to supervise the
practical experience because of the existing shortage of qualified practitioners available to take
on this role. Combined with the probability that new practitioners are unlikely to have the
required experience, this may lead to a short-term shortfall of suitable pool inspectors.

Chapter 5—Procedures for dealing with non-compliant barriers

24. How effective do you believe the current enforcement powers available to MBSs
under the Building Act are at addressing non-compliance of swimming pool barriers?
Please explain your response.

The use of current powers to address barrier non-compliance are not necessarily effective in
resolving pool barrier non-compliance, particularly where an owner is unwilling to cooperate.
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located. Owners where pool barriers are known to be non-compliant are unlikely to offer entry
to authorised officers to confirm breaches of the regulations. This has the potential to
significantly delay the investigation and inspection process and resolve life safety issues.

With the existing inspection and assessment regime we submit that powers of entry to
residential properties should be extended to allow ready access to properties to assess life
safety risks associated with pools and spas.

We note under the proposed regulations there should be less need to rely on securing entry to
a property as the obligation is on the property owner to arrange an inspection by the relevant
date. As property owners will be inviting inspectors onto their properties to conduct this initial
inspection entry will be guaranteed. Issues may arise in circumstances where non-compliance
is referred to Council for enforcement and Council officers need to then arrange entry to the
property for enforcement action.

25. Do you agree with the proposal to provide swimming pool and spa inspectors with
discretion to oversee the rectification of minor instances of non-compliance? Please
explain your response.

Yes. With the right training and experience inspectors should be able to competently oversee
the rectification of issues considered to be of minor significance. It would be beneficial for
property owners to deal with one inspector for the improvement of minor matters without
needing to involve Council as an additional layer of bureaucracy. This should reduce the
instances where Council needs to be directly involved in an enforcement role. This will have
benefits for both Council resources and the speedy resolution of minor non-compliance.

26. Is it likely that there will be many instances of non-compliance identified where the
inspector forms a belief that there is no significant and immediate risk to life or safety?
Please explain your response.

We believe that the greatest period of compliance or minor non-compliance is likely to be within
the first reporting period, for pools installed prior to 30/6/1994. This opinion is based on direct
experience from Council’s proactive pool inspection program implemented since 2015. We
believe all pools constructed before this date have already been inspected and significant effort
has been directed to making these installations compliant with the relevant regulations. We
would expect to see a relatively high level of compliance with these properties because of
previous work by Council, although we recognise that a proportion of these may have fallen
back into non-compliance.

27. Is the proposed maximum period of 20 business days the appropriate limit for the
period that inspectors can provide owners to address non-compliance? Please explain
your response.

Yes. This is an appropriate timeframe for rectification works to be organised and completed
where there is not an immediate risk however we submit that it would be less confusing for
property owners to manage this time limit when expressed as 28 calendar days rather than 20
business days.

28. Are there any other criteria, apart from the immediacy of risk of young children
gaining unsupervised access to the swimming pool or spa, that should be considered in
prescribing matters for this purpose? Please explain your response.

No. This should be the basis for determining in what circumstances non-compliance should be
immediately referred to council.
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immediate lodgement of a certificate of pool and spa barrier non-compliance with
council appropriate? Please explain your response.

The four matters prescribed in draft Regulation appear sufficient and address the highest risk
aspects of pool barrier safety. As addressed in Question 26, guidance will be required for
inspectors around interpretation of when non-compliance does and does not pose a significant
and immediate risk to life or safety.

30. Are there any matters that are not listed that should be prescribed in the proposed
Regulations? Please explain your response.

No.

31. Is there an approach other than the proposed barrier improvement notice process,
that would better assist councils to effectively and efficiently respond to non-
compliance raised through lodgement of certificates of pool and spa barrier non-
compliance? Please explain your response.

A barrier improvement notice process should serve as a simpler and more effective method of
bringing many barriers into compliance in comparison to existing control measures under the
Act. We submit that the ability to issue a barrier improvement notice should be delegated to
the MBS or other relevant delegated position within the Council structure rather than with
Council.

32. Do you agree that 14 days is a reasonable minimum period of time for owners to be
required to comply with a barrier improvement notice issued by a council? Please
explain your response.

Yes. Where a shorter period is justified due to an immediate risk, other options including
emergency orders remain open to the MBS.

In responding to life safety matters the critical component will be the prompt notification to
Council of major non-compliances by the relevant pool inspector. This will allow Council
officers to respond immediately to these notifications.

33. Do you believe the existing exemptions in items 3 and 4 of Schedule 3 to the
Building Regulations cover repair, renewal, maintenance, or alterations work on a
swimming pool or spa barrier? Please explain your response.

The existing exemptions are open to interpretation regarding in what circumstances they would
apply to maintenance for a barrier fence. In addition, there is currently no exemption in relation
to the replacement of a part or parts of a swimming pool or barrier. As a result, we submit that
the existing exemptions are not sufficient to cover the intention of the new regulations.

34. Do you agree with the proposal to insert a new item into Schedule 3 that would
exempt certain work involving replacement of parts of a swimming pool or spa barrier
from the building permit requirements? Please explain your response.

Yes. See question 33. This would provide certainty and clarity to inspectors and pool owners
provided sufficient guidance is provided to property owners on the limitations of the exemption.

35. Are the limitations on the proposed exemption relating to the replacement of safety
barrier parts appropriate? Is it necessary to broaden or lessen the application of the
proposed exemption in some manner? Please explain your response.

Yes, these restrictions appear appropriate. They allow a pool owner to have minor works
carried out following an inspection, while recognising that some work should still require a
building permit.
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36. How much is it likely to cost owners to appoint a building surveyor to oversee
building work to rectify a non-compliant safety barrier? Please explain your response.

The costs to rectify a non-compliant safety barrier costs in the range of $300-$400 could
reasonably be expected.

Chapter 6—Relocatable pools

37. Do you have any data or information regarding the number of relocatable pools sold
that have a depth of at least 300mm, but which do not constitute a ‘structure’ as
discussed in section 6.6?

No.

38. Do you have a view as to whether an amendment to Building Act should be made to
ensure that its requirements apply to all relocatable pools with a depth of at least
300mm? Please explain your response.

Relocatable pools are by far the most challenging aspect of these reforms. One part of the
challenge is clarifying that pools not considered to be a building fall outside the scope of the
Act and therefore are not captured by the requirements of these proposed regulations.

While the drowning hazard presented by a pool relates to depth rather than the form the pool
takes, we must also consider the practicability of enforcement.

There is not an effective way under the Building Act to regulate pools and spas that do not fall
under the definition of a building or structure. This would require the Building Act, and thus
Councils under Section 212, to enforce barriers around single-piece inflatable pools, clamshell
pools, etc. The Building Act is not conducive to such a task, nor are Councils resourced to
undertake it.

There must be significant community education alongside these changes. This must address
not only which pools require registration, but also the risks associated with other pools and how
to address them.

39. Are there alternative means for ensuring that landlords are not unfairly burdened by
the actions of their tenants in relation to the erection of a relocatable pool? Please
explain your response.

This must be primarily addressed through discussions with CAV and potential changes to the
Residential Tenancies Act or Regulations.

40. What is the current rate of compliance amongst relocatable pool owners applying for
building permits to erect their pools?

We do not have this data, however compliance is likely to be lower than that of permanent
pools.

41. Do you support exempting the erection of all relocatable pools from the requirement
to apply for a building permit? Please explain your response.

Yes. It is impractical to require relocatable pools to require a building permit. However, owners
of relocatable pools must be made more aware of the requirements on them. This includes
both the requirement to register a pool, as well as ensuring a compliant barrier fence is in
place.
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pool or spa once it has remained erected for three consecutive days? Please explain
your response.

Yes. We agree that there should be a timeframe attached to this. Three days, being more than
a weekend, appears to be a reasonable threshold to set.

43. Do you believe that the registration requirement for relocatable pools and spas can
be effectively enforced? Please explain your response.

This will be challenging for Councils to enforce. If a Council desires to, they could take several
approaches to identify pools within their municipality. This includes aerial photography, building
permit data, and real estate listings. These measures are largely impractical for relocatable
pools. Identification of relocatable pools (where the owner does not register them voluntarily)
will likely be complaint based.

The three-day threshold only applies to registration of a pool. Regardless of how long a pool is
erected for, it must have a compliant barrier. If the MBS deems it appropriate, they have other
powers available to ensure a compliant barrier is in place.

44. Do you have any information regarding how many relocatable pools are likely to be
left in place for longer than three days?

No.

45. Do you think that the fee for the registration of a relocatable pool should be the
same as for a permanent pool? If not, please indicate an appropriate fee and the
reasons why the registration fees should be different.

Yes, they should be the same due to the resource burden and cost recovery implications for
Councils.

46. Do you agree with the proposed requirement that Councils will nominate when the
first certificate of pool and spa barrier compliance is required to be provided for a
relocatable pool or spa, not being more than 30 days after it was registered? Please
explain your response.

Yes.
Chapter 7—Additional regulatory options considered

47. To what extent do you believe mandatory CPR signage would contribute to a
reduction in fatal drownings and lessen the impacts of non-fatal drownings of young
children in private swimming pools and spas across Victoria? Please explain your
response.

We support the position of Life Saving Victoria to require mandatory CPR signage. The
purchase and placement of CPR signage represents minor additional cost to a pool or spa
owner. In addition to the potential benefits to proper performance of CPR, signage would serve
as a reminder to potential drowning risks.

48. To what extent do you believe a mandatory warning notice like that required in NSW
would promote the safe use of private swimming pools and spas across Victoria?
Please explain your response.

If desired, this could be incorporated into an approved form of CPR signage.

49. Do you believe the Building Regulations should allow for lockable spa lids to be
used as an alternative means of complying with the requirement for spas to be enclosed
by a compliant safety barrier in Victoria? Please explain your response.
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In addition to this, by their nature lockable lids must be able to be fixed in an open position to
allow for use of the spa. This is fundamentally inconsistent with the rationale that barrier fences
must be self-closing.

50. If you agree that lockable spa lids are an acceptable alternative to a safety barrier,
are there any limitations on the types of lids that should be accepted? Please explain
your response.

N/A

51. If lockable spa lids are accepted as an alternative to a safety barrier, what is an
appropriate method of ensuring that they are effective in preventing access to the spa
by young children? For example, is it necessary that they be inspected by an
independent third party; or, should owners be required to use a self-assessment
checklist; or is there another mechanism?

As above, we do not support the use of lockable spa lids as an alternative to a barrier fence.
If spa lids were allowed as an alternative, they should be inspected in a similar manner to
barrier fences and not by self-assessment.

Chapter 10—Implementation, evaluation and forward work program

52. Do you believe including information regarding certificates of pool and spa barrier
compliance in the due diligence checklist under sale of land obligations would promote
the safety of swimming pools and spas across Victoria? Please explain your response.

Yes. It is important that land owners are made aware of obligations they have with regards to
swimming pools and spas. However, this alone is not sufficient (see Question 53).

53. Do you think amending regulation 51(1) of the Building Regulations so potential
purchasers can request information regarding the existence of a certificate of pool and
spa barrier compliance from the relevant Council is sufficient to allow them to fully
inform themselves regarding the status of a pool or spa? Please explain your response.

Where a pool or spa exists, the most recent certificate (whether for compliance or non-
compliance) should be required to be included in the Vendor Statement prepared under
Section 32 of the Sale of Land Act. We recognise this would require legislative change. We
strongly urge that DELWP further discuss this with Consumer Affairs Victoria and the relevant
Minister.

Requirements under Section 32 would be the best method to ensure that the potential buyer is
aware of their future responsibilities and the current condition of the pool or spa. The ability for
a potential buyer to proactively seek out the existence of a certificate does not achieve the
same end.

54. Have you ever purchased a property with a swimming pool or spa? If so, what was
the condition of the safety barrier?

N/A

55. Do you think including a compliance certificate as part of the prescribed information
under the Residential Tenancies Act 1997 would promote the safety of swimming pools
and spas across Victoria? Please explain your response.

Yes. This would assist in ensuring compliance and educating tenants about compliance and
the risk posed by a pool.
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residential rental properties would promote the safety of swimming pools and spas
across Victoria? Please explain your response.

Yes. See Question 55.

57. Do you have any information regarding how many residential rental properties have
swimming pools or spas?

No.

58. Have you ever rented a property with a swimming pool or spa? What was the
condition of the barrier? If the barrier was in a poor condition, did the owner repair the
barrier?

N/A

14




EMF34/19
Proposed Telecommunication Lease with Telstra - Francis Street, Oak Park (D19/369431)

Executive Manager Finance
Property 
Executive Summary

Visionstream, acting on behalf of Telstra, approached Council to construct a new telecommunications facility within a part of Council’s land at John Pascoe Fawkner Reserve at 1A Francis Street, Oak Park. Visionstream and Council officers met onsite to discuss preliminary options. Council officers and Telstra representatives met onsite to determine a suitable location, shown circled in Attachment 1.

The facility will not be a Low Impact Facility as defined in the Telecommunications (Low Impact Facilities) Determination Act 1997 and will therefore require a planning permit.

Visionstream has proposed the following lease terms on behalf of Telstra for Council’s consideration: 

	Rent
	$17,000 plus GST per annum 

	Term
	10-years 

	Option
	2 x further 5-year options

	Rent review
	3% increase per annum compounding 

	Permitted use
	Mobile telecommunication installation


Telstra is seeking in-principle approval from Council for a proposed lease.

The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s authorisation to commence the statutory procedures to lease part of Council’s John Pascoe Fawkner Reserve to Telstra in accordance with Section 190 of the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act).
	Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1.
Approves in principle the location of the proposed telecommunications facility as identified in Attachment 1 to this report.

2.
Commences procedures to lease part of John Pascoe Fawkner Reserve to Telstra for the purpose of a telecommunication facility and shelter equipment as required under section 190 of the Local Government Act 1989.

3.
Gives public notice of the proposed lease in the Moreland and Northern Leader newspapers and on Council's website, and invites written submissions in accordance with section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989, and such notice states that Council proposes to lease part of its site to Telstra for a 10 year lease term with two further options of 5 years each at a commencement annual rent of $17,000 (plus GST) with annual fixed increments of 3%. 

4.
Appoints Councillor __________________ as Chair, and Councillors ____________, ______________, and _________________ to a Committee to hear any submitters requesting to be heard in support of their written submission.

5.
Notes the Hearing of Submissions Committee meeting to be held on a date and time to be set, at the Moreland Civic Centre, 90 Bell Street, Coburg. The date and time will be set by Council and any submitters will be notified.

6.
Following the consultation process, receives a report in relation to the proposed lease of part of John Pascoe Fawkner Reserve to Telstra with a recommendation to proceed or not proceed.


REPORT

1.
Policy Context

The Council Plan 2017–2021 articulates Council’s provision of a large range of services for our community. These externally facing service areas are supported by a range of Council teams that include the management of the community’s Council owned property and assets.
2.
Background

Visionstream, acting on behalf of Telstra, approached Council to construct a new Telecommunications facility within Council land at John Pascoe Fawkner Reserve located at 1A Francis Street, Oak Park. This is a new initiative with Moreland.

Visionstream met on site with Council officers (Recreation, Open Space, Transport and Property) several times to discuss options for the facility until a suitable location was agreed on that was appropriate for both Telstra and Council, shown circled in Attachment 1.

Telstra agreed at their cost, to complete a sports field lighting design to Council officer’s approval and in accordance with the appropriate lighting standards (100LUX). They will install one light pole and associated lighting infrastructure (a new Council asset), it will enable the sportsground to operate at a greater capacity (such as, appropriate extended night use) which will provide a community benefit. The Telstra telecommunication antenna will be attached to this light pole, 

The Oak Park Community Sports Association, including the Oak Park Football Club and Oak Park Cricket Club will install the additional lights and poles in accordance with the sports field lighting design at a later stage in Attachment 1.

The facility will not be a Low Impact Facility as defined in the Telecommunications (Low Impact Facilities) Determination Act 1997 and will therefore require a planning permit. 

Subsequently, Visionstream has made the following offer on behalf of Telstra for Council’s consideration for a proposed lease: 

	Rent
	$17,000 plus GST per annum 

	Term
	10-years 

	Option
	2 x further 5-year options

	Rent Reviews
	3% increase per annum compounding 

	Permitted Use
	Mobile Telecommunication Installation


3.
Issues

Telstra propose to construct the pole closest to the Reserve’s entrance with the equipment shelter occupying a car parking space adjacent to the pole. 

Internal consultation with Council’s Transport officers have been undertaken, no objection has been received with regards to the occupation of one car parking space. 

The site is well serviced with carparking, Council officers advised the loss of one car park will not have a significant affect.

Human Rights Consideration

The implications of this report have been assessed in accordance with the requirements of the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities.

4.
Consultation

Relevant Council officers have been consulted during the negotiations of the proposed location of the facility. 

Sporting Clubs have been consulted.

No objections were received to the proposal.

In accordance with sections 190 and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 Council must consult with the community about the proposed lease. The consultation process includes giving public notice and inviting written submissions, noting that any submitters who wish to be heard in support of their written submission will be given that opportunity.

5.
Officer Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Council officers involved in the preparation of this report have no conflict of interest in this matter.

6.
Financial and Resources Implications

The proposal has a net value over a 20-year period of $268,703.

7.
Implementation

Following Council’s decision, a public notice of the proposed lease will be published in the Moreland and Northern Leader newspapers and on Council's website inviting written submissions as required under sections 190 and 223 of the Local Government Act 1989. 

The notice will state that Council proposes to lease part of its site to Telstra for a 10‑year period with 2 x further options of 5 years each at a commencement annual rent of $17,000 (plus GST) with annual fixed increments of 3% per annum.

Attachment/s

	1 
	Telecommunication Lease - Vision Stream
	D19/387858
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NOM53/19
Building site waste (D19/381576)


Cr Natalie Abboud 
1.
Background

Cr Abboud’s background:

Construction and demolition activities generate a wide range of industrial waste materials including, excavated material such as rock and soil waste asphalt, bricks, concrete, plasterboard, timber and vegetation asbestos and contaminated soil. If not managed responsibly, these waste streams can pollute the environment, pose a public health risk (particularly asbestos and contaminated soil) and pose amenity issues. 

Every day, mountains of unsorted building waste often containing dangerous chemicals is disposed of in the City. Construction sites will often include a ‘cage’ where all the waste is collected and cleared at the end of the build. It is reported that in some cases, waste from construction is being fed into the domestic waste stream and sent to landfill. Council has a responsibility to ensure that construction and demolition waste is being processed appropriately.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Victoria is undergoing a significant and sustained period of population growth which is driving new development in Moreland to accommodate an anticipated 18,000 new households by 2036. 

Council was also successful in obtaining State Government support for the inclusion of an Environmentally Sustainable Development Local Planning Policy in the Moreland Planning Scheme, which requires the submission of a Sustainability Management Plan for larger developments. Amongst a range of other sustainability measures these plans can include details of the measures to be taken to reduce construction waste associated with the development of the land. 

Council has appointed two proactive planning enforcement officers to undertake proactive auditing of a proportion of the 1,400-1800 planning permits issued each year, which would include checking compliance with Sustainability Management Plans that must be followed as a condition of larger development approvals. 

However not all development in Moreland requires a planning permit. Most demolition work, house extensions and construction of a single house would not require planning approval.

Part 10 of Council’s General Local Law, 2018 ‘Building Works’, aims to improve the amenity of the municipality, in particular residential areas, by preventing nuisances caused by building works. Clauses 10.16 -10.17 outline the requirements for refuse facilities on building sites to contain building waste on site and prevent littering and population of the surround area associated with building waste escaping construction sites. 

Clause 9.5 of the Local Law also requires Asset Protection Permits to be issued by Council for any building work. Standard conditions of Asset Protection Permits include the requirement for a refuse facility, consistent with the Local Law.
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

The preparation of a Council report on this matter can be accommodated within existing budget.
4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

The preparation of a Council report on this matter can be accommodated within existing resources.

	Motion

That Council receives a report outlining:

1.
How Council can promote responsible disposal of construction waste. 

2.
What opportunities Council has in relation to limiting the use of domestic bins for construction waste.
3.
What avenues exist to reduce construction waste going to landfill.



NOM54/19
GHD Consultancy Group and Adani Mining (D19/381626)


Cr Natalie Abboud 
1.
Background

Cr Abboud’s background:

Adani’s Carmichael coal mine is one of the most contentious resources projects in Australian history. Hundreds of thousands of Australians have joined the campaign to stop Adani. On 8 February 2017, Council resolved, General Business item GB4/17, with Cr Riley moving and Cr Kavanagh seconding to write to all State and Federal parliamentarians whose offices lie within the Council boundaries, and to the Prime Minister, the federal Opposition Leader and the Queensland Premier, expressing its strong opposition to the proposed Adani 2.3 billion tonne coal mine in Queensland’s Galilee Valley. 

There is a shared concern about the mine’s contribution to climate change, the destruction of threatened species native habitat, draining of rivers and aquifers, and contempt for the rights of First Nations people, who have not consented to the project. Council has recently learned that the Australian based professional services firm GHD is Adani’s oldest corporate partner and has been working on the mine since 2010.
2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Council’s Procurement Policy includes a policy point on Social, Environmental and Economic Sustainability. Section 3.3.2 Environmental Sustainability states:

To support achievement of objectives and targets within Council’s environmental strategies, in particular Zero Carbon Evolution, Watermap and Waste and Litter Strategy, Council will minimise its impact on the environment by purchasing goods, services and construction which avoid air, water and soil pollution and minimise natural resource and biodiversity depletion. Council will equally consider the environmental performance of all suppliers and contractors and encourage them to conduct their operations in an environmentally sensitive manner.

The Sustainability section of the Procurement Policy aligns with Council’s acknowledgement of the Climate Emergency, made during the Council meeting held on the 12 September 2018.

Council’s position on the Adani coal mine can be strengthened by adding the following dot point to Section 3.3.2 Environmental Sustainability in Council’s Procurement Policy:


Excluding from future contracts, tenders or business dealings any companies involved in the Adani mine and associated rail infrastructure projects.
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

There are no significant financial implications in implementing the proposed motion.

4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:
There are no significant resource implications in implementing the proposed motion.
	Motion

That Council:

1.
Writes to GHD asking for a commitment to rule out further work on Adani’s coal mine and associated infrastructure including the Adani rail project. 

2.
Amends Council’s Procurement Policy to add a dot point under Section 3.3.2 Environmental Sustainability that states, ‘excluding from future contracts, tenders or business dealings any companies involved in the Adani mine and associated rail infrastructure projects.’ 



NOM55/19
Provide the Coburg town Hall for a Community Meeting - 10 October 2019 (D19/382868)


Cr Oscar Yildiz 
1.
Background

Cr Yildiz’s background:

The Australian Turkish Business Council (ATBC) is a not-for-profit organisation providing much needed advice to those of Turkish background and many of its services are based in the City of Moreland. The ATBC provides a variety of services including information sessions to residents who are mainly from the City of Moreland and to those who are not necessarily a member of the organisation.

The ATBC hosts 1 meeting a year for around 30-40 residents at their Annual General Meeting, to present a question and answer session and discuss ways they can improve the organisation and the various services they offer to residents.

ATBC is keen to host this meeting on Thursday 10 October 2019 and would like to use the Coburg Town Hall. Their main reason for hoping to use the Council is for the location as many of the locals know the Municipal office and there is ample evening parking available.

They require around 30 chairs and the PowerPoint projector. There are no catering requirements and or other resources required. 

The meeting is to commence at 6 pm and will conclude by 8 pm. Cr Oscar Yildiz will also be attending the meeting.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

The Community Use of Council Managed Venues Policy includes a provision for the free use of library meeting rooms by Community groups for up to 3-hours per week. The Concert Hall, located at Coburg Civic Centre, is an alternative meeting space that is available to Community groups at a discounted rate. 

The Community Use of Council Managed Venues policy incorporates a provision that any discretion to reduce fees or provide additional subsidy due to hardship is subject to consideration by the Council prior to the event. 

3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

The Concert Hall at Coburg Town Hall is available to Community Groups at a discounted rate of $54.10 per hour plus $28.15 public liability insurance and a bond of $281.35. The Concert Hall is not available for the requested date due to a prior booking, and so the Town Hall has been offered as an alternative meeting space. The cost of this booking would be $335.80, excluding set up time.
4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

This booking will require the presence of a Facilities Support Officer for the duration, which will not incur additional cost to Council on this occasion as staff will be present for another event. A projector and microphone is available and is provided free of charge as part of the booking.

	Motion

That Council provides the Coburg Town Hall free of charge for the Australian Turkish Business Council meeting on Thursday 10 October 2019 from 6pm to 8pm.


NOM56/19
Ron Dorre (D19/383234)


Cr John Kavanagh 
1.
Background

Cr Kavanagh’s background:

Long-time Gowanbrae resident Ron Dorre passed away in September. Ron has been a member of the Gowanbrae Residents Group (and previously the Gowanbrae Action Group). He was the president of this group for many years. His contribution to Gowanbrae was enormous. He was a greatly loved and admired Gowanbrae resident. 

Many describe him as the heart and soul of Gowanbrae. It is fitting that his contribution to Gowanbrae be recognised.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Council’s current Plaques Policy is largely procedural and does not provide any guidance with respect to the circumstances in which a member of the community may be considered to be memorialised with a plaque or other form of recognition. There does not appear to be any policy conflict.
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

Supply and installation of a seat and plaque can be undertaken at a cost of approximately $2,000.

This can be funded from existing 2019/20 budgets.

4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

This can be implemented within existing resources.

	Motion

That Council:

1.
Installs a seat adjacent to the recently opened Gowanbrae Community Garden, in his memory, and attaches a plaque acknowledging the contribution of Ron Dorre to the local community.

2.
Liaises with Ron’s partner, Silv Parisi, on the wording of this plaque.



NOM57/19
Memorandum of Understanding on major projects (D19/383277)


Cr Sue Bolton 
1.
Background

Cr Bolton’s background:

When State and Federal Government major projects occur in local Council areas, a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) is usually signed between the local Council and the government department responsible for the project. These are usually confidential agreements.
2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

An MoU is a tool that is commonly used to establish how agencies/parties agree to cooperate, share information and allocate resources to jointly progress and deliver projects. They are not designed to determine specific project outcomes or to subvert Council’s own obligation to consult with the community. 

3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

There are no financial implications associated with this Notice of Motion.
4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

There are no direct resource implications associated with this Notice of Motion.
	Motion

That:
Before any Memorandum of Understanding is signed by Council with a State or Federal Government department for a major project, Council considers the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding.


NOM58/19
Inclusive Employment Program (D19/383301)


Cr Sue Bolton 
1.
Background

Cr Bolton’s background:

Council’s Human Rights Policy 2016-2026 states that Council:

will strive to remove the barriers experienced by some groups, and overcome the exclusion and marginalisation experienced by some members of our community. With its broad approach, it will allow Council to work with others to address current and emerging needs for all members of the Moreland community, equally and fairly. 

An important element of exclusion and marginalisation is the exclusion of marginalised groups from the workforce. Local Councils and other levels of government have the ability to develop employment policies to employ more people from these groups.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Moreland Human Rights Policy 2016–2026 - Policy Goal 1: Council is an inclusive organisation.

Moreland Human Rights Policy 2019-21 - Implementation Plan: Action 1: Develop an inclusive employment strategy which provides work experience, mentoring and employment pathways for priority groups. 
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

There are no additional financial implications for providing a report with recommendations for an Inclusive Employment Program. However, there are likely to be associated costs to implement the report recommendations, which are still to be determined.

4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

The report will require officer time which is within the Community Wellbeing base budget.
	Motion

That Council receives a report before the end of 2019 with recommendations for an Inclusive Employment Program increasing the number of Moreland Council employees from priority groups identified in the Moreland Human Rights Policy. 


NOM59/19
Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy Parking Restrictions and Amendment C183 (D19/384008)


Cr Lambros Tapinos 
1.
Background

Cr Tapinos’ background:

Council has prepared and exhibited Amendment C183 to the Moreland Planning Scheme to remove car parking minimum requirements and allow for zero car parking in new developments. The amendment was envisaged by the Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy (MITS) that was adopted by Council in March 2018 to decrease car usage and car parking in the municipality. 
Amendment C183 seeks to introduce changes to car parking requirements for new developments in designated Activity Centres and Neighbourhood Centres by applying three new Parking Overlays:

Parking Overlay 1 – Applies to the Brunswick, Coburg and Glenroy Activity Centres so that a minimum car parking requirement is no longer specified in new development, and instead a maximum rate of allowed car parking is specified, above which a permit is required.

Parking Overlay 2 – Applies to 12 Neighbourhood Centres and reduces minimum car parking requirements by 20 per cent.

Parking Overlay 3 – Applies to all other land zoned for commercial or mixed use. No change is made to minimum car parking requirements, but guidelines are introduced to incorporate sustainable transport design in new developments.
Moreland’s population is projected to grow by 50,000 people and about 23,000 households by 2036. If the amendment is approved and gazetted into the Moreland Planning Scheme the surrounding streets will experience car parking pressure from the many new residents, who do not have access to car parking facilities. Council has also proposed a trial of removing car parking from Sydney Road that will also contribute to additional pressure on local streets, however this trial is unlikely to proceed. 
It is important that we have fair and equitable access to parking and acknowledge that many people require to drive and park in the municipality and not everybody will be able to shift towards sustainable transport modes.
The MITS proposes to ‘Expanding parking restrictions to protect local streets from changes to parking requirements in new developments.’ P25 and the implementation plan requires parking restrictions be installed by June 2020.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Council resolutions

Council resolved in March 2019 (DCF12/19) to adopt the Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy (MITS) 2019. Among other things, Council resolved to commence Amendment C183 and to introduce parking restrictions across Activity Centres and other areas in Moreland. 

A number of further changes to car parking policy were also approved at this time, informed by consultation on the draft MITS in 2018, to mitigate impacts of parking changes particularly on more disadvantaged people. These included introducing a $10 daily cap on paid parking, expansion of concession discounts for parking permits, and introducing new permit types.

Council further resolved in June 2019 (DCF38/19) to adopt principles for a transitional approach to parking changes, and temporary measures to assist the community to adjust to these changes. These included temporarily providing additional permits to residences and businesses affected by the changes, a new permit type that allows $10 all-day parking in time restricted areas, and flexibility to address unanticipated issues during implementation of new restrictions through increased delegation to the CEO to make decisions on parking.

Council officers are currently working with key stakeholders in the community to assist in this transition, including consideration of further changes that may need to be made.

Expansion of parking restrictions as per MITS 2019 is a funded project for 2019/20 which is also included in the Council Action Plan 2017-2021, with a target of all new restrictions to be implemented by June 2020.

Benefits of parking restriction

While MITS 2019 contains priorities for advocacy to the State Government, particularly with regard to public transport, it focuses on actions over which Council has direct control or significant influence (for example, a Planning Scheme Amendment).

MITS 2019, which was informed by 3 phases of consultation with the community and other stakeholders in 2017 and 2018, identifies that expansion of parking restrictions is a key action to achieve Council’s objective of demonstrable mode shift away from car use towards sustainable transport modes. The expansion of parking restrictions strongly complements Amendment C183 but also has a number of other immediate benefits which would be deferred if implementation was delayed.

Expansion of parking restrictions helps prioritise access to on-street parking for the majority of residents who are eligible for parking permits, in line with the user priority guidelines in Council’s Parking Management Policy. This takes a proactive approach to protecting the ability of those residents to park near their homes, rather than the usual reactive process of introducing restrictions only after increased parking occupancy has caused issues for local residents. The usual process also relies on achieving a level of support through surveying affected properties, including those not eligible for parking permits, meaning that not all resident requests for new restrictions are successful.

By proactively introducing restrictions in and near the areas where the highest levels of growth are occurring, residents of new development must find housing with off-street parking, privately lease an off-street space, or reconsider their need for car ownership, rather than opportunistically relying on on-street parking.

The expanded parking restrictions are also expected to contribute towards mode shift in their own right as a form of demand management.

Relationship to Amendment C183

The Amendment package was prepared and submitted to the Minister for Planning for authorisation in March 2019 following council’s decision to proceed. Some 6 months later Council received the Minister’s authorisation, 20 August 2019. The aim of Amendment C183 is to slow the growth of cars into the municipality as our population grows, helping protect Moreland’s liveability. It proposes, among other things, to remove minimum parking requirements in the Brunswick, Coburg and Glenroy Activity Centres. The justification for this proposal is that Council will instead manage on-street parking through parking restrictions and permits.

This is a different approach to most Amendments which propose changes to minimum parking requirements, as these typically reduce minimum requirements for car parking based on lower demand that has already been observed (for example, surveying usage of parking in previous developments, local car ownership rates from Census data). Instead, Amendment C183 seeks to allow people who choose to move to Moreland to rent/purchase a dwelling without also having to purchase a carpark they do not want.

This approach is the key justification for the removal of minimum parking requirements for new developments, which will be considered by an independent Planning Panel following exhibition of the Amendment. Reduced certainty over when parking restrictions will be installed is likely to undermine this justification because if the minimum parking restriction is removed, but significant unlimited on-street parking still exists, developers will be inclined to continue to rely on on-street parking. Beginning the installation of new parking restrictions as currently scheduled provides greater certainty and will support Council’s position at the Panel hearing.

In addition, introducing new parking restrictions prior to the approval and gazettal of the Amendment ensures that the majority of existing residents who are eligible for a parking permit are not detrimentally affected by the Amendment, for example through increased parking spillover from new developments onto on-street parking. 
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

This proposed motion would not incur any additional expenditure. As a delay post a gazettal decision will likely delay the rollout until at the end of the last quarter of this financial year, the allocated implementation budget of $400,000 would be referred to the mid-year budget review.
4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

This resolution can be actioned within existing resources.
	Motion

That Council places a moratorium on the bulk introduction of parking restrictions envisaged in the Moreland Integrated Transport Strategy until the Planning Scheme Amendment C183 has been approved and gazetted.


NOM60/19
Dog Excrement in Public Places (D19/384013)


Cr Lambros Tapinos 
1.
Background

Cr Tapinos’ background:

Dog poo in our streets and parks is smelly, unsightly, and very unpleasant to step in! Dog owners are responsible for picking up their dogs’ droppings. Dog poo left in parks and open spaces attracts rats and smells. Dog poo can have lots of viruses, bacteria and parasites, including harmful pathogens like e-coli, giardia and salmonella. Dog owners can be fined under the local law if they do not pick up after their dog. Council needs to increase responsible pet ownership through education, expand pet access and decrease the environmental impact of dog waste.

Councils in the US and UK have successfully been able to match dog poo to dogs and their owners using new DNA technology.

Victorian legislation requires all dogs over 3 months of age to be registered. Council can develop a register of Dog DNA in the municipality or trial the program in part of the municipality by voluntarily collecting DNA from saliva swabs as part of the registration program. Open Space officers can use the registry to identify irresponsible dog owners via a DNA sample from the dog poo left in public place, kerbside and parks being testing in a laboratory. DNA evidence may be able to assist Council to issue infringements to irresponsible owners and recover the costs.

2.
Policy Context

Officer comments:

Moreland’s General Local Law 2018 provides enforcement powers with respect to dog excrement in public places. The relevant clauses are:


5.9: Whenever an animal is in or on a public place, the owner of the animal must have in his or her possession means for the effective collection and removal of any excrement that may be deposited by the animal. 


5.10: The owner of an animal must immediately collect and dispose of all excrement deposited by the animal in a public place in a hygienic and lawful manner. 


5.11: The owner of an animal must not allow any excrement to remain on any road, footway, Council land or other public place.

It is considered there is little value in a voluntary DNA scheme (or trial), as those that would volunteer for the trial are more likely to be the conscientious dog owners that already pick up after their dogs. The General Local Law 2018 would therefore, need to be amended to require dog owners to provide DNA samples as part of the animal registration program.
Whilst generalising, it could also be said that dog owners who choose not to register their dogs may more likely be the ones not picking up after their own animals, which a mandatory scheme would not resolve.

The scheme would also not identify dogs living outside of Moreland that frequent within our municipality (such as, particularly along the creek corridors/municipal boundaries or attracted to the dog parks).

There are a number of other issues which would need further consideration as part of a future report if the motion was successful, including the practicality of a USA testing agency attending court proceedings if fines are contested, and quarantine laws with respect to sending biological materials to the USA for testing.
3.
Financial Implications

Officer comments:

Preliminary research indicates that only one provider (based in the USA) currently undertakes this type of DNA testing on dog excrement. Whilst actual costs have not yet been confirmed, based on indicative costs obtained online, the number of new dog registrations per year in Moreland, and officer time to collect and administer samples, the cost just to maintain a DNA library is well over $100,000 per annum. 

There are no direct financial implications in implementing the motion (investigate and prepare a report).

4.
Resources Implications

Officer comments:

The implementation of a scheme for DNA testing of dog excrement would have significant impact on Council resources, as Council officers would be required to attend to and undertake each DNA sample upon registration of each new dog to ensure integrity of the DNA library, attend locations across the municipality for collection of dog excrement samples, and administer the scheme.

The impact on resources to implement the motion (investigate and prepare a report) will be minor but will take officers away from usual animal management business activity.

	Motion

That Council officers investigate and prepare a report into the possibility of DNA testing of dog excrement to track irresponsible owners who fail to clean up after their pets. The report should consider the need for strengthening of the General Local Law 2018 to facilitate the effectiveness of such a program, as well as other initiatives such as placing more signs in public places informing owners of their responsibility to clean up after their pets.
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